HEAT ACCLIMATION FOR SPECIAL POPULATIONS

EDITED BY: Caroline Sunderland, Andrew T. Garrett, Neil S. Maxwell and Julien Périard PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Physiology and Frontiers in Sports and Active Living







Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88966-018-6 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88966-018-6

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

1

HEAT ACCLIMATION FOR SPECIAL POPULATIONS

Topic Editors:

Caroline Sunderland, Nottingham Trent University, United Kingdom Andrew T. Garrett, University of Hull, United Kingdom Neil S. Maxwell, University of Brighton, United Kingdom Julien Périard, University of Canberra, Australia

Citation: Sunderland, C., Garrett, A. T., Maxwell, N. S., Périard, J., eds. (2020). Heat Acclimation for Special Populations. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88966-018-6

Table of Contents

- 04 Editorial: Heat Acclimation for Special Populations Andrew T. Garrett, Neil S. Maxwell, Julien D. Périard and Caroline Sunderland
- 07 Mixed Active and Passive, Heart Rate-Controlled Heat Acclimation is Effective for Paralympic and Able-Bodied Triathletes Ben T. Stephenson, Keith Tolfrey and Victoria L. Goosey-Tolfrey
- Hematological Adaptations to Prolonged Heat Acclimation in Endurance-Trained Males
 Laura Oberholzer, Christoph Siebenmann, C. Jacob Mikkelsen, Nicklas Junge, Jacob F. Piil, Nathan B. Morris, Jens P. Goetze, Anne-Kristine Meinild Lundby, Lars Nybo and Carsten Lundby
- 27 Prolonged Heat Acclimation and Aerobic Performance in Endurance Trained Athletes

C. Jacob Mikkelsen, Nicklas Junge, Jacob F. Piil, Nathan B. Morris, Laura Oberholzer, Christoph Siebenmann, Carsten Lundby and Lars Nybo

- 36 How Does a Delay Between Temperate Running Exercise and Hot-Water Immersion Alter the Acute Thermoregulatory Response and Heat-Load? Storme L. Heathcote, Peter Hassmén, Shi Zhou, Lee Taylor and Christopher J. Stevens
- 44 Performance Changes Following Heat Acclimation and the Factors That Influence These Changes: Meta-Analysis and Meta-Regression Courteney Leigh Benjamin, Yasuki Sekiguchi, Lauren Amanda Fry and Douglas James Casa
- 61 Effectiveness of Short-Term Heat Acclimation on Intermittent Sprint Performance With Moderately Trained Females Controlling for Menstrual Cycle Phase

Andrew T. Garrett, Edward Dodd, Victoria Biddlecombe, Damien Gleadall-Siddall, Rachel Burke, Jake Shaw, James Bray, Huw Jones, Grant Abt and Jarrod Gritt

- 72 Integrating Heat Training in the Rehabilitation Toolbox for the Injured Athlete Mohammed Ihsan, Julien D. Périard and Sébastien Racinais
- 77 *Heat Acclimation Does Not Modify* Q₁₀ *and Thermal Cardiac Reactivity* Bernhard Kampmann and Peter Bröde
- 83 Heat Adaptation in Military Personnel: Mitigating Risk, Maximizing Performance

Iain T. Parsons, Michael J. Stacey and David R. Woods

- Gould Heat Therapy Be an Effective Treatment for Alzheimer's and Parkinson's Diseases? A Narrative Review
 Andrew P. Hunt, Geoffrey M. Minett, Oliver R. Gibson, Graham K. Kerr and Ian B. Stewart
- 113 Risks of Heat Illness in Athletes With Spinal Cord Injury: Current Evidence and Needs

Yang Zhang and Phillip A. Bishop

117 Long Term Adaptation to Heat Stress: Shifts in the Minimum Mortality Temperature in the Netherlands

Mireille A. Folkerts, Peter Bröde, W. J. Wouter Botzen, Mike L. Martinius, Nicola Gerrett, Carel N. Harmsen and Hein A. M. Daanen





Editorial: Heat Acclimation for Special Populations

Andrew T. Garrett^{1*}, Neil S. Maxwell², Julien D. Périard³ and Caroline Sunderland⁴

¹ Department of Sport, Health and Exercise Science, University of Hull, Hull, United Kingdom, ² School of Sport and Service Management, University of Brighton, Brighton, United Kingdom, ³ University of Canberra Research Institute for Sport and Exercise (UCRISE), Canberra, ACT, Australia, ⁴ School of Science and Technology, Nottingham Trent University, Nottingham, United Kingdom

Keywords: exercise, heat stress, heat training, heat acclimatization, heat therapy

Editorial on the Research Topic

Heat Acclimation for Special Populations

This heat acclimation for special population's Research Topic questions the "one size fits all" approach for heat adaptation and that it may not be appropriate for all populations. Therefore, to highlight these differences we endeavored to collect a set of studies on how heat acclimation may benefit a wide range of special populations who have specific needs.

We have published 12 articles in this Research Topic and defined four main areas of research. (a) an epidemiological approach and the aging process; (b) understanding physiological mechanisms and a novel heat acclimation method; (c) adaptation to the heat for special populations including males, females, military personnel and Paralympic athletes; and (d) the use of heat therapy for special populations. We have summarized the most noteworthy evidence of each study in these research areas.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Mathieu Gruet, Université de Toulon, France

Reviewed by:

Julien Louis, Liverpool John Moores University, United Kingdom

*Correspondence: Andrew T. Garrett a.garrett@hull.ac.uk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Integrative Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 18 June 2020 **Accepted:** 02 July 2020 **Published:** 29 July 2020

Citation:

Garrett AT, Maxwell NS, Périard JD and Sunderland C (2020) Editorial: Heat Acclimation for Special Populations. Front. Physiol. 11:895. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2020.00895

AN EPIDEMIOLOGICAL APPROACH AND THE AGING PROCESS

A study conducted by Folkerts et al. investigated how humans adapt or will adapt to heat stress caused by climate change over a long-term interval. They used three commonly used methods over a period of 23 years for older adults (\geq 65 years), in the Netherlands. The methods used were; minimum mortality temperature (MMT), defined as the mean daily temperature at which the lowest mortality occurs; heat sensitivity, the percentage change in mortality per 1°C above the MMT threshold, or heat attributable fraction, the percentage relative excess mortality above MMT. The key findings suggest that despite differences in the three different methods for determining MMT, the susceptibility of humans to heat decreases over time. This work suggests that future epidemiological research should focus on what factors (e.g., physiological, behavioral, technological, or infrastructural adaptations) influence human adaptation the most. Furthermore, this should lead to the promotion of specific adaptation policies for the general population.

PHYSIOLOGICAL MECHANISMS AND A NOVEL HEAT ACCLIMATION METHOD

Heat acclimation results in physiological adaptations dependent upon the duration of acclimation, type, mode of exercise, and environmental conditions employed. Research by Oberholzer et al. employed prolonged (5.5 weeks, 5 days.wk⁻¹) heat acclimation to determine hematological changes and reported that hemoglobin mass was increased by 3% and this was weakly correlated with plasma volume expansion. The mechanism for the hemoglobin mass increase may therefore be a compensatory response in erythropoiesis, secondary to the plasma volume expansion. However,

a study conducted by Kampmann and Bröde that employed prolonged heat acclimation over a minimum of 3 weeks, walking for 3 h per session showed that energy expenditure (Q_{10} effect) and thermal cardiac reactivity were unaltered by heat acclimation status. Overall, oxygen uptake increased by 7% and heart rate by 39–41 bpm, per degree increase in rectal temperature, which was independent of heat acclimation. Therefore, this has implications for the methods and models employed, using Q_{10} effect and thermal cardiac reactivity, for workplace heat stress assessments.

With more sporting' events taking place in hot environments, and global warming increasing temperatures, novel and practical acclimation methods are being investigated and employed. Heathcote et al. investigated the effects of the length of time delay (10 min, 1, 8 h) between running in temperate conditions and the acute thermoregulatory responses to 30 min of hot water immersion (39° C). Findings recommended undertaking hot water immersion within 10 min of completing training to maximize core temperature and heart rate responses and thus acclimation stimulus.

ADAPTATION TO THE HEAT FOR SPECIAL POPULATIONS INCLUDING MALES, FEMALES, MILITARY PERSONNEL, AND PARALYMPIC ATHLETES

Heat acclimation is widely accepted as the primary intervention one can adopt to optimize performance and work output in the heat (Racinais et al., 2015). In a meta-analysis, Benjamin et al. examined the magnitude of change in maximal oxygen consumption ($\dot{V}O_{2max}$), time to exhaustion, time trial, mean power, and peak power tests following heat acclimation. It was shown that acclimation provided the largest performance enhancement in time to exhaustion tests, followed by time trial, mean power, and peak power tests. The authors identified several factors that had affected the results of these performance tests, such as the method of heat acclimation induction, fitness level of participants and heat index.

Research by Mikkelsen et al. examined whether heat acclimation adaptations improved aerobic capacity and performance in cool conditions by comparing two groups of participants training for 5.5 weeks, one in the heat and the other in cool/control conditions. The authors noted that when tested in cool conditions, participants having been heat acclimated did not improve peak power output or aerobic capacity during atest. However, time trial performance in cool conditions improved in the heat acclimation group, albeit to a similar extent than the cool/control group. They concluded that training in the heat is not superior to training in normal conditions for improving aerobic power or time trial performance in cool conditions.

In a more short-term heat acclimation and sprint performance-oriented paper, Garrett et al. focused on the performance responses of female participants when controlling for menstrual cycle. Results indicated an improvement in mean power during maximal sprinting across the 5-day intervention, in line with reductions in core temperature and heart rate, and an increased plasma volume. Military personnel face unique situations, such as shortnotice deployment to hot operational environments that can present medical, occupational, and logistical challenges. In their review, Parsons et al. characterize the physical challenges that military training and deployment present, consider how heat acclimation can augment military performance in hot environments, and identify potential solutions to optimize the risk-performance paradigm.

With a focus on para-triathletes, Stephenson et al. investigated the effectiveness of mixed, active and passive heat acclimation with a controlled heart rate approach at inducing adaptation relative to able-bodied triathletes. The authors reported that para-triathletes displayed partial heat acclimation (i.e., thermoregulatory adaptations) but the extent to which was greater in the able-bodied cohort.

HEAT THERAPY FOR SPECIAL POPULATIONS

Musculoskeletal injuries disrupt the training, competition and careers of many athletes. Often presented as deconditioning of the cardiovascular, metabolic, and/or muscular systems depending upon the severity of the injury. A review by Ihsan et al. considered an alternative, therapeutic use for heat acclimation that provided evidence for repeated heat exposures embedded into the re-conditioning programs, as part of a *rehabilitation toolbox*, to assist athletes' recovery from injury.

Heat dissipating mechanisms are compromised in individuals with a spinal cord injury, especially in tetraplegia or high-level paraplegia. A review by Zhang and Bishop evaluated the risk of heat injury during training and competition amongst spinal cord injury athletes in order that risk stratification could lead to systematic heat policy to improve knowledge, medical support and protection for these athletes.

A review by Hunt et al. present a compelling perspective on the role of heat therapy and/or heat acclimation that may mediate the upregulation of heat shock proteins (HSP), as an intervention for protecting neurodegeneration in Alzheimer's and Parkinson's disease. The HSP response has been used as a marker of inflammation and heat adaptation. With the pathophysiology of these neurodegenerative diseases linked to loss of protein homeostasis, the authors suggest a heat-induced elevation in HSP from tolerable heat therapy, may improve neuromuscular function, cerebral blood flow, metabolic health, and quality of life. Furthermore, the use heat therapy may lend itself for the treatment of cardiovascular or metabolic diseases.

In summary, as more people travel from cooler to hotter climates, global temperatures increase and more occupations require people to work in hot environments, often at short notice, a better understanding of the individual benefits of heat acclimation is required. The need to understand how heat acclimation can alleviate thermal strain and enhance performance in all humans is essential. Furthermore, it is clear that the "one size fits all" approach may not be appropriate for all populations, as there are often special needs required for heat adaptation. From a sporting perspective, this information is important given the preparations required for the heat and humidity of the 2021 Olympics in Tokyo, Japan (Gerrett et al., 2019). Importantly, the potential benefits of the use of heat therapy for special populations including the treatment of chronic disease remains largely unexplored and needs a great deal more attention.

REFERENCES

- Racinais, S., Alonso, J.-M., Coutts, A. J, Flouris, A. D., Girard, O., Gonzalez-Alonso, J., et al. (2015). Consensus recommendations on training and competing in the heat. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 25, 6–19. doi: 10.1007/s40279-015-0343-6
- Gerrett, N., Kingma, B. R. M., Sluijter, R., and Daanen, H. A. M. (2019). Ambient conditions prior to Tokyo 2020 Olympic and Paralympic games: considerations for acclimation or acclimatization strategies. *Front. Physiol.* 10:414. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019. 00414

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Garrett, Maxwell, Périard and Sunderland. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Mixed Active and Passive, Heart Rate-Controlled Heat Acclimation Is Effective for Paralympic and Able-Bodied Triathletes

Ben T. Stephenson^{1,2}, Keith Tolfrey¹ and Victoria L. Goosey-Tolfrey^{1*}

¹The Peter Harrison Centre for Disability Sport, School of Sport, Exercise and Health Sciences, Loughborough University, Loughborough, United Kingdom, ²Physiology, English Institute of Sport, Loughborough Performance Centre, Loughborough University, Loughborough, United Kingdom

Purpose: The aims of this study are to explore the effectiveness of mixed active and passive heat acclimation (HA), controlling the relative intensity of exercise by heart rate (HR) in paratriathletes (PARA), and to determine the adaptation differences to able-bodied (AB) triathletes.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Neil S. Maxwell, University of Brighton, United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

David Andrew Low, Liverpool John Moores University, United Kingdom Naoto Fujii, University of Tsukuba, Japan

*Correspondence:

Victoria L. Goosey-Tolfrey v.l.tolfrey@lboro.ac.uk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Exercise Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 19 June 2019 Accepted: 06 September 2019 Published: 20 September 2019

Citation:

Stephenson BT, Tolfrey K and Goosey-Tolfrey VL (2019) Mixed Active and Passive, Heart Rate-Controlled Heat Acclimation Is Effective for Paralympic and Able-Bodied Triathletes. Front. Physiol. 10:1214. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019.01214 **Methods:** Seven elite paratriathletes and 13 AB triathletes undertook an 8-day HA intervention consisting of five HR-controlled sessions and three passive heat exposures (35°C, 63% relative humidity). On the first and last days of HA, heat stress tests were conducted, whereby thermoregulatory changes were recorded during at a fixed, submaximal workload. The AB group undertook 20 km cycling time trials pre- and post-HA with performance compared to an AB, non-acclimated control group.

Results: During the heat stress test, HA lowered core temperature (PARA: $0.27 \pm 0.32^{\circ}$ C; AB: $0.28 \pm 0.34^{\circ}$ C), blood lactate concentration (PARA: 0.23 ± 0.15 mmol l⁻¹; AB: 0.38 ± 0.31 mmol l⁻¹) with concomitant plasma volume expansion (PARA: $12.7 \pm 10.6\%$; AB: $6.2 \pm 7.7\%$; $p \le 0.047$). In the AB group, a lower skin temperature ($0.19 \pm 0.44^{\circ}$ C) and HR (5 ± 6 bpm) with a greater sweat rate ($0.17 \pm 0.25 \text{ L} \text{ h}^{-1}$) were evident post-HA ($p \le 0.045$), but this was not present for the PARA group ($p \ge 0.177$). The AB group improved their performance by an extent greater than the smallest worthwhile change based on the normal variation present with no HA (4.5 vs. 3.7%).

Conclusions: Paratriathletes are capable of displaying partial HA, albeit not to same extent as AB triathletes. The HA protocol was effective at stimulating thermoregulatory adaptations with performance changes noted in AB triathletes.

Keywords: disability, thermoregulation, isothermic, acclimatization, triathlon, elite

INTRODUCTION

Competitive sporting events are commonly held in hot and/or humid environments; therefore, strategies are commonly sought to attenuate the deterioration typical of endurance performance in such conditions (Daanen et al., 2018); one such strategy that is commonly used by athletes is heat acclimation (HA). Heat acclimation can invoke myriad positive adaptations, which

improve heat tolerance, including lower: core (T_c) and skin (T_{sk}) temperature; submaximal heart rate (HR); carbohydrate metabolism; and sweat electrolyte content. Additionally, it can lead to an increased sweat rate, plasma volume (PV) expansion, and positive perceptual alterations with a resultant improved performance in the heat (Corbett et al., 2014).

Heat acclimation typically involves daily or alternate days of heat stress over a 5-16-day period, whereby T_c , T_{sk} , and sweat rate are elevated for 1-2 h (Daanen et al., 2018). To provide a constant heat stress across HA, isothermic protocols have been employed, whereby the external workload is manipulated within- and between-HA sessions to maintain a T_c of ~38.5°C (Gibson et al., 2015; Neal et al., 2016; Ruddock et al., 2016). However, these approaches bring the financial burden of measuring T_c via ingestible sensors or participant discomfort from rectal temperature assessment. Furthermore, rectal temperature measurement poses a risk of autonomic dysreflexia in athletes with a spinal cord injury (Price and Campbell, 1999). Consequently, controlling HA intensity using HR has been proposed by Périard et al. (2015) as a practical method of maintaining a constant cardiovascular stimulus. Based on evidence that HR is unchanged through isothermic HA (Magalhães et al., 2010; Garrett et al., 2012; Zurawlew et al., 2015; Pethick et al., 2019), this method of controlling the relative intensity would result in a constant thermal load during HA. Initial evidence suggests that this approach may be efficacious in invoking HA in soccer players (Philp et al., 2017).

Despite the efficacy of HA for invoking thermoregulatory adaptations, commonly studied protocols may not be appropriate for elite athletes in preparation for competition, especially in a multi-modal sport such as triathlon. This is due to the protocols typically involving multiple days of exercise in the heat, which does not fit with the weekly training distribution of athletes tapering into competition (Mujika, 2011). As such, passive HA has recently been explored (Stanley et al., 2015; Zurawlew et al., 2015, 2018). Using post-exercise heat exposures, positive adaptations are achievable without excessive physical stress (Stanley et al., 2015; Zurawlew et al., 2015; Zurawlew et al., 2015; Zurawlew et al., 2015; Tyler et al., 2016). As such, Guy et al. (2014) state that for

athletes to optimally adapt to the heat, and in a time-efficient manner, protocols may best utilize a combination of active and passive HA.

While HA has been studied in a range of able-bodied (AB) athletes (Lorenzo et al., 2010; Garrett et al., 2012; Stanley et al., 2015; Ruddock et al., 2016), little attention has been paid to Paralympic athletes. These athletes are likely to be at heightened risk for performance decrements in the heat as a consequence of varied impairments in autonomic or behavioral thermoregulatory function (Webborn and Van de Vliet, 2012). In the sole published study of Paralympic athletes and HA, Castle et al. (2013) researched the adaptive potential of target shooters with a spinal cord injury. The athletes performed a 7-day protocol consisting of 20 min moderate intensity arm cranking followed by 40 min passive heat exposure and displayed several thermoregulatory adaptations. While this provided the first evidence of Paralympic athletes' capability to adapt to the heat, even to a relatively modest heat stimulus, it is not known whether HA is also effective in endurancetrained Paralympic athletes. Further, it is not known how adaptations to HA in Paralympic athletes differ from AB individuals.

The aims of this study were to investigate the efficacy of a mixed active and passive HA protocol in the sport of paratriathlon. To negate the issue of potential cost and discomfort associated with isothermic protocols, a controlled relative intensity design was utilized by regulating exercise intensity using HR, which may be more applicable for elite athletes. A further aim was to determine how HA adaptations may differ between Paralympic and AB athletes.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

Twenty-nine (22 males and 7 females) paratriathletes and triathletes were recruited to partake in the present study. From this pool, three separate groups were formed: a group of elite paratriathletes [PARA; n = 7; amputation n = 3, incomplete spinal cord injury n = 1 (wheelchair user), hemiplegia cerebral palsy n = 1, lower leg impairment n = 1, visual impairment n = 1]; an AB HA group (AB-ACC; n = 13); an AB control group (AB-CON; n = 9; **Table 1**). Participants trained at least five times per week. All provided written informed consent and the procedures were approved by the Loughborough University Ethical Advisory Committee (R16-P010). No participants reported being heat acclimated/acclimatized prior to the start of the study.

TABLE 1 | Participant characteristics for the paratriathlon (PARA), able-bodied acclimation (AB-ACC), and able-bodied control (AB-CON) groups.

Parameter	PARA (four males, three females)	AB-ACC (nine males, four females)	AB-CON (eight males)
Age (y)	31 ± 9*	25 ± 7	21 ± 2
Body mass (kg)	67.8 ± 9.0	69.3 ± 9.4	70.0 ± 6.9
Cycling VO2peak (ml·kg-1·min-1)	57.7 ± 7.6	61.5 ± 6.4	62.7 ± 8.1
MAP (W)	324 ± 73	340 ± 74	379 ± 45
AeLT (W)	181 ± 48	187 ± 42	192 ± 28

VO2Deak, peak rate of oxygen uptake; MAP, maximal aerobic power output; AeLT, aerobic lactate threshold power output. "Significantly greater than AB-CON (p = 0.039).

Abbreviations: AB, Able-bodied; AeLT, Aerobic lactate threshold; BLa, Blood lactate concentration; CV, Coefficient of variation; HA, Heat acclimation; HR, Heart rate; PO, Cycling power output; RPE, Rating of perceived exertion; PV, Plasma volume; SD, Standard deviation; T_c , Core temperature; TS, Thermal sensation; T_{sko} Skin temperature; USG, Urine specific gravity.

Study Design

Both the PARA and AB-ACC groups undertook an 8-day HA period. Due to the nature of the paratriathletes' pre-competition routine, it was not possible to gain a direct performance measure in this group. However, this was undertaken in the AB-ACC group pre- and post-HA. The AB-CON group solely undertook the performance trials with no HA to determine natural variation in performance (**Figure 1**).

During the study period, all participants were instructed to maintain their usual training routine. All testing was performed in the same geographical location with an average outdoor environmental temperature of $13.6 \pm 6.2^{\circ}$ C during the study period. Participants were free to drink ad libitum during all visits, but fluid intake was restricted to water. Participants were instructed to abstain from alcohol for 48 h before every trial while standardizing food, fluid, sodium, and caffeine intake. During every trial in the heat, participants were instructed to keep clothing consistent. All trials in the heat were conducted in an environmental chamber (Weiss Gallenkamp, Loughborough, United Kingdom; $35.1 \pm 0.4^{\circ}$ C, $63.4 \pm 4.1\%$ relative humidity) with a fan producing an airflow of 2.0 m s⁻¹ at the body (5,400 FW, Kestrel Meters, Minneapolis, MN, United States). All trials were scheduled at the same time of day to limit the cofounding effect of circadian rhythm variation (Winget et al., 1985). Prior to all trials, participants first provided a urine sample for the determination of urine specific gravity (USG) by refractometer (PCE-032, PCE Instruments UK Ltd., Southampton, United Kingdom) before nude body mass was recorded via electronic scales (Adam Equipment Co. Ltd., Milton Keynes, United Kingdom). Participants with a USG ≥ 1.020 were advised to increase fluid intake pre-trial via ingesting 250-500 ml of water 30 min pre-trial. After the trials, nude body mass was again recorded after towel drying. Fluid intake was calculated from drinks bottle mass changes, and sweat loss was calculated from fluid intake and body mass changes. Sweat gain was calculated from sweat loss and $T_{\rm c}$, where available.

Graded Exercise Tests

For all participants, the first trial consisted of a submaximal cycling graded exercise test for the determination of individuals' aerobic lactate threshold (AeLT) with a maximal graded exercise test for the determination of maximum HR, maximum aerobic power output (PO), and peak rate of oxygen uptake. This was the only visit conducted in temperate ambient conditions. During both tests, participants cycled on the Cyclus 2 ergometer (RBM elektronik-automation GmbH, Leipzig, Germany), using their own bicycle, at incremental POs. AeLT was determined from athletes' blood lactate concentration (BLa; Biosen C-Line, EKF Diagnostics, Magdeburg, Germany) and oxygen uptake (Metalyzer[®] 3B, Cortex Biophysik GmbH, Leipzig, Germany) using the methods of Beaver et al. (1985). HR was recorded continuously (Polar RS400, Polar, Kempele, Finland). Maximum HR, maximum aerobic PO, and peak rate of oxygen uptake were defined as the highest value recorded during any 5, 60, or 30 s epoch of the maximal test, respectively.





Familiarization and Performance Trials

The performance trial consisted of a simulated 20 km cycling time trial in the heat. Six days after the graded exercise tests, participants were familiarized to the performance trial. The familiarization, pre-acclimation performance trial (TT1), and post-acclimation performance trial (TT2) were all performed on the Cyclus 2 ergometer. Warm-up for all performance trials was standardized to 10 min cycling at AeLT, followed by 5 min passive recovery. Participants were instructed to perform the test in the shortest amount of time possible with no encouragement given. During all trials, participants were blinded to all measures except distance covered. HR was recorded throughout, while capillary BLa was assessed pre-trial and every 5 km. Similarly, thermal sensation (TS) (Hardy, 1970) and rating of perceived exertion (RPE) (Borg, 1998) were collected every 5 km.

Heat Stress Tests

Participants were first instructed to rest in a seated position of 10 min for the provision of fingertip capillary blood samples, as performed elsewhere (Castle et al., 2013; Stanley et al., 2015; Ruddock et al., 2016). In duplicate, samples were collected in hematocrit tubes (Hawksley, Sussex, United Kingdom) for the determination of hematocrit, while 20 µl samples were collected in capillary tubes (EKF Diagnostics) for the measurement of hemoglobin. After blood samples were collected, participants were fitted with temperature loggers (DS1922L Thermochron iButton®, Maxim Integrated Products, Inc., Sunnyvale, CA, United States) using surgical tape to measure T_{sk} at four sites (*pectoralis major* muscle belly, lateral head of triceps brachii, rectus femoris muscle belly, and lateral head of the gastrocnemius) (Ramanathan, 1964), on the right side of the body, at a recording rate of 30 s. Subsequently, sweat patches (Tegaderm +Pad, 3 M, St. Paul, MN, United States) were placed at four sites (forearm, chest, upper back, and thigh), after cleaning with deionized water, for the collection of localized sweat on the left side of the body. The heat stress test (HST) consisted of 10 min standardized fixed intensity cycling at an intensity equating to 80% AeLT before immediately starting 40 min fixed intensity cycling at participants' AeLT. During the HST, T_c was recorded at 5-min intervals via ingestible T_c sensor (CorTemp, HQ Inc., Palmetto, FL, United States) taken ~6 h pre-trial. HR was recorded throughout, while BLa, TS, and RPE were collected pre-trial and at 10-min intervals. After the completion of the HSTs, participants exited the chamber and were instructed to rest in a seated position during which time T_{sk} loggers were removed and sweat patches were cleaned with deionized water and placed in collection tubes (Salivette®, Sarstedt, Nümbrecht, Germany) for later analysis. Capillary blood samples were then repeated as previously.

Active Heat Acclimation

Participants were permitted a self-selected 5 min (days 1 and 8) or 15 min (days 3, 5, and 6) warm-up. Participants were provided with an individualized 5 beat min⁻¹ HR zone equating to ~80% maximum HR. This intensity was chosen, based on preliminary testing and previous data (Gibson et al., 2015; Pethick et al., 2019), to elicit a T_c of ~38.5°C. Active HA

sessions lasted for 45 min (days 1 and 8) or 90 min (days 3, 5, and 6). During all sessions, participants were instructed to manipulate their cycling PO, *via* the Cyclus 2, to maintain a HR within the predetermined zone. During all sessions, cycling PO was recorded and stored on the Cyclus 2 before later export and analysis. HR was recorded continuously, while BLa, TS, and RPE were collected pre-trial and at 15-min intervals.

Passive Heat Acclimation

Passive HA sessions were performed on days 2, 4, and 7 and were structured to align with triathletes' typical weekly running frequency when tapering for competition (Mujika, 2011). Participants were instructed to undertake their normal run training, or to run for 30 min at a moderate intensity (RPE of 13) before entering the chamber. Participants then rested in the heat for 60 min. During passive HA sessions, HR was recorded every 10 min, while $T_{\rm sk}$ was assessed *via* an insulted skin thermistor (Squirrel SQ2010, Grant Instruments Ltd., Shepreth, United Kingdom) placed at the seventh cervical vertebra (Taylor et al., 2014). Finally, TS was noted pre-trial and at 20-min intervals.

Analytical Methods

Hematocrit

Hematocrit tubes were centrifuged (Haematospin 1,400, Hawksley) at 11,800 revolution \min^{-1} for 5 min before being assessed *via* a tube reader (Hawksley). As samples were collected in duplicate, the mean value is presented. The coefficient of variation (CV) for duplicate samples was 1.3%.

Hemoglobin

A 20 μ l blood samples were combined with 5 ml Drabkin's solution with the absorbance of the resultant mixture read *via* a zeroed spectrophotometer (Cecil series 1,000, Cecil Instruments Ltd., Cambridge, United Kingdom) at 540 nm. The mean absorbance value of the duplicate samples was subsequently translated into hemoglobin concentration. The CV for duplicate samples was 2.1%.

Plasma Volume Changes

Changes in PV were calculated from hematocrit and hemoglobin using the equation of Dill and Costill (1974).

Sweat Composition

Sweat samples at all four sites were first diluted by a 1:200 ratio in deionized water before being analyzed for sodium concentration *via* flame photometry (Model 410c, Sherwood Scientific Ltd., Cambridge, United Kingdom). All individuals' samples were analyzed in the same batch.

Statistical Analyses

All statistical analyses were conducted using IBM SPSS Statistics 23.0 software (IBM, Armonk, NY, United States). Statistical significance was set at p < 0.05. Data were checked for normal distribution using the Shapiro-Wilk test, where normal distribution was not present and non-parametric test were employed. Where

sphericity could not be assumed, the Greenhouse-Geisser correction was used. Differences in participants' physical and physiological characteristics between groups were assessed via the Kruskal-Wallis test. To determine the likelihood of a learning effect, PO between the familiarization trial and TT1 was compared via paired sample t test. Data from the AB-CON group were used to derive the CV in PO during the performance tests without HA. From this, the smallest worthwhile change in PO was calculated (Malcata and Hopkins, 2014). PO and HR were averaged over 5 km segments during TTs, while T_c, T_{sk}, HR, and PO were averaged over 5 min segments during HSTs, active HA, and passive HA where appropriate. Changes in PO, HR, T_c, T_{sk}, BLa, RPE, and TS between TT1 and TT2, HST1 and HST2, active HA sessions, and between passive HA sessions were assessed via two-way analysis of variance or the Friedman test within groups. Changes in pre-trial USG, fluid intake, sweat rate, sweat gain, and sweat sodium concentration were evaluated by paired sample t test, one-way analysis of variance or Wilcoxon's signed rank test. PV changes were assessed against a fixed zero by one-sample t test. Bonferroni, Mann-Whitney U, or Wilcoxon's signed rank post hoc tests were used to identify any significant differences where appropriate. Data are presented as mean ± standard deviation (SD) where appropriate.

RESULTS

Participant Characteristics

The PARA group were older than AB-CON (p = 0.009), but there were no significant differences in body mass, peak rate of oxygen uptake, maximum aerobic PO, or AeLT between groups ($p \ge 0.352$; **Table 1**).

Performance Tests

There was no significant difference in PO between the familiarization trial and TT1 for either group ($p \ge 0.378$). The CV in PO for AB-CON was 3.7% (TT1: 217 ± 42 W, 33.5 ± 2.4 min; TT2: 219 \pm 38 W, 33.4 ± 2.1 min; Figure 2); therefore, the smallest worthwhile change in PO for TT2 was 4.3%. The average change in PO for AB was 4.5% (TT1: 199 ± 44 W, 35.3 ± 3.7 min; TT2: 207 ± 45 W, 35.0 ± 3.7 min), indicating a small meaningful improvement in average PO during the performance tests. Eight of the 12 participants in the AB-ACC group experienced an improvement in performance exceeding the smallest worthwhile change. There was no significant trial or trial by time effect for HR or BLa for either group ($p \ge 0.164$). TS was significantly lower during TT2 for the AB-ACC group (p = 0.013); there was no significant change in the AB-CON group (p = 0.090), nor was there an effect of trial on RPE in either group ($p \ge 0.388$). Fluid intake (TT1: 0.63 \pm 0.19 L, TT2: 0.76 \pm 0.25 L) and sweat loss (TT1: 1.08 ± 0.25 L, TT2: 1.13 ± 0.25 L) were not significantly different across trials for AB-CON ($p \ge 0.139$). Fluid intake $(TT1: 0.44 \pm 0.22 L, TT2: 0.56 \pm 0.30 L)$ and sweat loss (TT1: 1.08 ± 0.22 , TT2: 1.21 ± 0.28) were significantly greater during TT2 for AB-ACC ($p \le 0.031$). There was no significant difference in pre-trial USG for either group $(p \ge 0.266)$.

Heat Stress Tests

There was a significant PV expansion for PARA ($12.7 \pm 10.6\%$; p = 0.019). However, there was no effect of HA on sweat rate, sweat gain, fluid intake, sweat sodium concentration, or pre-trial USG ($p \ge 0.066$) (**Table 2**). For AB-ACC, there was a significant effect of trial on sweat rate, sweat gain, and fluid intake ($p \le 0.045$) and PV change post-HA ($6.2 \pm 7.7\%$; p = 0.013)



with no significant change in sweat sodium concentration or pre-trial USG ($p \ge 0.678$) (**Table 2**). For both groups, T_c was significantly lower in HST2 (p < 0.001) (**Figure 3A**).

For PARA, there was a significant trial by time interaction, whereby T_c was lower at 40, 45, and 50 min during HST2 than HST1 ($p \le 0.049$). There was, however, no change in

TABLE 2 | Pre-trial urine specific gravity (USG), sweat rate, sweat gain, fluid intake and sweat sodium (Na⁺) concentration during heat stress tests pre- (HST1) and post- (HST2) heat acclimation in paratriathlon (PARA) and able-bodied (AB-ACC) groups (mean ± SD).

	PA	RA	AB-ACC		
	HST1	HST2	HST1	HST2	
Sweat rate (L·h ⁻¹)	1.36 ± 0.73	1.49 ± 0.57	1.35 ± 0.44	1.52 ± 0.37*	
Sweat gain (L·h ⁻¹ ·°C ⁻¹)	1.32 ± 0.53	3.33 ± 2.37	0.74 ± 0.28	1.19 ± 0.90*	
Fluid intake (L·h ⁻¹)	0.88 ± 0.40	0.72 ± 0.16	0.82 ± 0.43	1.04 ± 0.55*	
Average sweat Na+ (mmol·L-1)	37.1 ± 7.1	40.7 ± 12.5	49.2 ± 16.1	48.1 ± 20.6	
Pre-trial USG	1.019 ± 0.004	1.022 ± 0.007	1.014 ± 0.008	1.015 ± 0.008	

*Significantly different to HST1 ($p \le 0.045$).



resting T_c in either group $(p \ge 0.367)$. There was no significant change in T_{sk} for PARA (p = 0.177), but T_{sk} was lower during HST2 for AB-ACC (p < 0.001); *post hoc* analyses revealed T_{sk} was lower from 30 min during HST2 (**Figure 3B**). There was no significant change in HR for PARA (p = 0.878), but for AB-ACC, HR was lower during HST2 (p = 0.008) with values lower from 15 min onward $(p \le 0.045;$ **Figure 4**). For both groups, BLa (**Figure 5**), TS, and RPE were significantly lower during HST2 (p < 0.032).

Active Heat Acclimation

There was no significant difference in PO between days 1 and 8 (45 min) for PARA (p = 0.522), but for AB-ACC, it was higher on day 8 (p = 0.048). Comparing days 3, 5, and 6 (90 min), there was no meaningful difference in PO between

trials for PARA (p = 0.483). However, for AB-ACC, post hoc analyses revealed PO was higher on days 5 and 6 than day 3 ($p \le 0.021$) and was greater on day 6 than days 3 and 5 from 65 min onward ($p \le 0.044$) (Figure 6). There was no significant difference in HR, BLa, sweat rate, fluid intake, or RPE between active HA sessions for either group ($p \ge 0.068$). For AB-ACC, TS was lower on day 5 than days 3 and 6 ($p \le 0.026$). There was no change in TS over time for PARA ($p \ge 0.450$; Table 3).

Passive Heat Acclimation

There was no change in HR or $T_{\rm sk}$ across trials for either group ($p \ge 0.224$; **Table 4**). TS was greater at 60 min than 0 and 20 min ($p \le 0.032$) and was greater on day 2 than days 4 and 7 in PARA ($p \le 0.003$). For AB-ACC, HR was





FIGURE 5 | Changes in blood lactate concentration across heat stress tests (HST) for the paratriathlon (PARA) and able-bodied (AB-ACC) group (mean \pm SD). *Significantly lower during HST2 (p < 0.001). †Significant increase over time ($p \le 0.037$).



greater at 0 min than all other time points ($p \le 0.038$), and T_{sk} was lower at 0 min than 10 min (p = 0.032).

DISCUSSION

This is the first study to investigate the efficacy of HA in a multi-impairment, Paralympic endurance sport. Utilizing a novel, mixed active and passive HA protocol controlling relative intensity through HR, paratriathletes can display positive thermoregulatory adaptations. These responses were a reduction in exercising T_c , BLa, RPE, and TS with concomitant PV

expansion. Furthermore, additional adaptations were noted including $T_{\rm sko}$ HR, and sudomotor changes during the submaximal HST in a physiologically matched AB group. Finally, there was a small direct performance benefit from the employed HA protocol as AB-ACC athletes improved their PO during a 20 km cycling TT in the heat (4.5%) to an extent greater than the variation noted in a non-acclimated AB-CON group (3.7%).

Medium-term HA (8–14-day heat exposure) has been commonly studied in the literature with typical adaptations recently documented in the meta-analysis of Tyler et al. (2016). This approach has been shown to result in a decrease in exercising: T_c (0.17°C); HR (15 beat min⁻¹), T_{sk} (0.73°C), BLa

	Day 1	Day 3	Day 5	Day 6	Day 8
PARA					
BLa (mmol·L ⁻¹)	1.75 ± 0.87	1.54 ± 0.51	1.60 ± 0.69	1.49 ± 0.56	1.63 ± 0.89
TS (AU)	6 ± 1	5 ± 2	5 ± 2	5 ± 2	6 ± 1
RPE (AU)	13 ± 1	12 ± 2	12 ± 1	12 ± 1	13 ± 1
Sweat rate (L·h ⁻¹)	1.40 ± 0.50	1.29 ± 0.52	1.19 ± 0.47	1.33 ± 0.52	1.57 ± 0.45
Fluid intake (L·h-1)	1.38 ± 0.90	1.28 ± 0.62	1.30 ± 0.50	1.29 ± 0.56	1.65 ± 0.51
AB-ACC					
BLa (mmol·L⁻¹)	1.28 ± 0.27	1.44 ± 0.52	1.47 ± 0.62	1.37 ± 0.52	1.78 ± 0.91
TS (AU)	7 ± 1	6 ± 2	6 ± 2*	6 ± 2	6 ± 2
RPE (AU)	14 ± 1	13 ± 2	13 ± 2	13 ± 2	13 ± 2
Sweat rate (L·h ⁻¹)	1.31 ± 0.45	1.22 ± 0.40	1.32 ± 0.36	1.35 ± 0.39	1.27 ± 0.81
Fluid intake (L·h ⁻¹)	1.46 ± 0.77	1.22 ± 0.54	1.31 ± 0.57	1.45 ± 0.64	1.54 ± 0.48

TABLE 3 | Blood lactate concentration (BLa), thermal sensation (TS), rating of perceived exertion (RPE), sweat rate, and fluid intake changes between active heat acclimation sessions for paratriathlon (PARA) and able-bodied (AB-ACC) groups (daily mean ± SD).

*TS significantly lower on day 5 than days 3 and 6 in AB-ACC ($p \le 0.026$).

TABLE 4 | Heart rate (HR), skin temperature (*T*_{sk}), and thermal sensation (TS) between passive heat acclimation sessions for paratriathlon (PARA) and able-bodied (AB-ACC) groups (daily mean ± SD).

	PARA			AB-ACC		
	Day 2	Day 4	Day 7	Day 2	Day 4	Day 7
HR (beat∙min ⁻¹)	74 ± 8	75 ± 8	75 ± 9	78 ± 13	77 ± 11	78 ± 14
T _{sk} (°C)	35.27 ± 1.07	35.21 ± 0.88	35.13 ± 0.66	34.76 ± 1.22	35.00 ± 0.87	35.08 ± 0.71
TS (AU)	4 ± 1	3 ± 1	3 ± 1	4 ± 2	4 ± 2	4 ± 2

TS greater on day 2 than days 4 and 7 in PARA ($p \le 0.003$).

(~0.9 mmol·l⁻¹), TS, and RPE (~10%); with increased wholebody sweat rates (30.0%) and PV expansion (4.3%; Tyler et al., 2016). Thus, this study presents thermoregulatory adaptations for both groups that are within the commonly reported range for similar duration HA, while the greater T_c (~0.28°C) and PV (6.2-12.7%) adaptations here may be a result of the study design ensuring a consistent thermal impulse and relative exercise intensity. Finally, medium-term HA also results in a median 4% improvement in TT performance (Tyler et al., 2016), similar to the 4.5% improvement noted in the AB-ACC group. A noteworthy finding of the current study is the greater magnitude of PV adaptation for PARA relative to AB-ACC. The exact reason behind this response is unknown as this suggests a greater thermal impulse in PARA, which could not be confirmed due to a lack of T_c measurement during HA. Furthermore, HA typically results in a 0.18°C reduction in resting T_c (Tyler et al., 2016); but no reduction was seen presently. This is likely due to a lack of rigid control pre-trial to accurately detect changes in truly resting $T_{\rm c}$.

As noted earlier, the literature to date concerning HA in Paralympic athletes has been confined to one study in target shooters with a spinal cord injury (Castle et al., 2013), despite acknowledgments of the need for greater evidence (Price, 2015; Casadio et al., 2017). The authors stated that the five participants displayed partial HA through a decrease in resting and exercising aural temperature, end-exercise HR, TS, and RPE. These responses were proposed to be mediated by a $1.5 \pm 0.6\%$ PV expansion. There were, however, no notable sweat responses, which were credited to the nature of athletes' autonomic impairments. In the present study, very similar HA adaptations were noted; however, the extent of PV was greater and more varied. This is most likely attributed to the disparate athlete impairments, the HA protocol presenting a greater thermal stimulus, and the incongruent athletic backgrounds. Thus, the present data provide support to the notion that Paralympic athletes are capable of partial HA although not to the same extent as AB athletes undergoing the same protocol. While the current study contained a range of physical impairments in the PARA group, the small sample size did not permit meaningful comparisons between impairments. As such, we cannot differentiate impairment-specific adaptations from individual variability. Nonetheless, analysis of individual data suggests those with presumably greatest thermoregulatory impairment (an athlete with spinal cord injury) can display beneficial adaptions to HA with improvements in T_c, HR, BLa, and PV noted. As such, there is currently no reason why all Paralympic endurance athletes should not undergo HA before competition in the heat.

A unique feature of this work was that differences in HA responses between AB and Paralympic athletes were present. It is worth noting, however, that the small and heterogeneous sample size in the PARA group may have prevented some statistically significant findings. For example, improvements in HR and whole-body sweat rates during exercise were noted; however, these did not reach the predefined threshold of significance. Alternatively, the nature of physical impairments in the PARA group may have restricted any notable adaptation.

For instance, the reduced body surface area for heat dissipation of those with an amputation may be the limiting factor in any $T_{\rm sk}$ change, rather than PV and capacity for skin blood flow. Further, limited sweating responses as a result of reduced body surface area, skin grafts, or disrupted afferent input likely reduce the maximum achievable sweating capacity, thus creating a "ceiling" effect. Nonetheless, improvements in exercising T_c, BLa, and perceptual measures demonstrated an enhanced thermoregulatory capacity, which was likely mediated by a significant PV expansion post-HA. While not directly assessed, it may be assumed that this would result in a direct improvement in endurance performance in hot environments as athletes display a diminished heat storage and reliance upon carbohydrate metabolism. Of note, while the PARA was older, this was not considered a major concern since the previous work has shown age that does not affect thermoregulatory or performance changes post-HA (Tyler et al., 2016).

The use of HR to regulate HA training intensity was based on the recommendations of Périard et al. (2015) to provide a constant cardiovascular, and presumed thermoregulatory, stimulus for continued adaptation. This is supported by previous work showing a constant HR across isothermic HA (Magalhães et al., 2010; Garrett et al., 2012; Zurawlew et al., 2015; Pethick et al., 2019). While isothermic protocols have been commonly utilized in the literature to provide a constant thermal stimulus (Tyler et al., 2016), the utility of such approaches has been questioned in the applied sport setting. Therefore, the use of HR provides a feasible means for regulating HA intensity for elite athletes. Participants in the present study were able to maintain their individualized HR zone within and between HA sessions, and as the target HR was relative to their maximum HR, the relative intensity of exercise was the same between groups. Furthermore, due to a lack of change in BLa, RPE, and TS between active HA, participants maintained a constant relative intensity each day. Moreover, the AB-ACC group was able to produce a greater external workload in later HA sessions suggesting that the group displayed thermoregulatory adaptations that permitted a higher workload for a given relative intensity. This is akin to isothermic HA, whereby greater workloads are produced for a set T_c (Magalhães et al., 2010; Garrett et al., 2012; Pethick et al., 2019). However, no significant change in PO was noted for the PARA group. This may be indicative of the greater individual variation in this group with regard to their physical impairments, exercising workload, and capacity for adaptation.

The current protocol was chosen to provide an optimal yet time efficient HA stimulus when considering elite athletes' pre-competition training schedules (Guy et al., 2014; Casadio et al., 2017). A combined HA approach may present a pragmatic solution to overcome the demands of pre-competition schedules while potentiating a stimulus for heat adaptation (Ruddock et al., 2016), although this is severely understudied. However, Ruddock et al. (2016) utilized this study design in their case study of a soccer referee. The authors showed that the participant displayed increases in whole-body sweat rate, PV, and repeated sprint performance while decreasing exercising tympanic temperature and HR. In the present study, passive heat exposure was in the form of post-exercise rest in a climatic chamber. This permitted athletes the capability to maintain running session density and intensity while continuing daily heat exposure as athletes entered the heat with a presumed prior elevated $T_{\rm c}$, $T_{\rm sk}$, and sweat rate. While $T_{\rm sk}$ did not reach the levels reported by Zurawlew et al. (2015) (equilibrating at 40°C water temperature) during passive heating, it was greater than typical resting temperatures, and the reported TS further indicated some thermal strain. Indeed, as beneficial adaptations were noted in the present study for both AB-ACC and PARA, this adds support for the use of mixed active and passive HA for elite athletes, pre-competition. However, it is unknown if a solely active or passive approach would have induced disparate adaptations.

The timings of this study meant that the PARA group undertook their HA sessions in preparation for a competitive race in the heat. Therefore, it was neither feasible nor appropriate to include a direct performance test for this group. However, this was included in the AB-ACC and AB-CON groups. The AB-ACC group displayed a small improvement in average PO, thus providing evidence for a direct performance benefit of the HA protocol. Furthermore, the AB-ACC group displayed physiological responses during TT2 indicative of an enhanced thermoregulatory capacity. Specifically, a greater sweat rate and fluid intake was noted, while participants produced a greater PO for a similar HR and lower TS, whereas no significant changes were noted for the AB-CON group. It can therefore be assumed that these thermoregulatory adaptations, among others, permitted the improvement in performance.

Here, the lack of a control group engaging in exercise in thermoneutral conditions prevented the ability to state that changes in thermoregulatory variables were due solely to HA. Nonetheless, due to the relatively low HA intensity and the high cardiorespiratory fitness levels of both PARA and AB-ACC groups, it is unlikely any non-HA-specific training adaptation occurred (Lorenzo et al., 2010). However, there is the potential that HA resulted in a positive phenotypic adaptation in athletes' AeLT and/or maximum rate of oxygen uptake. This has been shown by previous research (Lorenzo et al., 2010; Corbett et al., 2014; Tyler et al., 2016), although not all (Chalmers et al., 2014; Neal et al., 2016), and may have reduced the metabolic heat production during HST2. As post-HA graded exercise tests were not conducted and gas exchange variables were not measured during HSTs, this could not be confirmed. Furthermore, it is noteworthy that T_c was not recorded across exercise HA. Although both groups maintained a constant relative intensity, assuming a constant thermal stimulus, this was not confirmed. Lastly, the current study did not control for menstrual cycle phase in female participants, which may have influenced T_c (Casadio et al., 2017).

CONCLUSIONS

A mixed active and passive HA protocol, controlling exercise intensity by HR, induced positive thermoregulatory adaptations in paratriathletes and AB triathletes. Both groups displayed reductions in T_c , BLa, RPE, and TS during a submaximal

HST with significant PV expansion. Furthermore, the AB-ACC group presented additional adaptations including reduced HR and $T_{\rm sk}$ with an elevated sweat rate. This is the first evidence of differences in thermoregulatory variable changes to the same protocol between Paralympic and AB athletes matched for physiological variables. The HR-controlled exercise HA resulted in a constant relative intensity between HA sessions with the AB-ACC group capable of producing a greater PO for a set intensity over the study period. Finally, there was evidence of a direct performance benefit as the AB group improved their PO during a 20 km TT in the heat to a greater extent than the natural variation shown in a non-acclimated, matched cohort.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets generated for this study are available on request to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Human Participants Sub-Committee Loughborough University.

REFERENCES

- Beaver, W. L., Wasserman, K., and Whipp, B. J. (1985). Improved detection of lactate threshold during exercise using log-log transformation. J. Appl. Physiol. 59, 1936–1940. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1985.59.6.1936
- Borg, G. A. V. (1998). Borg's perceived exertion and pain scales. Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics.
- Casadio, J. R., Kilding, A. E., Cotter, J. D., and Laursen, P. B. (2017). From lab to real world: heat acclimation considerations for elite athletes. *Sports Med.* 47, 1467–1476. doi: 10.1007/s40279-016-0668-9
- Castle, P. C., Kularatne, B. P., Brewer, J., Mauger, A. R., Austen, R. A., Tuttle, J. A., et al. (2013). Partial heat acclimation of athletes with spinal cord lesion. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 113, 109–115. doi: 10.1007/s00421-012-2417-6
- Chalmers, S., Esterman, A., Eston, R., and Norton, K. (2014). Brief heat training: no improvement of the lactate threshold in mild conditions. *Int. J. Sports Physiol. Perform.* 11, 1029–1037. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.2015-0601
- Corbett, J., Neal, R. A., Lunt, H. C., and Tipton, M. J. (2014). Adaptation to heat and exercise performance under cooler conditions: a new hot topic. *Sports Med.* 44, 1323–1331. doi: 10.1007/s40279-014-0212-8
- Daanen, H. A. M., Racinais, S., and Périard, J. D. (2018). Heat acclimation decay and re-introduction: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Sports Med. 48, 409–430. doi: 10.1007/s40279-017-0808-x
- Dill, D. B., and Costill, D. L. (1974). Calculation of percentage changes in volumes of blood, plasma, and red cells in dehydration. J. Appl. Physiol. 37, 247–248. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1974.37.2.247
- Garrett, A. T., Creasy, R., Rehrer, N. J., Patterson, M. J., and Cotter, J. D. (2012). Effectiveness of short-term heat acclimation for highly trained athletes. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 112, 1827–1837. doi: 10.1007/s00421-011-2153-3
- Gibson, O. R., Mee, J. A., Tuttle, J. A., Taylor, J. A., Watt, P. W., and Maxwell, N. S. (2015). Isothermic and fixed intensity heat acclimation methods induce similar heat adaptation following short and long-term timescales. *J. Therm. Biol.* 49-50, 55–65. doi: 10.1016/j.jtherbio.2015.02.005
- Guy, J. H., Deakin, G. B., Edwards, A. M., Miller, C. M., and Pyne, D. B. (2014). Adaptation to hot environmental conditions: an exploration of the performance basis, procedures and future directions to optimise opportunities for elite athletes. *Sports Med.* 45, 303–311. doi: 10.1007/s40279-014-0277-4

The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

BS and VG-T designed the study. BS collected and analyzed the study data. BS and KT undertook the statistical analyses. BS wrote the manuscript, which was edited by KT and VG-T.

FUNDING

This study was partly funded by the British Triathlon Federation.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank Duncan Robertson, Robbie McIntyre, Amy Hodgson, Cara Williams, Murray Sheath, and Amber Leonard for their assistance with data collection. Special acknowledgments go to Dr. Matt Furber, Dr. Lewis James, and Mark Funnell for their involvement with sweat sample analysis. Finally, we would like to thank Dr. Sven Hoekstra for providing comments on the manuscript. This study draws from Ben Stephenson's PhD thesis.

- Hardy, J. D. (1970). "Thermal comfort: skin temperature and physiological thermoregulation" in *Physiological and behavioural temperature regulation*. eds. J. D. Hardy, A. P. Gagge, and J. A. J. Stolwijk (Springfield, IL: Thomas), 856–873.
- Lorenzo, S., Halliwill, J. R., Sawka, M. N., and Minson, C. T. (2010). Heat acclimation improves exercise performance. J. Appl. Physiol. 109, 1140–1147. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00495.2010
- Magalhães, F. C., Passos, R. L., Fonseca, M. A., Oliveira, K. P., Ferreira-Júnior, J. B., Martini, A. R., et al. (2010). Thermoregulatory efficiency is increased after heat acclimation in tropical natives. *J. Physiol. Anthropol.* 29, 1–12. doi: 10.2114/jpa2.29.1
- Malcata, R. M., and Hopkins, W. G. (2014). Variability of competitive performance of elite athletes: a systematic review. *Sports Med.* 44, 1763–1774. doi: 10.1007/s40279-014-0239-x
- Mujika, I. (2011). Tapering for triathlon competition. J. Hum. Sport Exerc. 6, 264–270. doi: 10.4100/jhse.2011.62.06
- Neal, R. A., Corbett, J., Massey, H. C., and Tipton, M. J. (2016). Effect of short-term heat acclimation with permissive dehydration on thermoregulation and temperate exercise performance. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 26, 875–884. doi: 10.1111/sms.12526
- Périard, J. D., Racinais, S., and Sawka, M. N. (2015). Adaptations and mechanisms of human heat acclimation: applications for competitive athletes and sports. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 25, 20–38. doi: 10.1111/sms.12408
- Pethick, W. A., Murray, H. J., McFadyen, P., Brodie, R., Gaul, C. A., and Stellingwerff, T. (2019). Effects of hydration status during heat acclimation on plasma volume and performance. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 29, 189–199. doi: 10.1111/sms.13319
- Philp, C. P., Buchheit, M., Kitic, C. M., Minson, C. T., and Fell, J. W. (2017). Does short-duration heat exposure at a matched cardiovascular intensity improve intermittent running performance in a cool environment? *Int. J. Sports Physiol. Perform.* 12, 812–818. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.2016-0072
- Price, M. J. (2015). Preparation of paralympic athletes; environmental concerns and heat acclimation. Front. Physiol. 6:415. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2015.00415
- Price, M. J., and Campbell, I. G. (1999). Thermoregulatory responses of spinal cord injured and able-bodied athletes to prolonged upper body exercise and recovery. *Spinal Cord* 37, 772–779. doi: 10.1038/sj.sc.3100907

- Ramanathan, N. L. (1964). A new weighting system for mean surface temperature of the human body. J. Appl. Physiol. 19, 531–533. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1964.19.3.531
- Ruddock, A. D., Thompson, S. W., Hudson, S. A., James, C. A., Gibson, O. R., and Mee, J. A. (2016). Combined active and passive heat exposure induced heat acclimation in a soccer referee before 2014 FIFA world cup. *Springerplus* 5:617. doi: 10.1186/s40064-016-2298-y
- Stanley, J., Halliday, A., D'Auria, S., Buchheit, M., and Leicht, A. S. (2015). Effect of sauna-based heat acclimation on plasma volume and heart rate variability. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 115, 785–794. doi: 10.1007/s00421-014-3060-1
- Taylor, N. A. S., Tipton, M. J., and Kenny, G. P. (2014). Considerations for the measurement of core, skin and mean body temperatures. J. Therm. Biol. 46, 72–101. doi: 10.1016/j.jtherbio.2014.10.006
- Tyler, C. J., Reeve, T., Hodges, G. J., and Cheung, S. S. (2016). The effects of heat adaptation on physiology, perception and exercise performance in the heat: a meta-analysis. *Sports Med.* 46, 1699–1724. doi: 10.1007/s40279-016-0538-5
- Webborn, N., and Van de Vliet, P. (2012). Paralympic medicine. Lancet 380, 65-71. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60831-9
- Winget, C. M., DeRoshia, C. W., and Hooley, D. C. (1985). Circadian rhythms and athletic performance. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 17, 498–516. doi: 10.1249/00005768-198510000-00002

- Zurawlew, M. J., Mee, J. A., and Walsh, N. P. (2018). Heat acclimation by post-exercise hot water immersion in the morning reduces thermal strain during morning and afternoon exercise-heat-stress. *Int. J. Sports Physiol. Perform.* 1–6. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.2017-0620 [Epub ahead of print].
- Zurawlew, M. J., Walsh, N. P., Fortes, M. B., and Potter, C. (2015). Post-exercise hot water immersion induces heat acclimation and improves endurance exercise performance in the heat. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 26, 745–754. doi: 10.1111/sms.12638

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Stephenson, Tolfrey and Goosey-Tolfrey. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Hematological Adaptations to Prolonged Heat Acclimation in Endurance-Trained Males

Laura Oberholzer¹, Christoph Siebenmann^{1,2}, C. Jacob Mikkelsen³, Nicklas Junge³, Jacob F. Piil³, Nathan B. Morris³, Jens P. Goetze^{4,5}, Anne-Kristine Meinild Lundby¹, Lars Nybo³ and Carsten Lundby^{1,6*}

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Caroline Sunderland, Nottingham Trent University, United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

Daniel Gagnon, Université de Montréal, Canada Tadej Debevec, University of Ljubljana, Slovenia

*Correspondence:

Carsten Lundby carsten.lundby@regionh.dk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Exercise Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 07 August 2019 Accepted: 18 October 2019 Published: 01 November 2019

Citation:

Oberholzer L, Siebenmann C, Mikkelsen CJ, Junge N, Piil JF, Morris NB, Goetze JP, Meinild Lundby A-K, Nybo L and Lundby C (2019) Hematological Adaptations to Prolonged Heat Acclimation in Endurance-Trained Males. Front. Physiol. 10:1379. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019.01379 ¹The Centre of Inflammation and Metabolism and the Centre for Physical Activity Research, Rigshospitalet, University of Copenhagen, Copenhagen, Denmark, ²Institute of Mountain Emergency Medicine, EURAC Research, Bolzano, Italy, ³Department of Nutrition, Exercise and Sport Sciences, University of Copenhagen, Copenhagen, Denmark, ⁴Department of Clinical Biochemistry, University of Copenhagen, Copenhagen, Denmark, ⁶Innland Norway University of Applied Sciences, Lillehammer, Norway

Heat acclimation is associated with plasma volume (PV) expansion that occurs within the first week of exposure. However, prolonged effects on hemoglobin mass (Hb_{mass}) are unclear as intervention periods in previous studies have not allowed sufficient time for erythropoiesis to manifest. Therefore, Hb_{mass}, intravascular volumes, and blood volume (BV)-regulating hormones were assessed with 51/2 weeks of exercise-heat acclimation (HEAT) or matched training in cold conditions (CON) in 21 male cyclists [(mean ± SD) age: 38 ± 9 years, body weight: 80.4 ± 7.9 kg, VO_{2peak} : 59.1 ± 5.2 ml/min/kg]. HEAT (n = 12) consisted of 1 h cycling at 60% VO_{2peak} in 40°C for 5 days/week in addition to regular training, whereas CON (n = 9) trained exclusively in cold conditions (<15°C). Before and after the intervention, Hb_{mass} and intravascular volumes were assessed by carbon monoxide rebreathing, while reticulocyte count and BV-regulating hormones were measured before, after 2 weeks and post intervention. Total training volume during the intervention was similar (p = 0.282) between HEAT (509 ± 173 min/week) and CON (576 ± 143 min/week). PV increased (p = 0.004) in both groups, by 303 ± 345 ml in HEAT and 188 ± 286 ml in CON. There was also a main effect of time (p = 0.038) for Hb_{mass} with +34 ± 36 g in HEAT and +2 \pm 33 g in CON and a tendency toward a higher increase in Hb_{mass} in HEAT compared to CON (time \times group interaction: p = 0.061). The Hb_{mass} changes were weakly correlated to alterations in PV (r = 0.493, p = 0.023). Reticulocyte count and BV-regulating hormones remained unchanged for both groups. In conclusion, Hb_{mass} was slightly increased following prolonged training in the heat and although the mechanistic link remains to be revealed, the increase could represent a compensatory response in erythropoiesis secondary to PV expansion.

Keywords: hemoglobin mass, blood volume, critmeter, hematocrit, vasopressin, erythropoietin

INTRODUCTION

Natural heat acclimatization as well as laboratory-based heat acclimation translates into plasma volume (PV) expansion within the first few days of exposure (Périard et al., 2016). Longer intervention periods are typically required for the corresponding expansion in red blood cell volume (RBCV) and total hemoglobin mass (Hb_{mass}) (Siebenmann et al., 2017b; Montero and Lundby, 2018) but are still desirable due to the potential for elevating arterial O2 delivery and improving endurance performance (Ekblom et al., 1972; Montero et al., 2015). Previous studies have, however, employed relatively short heat acclimation protocols leaving limited time for erythropoiesis to compensate for the hemodilution accompanying the initial PV expansion (Patterson et al., 2004; Keiser et al., 2015; McCleave et al., 2017; Rendell et al., 2017). Therefore, we tested whether exercise training in the heat, i.e., exercise-heat acclimation performed over a period of 51/2 weeks, elicits higher Hb_{mass}.

RBCV and Hb_{mass} expand in response to conventional endurance training (ET) which manifests after 4–6 weeks of ET in untrained individuals (Montero et al., 2015, 2017). In endurance athletes with high Hb_{mass}, on the other hand, this effect is blunted throughout the season or after intense training periods (Gore et al., 1997; Prommer et al., 2008) and additional environmental or cardiovascular stressors may be required to prompt Hb_{mass} expansion further in such athletes. Therefore, hypoxic exposure or altitude training are strategies that are commonly employed by athletes, although their use is highly debated (Lundby and Robach, 2016; Bejder and Nordsborg, 2018). Prolonged exercise-heat acclimation is an alternative approach that potentially increases Hb_{mass} which however remains to be explored.

A potential mechanism underlying an expansion in Hb_{mass} may relate to the early PV expansion concomitant to exercise-heat acclimation as the reduced hematocrit, and thus arterial O₂ content, triggers the release of erythropoietin (EPO) from the kidney (Adamson, 1968; Montero and Lundby, 2019). Indeed, the kidney has been proposed to act as a "critmeter," regulating hematocrit by adjusting RBCV and PV mediated by EPO (Donnelly, 2001). Also, increased PV after 2 weeks of ET coincides with elevated EPO while RBCV remains unaffected which supports that a reduced hematocrit due to a sole expansion in PV may regulate erythropoiesis (Montero et al., 2017). It is also noteworthy that key PV-regulating hormones, e.g., vasopressin and angiotensin II exert direct effects on erythropoiesis (Engel and Pagel, 1995; Kim et al., 2014; Montero and Lundby, 2018). Thus, both an expansion in PV but also the changes in PV-regulating hormones could ultimately affect Hb_{mass}. We therefore conducted the present study to test the hypothesis that exercise-heat acclimation for 51/2 weeks would stimulate erythropoiesis and increase total Hb_{mass} in endurance-trained individuals and aimed at identifying some of the potential underlying hormonal and hematological mechanisms.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The presented data were obtained as part of a large study exploring the effects of prolonged exercise-heat acclimation on performance and the underlying hematological mechanisms. For performance data, the reader is referred to the accompanying paper submitted in this issue (Mikkelsen et al., 2019, submitted). The study protocol was approved by the ethical committee of the Capital Region of Denmark (H-17036662) and conformed to the Declaration of Helsinki.

Participants

Twenty-one healthy, endurance-trained, male cyclists provided oral and written consent for participation and were included in this study (**Table 1**). All participants conducted their regular cycling training during the preceding 3 months in cold temperatures outside (winter: $<15^{\circ}$ C) and were thus not heat acclimatized prior to commencement of the intervention.

Study Design

Participants first underwent baseline testing consisting of blood sampling and determination of body composition, peak oxygen uptake (VO_{2peak}), Hb_{mass}, and intravascular volumes. After baseline measurements, participants were age- and VO_{2peak}- matched into two groups which were thereafter randomly assigned as the exercise-heat acclimation (HEAT, n = 12) or the control (CON, n = 9) group. Participants then completed the 5½-week intervention period, where after blood sampling and determination of Hb_{mass} and intravascular volumes was repeated. In addition, blood sampling was conducted after 2 weeks into the intervention period prior to an exercise training session.

Intervention

HEAT conducted 1 h of cycling in a climatic chamber on 5 weekly occasions for 5½ weeks (28 ± 2 sessions in total). Temperature in the climatic chamber corresponded to 35° C in the first week and was augmented by 1°C each week (relative humidity of $30 \pm 8\%$). This gradual increment in temperature provided a constant adaptation stimulus and resulted in a rectal temperature of >38.5°C after 35 ± 8 min of training during

TABLE 1 | Participant characteristics at baseline.

	HEAT (<i>n</i> = 12)	CON (n = 9)
Age (years)	38.8 ± 8.9	37.7 ± 9.3
Body mass (kg)	80.2 ± 6.3	80.6 ± 9.5
Height (cm)	185 ± 3	184 ± 4
Body fat (%)	13.7 ± 4.0	14.7 ± 2.9
VO _{2peak} (L/min)	4.8 ± 0.4	4.6 ± 0.4
VO _{2peak} (ml/min/kg)	60.0 ± 5.1	57.9 ± 5.1
Training volume pre (min/week)	417 ± 105	499 ± 164
Training volume during (min/week)	509 ± 173	576 ± 143
Training volume > 80% HR _{max} pre (min/week)	102 ± 71	102 ± 55
Training volume > 80% HR _{max} during (min/week)	157 ± 90	122 ± 57

HR_{max} maximal heart rate; VO_{2peak} peak oxygen uptake.

Pre refers to before the intervention. Data are presented as mean \pm SD.

all training sessions. Airflow was provided by a fan only if the participant could not complete the training otherwise and participants were allowed to drink warm water ad libitum during the training. CON maintained their regular outdoor training (<15°C) but reported to the laboratory once a week and cycled in cold conditions (<15°C) to maintain familiarization to stationary cycling. All training sessions in the laboratory, i.e., in the climatic chamber for HEAT, consisted of cycling at 60% VO_{2peak} as determined in cold conditions (~15°C) and were conducted on the participants' personal bikes using a stationary Tacx-trainer device (Tacx Neo Smart T2800; Tacx, Netherlands) and associated software (Tacx Trainer software 4; Tacx, Netherlands). Participants in both groups completed a training log to quantify their training volume and intensity (assessed by heart rate) 2 weeks prior to the intervention and 2 weeks into the intervention. Participants were instructed to maintain their training routine throughout the intervention but to subtract the training hours performed in the laboratory from their regular training. This resulted in similar training volumes between HEAT and CON.

Measurements

Body Composition

Baseline body mass and fat percentage were assessed by bioimpedance (InBody 270; InBody, Denmark).

Peak Oxygen Uptake

An incremental exercise test was performed to determine VO_{2peak} . The test was conducted on the participants' personal bikes, which were installed on a stationary Tacx-trainer device (Tacx Neo Smart T2800; Tacx, Netherlands). Following a 10 min warm up with 5 min at 100 W and 5 min at 175 W (80 RPM), workload was increased by 25 W/min until exhaustion. VO_2 and VCO_2 were obtained by breath-by-breath recordings (Jaeger Oxycon Pro; Viasys Healthcare, Germany). The gas analyzers and the flowmeter were calibrated before each test. A plateau in VO_2 despite increased workload and/or attainment of a respiratory exchange ratio (RER) \geq 1.15 served as test validation criteria. VO_{2peak} was defined as the highest observed value over a 30s-period.

Hemoglobin Mass and Intravascular Volumes

Hb_{mass} and intravascular volumes were assessed using the carbon monoxide (CO) rebreathing technique (Siebenmann et al., 2017a). For some of the participants (n = 11), an automated version of the CO rebreathing (OpCO; Detalo Health, Denmark) was used. The same method (manual/ automated) was applied for intra-individual pre-post comparisons and the distribution of which technique was used was random among HEAT (n = 7) and CON (n = 4). The procedure was as follows: the participant rested for 20 min in the supine position before each measurement. During this time, the participant drank 500 ml of water and an 18-G venous catheter was placed into an antecubital vein. The participant was then connected to a breathing circuit and breathed 100% O₂ for 4 min. 2 ml of blood were sampled

and analyzed immediately in quadruplicates for (1) percent carboxyhemoglobin (%HbCO) and hemoglobin concentration ([Hb]) (ABL835; Radiometer, Denmark) and (2) hematocrit with the microcentrifuge method (4 min at 13,500 RPM). Subsequently, the participant was switched by a sliding valve to a O₂-filled rebreathing circuit and a bolus of 1.5 ml/kg body weight of 99.997% chemically pure CO (CO N47; Strandmøllen, Denmark) was administered to the rebreathing circuit. O₂ was supplied into this circuit on a demand basis. The participant rebreathed the O₂-CO gas mixture for 10 min. A second blood sample was obtained after 10 min of CO rebreathing and analyzed in quadruplicates for %HbCO. The remaining CO volume in the rebreathing circuit was determined as previously specified (Siebenmann et al., 2017a) and was subtracted from the applied CO dose. For the calculation of Hbmass the absorbed CO dose and the changes in %HbCO from before to after rebreathing were used. Total blood volume (BV), RBCV, and PV were then derived from Hb_{mass}, [Hb], and hematocrit (Burge and Skinner, 1995).

Blood Sampling and Analyses

Venous blood was collected in EDTA-coated tubes for analyses of [Hb] and reticulocyte count (Sysmex XN; Sysmex Europe, Germany) on whole blood. Furthermore, 2 ml of blood was collected in a heparinized syringe (PICO50; Radiometer, Denmark) to analyze blood electrolyte concentration with an automated hemoximeter (ABL835; Radiometer, Denmark). A third blood sample was obtained in a sodium heparin-coated vacutainer. After centrifugation, plasma was collected and stored at -80°C until further analysis. Plasma EPO was determined with an ELISA kit (Human Erythropoietin Quantikine IVD ELISA Kit; R&D Systems, USA) with an intra-assay coefficient of variation (CV) of 2.8-5.2% and inter-assay CV of <1%. Plasma protein and albumin concentrations were measured with an automated analyzer (Cobas 8,000, c702 modul; Roche, Germany) with an intra- and inter-assay CV of <5%. Total protein and albumin were calculated by multiplying the respective concentrations with PV. Plasma copeptin as a more stable proxy for vasopressin was determined using an automated immunofluorescent assay (Thermo Fisher Scientific BRAHMS; Germany) (Alehagen et al., 2011), while pro-ANP was measured with a mid-regional assay on a Kryptor Plus platform (Thermo Fisher Scientific BRAHMS; Germany) (Hunter et al., 2011), both with intra- and interassay CV of <6.5%.

Statistical Analyses

All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS 22 (IBM SPSS Statistics, USA). Figures were made using GraphPad Prism 8.0.0 (GraphPad Software; USA). Power calculations before the onset of the study estimated that a sample size of $n \ge 9$ in each group would allow detecting a meaningful change in Hb_{mass}. Prior to analyses, data were evaluated for normality and equal variance and were log-transformed if required. Independent t-test was applied to assess differences in training volume between HEAT and CON. The influence of HEAT on the effects of ET on Hb_{mass}, intravascular volumes and

hematological parameters was assessed with a two-way repeated measures ANOVA. Main effects of time (pre-post ET) as withinsubject factor and of group (HEAT-CON) as between-subject factor were determined along with the corresponding interactions. In addition, Pearson's correlation coefficient was computed to assess associations between hematological parameters. Data are expressed as means \pm standard deviation (SD). *p* <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Heat acclimation in HEAT was verified by improved exercise tolerance in the heat and lowered sweat sodium concentration, while no signs of heat acclimation were observed for CON [see Mikkelsen et al. (2019), submitted, for details].

Hemoglobin Mass and Intravascular Volumes

Hb_{mass} increased in both groups (p = 0.038) but this increase tended (p = 0.061) to be larger in HEAT (+3.2 ± 3.3% from 1,052 ± 97 to 1,085 ± 108 g) than in CON (+0.2 ± 3.2% from 983 ± 137 to 985 ± 141 g) (**Figure 1A**). RBCV increased in both groups (p = 0.006) from 3,136 ± 295 to 3,270 ± 364 ml (+4.2 ± 4.2%) in HEAT and from 2,888 ± 395 to 2,929 ± 453 ml (+1.3 ± 3.3%) in CON (**Figure 1B**). Also, PV increased in both groups (p = 0.004) from 4,091 ± 506 to 4,394 ± 626 ml (+7.6 ± 8.7%) in HEAT and from 4,012 ± 569 to 4,200 ± 471 ml (+5.3 ± 7.5%) in CON (**Figure 1C**). As a result of the elevated RBCV and PV, BV was expanded (p = 0.001) from 7,227 ± 725 to 7,664 ± 876 ml (+6.1 ± 5.9%) in HEAT and from 6,900 ± 884 to 7,130 ± 858 ml (3.5 ± 4.6%) in CON (**Figure 1D**). There was no time × group interaction for RBCV, PV or BV.





General Hematological Characteristics and Plasma Hormones

Hematocrit, [Hb] and reticulocyte count remained unaffected throughout the intervention in both groups (Table 2). There was an effect of time for mean corpuscular hemoglobin concentration (p = 0.015) and for plasma albumin (p = 0.014) and protein concentration (p = 0.028), however, no effect of group or interaction of time × group were detected. Likewise, total albumin and protein content increased in both groups (p = 0.004 and p < 0.001, respectively). Plasma EPO, pro-ANP and copeptin remained unchanged. Furthermore, blood sodium, chloride, calcium and potassium concentrations were unchanged in both groups.

Correlations

We pooled HEAT and CON to examine whether the expansion in PV is correlated to accentuated erythropoiesis and found that changes in PV were weakly associated with altered Hb_{mass} in response to the intervention (Figure 2A). Furthermore, hematocrit determined before and after the intervention was negatively associated with plasma EPO at these time points (Figure 2B) and similarly, there was a tendency toward a negative association (r = -0.416, p = 0.076) between [Hb] and EPO determined at 2 weeks into the intervention. However, no association of copeptin and pro-ANP with EPO was detected at any time point.

DISCUSSION

The present study provides a detailed picture of the hematological adaptations to prolonged exercise-heat acclimation and we report a 3% increase in Hb_{mass} following heat acclimation corresponding to a change of +34 g (range: -17 to 114 g) for HEAT compared to +2 g (range: -50 to 61 g) for CON. This observation is in agreement with our hypothesis, although we only observed a tendency toward a higher increase in Hb_{mass} after exerciseheat acclimation compared to matched training in cold conditions. The Hb_{mass} expansion was weakly correlated to the overall PV change, indicating that the PV expansion is accompanied by an elevation of total Hb_{mass}. Hence, we suggest that in endurancetrained individuals with high Hb_{mass}, heat imposed on ET may trigger a further erythropoietic stimulus, leading to additional Hb_{mass} expansion.

Studies on the adaptation of Hb_{mass} to heat exposure are rare and equivocal. Although, some report unchanged Hb_{mass} in response to 10 or 21 days of exercise-heat acclimation (McCleave et al., 2017; Rendell et al., 2017), we hypothesized these training durations were insufficient to elicit increased erythropoiesis. A reason for this hypothesis was that higher RBCV and Hb_{mass} is only detected after >4 weeks of conventional ET in untrained individuals (Montero et al., 2017). Indeed, in the present study, 51/2 weeks of exercise-heat acclimation elicited a slight expansion of 34 g, whereas Hb_{mass} in CON remained similar with +2 g. This \sim 3% Hb_{mass} expansion in HEAT was greater than the typical error of measurement of the CO rebreathing we observe in our laboratory when using the manual method (Siebenmann et al., 2015, 2017a) and when using the automated version (Fagoni et al., 2018). Higher Hb_{mass} has also previously been reported \sim 3½ weeks after the initiation of an exercise-heat acclimatization period (Karlsen et al., 2015). Opposite to exercise-heat acclimation as in the present study, participants were residing and training in a natural hot environment thus heat exposure time was substantially longer. However, similar exercise-heat acclimatization has also resulted in unaltered Hb_{mass} (Gore et al., 1997). Hence, whether exerciseheat acclimatization manifests in erythropoietic adaptation remains controversial. Overall, applying exercise-heat acclimation, i.e. laboratory-based intermittent heat exposure appears to trigger an erythropoietic response and may be easier to implement, as it does not involve traveling to hot areas and allows furthermore to carefully control for exposure temperature and humidity.

It is recognized that heat exposure and undergoing exerciseheat acclimation or acclimatization results in an expansion of PV between 3 and 27% within the first days of exposure (Périard et al., 2016). We observed that exercise-heat acclimation may furthermore pose an erythropoietic stimulus. In fact, the

	HEAT			CON		
_	Pre	Mid	Post	Pre	Mid	Post
Hb] (g/dl)	14.5 ± 0.9	14.6 ± 1.0	14.3 ± 1.0	14.0 ± 1.0	14.4 ± 0.9	14.2 ± 0.8
Hematocrit (%)	43.5 ± 2.5	_	42.8 ± 3.2	41.9 ± 2.8	_	41.0 ± 2.6
Reticulocytes (10 ⁹ /L)	52.0 ± 8.9	59.3 ± 14.8	54.8 ± 16.2	55.3 ± 14.1	60.4 ± 12.8	54.8 ± 16.3
MCHC (g/dl)	33.4 ± 0.9	_	34.1 ± 2.0	33.4 ± 1.3	_	35.3 ± 2.5
Plasma proteins (g/L)	73.2 ± 3.9	75.7 ± 5.3	74.6 ± 2.6	74.4 ± 3.4	78.4 ± 4.9	76.3 ± 2.7
CP (g)	298 ± 29	_	327 ± 46	297 ± 34	_	321 ± 38
Albumin (g/L)	42.8 ± 2.1	44.5 ± 2.8	42.5 ± 2.0	43.3 ± 3.0	45.0 ± 5.2	43.8 ± 2.9
otal albumin (g)	175 ± 20	_	187 ± 27	173 ± 19	_	184 ± 20
Copeptin (pmol/L)	68.3 ± 26.2	65.0 ± 18.1	78.6 ± 27.4	59.7 ± 24.6	58.4 ± 27.1	65.2 ± 24.7
Pro-ANP (pmol/L)	5.71 ± 2.29	6.20 ± 3.24	5.57 ± 2.45	4.57 ± 1.72	4.30 ± 1.13	5.00 ± 1.82
EPO (mIU/ml)	9.3 ± 2.9	8.7 ± 1.7	9.4 ± 2.2	9.7 ± 2.3	9.4 ± 3.4	9.3 ± 1.8

EPO, erythropoietin; [Hb], hemoglobin concentration; MCHC, mean corpuscular hemoglobin concentration; TCP, total content of protein; Pro-ANP, pro-atrial natriuretic peptide. Before (Pre), after 2 weeks (Mid) and after the intervention (Post). Results represent mean ± SD.



higher Hb_{mass} may be a consequence of the exercise-heat acclimation-induced PV expansion (Montero and Lundby, 2018). The mechanistic basis for this was introduced with the concept of the kidney functioning as a "critmeter" that controls hematocrit by adjusting PV and RBCV, and thus stabilizes arterial O2 content (Donnelly, 2001). The mediating hormone is the glycoprotein EPO that is released upon renal tissue hypoxia resulting from hemodilution and promotes the production of red blood cells in the hematopoietic bone marrow (Jelkmann, 2011). Indeed, it is observed that the rise in EPO coincides with the expansion in PV after 2 weeks of ET (Montero et al., 2017). In the present study, we found that alterations in Hb_{mass} were weakly correlated to PV changes when participants from HEAT and CON were included in the analysis. Furthermore, participants with low hematocrit possessed higher plasma EPO as previously reported for anemic individuals (Erslev, 1991). Thus, accumulating evidence, including our correlational data, points toward PV fluctuations being a driver of erythropoiesis. It needs to be highlighted, however, that the tendency in higher Hb_{mass} in HEAT was not reflected in any changes in plasma EPO or other BV-regulating hormones measured after 2 weeks and by the end of the intervention and the above hypothesis is only supported by the correlational analyses. Moreover, the [Hb] was unchanged after 2 weeks into the intervention period, indicating either normalized PV at this time point or partial Hb_{mass} expansion already compensating for elevated PV. While the latter appears unlikely (Keiser et al., 2015; Rendell et al., 2017), there is some evidence pointing toward only transient effects of exercise-heat acclimatization on PV (Wyndham et al., 1968). Since CO rebreathing was omitted during the intervention period, we cannot conclude on the precise time course of Hb_{mass} and intravascular volume adaptations to exercise-heat acclimation. In addition, determination of the PV-regulating hormones pro-ANP and copeptin, a proxy measure of vasopressin, did not reveal any alterations.

The strong association between endurance performance and Hb_{mass} implies that strategies to stimulate and induce an overall increase in Hb_{mass} are commonly applied by endurance athletes (Gore et al., 1997). A classic procedure is altitude training or "live high-train low", where the hypoxia-induced augmented RBCV is observed to enhance performance (Stray-Gundersen and Levine, 2008), although more recent evidence questions this approach (Bejder and Nordsborg, 2018; Robach et al., 2018). Nonetheless, data showing Hb_{mass} expansion with altitude training in individuals with a similarly high Hb_{mass} as in the present study, report an increase of 5-6% (Robach and Lundby, 2012), which is slightly higher than the +3% observed in the current study with prolonged exercise-heat acclimation. Notably, hypoxia leads to an early contraction in PV (Siebenmann et al., 2017b), whereas exercise-heat acclimation is a training approach that circumvents this reduction in PV.

Eventually, the question arises as to whether the trend in higher Hb_{mass} translated into better endurance performance. It is known that the infusion of packed red blood cells leads to improved VO_{2peak} consequent of increased O₂ transport capacity and facilitated cardiac output (Ekblom et al., 1972). The autologous transfusion of ~135 ml red blood cells is furthermore sufficient to improve time trial performance by ~5% in well-trained men (Bejder et al., 2019). Considering that participants in HEAT in the present study had elevated RBCV by 134 ± 140 ml, some participants may indeed have benefitted from a performance effect in cold conditions. However, while there was an improved time trial performance in HEAT in cold conditions, the same was observed for CON and the intervention did not affect VO_{2peak} [Mikkelsen et al. (2019), submitted in this issue]. Yet, it has been suggested that VO_{2peak} is elevated by ~4 ml/min for each1g rise in Hb_{mass} (Schmidt and Prommer, 2010), which hypothetically would correspond to a mean increase in VO_{2peak} of ~1.75 ml/min/kg (+3%) in HEAT. While this slight increment is of relevance for competing athletes, it is likely that our VO2 measurement was not sufficiently sensitive to detect this difference (Carter and Jeukendrup, 2002). Taken together, even though Hb_{mass} and thus O₂ transport capacity tended to be higher in HEAT than in CON, this did not manifest in better performance in the cold. Nonetheless, it is worthwhile investigating whether exercise-heat acclimation for even longer periods results in a gradual Hb_{mass} expansion and whether that may ultimately improve endurance performance in the cold.

We acknowledge some limitations to our study. First, we only observed a tendency toward a modifying effect of exercise-heat acclimation on Hb_{mass}. This tendency is likely related to the variation in the two groups and therefore limited statistical power may hinder us from drawing definite conclusions. Nevertheless, the time \times group interaction was borderline significant (p = 0.061) and the inclusion of a carefully matched control group (VO_{2peak}, age, and training volume) is considered as a major strength of the study design. Secondly, we were not able to pinpoint the time course of erythropoietic adaptation to exercise-heat acclimation, as reticulocyte count and EPO remained unaltered at 2 weeks of exercise-heat acclimation. This is in contrast to conventional ET, where EPO peaks after 2 weeks and thereafter returns to baseline (Montero et al., 2017). However, at altitude, a steep rise in EPO is detected already after 24 h of exposure whereafter it normalizes (Lundby et al., 2014) and it thus may be that the erythropoietic stimulus in the present study occurred earlier. Thirdly, we hypothesized that the expansion in PV is a mechanism underlying the higher Hb_{mass}. However, we only revealed a weak correlation between alterations in PV and Hb_{mass} and we can thus only speculate on a potential association of the PV expansion with the higher Hb_{mass}. Accordingly, there is need for further experimental verification in humans (Montero and Lundby, 2018). Ultimately, even though participants in the present study were endurance-trained, they did not reach the very high Hb_{mass} values of professional endurance athletes (Jelkmann and Lundby, 2011). Given that it appears challenging to augment erythropoiesis in athletes with high initial Hb_{mass} (Robach and Lundby, 2012), it remains to be examined whether prolonged exercise-heat acclimation in professional endurance athletes is feasible and beneficial for Hb_{mass} expansion.

In summary, when endurance-trained individuals were exposed to environmental stress, i.e., heat, during a substantial part of their weekly training, Hb_{mass} tended to be more expanded than with conventional ET. The mechanisms triggering the response remain to be revealed but could involve a compensatory response in erythropoiesis secondary to PV expansion as the higher Hb_{mass} was correlated to the expansion in PV although EPO and BV-regulating hormones remained unchanged.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

All datasets generated for this study are included in the article/ supplementary files. Some data can be found in the accompanying article (Article DOI: 10.3389/fphys.2019.01372).

REFERENCES

- Adamson, J. W. (1968). The erythropoietin/hematocrit relationship in normal and polycythemic man: implications of marrow regulation. *Blood* 32, 597–609. doi: 10.1182/blood.V32.4.597.597
- Alehagen, U., Dahlström, U., Rehfeld, J. F., and Goetze, J. P. (2011). Association of copeptin and N-terminal proBNP concentrations with risk of cardiovascular death in older patients with symptoms of heart failure. J. Am. Med. Assoc. 305, 2088–2095. doi: 10.1001/jama.2011.666
- Bejder, J., Breenfeldt, A. A., Solheim, S. A., Gybel-Brask, M., Secher, N. H., Johansson, P. I., et al. (2019). Time trial performance is sensitive to low-

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee of the Capital Region of Denmark, protocol no.: H-17036662. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

DISCLOSURES

The license for the product Tacx Trainer device and software was obtained from the copyright holders.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

LN and CL contributed in conception and design of research. LO, CS, CM, NJ, JP, JG, and A-KM performed experiments. LO and CS analyzed data. LO, CS, NM, LN, and CL interpreted results of experiments and drafted the manuscript. LO prepared figures. LO, CS, CM, NJ, JP, NM, JG, A-KM, LN, and CL approved the final version of manuscript and edited and revised the manuscript.

FUNDING

This study has received funding from the European Union's Horizon 2020 Research and Innovation Programme under grant agreement no. 668786, as part of the Project "HEAT-SHIELD Integrated inter-sector framework to increase the thermal resilience of European workers in the context of global warming." The Centre for Physical Activity Research (CFAS) is supported by TrygFonden (grants ID 101390 and ID 20045). The Centre of Inflammation and Metabolism (CIM)/CFAS is a member of DD2 - the Danish Center for Strategic Research in Type 2 Diabetes (the Danish Council for Strategic Research, grant no. 09-067009 and 09-075724).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank all participants for their commitment and time investment in this study. Many thanks are also extended to Marie Ziebell Severinsen for her expert technical assistance.

volume autologous blood transfusion. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 51, 692–700. doi: 10.1249/MSS.00000000001837

- Bejder, J., and Nordsborg, N. B. (2018). Specificity of "live high-train low" altitude training on exercise performance. *Exerc. Sport Sci. Rev.* 46, 129–136. doi: 10.1249/JES.00000000000144
- Burge, C. M., and Skinner, S. L. (1995). Determination of hemoglobin mass and blood volume with CO: evaluation and application of a method. J. Appl. Physiol. 79, 623-631. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1995.79.2.623
- Carter, J., and Jeukendrup, A. E. (2002). Validity and reliability of three commercially available breath-by-breath respiratory systems. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 86, 435–441. doi: 10.1007/s00421-001-0572-2

- Donnelly, S. (2001). Why is erythropoietin made in the kidney? The kidney functions as a critmeter. Am. J. Kidney Dis. 38, 415–425. doi: 10.1053/ ajkd.2001.26111
- Ekblom, B., Goldbarg, A. N., and Gullbring, B. (1972). Response to exercise after blood loss and reinfusion. J. Appl. Physiol. 33, 175–180. doi: 10.1152/ jappl.1972.33.2.175
- Engel, A., and Pagel, H. (1995). Increased production of erythropoietin after application of antidiuretic hormone. A consequence of renal vasoconstriction? *Exp. Clin. Endocrinol. Diabetes* 103, 303–307.
- Erslev, A. J. (1991). Erythropoietin. N. Engl. J. Med. 324, 1339–1344. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199105093241907
- Fagoni, N., Breenfeldt Andersen, A., Oberholzer, L., Haider, T., Meinild Lundby, A.-K., and Lundby, C. (2018). Reliability and validity of non-invasive determined haemoglobin mass and blood volumes. *Clin. Physiol. Funct. Imaging* 38, 240–245. doi: 10.1111/cpf.12406
- Gore, C. J., Hahn, A. G., Burge, C. M., and Telford, R. D. (1997). VO2max and haemoglobin mass of trained athletes during high intensity training. *Int. J. Sports Med.* 28, 477–482. doi: 10.1055/s-2007-972667
- Hunter, I., Alehagen, U., Dahlström, U., Rehfeld, J. F., Crimmins, D. L., and Goetze, J. P. (2011). N-terminal pro-atrial natriuretic peptide measurement in plasma suggests covalent modification. *Clin. Chem.* 57, 1327–1330. doi: 10.1373/clinchem.2011.166330
- Jelkmann, W. (2011). Regulation of erythropoietin production. J. Physiol. 589, 1251–1258. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2010.195057
- Jelkmann, W., and Lundby, C. (2011). Blood doping and its detection. Blood 118, 2395–2404. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-02-303271
- Karlsen, A., Racinais, S., Jensen, V. M., Norgaard, S. J., Bonne, T. C., and Nybo, L. (2015). Heat acclimatization does not improve VO2max or cycling performance in a cool climate in trained cyclists. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 25(Suppl. 1), 269–276. doi: 10.1111/sms.12409
- Keiser, S., Flück, D., Hüppin, F., Stravs, A., Hilty, M. P., and Lundby, C. (2015). Heat training increases exercise capacity in hot but not in temperate conditions: a mechanistic counter-balanced cross-over study. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* 309, H750–H761. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00138.2015
- Kim, Y.-C., Mungunsukh, O., McCart, E. A., Roehrich, P. J., Yee, D. K., and Day, R. M. (2014). Mechanism of erythropoietin regulation by angiotensin II. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 85, 898–908. doi: 10.1124/mol.113.091157
- Lundby, A.-K. M., Keiser, S., Siebenmann, C., Schäffer, L., and Lundby, C. (2014). Kidney-synthesized erythropoietin is the main source for the hypoxiainduced increase in plasma erythropoietin in adult humans. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 114, 1107–1111. doi: 10.1007/s00421-014-2844-7
- Lundby, C., and Robach, P. (2016). Does' altitude training'increase exercise performance in elite athletes? *Exp. Physiol.* 101, 783–788. doi: 10.1113/ EP085579
- McCleave, E. L., Slattery, K. M., Duffield, R., Saunders, P. U., Sharma, A. P., Crowcroft, S. J., et al. (2017). Temperate performance benefits after heat, but not combined heat and hypoxic training. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 49, 509–517. doi: 10.1249/MSS.00000000001138
- Mikkelsen, C. J., Junge, N., Piil, J. F., Morris, N. B., Oberholzer, L., Siebenmann, C., et al. (2019). Prolonged heat acclimation and aerobic performance in endurance trained athletes. *Front. Physiol.* 10:1372. doi: 10.3389/ fphys.2019.01372
- Montero, D., Breenfeldt-Andersen, A., Oberholzer, L., Haider, T., Goetze, J. P., Meinild-Lundby, A.-K., et al. (2017). Erythropoiesis with endurance training: dynamics and mechanisms. *Am. J. Phys. Heart Circ. Phys.* 312, R894–R902. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00012.2017
- Montero, D., Cathomen, A., Jacobs, R. A., Fluck, D., de Leur, J., Keiser, S., et al. (2015). Haematological rather than skeletal muscle adaptations contribute to

the increase in peak oxygen uptake induced by moderate endurance training. *J. Physiol.* 593, 4677–4688. doi: 10.1113/JP270250

- Montero, D., and Lundby, C. (2018). Regulation of red blood cell volume with exercise training. *Compr. Physiol.* 9, 149–164. doi: 10.1002/cphy.c180004
- Montero, D., and Lundby, C. (2019). Arterial oxygen content regulates plasma erythropoietin independent of arterial oxygen tension: a blinded crossover study. *Kidney Int.* 95, 173–177. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2018.09.015
- Patterson, M. J., Stocks, J. M., and Taylor, N. A. (2004). Sustained and generalized extracellular fluid expansion following heat acclimation. J. Physiol. 559, 327–334. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2004.063289
- Périard, J. D., Travers, G. J., Racinais, S., and Sawka, M. N. (2016). Cardiovascular adaptations supporting human exercise-heat acclimation. *Auton. Neurosci.* 196, 52–62. doi: 10.1016/j.autneu.2016.02.002
- Prommer, N., Sottas, P.-E., Schoch, C., Schumacher, Y. O., and Schmidt, W. (2008). Total hemoglobin mass-a new parameter to detect blood doping? *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 40, 2112–2118. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e3181820942
- Rendell, R. A., Prout, J., Costello, J. T., Massey, H. C., Tipton, M. J., Young, J. S., et al. (2017). Effects of 10 days of separate heat and hypoxic exposure on heat acclimation and temperate exercise performance. *Am. J. Phys. Regul. Integr. Comp. Phys.* 313, R191–R201. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00103.2017
- Robach, P., Hansen, J., Pichon, A., Meinild Lundby, A. K., Dandanell, S., Slettaløkken Falch, G., et al. (2018). Hypobaric live high-train low does not improve aerobic performance more than live low-train low in cross-country skiers. Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports 28, 1636–1652. doi: 10.1111/sms.13075
- Robach, P., and Lundby, C. (2012). Is live high train low altitude training relevant for elite athletes with already high total hemoglobin mass? *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 22, 303–305. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0838.2012.01457.x
- Schmidt, W., and Prommer, N. (2010). Impact of alterations in total hemoglobin mass on VO2max. *Exerc. Sport Sci. Rev.* 38, 68–75. doi: 10.1097/ JES.0b013e3181d4957a
- Siebenmann, C., Cathomen, A., Hug, M., Keiser, S., Lundby, A. K., Hilty, M. P., et al. (2015). Hemoglobin mass and intravascular volume kinetics during and after exposure to 3,454-m altitude. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 119, 1194–1201. doi: 10.1152/ japplphysiol.01121.2014
- Siebenmann, C., Keiser, S., Robach, P., and Lundby, C. (2017a). CORP: the assessment of total hemoglobin mass by carbon monoxide rebreathing. J. Appl. Physiol. 123, 645–654. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00185.2017
- Siebenmann, C., Robach, P., and Lundby, C. (2017b). Regulation of blood volume in lowlanders exposed to high altitude. J. Appl. Physiol. 123, 957–966. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00118.2017
- Stray-Gundersen, J., and Levine, B. D. (2008). Live high, train low at natural altitude. Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports 18, 21–28. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0838.2008.00829.x
- Wyndham, C. H., Benade, A. J., Williams, C. G., Strydom, N. B., Goldin, A., and Heyns, A. J. (1968). Changes in central circulation and body fluid spaces during acclimatization to heat. J. Appl. Physiol. 25, 586–593. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1968.25.5.586

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Oberholzer, Siebenmann, Mikkelsen, Junge, Piil, Morris, Goetze, Meinild Lundby, Nybo and Lundby. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Prolonged Heat Acclimation and Aerobic Performance in Endurance Trained Athletes

C. Jacob Mikkelsen¹, Nicklas Junge¹, Jacob F. Piil¹, Nathan B. Morris¹, Laura Oberholzer², Christoph Siebenmann^{2,3}, Carsten Lundby^{2,4} and Lars Nybo^{1*}

¹ Department of Nutrition, Exercise and Sports, University of Copenhagen, Copenhagen, Denmark, ² Centre for Physical Activity Research, Copenhagen University Hospital, Copenhagen, Denmark, ³ Institute of Mountain Emergency Medicine, EURAC Research, Bolzano, Italy, ⁴ Innland Norway University of Applied Sciences, Lillehammer, Norway

Heat acclimation (HA) involves physiological adaptations that directly promote exercise performance in hot environments. However, for endurance-athletes it is unclear if adaptations also improve aerobic capacity and performance in cool conditions, partly because previous randomized controlled trial (RCT) studies have been restricted to short intervention periods. Prolonged HA was therefore deployed in the present RCT study including 21 cyclists [38 \pm 2 years, 184 \pm 1 cm, 80.4 \pm 1.7 kg, and maximal oxygen uptake (VO_{2max}) of 58.1 \pm 1.2 mL/min/kg; mean \pm SE] allocated to either 5¹/₂ weeks of training in the heat [HEAT (n = 12)] or cool control [CON (n = 9)]. Training registration, familiarization to test procedures, determination of VO_{2max}, blood volume and 15 km time trial (TT) performance were assessed in cool conditions (14°C) during a 2-week lead-in period, as well as immediately pre and post the intervention. Participants were instructed to maintain total training volume and complete habitual high intensity intervals in normal settings; but HEAT substituted part of cool training with 28 \pm 2 sessions in the heat (1 h at 60% VO_{2max} in 40°C; eliciting core temperatures above 39°C in all sessions), while CON completed all training in cool conditions. Acclimation for HEAT was verified by lower sweat sodium [Na⁺], reduced steady-state heart rate and improved submaximal exercise endurance in the heat. However, when tested in cool conditions both peak power output and VO_{2max} remained unchanged for HEAT (pre 60.0 \pm 1.5 vs. 59.8 \pm 1.3 mL O₂/min/kg). TT performance tested in 14°C was improved for HEAT and average power output increased from 298 ± 6 to 315 ± 6 W (P < 0.05), but a similar improvement was observed for CON (from 294 \pm 11 to 311 \pm 10 W). Based on the present findings, we conclude that training in the heat was not superior compared to normal (control) training for improving aerobic power or TT performance in cool conditions.

Keywords: cycling time trial, maximal oxygen uptake, exercise, peak power output, cycling efficiency

INTRODUCTION

It is well documented that natural heat acclimatization as well as laboratory-based heat acclimation (HA) improve exercise performance in hot environments (see Daanen et al., 2018 for review and Lorenzo et al., 2010; Karlsen et al., 2015a,b; Racinais et al., 2015 for specific studies). In contrast, if HA also leads to physiological adaptations that will improve exercise performance in cool conditions remains controversial (Corbett et al., 2014;

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Neil S. Maxwell, University of Brighton, United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

Moritz Schumann, German Sport University Cologne, Germany Daniel Gagnon, Université de Montréal, Canada

> *Correspondence: Lars Nybo nybo@nexs.ku.dk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Exercise Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 28 July 2019 Accepted: 16 October 2019 Published: 01 November 2019

Citation:

Mikkelsen CJ, Junge N, Piil JF, Morris NB, Oberholzer L, Siebenmann C, Lundby C and Nybo L (2019) Prolonged Heat Acclimation and Aerobic Performance in Endurance Trained Athletes. Front. Physiol. 10:1372. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019.01372

27

Minson and Cotter, 2016; Nybo and Lundby, 2016). On one hand, Scoon et al. (2007), Karlsen et al. (2015b), and Keiser et al. (2015) report no effect of HA (or similar performance effects as reported for a matched control group training in cool settings) on exercise endurance performance in cool conditions. On the other hand, a few randomized controlled trials (RCTs) studies have reported beneficial effects (Lorenzo et al., 2010; McCleave et al., 2017; Rendell et al., 2017) on VO_{2max}, time trial (TT), and lactate threshold. Furthermore, studies that did not include a control group in the study design also report that training in the heat may benefit aerobic performance in cool setting (Hue et al., 2007; Buchheit et al., 2011, 2013; Racinais et al., 2014; Neal et al., 2016a,b). The difference in findings from the above studies may, to some extent, relate to the heterogeneity of the studies, as they differ in the participants' training status, the conditions undertaken by the control group and, in particular, the duration of the intervention period. To conclude if HA may translate into improved aerobic performance in cool conditions, it is not sufficient to merely demonstrate improved performance in untrained or recreationally active adults, as improvements in performance could relate to a standard training effect rather than environmental stress. Also, for athletes, the improvement accomplished by training in the heat would need to be superior compared to control training that includes highintensity intervals (Levine and Stray-Gundersen, 1997).

The proposed ergogenic effect of HA for subsequent performances in cool conditions has been attributed to a combination of hematological, cardiovascular, and skeletal muscle adaptations (Corbett et al., 2014). One mechanism of particular interest has been the expansion of plasma volume (and general increase of extra-cellular volume; see Patterson et al., 2004) that could translate into increased hemoglobin mass (Hb_{mass}) and higher capacity for systemic oxygen delivery (Scoon et al., 2007); although the erythropoietic effect was not observed in the study by Patterson et al. (2004). Diverse effects on Hb_{mass} as well as plasma and blood volume across available HA studies may relate to relative short intervention periods deployed in previous studies allowing limited time for erythropoiesis to occur. In that context, significant effects of environmental interventions, e.g., altitude exposure is typically considered to require several weeks depending on the strength of the stimuli (Rasmussen et al., 2013; Siebenmann et al., 2015). Therefore, to determine whether HA positively enhances erythropoiesis in trained subjects, HA studies with sufficient duration are warranted.

In addition to central hemodynamic responses, peripheral adaptations of relevance for performance have been proposed to be enhanced by heat training (Coyle, 1999; Bassett and Howley, 2000). For example, improved gross efficiency (GE) following heat training has been observed in some studies (Shvartz et al., 1977; Sawka et al., 1983) but not in others (Karlsen et al., 2015b; Rendell et al., 2017). While enhanced exercise efficiency has been proposed to involve changes in skeletal muscle recruitment patterns in response to heating (Shvartz et al., 1977; Sawka et al., 1983; Corbett et al., 2014), the improved efficiency could merely relate to acquaintance with the experimental testing as the studies reporting this effect have not controlled for familiarization effects.

Therefore, the present study was conducted to evaluate the efficacy of prolonged HA (induced by training in the heat) compared to continued normal training (in settings with low thermal stress) with focus on the potential for improving exercise performance and aerobic capacity in cool conditions. Specifically, a long-term (51/2 weeks) laboratorybased heat-training period was employed to ensure adequate time for any potential erythropoietic effect to occur. We included a group of endurance trained male cyclists that, following familiarization and a controlled lead-in phase, were randomly allocated to a heat training (HEAT) or control (CON) group. It was hypothesized that long-term heat training would improve aerobic capacity, peak power output and prolonged exercise performance, as determined by a 15-km time-trial (TT). We evaluated if potential performance effects involved improved exercise efficiency, thermoregulatory factors related to sudomotor adaptations and hematological adaptations leading to plasma and blood volume expansion. The present paper is focused on the overall performance effects (TT, peak power, and aerobic capacity), while we refer to the accompanying publication by Oberholzer et al. (2019, submitted to the special issue) for details on the hematological adaptations and in-depth analyses of mechanisms involved.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

Twenty-four well-trained, sub-elite male cyclists [38 \pm 9 years, 184 ± 4 cm, 80.4 ± 8.0 kg, and maximal oxygen uptake (VO_{2max}) of 58.1 \pm 5.3 mL/min/kg; Mean \pm SD] with at least 3 years of cycling experience were initially recruited (see Table 1 for group-specific overview of baseline descriptive data). Participants had conducted their usual off-season training (environmental temperatures <15°C) leading up to the study and were thus assumed to be only partly heat acclimated due to training status (Armstrong and Maresh, 1991). Following pre-intervention testing, participants were block-allocated into two performance-, VO_{2max} -, and age-matched groups (n = 12) that subsequently were randomly designated as either the heat training (HEAT) or control (CON) group, however, due to personal reasons unrelated to the study, three subjects withdrew before commencement of the intervention, resulting in 12 and 9 participants in the HEAT and CON completing the study, respectively. Data from drop-outs were excluded from the analysis. Before providing their written consent to participate, subjects were informed of potential risks and discomforts associated with the experimental procedures. The study was conducted in accordance with the Helsinki declaration and approved by the ethics committee of the Capital Region of Denmark (protocol: H-17036662).

Study Overview

An overview of the study protocol is displayed in **Figure 1**. Upon enrolment into the study, participants first completed one familiarization session, completing a 30 min preload, followed by a 15 km TT. During the following 2 weeks, participants were monitored in a lead in phase, with registration of weekly training

TABLE 1 | Baseline descriptive data of participants and training characteristics

 before (during lead-in phase) and during the intervention for the heat training

 group (HEAT) and control group (CON).

	Heat (n = 12)	Con (<i>n</i> = 9)
Age (years)	39 ± 9	38 ± 9
Height (cm)	185 ± 3	183 ± 5
Body mass (kg)	80.2 ± 6.3	80.5 ± 9.5
Body fat percentage (%)	13.7 ± 3.9	14.7 ± 2.9
VO _{2max} (L/min)	4.8 ± 0.4	4.6 ± 0.4
VO _{2max} /kg (mL/min/kg)	60.0 ± 5.1	57.9 ± 5.1
iPPO (W)	409 ± 20	408 ± 33
iPPO/kg (W/kg)	5.1 ± 0.5	5.1 ± 0.6
Training volume (min/week – lead in)	417 ± 105	499 ± 164
Training volume (min/week – during)	$509 \pm 173^{*}$	$576 \pm 143^{*}$
Intense training (min/week $> 80\%$ HR _{max})	102 ± 71	102 ± 55
Intense training during intervention (min/week)	$157\pm90^{*}$	$122\pm57^*$

*Denotes a main effect of time compared to lead in (P < 0.05). All other comparisons were not different (P > 0.05). Values are mean \pm SD.

volume - both total and high intensity. On three subsequent sessions, baseline assessment of VO_{2max}, cycling efficiency and TT performance, as well as hematological parameters (see accompanying paper by Oberholzer et al., 2019 for details) were conducted. Participants were then allocated to their respective groups and trained in a 51/2 week period (see "Intervention Period" section for more detail). Following the training period, a post-test battery identical to the pre-intervention battery was conducted. All performance testing and training was conducted at the same time of day (within 2 h) using the participants' personal bikes installed in a stationary Tacx-trainer device (Tacx Neo Smart T2800, Wassenaar, Netherlands) and associated software (Tacx Trainer software 4, Wassenaar, Netherlands). For each subject the same personal bike and Tacx-trainer were used during both pre- and post-intervention testing to circumvent any equipment differences. Pre-intervention performance testing was conducted during a 2-week period preceding the intervention (hematology within 2 days) and post-intervention testing within 6 days of the intervention's conclusion. A recovery period lasting a minimum of 24 h separated all performance tests to preclude residual fatigue confounding the results. Subjects were instructed to abstain from performing any exhaustive exercise the day leading up to a performance test and to refrain from consumption of caffeine for 12 h and alcohol for 24 h prior to testing.

Testing Time Trial

Endurance performance was evaluated through the fastest possible completion of a simulated 15 km TT (mean slope of 0.1%, ~600 m of uphill cycling) preceded by a 30-min preload at 60% of VO_{2max}. The TT and preload were separated by 5 min of passive rest. Subjects had visual access to real-time information regarding heart rate (HR), distance completed/remaining, speed, cadence, and power output, but were blinded to elapsed time. The TT was conducted in temperate ambient conditions ($14 \pm 0.2^{\circ}$ C, RH: 54 ± 3%; Galloway and Maughan, 1997) with airflow of ~3 m/s directed toward the subjects' frontal surface [WBGT of ~10°C (Reed Heat Index checker 8778, Reed Instruments, United States)]. Provision of a maximal effort was facilitated by verbal encouragement throughout the test in addition to a prize being rewarded for the best performance.

$\text{VO}_{2\text{max},}$ Cycling Efficiency, Incremental Peak Power Output, and Anthropometry

Upon arrival to the laboratory and prior to performing any exercise, body mass and fat percentage were quantified on an electronic bio-impedance scale (InBody 270, InBody, Denmark). Cycling efficiency, VO_{2max}, and incremental peak power output (iPPO) were assessed through completion of an incremental cycling test to volitional exhaustion. Following warm-up stages consisting of 5 min at 100 W and 5 min at 175 W (80 RPM), respectively, the work load was increased by 25 W/min, terminating when the subject was incapable of maintaining a pre-defined and self-selected cadence despite strong verbal encouragement. Breath by breath recordings of VO2 and VCO2 were obtained throughout the test [Jaeger Oxycon Pro, Viasys Healthcare, Germany (calibrated for room humidity, flow, and O₂/CO₂ concentration prior to each test)] and subsequently interpolated to 5 s mean values. Values >4 standard deviations from the local mean were discarded. A plateau in VO2 despite increased work load and/or attainment of a respiratory exchange ratio (RER) \geq 1.15 served as test validation criteria. VO_{2max} was defined as the highest observed value over a 30-s period and iPPO as the last completed work stage (W) plus the fraction (s) of the last non-completed stage [iPPO = (Last completed work stage $(W)) + (25 W/60 \times t(s)].$

Intervention Period

Participants in the HEAT group underwent 60-min heat training sessions in a climatic chamber on 5 weekly occasions



 $(28 \pm 2 \text{ total sessions})$, while subjects in CON reported to the laboratory and trained once a week in cool conditions ($\sim 15^{\circ}$ C) to minimize group differences in the level of familiarization to stationary cycling and completed all other training and habitual intervals in cool settings. Both groups performed this part of the training at a constant intensity corresponding to 60% of VO_{2max} (204 \pm 3 W). For HEAT, ambient temperature was set at 35°C the first week (3 days) and subsequently increased by one degree each week ending at 40°C (RH: 30 \pm 2%), in order to accommodate for the relative decrease in intensity as HA was induced (Daanen et al., 2018). Rectal core temperature (T_{core}) was elevated to \geq 38.5°C after 35 \pm 8 min of training and end T_{core} was $39.6 \pm 0.4^{\circ}$ C in all training sessions. Subjects were encouraged to undertake each training session without airflow for as long as subjectively tolerated but were provided with individually adjusted airflow when requested (ventilation with a floor fan of $\sim 1-3$ m/s) to facilitate evaporation and provide some perceptual benefit to ensure that the exercise component could be completed. HR, T_{core}, and sweat Na⁺ were quantified during the first and last weekly training session. Warm water was ingested ad libitum during training to avoid fluid consumption acting as a heat sink. Body mass was measured before and after each training session and subjects were instructed to replenish 150% of lost fluid during the following hours to re-establish euhydration. During the entirety of the intervention period, outside environmental temperature did not exceed 15°C.

Confirmation of Acclimation Status Testing

To confirm acclimation status, a sub group of six participants from HEAT underwent a heat tolerance test (HTT) on day 1, 14, and 28. In order to avoid any partial HA, none of the participants from the CON group completed HTT testing. The HTT was conducted as a time to exhaustion (TTE) test under standardized 40°C at 60% VO_{2max}, with no access to fan or other cooling (see "Measurement" section for details). Additionally, all participants in HEAT, were monitored for HR, T_{core}, and changes in sweat Na⁺ concentration, in the beginning and end of all weeks of training.

Measurements

Heart Rate and Core Temperature

Heart Rate was assessed using participants' personal HR monitors (Garmin edge 500/520/820/1000/1030, Garmin Ltd., United States), was provided as a continuous feedback tool during TT, and was logged for acclimation status. T_{core} was recorded by a flexible rectal probe (Ellab, Denmark) self-inserted ~10 cm beyond the anal sphincter. Both HR and T_{core} were measured during the first and the last HA training of all weeks of training as well during the HTT. Values were manually logged every 10 min and at TTE.

Sweat Rate

To calculate sweat rate (adjusted for fluid consumption) and to account for the effect of body mass during the TT, body mass

(towel dried while wearing cycling shorts) was measured (InBody 270, InBody, Denmark) prior to the preload and following the TT. Sweat was obtained for Na⁺ content analysis (ABL 800 Flex, Radiometer, Denmark) by absorbent pads (Tegaderm +Pad, 3M, Denmark) placed on the upper back at the level of the scapulae, after thorough cleansing of the skin with demineralized water.

Training and Training Quantification

Training quantification was carried out during a 2-week lead in phase prior to the intervention and a 2-week period during the intervention, to quantify the impact of the intervention on participants' habitual training procedures. Participants were instructed to fill out a training log containing information regarding total weekly training volume and total high-intensity training volume, the latter defined as training at HR above 80% of maximum (Karlsen et al., 2015b). Both groups were instructed to preserve their usual interval training routines alongside the intervention and to subtract the training associated with the intervention from their habitual training, to maintain total training volume as reported in their initial training log reported in the lead in phase.

Cycling Efficiency

Gross efficiency was calculated as the ratio of external mechanical work (W) to energy expenditure (EE). EE was calculated from steady state VO₂ (confirmed in each participant by visual inspection of the VO₂-time curve), RER and corresponding VO₂ values obtained during the last 90 s of exercise at 100 (GE100) and 175 W (GE175), respectively, completed with fixed cadence of 80 RPM:

$$GE = \left(\frac{\frac{\text{watt}}{1000} * 60}{\left(\left(\left(\frac{1-\text{RER}}{0,3}\right) * 19,3\right) + \left(\left(\frac{\text{RER}-0.7}{0,3}\right) * 21,1\right)\right) * \left(\frac{\text{VO}_2 \frac{\text{ml}}{\text{min}}}{1000}\right)}\right)$$

Statistical Analyses

All data are expressed as mean values with standard error unless otherwise stated. Pre-intervention group characteristics, performance results, and training logs were assessed using a student's independent T-test to confirm homogeneity between groups. The changes pre- to post-intervention values between the heat training and control group for TT power output and completion time, relative, and absolute VO_{2max}, iPPO, GE100, GE175, training time, and training time above 80% HR max were assessed with a two-way mixed-measures ANOVA, with the repeated factor of time point (two levels: Pre and Post) and the independent factor of intervention (two levels: HEAT and CON). Adaptations (T_{core}, HR, sweat rate, and sweat Na⁺) in the HEAT group during the intervention period were evaluated with a paired samples T-test. When applicable, post hoc testing was carried out using a Holm-Sidak test. The probability of making a Type 1 error in all tests was maintained at 5%. All statistical analyses were carried out using GraphPad Prism (version 7.0, GraphPad Software, La Jolla, CA, United States).

RESULTS

Heat Training and Acclimation Effects

In the HEAT group T_{core} increased during each training session in the heat and was above 39°C at the end of all sessions but decreased from the initial to the last training session (39.9 \pm 0.4 vs. $39.4 \pm 0.3^{\circ}$ C, P < 0.05; see the weekly progression in **Table 2**). Similarly, end-training HR declined during the first 2 weeks of training in the heat and was significantly lowered from the first to the last training session in the heat (169 \pm 10.5 vs. 155 \pm 17 BPM, P < 0.05). In addition, sweat Na⁺ was reduced by 46 \pm 14%, from 91 ± 5 mmol/L during the first week to 69 ± 8 mmol/L (P < 0.01), in the third week of training in HEAT, but did not decrease thereafter (see Table 2). Sweat rate during the cool TT testing did not significantly change from Pre to Post in either group (HEAT: 0.83 ± 0.03 vs. 0.93 ± 0.06 L/h; CON: 0.78 ± 0.03 vs. 0.78 ± 0.07 L/h, P > 0.05). The sub group of six participants, who underwent the HTT at 40°C, extended their TTE by 25.6 min (Day 1: 38.7 \pm 2.4 vs. day 28: 64.3 \pm 2.9 min, P < 0.001), from the first to the last test.

Time Trial in Cool Conditions

There was a main effect of time for average TT power output (+5.8 \pm 0.9%, *P* < 0.001, see **Figure 2**), resulting from significant increases in both groups (HEAT: +6.0 \pm 1.1%, *P* < 0.05; CON: +5.5 \pm 1.6%, *P* < 0.05). Accordingly, TT performance time significantly decreased in both HEAT (by 37.4 \pm 8.6 s, *P* < 0.05) and CON (37.1 \pm 10.1 s, *P* < 0.05), with similar improvements across groups (i.e., there was no group × time interaction effect).

VO_{2max}, Incremental Peak Power Output, and Cycling Efficiency

There was no change from pre to post in VO_{2max} in either group [HEAT: 4.8 ± 0.1 vs. 4.8 ± 0.1 L/min; CON: 4.6 ± 0.1 vs. 4.7 ± 0.1 L/min (P > 0.05, **Figure 2**)], and since there was no change in body weight from pre to post, relative VO_{2max} (mL O₂/min/kg) also remained similar for both groups [HEAT: 60.0 ± 1.5 vs. 59.8 ± 1.2 mL/min/kg; CON 57.9 ± 1.7 vs. 59.4 ± 2 mL/min/kg (P > 0.05, see **Figure 3**)].

There was no main effect or significant effect of HA on iPPO [HEAT: 409 ± 6 vs. 422 ± 7 W; CON: 408 ± 11 vs. 411 ± 9 W (P > 0.05, **Figure 3**)], and cycling efficiency, evaluated as GE at 100 W (HEAT: 15.4 ± 0.3 vs. $15.2 \pm 0.2\%$; CON: 14.8 ± 0.5 vs. $15.2 \pm 0.4\%$) or 175 W (HEAT: 19.7 ± 0.3 vs. $19.4 \pm 0.2\%$; CON:

19.3 \pm 0.5 vs. 19.8 \pm 0.5%), did not display any changes in either group (P > 0.05) (Figure 3).

Training and Training Quantification

Compared to the lead-in period, there was a main effect of time (P < 0.05) for weekly training volume, resulting from a non-significant increase in both groups (HEAT: +13 ± 7%; CON: +11 ± 9%, P > 0.05). Also, the weekly training volume above 80% of maximum heart rate increased for HEAT from 102 ± 21 to 157 ± 27 min/week and for CON from 102 ± 18 to 122 ± 19 min/week (both P < 0.05 from pre to post, but not significantly different across groups).

Hematological Parameters

Main effects of time were detected for both BV and PV (both P < 0.05, but no time × intervention interaction). For BV with a 5.7 \pm 1.5% increase from pre to post in the HEAT group (P < 0.01) and a 3.2 \pm 1.6% increase for CON (P < 0.05) with no significant differences between groups (P > 0.05).

From PRE to POST, PV increased by $6.5 \pm 2.2\%$ in the HEAT group (P < 0.01) and there was a $4.5 \pm 2.4\%$ increase in CON (P < 0.05), with the overall response not different across groups. As previously mentioned, we refer to the accompanying paper (Oberholzer et al., 2019) for detailed description of the hematological parameters and involved mechanisms.

DISCUSSION

The prolonged HA period employed in present study was associated with significant sudomotor adaptions (with the reduction in sweat [Na⁺] leveling off after 2-3 weeks of training in the heat), improved exercise endurance in hot environmental settings (i.e., increased TTE at fixed submaximal workload in 40°C), plasma volume expansion and an elevation of total blood volume. However, when transfer effects to endurance performances in cool conditions were tested post HA (in settings with low environmental heat load; i.e., below 15°C), the heattraining group did not increase peak aerobic power, improve submaximal exercise efficiency or VO_{2max}, and TT performance effects were similar compared to the matched control group. We refer to the accompanying paper (Oberholzer et al., 2019) for detailed discussion of potential benefits and mechanisms involved in the hematological response observed for the HEAT group, but from the present measures of performance and aerobic

TABLE 2 | Sweat sodium concentration, end-training HR, and rectal temperatures (n = 12) during the intervention for the heat training group (HEAT).

	Sweat [Na ⁺] (mmol I ⁻¹)	End-exercise HR (bpm)	Start rectal temperature (°C)	End-training rectal temperature (°C)
First heat session	93 ± 5	167 ± 5	37.7 ± 0.2	39.9 ± 0.1
End of week 1	$74\pm5^*$	160 ± 4	$37.2 \pm 0.3^{*}$	39.7 ± 0.1
End of week 2	$71\pm6^*$	$160 \pm 3^{*}$	$37.2 \pm 0.2^{*}$	39.7 ± 0.1
End of week 3	$69 \pm 7^*$	$155 \pm 4^{*}$	_	$39.4 \pm 0.1^{*}$
End of week 4	$72 \pm 7^*$	$156 \pm 4^{*}$	$37.0 \pm 0.3^{*}$	$39.3 \pm 0.1^{*}$
End of week 5	$79\pm6^*$	$156 \pm 4^{*}$	-	$39.4 \pm 0.1^{*}$

*Denotes a significant reduction compared to first training session (P < 0.05). Values are mean \pm SE.



power in a population of endurance-trained cyclists, it appears that the potential physiological advantage of a slightly increased Hb-mass was outweighed by the concurrent hemodilution.

To characterize HA status and the gradual heat adaptation, we measured sweat $[Na^+]$, resting and exercise T_{core} as well as HR responses at the beginning and end of every week of training, and hematological responses were measured at the start and end of the study. End exercise T_{core} and HR decreased during the intervention period, despite an increase in ambient temperature, and PV expanded by \sim 7%, as expected following HA (Périard et al., 2016). Further, in the subgroup of six participants who were tested at day 1, 14, and 28 under standardized $\sim 40^{\circ}C$ conditions, TTE was increased from 38.7 min to 64.3 min. For all subject, the total sweat rate or sweat Na⁺ measured during the TT in cool conditions did not increase (from pre to post). This apparent lack of adaptation may be explained by testing in compensable conditions where sweating is dictated by the evaporative requirements (Ravanelli et al., 2018) and due to rapid alterations in the onset and decay of sweat sodium Na⁺ (Williams et al., 1967; Armstrong and Maresh, 1991). Taken together with the lowered resting rectal temperature, these measures provide strong evidence that the participants were successfully acclimated following the prolonged heat training period.

In terms of exercise performance as well as the muscular and cardiovascular adaptations required to improve performance, the present findings are in contrast with previous investigations reporting beneficial effects of heat training for aerobic performance in cool or temperate conditions (Sawka et al., 1985; Buchheit et al., 2011; Neal et al., 2016a; Rendell et al., 2017). One explanation for this discrepancy could be the lack of a control group in these studies or failure to control for training quality in the lead-in phase as well as the during the intervention period. One study (Sawka et al., 1985) showed an increase in both VO_{2max} and iPPO after nine consecutive days of HA (2 h per day at 49°C, 20% RH), while others report improved TT, iPPO or intermittent exercise performance (Buchheit et al., 2011; Neal et al., 2016a; Rendell et al., 2017). If the present study had not included a control group, our findings would be in line with

some of these observations, as both the HEAT and CON group improved their TT performance, likely resulting from improved fractional VO_{2max} utilization (Bassett and Howley, 2000), as cycling efficiency and VO_{2max} remained unaffected. Supporting our findings, but with a shorter intervention period, Karlsen et al. (2015b) demonstrated that compared to a matched control group, there was no difference in TT performance, VO_{2max} and iPPO in trained cyclists, after 2 weeks of a heat training camp in hot dry environment (all training in heat group conducted outdoors in Qatar). Collectively, these findings suggest that many of the previous observations suggesting that a period with training in hot conditions improves exercise performance in temperate conditions relates to the physical training or additional training load, rather than the environmental heat stress *per se*.

Supporting this notion, previous studies reporting beneficial effects of heat training for subsequent performance in temperate conditions employed untrained individuals (Nadel et al., 1974; Shvartz et al., 1977; Sawka et al., 1983, 1985; King et al., 1985; Young et al., 1985; Takeno et al., 2001). Of particular relevance, many of these studies reported improved exercise economy following heat training (Shvartz et al., 1977; Sawka et al., 1983; King et al., 1985; Young et al., 1985). Improvements in exercise economy are likely explained by alterations in skeletal muscle fiber type composition and enhanced muscular strength (Corbett et al., 2014). In the present study, which employed a sub-elite cycling population, exercise economy was unchanged by 6 weeks of training in either the control or heat training group. Likewise, Keiser et al. (2015) observed no improvements in either TT performance or VO_{2max} in well trained cyclist in a laboratory-based acclimation study with a cross-over design. This finding further suggests that previous improvements in exercise performance with heat training had more to do with training untrained participants, rather than the direct effect of environmental heat stress.

One exception to the above studies (Lorenzo et al., 2010), reported increases in both TT performance and VO_{2max} , compared to a control group, using a sample of endurance trained participants. Both groups performed their usual training



outdoors in cool temperate conditions, while adding HA or CON training at low intensity (50% VO_{2max}) in the laboratory; however, additional training was not controlled for in either HEAT or CON. In contrast to the study by Lorenzo et al. (2010), both Keiser et al. (2015) with laboratory-based acclimation and Karlsen et al. (2015b) with natural acclimation (all training in outdoor hot environment) report no superior effect of training in the heat compared to control and the overall effect may depend on the "quality" of the participant habitual training (e.g., if the regularly include high intensity training). Since elite endurance

athletes in general will optimize and include high quality, and

specifically intense training in preparation for competitions, we find it relevant to ensure that high intensity training is included both in the lead-in phase and during the intervention, as it will clearly influence the potential to develop or maintain VO_{2max} in endurance trained individuals (Gormley et al., 2008). How the overall training impact or load (considering both volume and intensity) is quantified and subsequently matched across groups (in studies where superimposed environmental heat stress elevates HR for a given power output) may always be a matter of debate. In the present study we secured that both groups maintained high-intensity intervals in cool settings and although there was an increased weekly time with HR above 80% of maximum compared to the lead-in period, there was no significant differences across groups; neither for total training volume nor time with HR above 80% of maximum during the lead-in period or the intervention phase of the study. Also, HEAT graduate improved heat tolerance and raised cool TT power output during the post-testing indicating that overload (accumulated fatigue) was not limiting their performance or physiological adaptation to training.

Considering that systemic oxygen delivery and hence VO_{2max} depends on both cardiac output and arterial oxygen content (Ekblom, 1986; Bassett and Howley, 2000), it is likely that beneficial effects of an increased blood volume on cardiac filling and cardiac output may be outweighed by lower arterial oxygen content per liter blood induced by the lower [Hb] associated with plasma volume expansion. It should also be considered that the total training volume and weekly volume with HR above 80% of maximum HR increased for both groups during the intervention period. Further, a perfect match between groups (when aiming at maintaining similar volume, intensity and still optimized training) is an issue in studies with superimposed environmental stress, or as intended in the present study, with part of the training substituted by training in the heat. Thus, training quality is a multifaceted matter that may not be adequately quantified by the total volume and/or relative HR intensity. Some participants in the present study indicated that the physiological strain associated with the intervention compromised their ability to uphold habitual high-intensity interval training procedures, and it is well-established that training intensity is imperative toward development and maintenance of VO_{2max} in endurance trained individuals (Gormley et al., 2008). However, considering that HEAT by both measures of training quality (total volume and HR above 80% of maximum) was exposed to similar training load as CON and that they in fact improved TT performance, it is unlikely to be the cause for the unchanged peak power or effects on VO_{2max}.

McCleave et al. (2017) reported improvements in 3 km TT, but it should be mentioned that their running TT performance was identical in the heat training and control group in the tests conducted immediately following the 3 week intervention, but superior in the heat group following additional 3 weeks of return to normal training practice. Potentially, timing of the follow-up testing may be important and performance could be optimal in the post acclimatization period, when PV returns toward normal. However, that relies on the premise that total red blood cell mass remain elevated (i.e., red blood cells follows expected life time of

 \sim 120 days; see Kurata et al., 1993) and the normalized PV results in advantageous hemoglobin up-concentration (Convertino et al., 1980). Additionally, heat training purportedly improves exercise performance through both thermal and non-thermal adaptations (Corbett et al., 2014). Performance testing in the present study was conducted in ~10°C wet bulb globe temperature, and therefore likely did not meet the threshold required to impose a thermal limitation (Junge et al., 2016). However, exercise in environmental conditions on the warmer side could meet the threshold, or rather range, of thermal conditions where improved thermoregulatory capacity induced by HA would be ergogenic. Also, the performance tests applied in the present study (incremental peak power test and the 15 km TT including the preload period) had duration of less than 1 h and potential effects of initiating exercise with increased PV and higher total body water during prolonged physical activities (ultra-sports) cannot be excluded.

CONCLUSION

Overall, we conclude that training in the heat was not superior compared to normal (control) training for improving aerobic power or TT performance in cool conditions. However, during a competitive season athletes may be exposed to varying environmental conditions, and although HEAT was not superior compared to CON for improving endurance in cool settings, it is noteworthy that the replacement of a substantial part of overall training volume with heat training did not compromise the effect of training toward temperate exercise performance. Implementation of heat training could therefore be advantageous as part of an integrated pre-season training preparation but the timing of a specific heat training camp may depend the specific competition schedule, considering that the benefit from HA may decay in term of benefitting performance in the heat, whereas for performance in cool settings, a period

REFERENCES

- Armstrong, L. E., and Maresh, C. M. (1991). The induction and decay of heat acclimatisation in trained athletes. Sports Med. 12, 302–312. doi: 10.2165/ 00007256-199112050-00003
- Bassett, D. R., and Howley, E. T. (2000). Limiting factors for maximum oxygen uptake and determinants of endurance performance. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 32, 70–84.
- Buchheit, M., Racinais, S., Bilsborough, J., Hocking, J., Mendez-Villanueva, A., Bourdon, P. C., et al. (2013). Adding heat to the live-high train-low altitude model: a practical insight from professional football. *Br. J. Sports Med.* 47, i59–i69. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2013-092559
- Buchheit, M., Voss, S. C., Nybo, L., Mohr, M., and Racinais, S. (2011). Physiological and performance adaptations to an in-season soccer camp in the heat: associations with heart rate and heart rate variability. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 21:e477-85. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0838.2011. 01378.x
- Convertino, V. A., Greenleaf, J. E., and Bernauer, E. M. (1980). Role of thermal and exercise factors in the mechanism of hypervolemia. J. Appl. Physiol. 48, 657–664. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1980.48.4.657

with return to training without superimposed heat stress may be beneficial.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

All datasets generated for this study are included in the article/supplementary material. Some data can be found in the accompanying article (doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019.01379).

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the ethics committee of the Capital Region of Denmark (protocol: H-17036662). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors completed the experimental study [testing and analyses (physiological and statistics)], and drafted the proof of manuscript. CM, NJ, CL, and LN contributed to the design, ethical approval, and development of test/study protocol. LN and CL managed the project.

FUNDING

In this work, JP, NM, and LN were supported by the European Union's Horizon 2020 Research and Innovation Programme under grant agreement No. 668786, as part of the project "HEAT-SHIELD (Integrated inter-sector framework to increase the thermal resilience of European workers in the context of global warming)." CM received funding from "Innovationsfonden" as part of the ClimApp project.

- Corbett, J., Neal, R. A., Lunt, H. C., and Tipton, M. J. (2014). Adaptation to heat and exercise performance under cooler conditions: a new hot topic. *Sports Med.* 44, 1323–1331. doi: 10.1007/s40279-014-0212-8
- Coyle, E. F. (1999). Physiological determinants of endurance exercise performance. J. Sci. Med. Sport 2, 181–189. doi: 10.1016/s1440-2440(99)80 172-8
- Daanen, H. A., Racinais, S., and Périard, J. D. (2018). Heat acclimation decay and re-induction: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sports Med.* 48, 409–430. doi: 10.1007/s40279-017-0808-x
- Ekblom, B. (1986). Factors determining maximal aerobic power. Acta Physiol. Scand. Suppl. 556, 15–19.
- Galloway, S. D., and Maughan, R. J. (1997). Effects of ambient temperature on the capacity to perform prolonged cycle exercise in man. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 29, 1240–1249. doi: 10.1097/00005768-199709000-0 0018
- Gormley, S. E., Swain, D. P., High, R., Spina, R. J., Dowling, E. A., Kotipalli, U. S., et al. (2008). Effect of intensity of aerobic training on V⁻ O2max. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 40, 1336–1343.
- Hue, O., Antoine-Jonville, S., and Sara, F. (2007). The effect of 8 days of training in tropical environment on performance in neutral climate

in swimmers. Int. J. Sports Med. 28, 48-52. doi: 10.1055/s-2006-92 3958

- Junge, N., Jørgensen, R., Flouris, A. D., and Nybo, L. (2016). Prolonged self-paced exercise in the heat–environmental factors affecting performance. *Temperature* 3, 539–548. doi: 10.1080/23328940.2016.1216257
- Karlsen, A., Nybo, L., Nørgaard, S. J., Jensen, M. V., Bonne, T., and Racinais, S. (2015a). Time course of natural heat acclimatization in well-trained cyclists during a 2-week training camp in the heat. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 25, 240–249. doi: 10.1111/sms.12449
- Karlsen, A., Racinais, S., Jensen, M. V., Nørgaard, S. J., Bonne, T., and Nybo, L. (2015b). Heat acclimatization does not improve VO2max or cycling performance in a cool climate in trained cyclists. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 25, 269–276. doi: 10.1111/sms.12409
- Keiser, S., Flück, D., Hüppin, F., Stravs, A., Hilty, M. P., and Lundby, C. (2015). Heat training increases exercise capacity in hot but not in temperate conditions: a mechanistic counter-balanced cross-over study. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 309:H750-61.
- King, D. S., Costill, D. L., Fink, W. J., Hargreaves, M., and Fielding, R. A. (1985). Muscle metabolism during exercise in the heat in unacclimatized and acclimatized humans. J. Appl. Physiol. 59, 1350–1354. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1985. 59.5.1350
- Kurata, M., Suzuki, M., and Agar, N. S. (1993). Antioxidant systems and erythrocyte life-span in mammals. *Comp. Biochem. Physiol. Part B Comp. Biochem.* 106, 477–487. doi: 10.1016/0305-0491(93)90121-k
- Levine, B. D., and Stray-Gundersen, J. (1997). Living high-training low: effect of moderate-altitude acclimatization with low-altitude training on performance. J. Appl. Physiol. 83, 102–112. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1997. 83.1.102
- Lorenzo, S., Halliwill, J. R., Sawka, M. N., and Minson, C. T. (2010). Heat acclimation improves exercise performance. J. Appl. Physiol. 109, 1140–1147. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00495.2010
- McCleave, E. L., Slattery, K. M., Duffield, R., Saunders, P. U., Sharma, A. P., Crowcroft, S. J., et al. (2017). Temperate performance benefits after heat, but not combined heat and hypoxic training. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 49, 509–517. doi: 10.1249/mss.00000000001138
- Minson, C. T., and Cotter, J. D. (2016). CrossTalk proposal: heat acclimatization does improve performance in a cool condition. J. Physiol. 594, 241–243. doi: 10.1113/JP270879
- Nadel, E. R., Pandolf, K. B., Roberts, M. F., and Stolwijk, J. A. (1974). Mechanisms of thermal acclimation to exercise and heat. J. Appl. Physiol. 37, 515–520. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1974.37.4.515
- Neal, R. A., Corbett, J., Massey, H. C., and Tipton, M. J. (2016a). Effect of shortterm heat acclimation with permissive dehydration on thermoregulation and temperate exercise performance. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 26, 875–884. doi: 10.1111/sms.12526
- Neal, R. A., Massey, H. C., Tipton, M. J., Young, J. S., and Corbett, J. (2016b). Effect of permissive dehydration on induction and decay of heat acclimation, and temperate exercise performance. *Front. Physiol.* 7:564. doi: 10.3389/fphys. 2016.00564
- Nybo, L., and Lundby, C. (2016). Rebuttal by lars nybo and carsten lundby. J. Physiol. 594, 251-251. doi: 10.1113/jp271668
- Oberholzer, L., Siebenmann, C., Mikkelsen, C. J., Junge, N., Piil, J. F., Morris, N. B., et al. (2019). Hematological adaptations to prolonged heat acclimation in endurance-trained males. *Front. Physiol.* 10:1379. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019. 01379
- Patterson, M. J., Stocks, J. M., and Taylor, N. A. S. (2004). Sustained and generalized extracellular fluid expansion following heat acclimation. *J. Physiol.* 559, 327– 334. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2004.063289

- Périard, J. D., Travers, G. J., Racinais, S., and Sawka, M. N. (2016). Cardiovascular adaptations supporting human exercise-heat acclimation. *Auton. Neurosci.* 196, 52–62. doi: 10.1016/j.autneu.2016.02.002
- Racinais, S., Buchheit, M., Bilsborough, J., Bourdon, P. C., Cordy, J., and Coutts, A. J. (2014). Physiological and performance responses to a training camp in the heat in professional Australian football players. *Int. J. Sports Physiol. Perform.* 9, 598–603. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.2013-0284
- Racinais, S., Périard, J. D., Karlsen, A., and Nybo, L. (2015). Effect of heat and heat acclimatization on cycling time trial performance and pacing. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 47, 601–606. doi: 10.1249/MSS.00000000000428
- Rasmussen, P., Siebenmann, C., Diaz Molina, V., and Lundby, C. (2013). Red cell volume expansion at altitude: a meta-analysis and Monte Carlo simulation. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 45, 1767–1775. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e31829047e5
- Ravanelli, N., Coombs, G. B., Imbeault, P., and Jay, O. (2018). Maximum skin wettedness after aerobic training with and without heat acclimation. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 50, 299–307. doi: 10.1249/MSS.00000000001439
- Rendell, R. A., Prout, J., Costello, J. T., Massey, H. C., Tipton, M. J., Young, J. S., et al. (2017). Effects of 10 days of separate heat and hypoxic exposure on heat acclimation and temperate exercise performance. *Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol.* 313, R191–R201. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00103.2017
- Sawka, M. N., Pandolf, K. B., Avellini, B. A., and Shapiro, Y. (1983). Does heat acclimation lower the rate of metabolism elicited by muscular exercise? *Aviat. Space Environ. Med.* 54, 27–31.
- Sawka, M. N., Young, A. J., Cadarette, B. S., Levine, L., and Pandolf, K. B. (1985). Influence of heat stress and acclimation on maximal aerobic power. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 53, 294–298. doi: 10.1007/bf00422841
- Scoon, G. S., Hopkins, W. G., Mayhew, S., and Cotter, J. D. (2007). Effect of post-exercise sauna bathing on the endurance performance of competitive male runners. J. Sci. Med. Sport 10, 259–262. doi: 10.1016/j.jsams.2006.06.009
- Shvartz, E., Shapiro, Y., Magazanik, A., Meroz, A., Birnfeld, H., Mechtinger, A., et al. (1977). Heat acclimation, physical fitness, and responses to exercise in temperate and hot environments. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 43, 678–683. doi: 10.1152/ jappl.1977.43.4.678
- Siebenmann, C., Cathomen, A., Hug, M., Keiser, S., Lundby, A. K., Hilty, M. P., et al. (2015). Hemoglobin mass and intravascular volume kinetics during and after exposure to 3,454-m altitude. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 199, 1194–1201. doi: 10. 1152/japplphysiol.01121.2014
- Takeno, Y., Kamijo, Y.-I., and Nose, H. (2001). Thermoregulatory and aerobic changes after endurance training in a hypobaric hypoxic and warm environment. J. Appl. Physiol. 91, 1520–1528. doi: 10.1152/jappl.2001.91.4.1520
- Williams, C. G., Wyndham, C. H., and Morrison, J. F. (1967). Rate of loss of acclimatization in summer and winter. J. Appl. Physiol. 22, 21–26. doi: 10.1152/ jappl.1967.22.1.21
- Young, A. J., Sawka, M. N., Levine, L., Cadarette, B. S., and Pandolf, K. B. (1985). Skeletal muscle metabolism during exercise is influenced by heat acclimation. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 59, 1929–1935. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1985.59.6.1929

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Mikkelsen, Junge, Piil, Morris, Oberholzer, Siebenmann, Lundby and Nybo. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.




How Does a Delay Between Temperate Running Exercise and Hot-Water Immersion Alter the Acute Thermoregulatory Response and Heat-Load?

Storme L. Heathcote^{1,2}, Peter Hassmén¹, Shi Zhou¹, Lee Taylor^{3,4,5,6} and Christopher J. Stevens^{1,2*}

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Julien Périard, University of Canberra, Australia

Reviewed by:

Oliver R. Gibson, Brunel University London, United Kingdom Michael John Zurawlew, Bangor University, United Kingdom Nicholas Ravanelli, Institut de Cardiologie de Montréal, Canada

*Correspondence:

Christopher J. Stevens christopher.stevens@scu.edu.au

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Exercise Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 27 July 2019 Accepted: 21 October 2019 Published: 22 November 2019

Citation:

Heathcote SL, Hassmén P, Zhou S, Taylor L and Stevens CJ (2019) How Does a Delay Between Temperate Running Exercise and Hot-Water Immersion Alter the Acute Thermoregulatory Response and Heat-Load? Front. Physiol. 10:1381. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019.01381 ¹School of Health and Human Sciences, Southern Cross University, Coffs Harbour, NSW, Australia, ²Laboratory for Athlete Development, Experience and Performance, Southern Cross University, Coffs Harbour, NSW, Australia, ³School of Sport, Exercise and Health Sciences, Loughborough University, Loughborough, United Kingdom, ⁴Faculty of Health, Sport and Exercise Discipline Group, University of Technology Sydney, Sydney, NSW, Australia, ⁵Human Performance Research Centre, University of Technology Sydney, Sydney, NSW, Australia, ⁶ASPETAR, Qatar Orthopaedic and Sports Medicine Hospital, Athlete Health and Performance Research Centre, Doha, Qatar

Hot-water immersion following exercise in a temperate environment can elicit heat acclimation in endurance-trained individuals. However, a delay between exercise cessation and immersion is likely a common occurrence in practice. Precisely how such a delay potentially alters hot-water immersion mediated acute physiological responses (e.g., total heat-load) remains unexplored. Such data would aid in optimizing prescription of postexercise hot-water immersion in cool environments, relative to heat acclimation goals. Twelve male recreational runners (mean \pm SD; age: 38 \pm 13 years, height: 180 \pm 7 cm, body mass: 81 ± 13.7 kg, body fat: 13.9 ± 3.5%) completed three separate 40-min treadmill runs (18°C), followed by either a 10 min (10M), 1 h (1H), or 8 h (8H) delay, prior to a 30-min hot-water immersion (39°C), with a randomized crossover design. Core and skin temperatures, heart rate, sweat, and perceptual responses were measured across the trials. Mean core temperature during immersion was significantly lower in 1H $(37.39 \pm 0.30^{\circ}\text{C})$ compared to 10M $(37.83 \pm 0.24^{\circ}\text{C}; p = 0.0032)$ and 8H $(37.74 \pm 0.19^{\circ}\text{C}; p = 0.0032)$ p = 0.0140). Mean skin temperature was significantly higher in 8H (32.70 ± 0.41°C) compared to 10M (31.93 \pm 0.60°C; p = 0.0042) at the end of the hot-water immersion. Mean and maximal heart rates were also higher during immersion in 10M compared to 1H and 8H (p < 0.05), despite no significant differences in the sweat or perceptual responses. The shortest delay between exercise and immersion (10M) provoked the greatest heat-load during immersion. However, performing the hot-water immersion in the afternoon (8H), which coincided with peak circadian body temperature, provided a larger heat-load stimulus than the 1 h delay (1H).

Keywords: heat acclimation, heat stress, hot bath, passive heating, endurance athletes

INTRODUCTION

Exercise in a hot environment increases thermoregulatory and physiological strain (Cheuvront et al., 2010) and unpleasant thermal perceptions (Kamon et al., 1974; Stevens et al., 2018), which contribute to deteriorated performances (Guy et al., 2015). Considering that many major sporting events are held under hot and humid conditions, including the upcoming Tokyo 2020 Summer Olympic Games (Kakamu et al., 2017), endurance athletes are recommended to employ heat acclimatization (training in natural heat) or heat acclimation (training in artificial heat) strategies (both abbreviated to HA) to negate heat-mediated performance decrements and possibly provide some protection against exertional heat illnesses (Racinais et al., 2015; Kakamu et al., 2017). Factors central for HA are increased sweating, and elevated core temperature (Tc) and skin temperature responses (Wendt et al., 2007; Périard et al., 2015; Neal et al., 2016). As such, acute HA training sessions aim to maximize these responses.

A mean performance improvement from HA programs of $7 \pm 7\%$ has been demonstrated across 27 datasets, where 24/27 reported an improvement >1% (Tyler et al., 2016). Strategies to implement HA into a program prior to a major competition contingent to travel circumstances are also available (Saunders et al., 2019). As such, the positive benefits on performance and recommendations for implementation of HA are clear, yet evidencebased active HA protocols (typically involving specialized facilities and/or relocation) may be logistically difficult to incorporate into complex training programs and the schedules of elite athletes (Casadio et al., 2017). The training sessions themselves can also be onerous, generally involving exercise in the heat for 30-100 min, preferably on consecutive days, for a minimum duration of 1 week (Houmard et al., 1990; Périard et al., 2015; Casadio et al., 2017). Despite the ergogenic potential, during the International Association of Athletics Federations (IAAF) World Athletics Championships in Beijing 2015, where hot and humid conditions were predicted, only 15% of athletes engaged in HA prior to competition (Périard et al., 2017), suggesting that implementing HA may be challenging for some athletes.

In response to these challenges, alternative HA strategies have been investigated, including post-exercise sauna bathing (Scoon et al., 2007) and post-exercise hot-water immersion [HWI; (Zurawlew et al., 2016)]. A total of 16 original investigations have been performed on the topic to-date (Heathcote et al., 2018); the majority demonstrating beneficial hallmark physiological adaptations of heat acclimation (including lowered resting and exercising Tc and heart rate, and increased plasma volume), and importantly, these adaptations were demonstrated in both recreationally active and endurance-trained individuals (Zurawlew et al., 2018a). Further, the use of post-exercise sauna (12×30 min exposures) improved running time to exhaustion by 32% in competitive runners/ triathletes (Scoon et al., 2007) and post-exercise HWI (6 × 40 min exposures) improved 5 km running performance time in the heat by 4.9% in recreationally active individuals (Zurawlew et al., 2016).

Post-exercise HWI therefore presents a practical HA strategy for athletes residing in cooler climates, compared to expensive alternatives requiring artificial heat chambers and/or relocation. Passive heating has typically been applied immediately after exercise training when used for HA purposes (Scoon et al., 2007; Stanley et al., 2015; Zurawlew et al., 2016), with exercise conducted in laboratory settings, enabling easy access to heating facilities. Practically however, the ability to commence HWI immediately after exercise could be challenging for athletes who lack such facilities near training locations. Indeed, a delay of up to 1 h between training and HWI could easily occur when considering the activities that may prevent immediate immersion (e.g., debrief with coach, stretching, travel, bath preparation, etc.). In other circumstances, athletes may have other commitments during the day, which could delay HWI until the afternoon/evening. Precisely how such a delay and the observed Tc circadian oscillation across a day interact to potentially alter HWI-mediated physiological responses (e.g., total heat-load) remains relatively unexplored. Therefore, the aim of this study was to assess the acute physiological responses central to thermoregulatory strain (Tc, skin temperatures, heart rate, and sweat rate) when post-exercise HWI (30 min; 39°C) was delayed for 10 min (10M), 1 h (1H), or 8 h (8H) following a temperate treadmill run (18°C). It was hypothesized that both 1 and 8 h delay between exercise and HWI would reduce the thermo-physiological strain (e.g., heat-load) of the HA session.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

Twelve male, recreational [i.e., performance level one-two (De Pauw et al., 2013)] long distance runners (mean ± SD; age: 38 ± 13 years, height: 180 ± 7 cm, body mass: 81 ± 13.7 kg, body fat: 13.9 \pm 3.5%) volunteered for the study. Females were excluded due to the confounding influence of menstrual cycle mediated Tc fluctuations (Wendt et al., 2007; Mee et al., 2017). Inclusion criteria stipulated that the participants had performed a 10 km time trial within 6 months prior to the study in \leq 50 min (mean time: 47 ± 3 min, range: 42–49 min). Exclusion criteria included any contraindications to exercise as per the Exercise and Sports Science Australia adult pre-exercise screening tool, previous diagnosis of low blood pressure, history of heat illness, or use of prescribed medication during the time of the study. Approval for the project was granted by the Human Research Ethics Committee at Southern Cross University (Approval number: ECN-17-121), and written informed consent was obtained before commencing any testing procedures.

Experimental Design

Participants completed a 40-min submaximal treadmill run (Trackmaster TMX425 CP, Carrollton, Texas, USA) before a 30-min bout of HWI, on three separate occasions, 7–10 days apart. With a randomized crossover design, each trial involved a different time delay between exercise and HWI, including 10 min (10M), 1 h (1H), and 8 h (8H). A schematic of the experimental design is illustrated in **Figure 1**. During 8H, participants were permitted to leave the laboratory after the run and conduct their normal daily activities but were instructed to avoid any physical activity (all participants confirmed that they complied with these instructions). Participants were required to avoid alcohol and

caffeine during testing days and to ensure adequate hydration by ingesting 500 ml of water 2 h prior to arrival. Data collection was completed during winter to minimize natural HA. The data collection took place in the Northern Rivers Region of NSW, Australia. The participants generally arrived to the laboratory wearing a tracksuit and they all ran in shorts and a short sleeve top.

Exercise Protocol

A 40-min treadmill run [climate controlled laboratory; $18.0 \pm 0.9^{\circ}$ C; relative humidity (RH) $64.5 \pm 4.7\%$] commenced in the morning (between 06:00 and 07:30; time held consistent after first laboratory visit), to control for circadian variation of internal body temperature (Słomko and Zalewski, 2016). A pedestal fan set at a wind speed of 10 km h⁻¹ was placed 2.5 m in front of the treadmill to replicate the convective cooling of running outdoors. During the first trial, running speeds were self-selected via rating of perceived exertion (RPE) (Borg, 1998). Participants were instructed to run for 10 min at "light" intensity (RPE = 11), 20 min at "hard" intensity (RPE = 15), and further 10 min at "light" intensity. The treadmill speeds were recorded and replicated in subsequent trials so that each participant ran at the same speeds in all trials. Participants consumed water at 33°C ad libitum during the run. This temperature was chosen to minimize any cooling effect from the fluid on the ingested capsule while remaining palatable.

Hot-Water Immersion

The HWI strategy used was 30 min at $38.9 \pm 0.1^{\circ}$ C to the level of the waist wearing shorts. This was implemented using

a bathtub (2.3 m long \times 1.1 m wide \times 0.5 m high) in a bathroom (8 m²; 24.2 \pm 2.3°C, 76.3 \pm 8.1% RH), with water temperature and flow maintained using a two-tap mechanism. Consumption of fluids during immersion was not permitted. The strategy used was based on piloting that determined 39°C was the highest temperature that was safe for the participants to complete with the specified depth and duration in the environment available (i.e., a small room with high humidity; representing the average bathroom). We note that this HWI strategy is less aggressive than that investigated previously (i.e., 40°C for 40 min to the level of the neck), which was too demanding for 6/10 participants to complete on the first exposure in the previous study (Zurawlew et al., 2016). Hence, the HWI strategy presented here is designed to be safe and achievable for the first exposure, and the demands of the HWI (i.e., increased temperature, depth, and/or duration) may be increased toward 40°C for 40 min to the level of the neck in subsequent exposures over time as appropriate for the individual.

Immersion termination criteria was set according to ethical requirements (i.e., reaching a Tc >39.4°C, rapid increase in heart rate, light headedness or reporting a thermal comfort rating that reached "very uncomfortable"); however, all participants completed the full 30-min protocol.

Measurements

Before each initial experimental trial, participants underwent anthropometrical measurements including body mass by an electronic scale (Charder MS3200, Taichung City 412, Taiwan),



stature (S+M Height Measure 2 m, Rosepark, SA) and skinfold measurement by caliper (Harpenden Calipers, Baty International, West Sussex, United Kingdom) at seven sites including the bicep, tricep, subscapular, supraspinalae, abdominal, mid-thigh, and medial calf, following the International Society for the Advancement of Kinanthropometry recommended protocol (Marfell-Jones et al., 2012).

The Tc was measured continuously using an e-Celsius ingestible telemetric capsule (BodyCap, Caen, France). Participants were instructed to ingest the capsule with water immediately prior to sleep the night before each trial (approximately 8 h prior to each trial). Measurements of skin temperature were taken using a dermal thermal scanner (DermaTemp, Exergen Corporation, MA, USA) on dry skin at four sites (forehead, right calf, right hand, and lower back) before and after exercise/immersion, which allowed for an estimate of mean skin temperature (Tsk) according to the following equation (Nielsen and Nielsen, 1984):

 $Tsk = 9.429 + (0.137 \times \text{forehead temp}) + (0.102 \times \text{hand temp}) + (0.29 \times \text{back temp}) + (0.173 \times \text{calf temp})$

Resting body temperature measurements occurred in the climate-controlled laboratory described above (18°C, 65% RH). All participants sat in the climate controlled laboratory wearing exercise clothing for a period of 20 min prior to exercise in all trials. During 10M and 8H, participants spent 10 min in the climate-controlled laboratory wearing shorts only immediately prior to immersion. In 1H, participants spent the entire 60 min in the climate-controlled laboratory prior to immersion; they wore clothing that allowed them to feel comfortable for 50 min, and then shorts only for the final 10 min.

Nude, dry body mass (accurate to 10 g) was recorded prior to the run (equipment same as above) after emptying the bladder. Body mass was also recorded prior to and after immersion following the same procedure. Water bottles were also weighed before and after the exercise to calculate fluid intake during the run so that sweat rate was estimated with the following equation;

Sweat rate (SR) = [(change in body mass + fluid ingested) / time] / [body mass(initial)]

Heart rate responses were measured continuously using a Garmin Forerunner 920XT heart rate monitor (Garmin, Neuhausen am Rheinfall, Switzerland).

Measurements of thermal comfort and thermal sensation were recorded at 5 min intervals during exercise and immersion. A four-point scale (1-4) was used to assess thermal comfort (Gagge et al., 1967) and a 17-point scale (0.0-8.0) was used to assess thermal sensation (Young et al., 1987).

Statistical Analyses

The data were analyzed with General Linear Mixed Models and Tukey *post hoc* tests with multiplicity adjusted *p*'s (significance level = 0.05) using GraphPad Prism version 8.0.0 (GraphPad Software, San Diego, California USA). Visual inspection of residual plots did not reveal any obvious deviations from homoscedasticity or normality. Results are reported as mean ± standard deviation (SD). The magnitudes of any differences between conditions were expressed as standardized differences (effect sizes; ES). The criteria used for interpreting the magnitude of the ES were: ≤ 0.2 (trivial), > 0.2 (small), >0.6 (moderate), >1.2 (large); and > 2.0 (very large) (Hopkins et al., 2009). The ES are reported with uncertainty of the estimates shown as ±90% confidence limits (CL). If the CL crossed both positive and negative trivial ES values, the magnitude was deemed unclear (Hopkins et al., 2009). A sample size calculation was performed (G*Power 3.1.2) with alpha level set at 0.05 and power set at 0.8, which revealed a sample size of nine participants was required to detect a meaningful change in Tc (0.3°C; Zurawlew et al., 2016).

RESULTS

There were no significant differences between conditions for any measured variable during the treadmill runs (p > 0.05). The mean treadmill speeds throughout the three running components of the trials were 9.4 ± 0.9, 12.4 ± 1.2, and 9.4 ± 0.9 kmh⁻¹. When all trials were combined, the mean maximum heart rate during the run was 153 ± 12 bpm, and the mean sweat rate during the treadmill run was 0.20 ± 0.03 mlminkg⁻¹. There were no significant differences between conditions for temperature of the water during HWI (p > 0.05).

The mean and individual Tc during the HWI for each condition is illustrated in **Figure 2**, and the trends in individual core temperature during hot-water immersion across conditions



FIGURE 2 | Mean and individual core temperature during hot-water immersion for each condition; 10 min (10M), 1 h (1H), and 8 h (8H) intervals (n = 11). 'Significantly different to 10M and 8H. Lines represent the mean and circles represent the individual responses.



are illustrated in **Figure 3**. Due to technical problems (the capsule could not connect to the data logger in an 8H trial and we speculate that it had passed), Tc was missing for one participant, and therefore, data were analyzed for 11 participants. The mean HWI Tc was significantly lower in 1H compared to 10M ($-0.42 \pm 0.33^{\circ}$ C; p = 0.0032; ES = 1.70, ± 0.72) and 8H ($-0.39 \pm 0.37^{\circ}$ C; p = 0.0140; ES = 1.11, ± 0.57). There was no significant difference for mean HWI Tc between 10M and 8H ($-0.04 \pm 0.20^{\circ}$ C; p = 0.8842, ES = $-0.14, \pm 0.43$). The peak HWI Tc was significantly higher in 8H compared to 1H ($0.49 \pm 0.42^{\circ}$ C, p = 0.003, ES = 1.25, ± 0.74), but there were no significant differences for peak HWI Tc between the other conditions (p > 0.05).

The time course of the Tc responses throughout the trials is illustrated in **Figure 4**. The 10M condition resulted in the highest Tc responses initially, which were significantly higher than 1H from 0 to 15 min (p = 0.0008-0.0163; ES = 1.06–2.95) and 8H from 0 to 5 min (p = 0.0099-0.0449; ES = 1.67–3.03). The Tc in the 8H condition was significantly higher than the 1H condition from 5 to 30 min (p = 0.0079-0.0399; ES = 0.91–1.25).

The time course of the Tsk responses throughout the trials is illustrated in **Figure 5**. Due to technical problems, data were missing for two participants, and therefore, data were analyzed for 10 participants. Upon commencing the HWI, 8H resulted in significantly higher Tsk than both 10M (p < 0.0001; ES = 3.27, ±1.52) and 1H (p = 0.0013; ES = 2.74, ±1.44). The Tsk was also significantly higher for 1H compared to 10M at 0 min (p = 0.0002; ES = 1.90, ±0.92). At the end of the HWI, 8H remained significantly higher than 10M (p = 0.0042; ES = 1.19, ±0.68), but there were no significant differences between the other conditions.

A summary of the heart rate, sweat and perceptual responses during the HWI with effect size comparisons is illustrated in **Table 1**. Due to technical problems, heart rate data were missing for one participant during 8H and therefore data for 11





for each condition; 10 min (10 M), 1 h (1H), and 8 h (8H) intervals (n = 10). *10M sig different to 1H, #10M sig different to 8H, ¹1H sig different to 8H.

participants were analyzed. The mean heart rate response was significantly higher in 10M compared to 1H (36 ± 21 bpm; p = 0.0006) and 8H (45 ± 18 bpm; p < 0.0001). The maximum heart rate response was also significantly higher in 10M compared 1H (41 ± 24 bpm; p = 0.0005) and 8H (52 ± 21 bpm; p < 0.0001). There were no other significant differences between conditions for any other variable.

DISCUSSION

The major finding of the current investigation was that a significantly lower Tc response was measured during HWI following a 1 h delay compared to a 10 min delay (-0.42° C),

	10M (mean ± SD)	1H (mean ± SD)	8H (mean ± SD)	10M-1H (ES, ±CI)	10M-8H (ES, ±CI)	1H-8H (ES, ± CI)
Mean HR (bpm)	130 ± 19	94 ± 22*	85 ± 11°	1.35, ±0.46	2.81, ±0.59	0.61, ±0.45
Max HR (bpm)	143 ± 21	102 ± 24°	91 ± 13°	1.39, ±0.47	2.77, ±0.60	0.60, ±0.44
SL (ml)	700 ± 376	482 ± 259	665 ± 244	0.51, ±0.68	-0.14, ±0.87	-1.05, ±0.81
SR (ml·min·kg ⁻¹)	0.29 ± 0.16	0.20 ± 0.10	0.28 ± 0.12	0.53, ±0.70	-0.13, ±0.82	-0.97, ±0.76
Mean TC (AU)	1.8 ± 0.5	1.9 ± 0.5	2.0 ± 0.5	-0.19, ±0.49	-0.43, ±0.63	-0.22, ±0.65
Mean TS (AU)	5.1 ± 0.6	5.2 ± 0.9	5.4 ± 0.7	-0.01, ±0.24	-0.36, ±0.28	-0.35, ±0.39

TABLE 1 | Summary of the heart rate, sweat, and perceptual responses during hot-water immersion with effect size comparisons.

10M, 10 min delay; 1H, 1 h delay; 8H, 8 h delay; AU, arbitrary units; bpm, beats per minute; CI, 90% confidence interval; ES, effect size; SD, standard deviation; HR, heart rate; TC, thermal comfort; TS, thermal sensation; SL, sweat loss; SR, sweat rate. *Significantly different to 10M.

between exercise and immersion (**Figure 2**). Further, mean heart rate was also lower following the 1 h delay, compared to the 10 min delay (-36 bpm). Therefore, within the conditions of the current protocol, we partially accept the hypothesis that delaying HWI by 1 h does reduce acute markers of thermophysiological strain during a post-exercise HWI session. The second major finding was that, within the conditions of the current protocol, the Tc responses were similar between a 10 min and an 8 h delay between exercise and immersion (0.04° C; **Figure 2**), and peak HWI Tc was greatest in the 8H condition, likely due to a circadian rhythm influence on Tc.

As per Figure 3, the individual participants responded similarly to the HWI between trials (i.e., those with the lowest Tc in one trial generally had the lowest Tc in the others), which may be partly explained by individual anthropometrical characteristics. There were differences in the time course of Tc changes throughout the HWI between trials (Figure 4). During 10M, the group mean Tc remained stable for the first 15 min of immersion (37.7-37.8°C), before increasing to 38.1°C in the final 10 min. We speculate that the prior exercise and subsequent increased core temperature at immersion onset suppressed the rise in Tc in 10M. For 1H and 8H, pre-immersion Tc was significantly lower prior to immersion compared to 10M due to additional recovery after the exercise (see Figure 4). Hence, the Tc profile increased in a linear fashion in these trials, albeit from a higher starting value in 8H, which was the trial with the highest peak Tc at the end of immersion (38.3°C). Considering that the Tc group mean only surpassed 38°C in the final 10 min of immersion in 10M and 8H (and not at all in 1H), the HA potential was likely low for this specific HWI strategy (i.e., 39°C for 30 min to the level of the waist). It should also be noted that athletes may regularly perform exercise at higher intensities than that prescribed in the current study, which may increase the thermo-physiological responses presented.

The HWI strategy presented in the current study (39°C for 30 min to the level of the waist) was deemed a suitable initial exposure based on piloting, but the strategy should become more aggressive (i.e., increased temperature, duration and/or depth) over time to induce a greater rise in Tc and a more sufficient thermal stimulus for adaptation (which also needs to be maintained) to increase the likelihood of inducing meaningful heat adaptations. A previous investigation on postexercise HWI that successfully induced heat adaptation and performance improvement in runners, implemented a HWI strategy of 40°C for 40 min to the level of the neck (Zurawlew et al., 2016). However, 6/10 participants could not complete this protocol on the first exposure, and therefore, it represents a starting point that is too challenging for many individuals. With this protocol, the researchers demonstrated that core body temperature was increased on average by 1°C throughout the immersion period (following the exercise), across six exposures. In comparison, the current study did not observe such an increase and instead participants completed immersion with a similar core temperature to that observed at the end of the run. Hence, athletes using this technique should aim to quickly increase the demands of the HWI toward 40°C for 40 min to the level of the neck in subsequent exposures as appropriate for the individual. Immersed athletes should be given clear instructions to discontinue HWI when they feel uncomfortably hot or experience any symptoms of pre-syncope or heat illness (i.e., cramping, vomiting, nausea, severe headache, and collapse/ fainting). It is also advisable to measure Tc in order to ensure the HWI protocol is both safe and appropriate.

The 8H condition resulted in the highest peak Tc (i.e., at the end of immersion), and a similar mean Tc during HWI compared to 10M. This was somewhat unexpected but may be explained by the higher circadian Tc that occurs in the afternoon (Słomko and Zalewski, 2016). As per Figures 4, 5, there were higher pre-immersion Tc and Tsk in 8H compared to 1H, which does suggest a circadian influence. Considering that all trials commenced at a similar time of day (6:00–7:30 am), this meant that the immersion in the 8H trial always commenced between 2:30 and 4:00 pm; a time consistent with the time of day (3:00 and 5:00 pm) that peak circadian rhythm Tc occurs (Słomko and Zalewski, 2016). Hence, the current data suggest that performing HWI during this time is more effective at increasing acute Tc than HWI performed in the morning when there is a delay of at least 1 h between exercise and immersion, and importantly, HA does not appear to be time of day dependent (Zurawlew et al., 2018b). However, performing HWI at this time should be tested within a longer-term heat adaptation study before such recommendations are made explicit for athletes for heat acclimation purposes. Finally, if the HWI is to be conducted in the afternoon, then it may also be beneficial to conduct the training session at this time as well.

Both the mean and maximal heart rates were significantly increased during HWI in 10M compared to both 1H and 8H. It is likely that the 10M condition did not allow for complete

heart rate recovery after the exercise, prior to the immersion, and as such, the participants were subject to increased cardiovascular strain during the HWI in 10M. No significant differences were observed for the sweat responses or the perceptions of thermal comfort and sensation. However, effect size statistics revealed a moderate increase in sweat loss and rate in 8H compared to 1H. It was surprising that there were no differences in thermal perception despite differences in both core temperature and skin temperature, which play a large role in modulating these thermal perceptions. The other interesting finding was that Tsk was significantly higher in 1H compared to 10M before immersion (see Figure 5), which may be explained by the convection and evaporation load associated with running, and/or the additional clothing worn by participants during the 1 h delay in 1H (despite the use of a short stabilization period).

The primary objective of the current study design was to maximize ecological validity to provide clear guidelines for athletes on the timing of post-exercise HWI when it is to be implemented outside of the laboratory setting. Indeed, the availability of a hot-bath immediately after training (i.e., within a few minutes) is not practical for most athletes, but this has not been considered previously. Post-exercise HWI that is slightly delayed after a training session (i.e., 10 min or longer) is practical where the athlete has access to a bath at home. The different time delays chosen in the current study reflected likely delays to occur in the field, but investigation into other time delays is also warranted, especially delays of between 20 and 50 min, within which there is likely a threshold where the thermo-physiological response to HWI is reduced, decreasing the potential capacity for HA. Future research could also investigate the effects of post-exercise HWI when exercise is performed in the afternoon, in hotter environments, or after exercise in additional clothing (Stevens et al., 2017). Considering the ecological design, the current study's strengths can also be considered as limitations, for example, the athletes drank to thirst during the exercise, ate their usual diet, and completed their usual activities throughout the day instead of remaining in the laboratory during the delays in the 1H and 8H trials. As such, hydration, the thermic effect of food, and incidental physical activity, which can all contribute to heat storage, were not highly standardized. Fluid ingestion was not measured between exercise and HWI and hydration status was not measured either, but the participants were encouraged to drink during and after the exercise, and there was no difference in measures of body mass between exercise endpoint and starting HWI. We also highlight that this study is only an acute study of the physiological and perceptual responses to the different time delays between exercise and HWI, and more long-term studies are needed to determine any effects on heat adaptation.

It should also be noted that in the 8H trial, the ingestible capsule was in the gastrointestinal tract for an additional 8 h compared to the 10M trial and possibly moved further along the tract. However, this is unlikely to have affected the core temperature observations as previous research determined no

differences between measures of core body temperature by rectal probe and ingestible capsule at 1 h (0.15 \pm 1 0.11°C) vs. 36 h (0.15 \pm 0.14°C), after ingestion (Ducharme et al., 2001). Another study has demonstrated some small gastrointestinal temperature gradients, but the most significant gradient was between the stomach and the small intestine (0.2–0.3°C), and any other gradients were trivial (Kolka et al., 1993). We implemented an 8-h timeframe between ingestion and the first measurement, exceeding the 6-h recommendation between ingestion and measurement to ensure that the capsule clears the stomach (Byrne and Lim, 2007), minimizing the effects of any gastrointestinal temperature gradient.

Overall, the current study provides new recommendations for athletes aiming to maximize the acute thermo-physiological response to post-exercise HWI. Immersion should commence immediately after training (within 10 min) to maximize acute Tc and heart rate responses. If this is not viable, an alternative approach may be to implement HWI in the afternoon when Tc is naturally elevated due to circadian rhythm. In the current design, delays of 1 h between exercise and immersion result in significantly lower Tc responses compared to delays of 10 min and 8 h, and Tc of less than 38°C throughout the whole immersion period (when considering the group mean), and hence, a 1 h delay is not recommended for athletes aiming to maximize the acute thermo-physiological response to postexercise HWI.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets generated for this study are available on request to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Southern Cross University Human Research Ethics Committee. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SH collected the data. CS and SH wrote the manuscript. SH, PH, SZ, LT, and CS contributed to the study design and performed critical revisions of the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors wish to thank the participants for their involvement in the study. Erich Wittstock is also thanked for his valuable technical support across the data collection period. We acknowledge that sections from Storme Heathcote's Master of Science thesis have been incorporated into this publication.

REFERENCES

- Borg, G. (1998). Borg's perceived exertion and pain scales. 1st Edn. Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics.
- Byrne, C., and Lim, C. L. (2007). The ingestible telemetric body core temperature sensor: a review of validity and exercise applications. Br. J. Sports Med. 41, 126–133. doi: 10.1136/bjsm.2006.026344
- Casadio, J. R., Kilding, A. E., Cotter, J. D., and Laursen, P. B. (2017). From lab to real world: heat acclimation considerations for elite athletes. *Sports Med.* 47, 1476–1476. doi: 10.1007/s40279-016-0668-9
- Cheuvront, S. N., Kenefick, R. W., Montain, S. J., and Sawka, M. N. (2010). Mechanisms of aerobic performance impairment with heat stress and dehydration. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 109, 1989–1995. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00367.2010
- De Pauw, K., Roelands, B., Cheung, S. S., de Geus, B., Rietjens, G., and Meeusen, R. (2013). Guidelines to classify subject groups in sport-science research. Int. J. Sports Physiol. Perform. 8, 111–122. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.8.2.111
- Ducharme, M. B., McLellan, T. M., Moroz, D., Buguet, A., and Radomski, M. W. (2001). A 36 hour comparison of core temperature at rest and during exercise using rectal probe and pill telemetry. Paper presented at the Proceedings of the Australian Physiological and Pharmacological Society Symposium.
- Gagge, A. P., Stolwijk, J. A., and Hardy, J. D. (1967). Comfort and thermal sensations and associated physiological responses at various ambient temperatures. *Environ. Res.* 1, 1–20. doi: 10.1016/0013-9351(67)90002-3
- Guy, J. H., Deakin, G. B., Edwards, A. M., Miller, C. M., and Pyne, D. B. (2015). Adaptation to hot environmental conditions: an exploration of the performance basis, procedures and future directions to optimise opportunities for elite athletes. *Sports Med.* 45, 303–311. doi: 10.1007/s40279-014-0277-4
- Heathcote, S., Hassmen, P., Zhou, S., and Stevens, C. (2018). Passive heating: Reviewing practical heat acclimation strategies for endurance athletes. *Front. Physiol.* 20:1851. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.01851
- Hopkins, W., Marshall, S., Batterham, A., and Hanin, J. (2009). Progressive statistics for studies in sports medicine and exercise science. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 41, 3–13. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e31818cb278
- Houmard, J. A., Costill, D. L., Davis, J. A., Mitchell, J. B., Pascoe, D. D., and Robergs, R. A. (1990). The influence of exercise intensity on heat acclimation in trained subjects. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 22, 615–620. doi: 10.1249/ 00005768-199010000-00012
- Kakamu, T., Wada, K., Smith, D., Endo, S., and Fukushima, T. (2017). Preventing heat illness in the anticipated hot climate of the Tokyo 2020 summer Olympic games. *Environ. Health Prev. Med.* 22:68. doi: 10.1186/s12199-017-0675-y
- Kamon, E., Pandolf, K., and Cafarelli, E. (1974). The relationship between perceptual information and physiological responses to exercise in the heat. *J. Hum. Ergol.* 3, 45–54.
- Kolka, M. A., Quigley, M. D., Blanchard, L. A., Toyota, D. A., and Stephenson, L. A. (1993). Validation of a temperature telemetry system during moderate and strenuous exercise. *J. Therm. Biol.* 18, 203–210. doi: 10.1016/ 0306-4565(93)90004-D
- Marfell-Jones, M. J., Stewart, A. D., and De Ridder, J. H. (2012). International standards for anthropometric assessment. Wellington, New Zealand: International Society for the Advancement of Kinanthropometry.
- Mee, J. A., Peters, S., Doust, J. H., and Maxwell, N. S. (2017). Sauna exposure immediately prior to short-term heat acclimation accelerates phenotypic adaptation in females. J. Sci. Med. Sport 21, 190–195. doi: 10.1016/j.jsams.2017.06.024
- Neal, R. A., Corbett, J., Massey, H. C., and Tipton, M. J. (2016). Effect of short-term heat acclimation with permissive dehydration on thermoregulation and temperate exercise performance. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 26, 875–884. doi: 10.1111/sms.12526
- Nielsen, R., and Nielsen, B. (1984). Measurement of mean skin temperature of clothed persons in cool environments. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 53, 231–236. doi: 10.1007/BF00776595
- Périard, J. D., Racinais, S., and Sawka, M. N. (2015). Adaptations and mechanisms of human heat acclimation: applications for competitive athletes and sports. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 25(Suppl. 1), 20–38. doi: 10.1111/sms.12408

- Périard, J. D., Racinais, S., Timpka, T., Dahlström, Ö., Spreco, A., Jacobsson, J., et al. (2017). Strategies and factors associated with preparing for competing in the heat: a cohort study at the 2015 IAAF world athletics championships. *Br. J. Sports Med.* 51, 264–271. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2016-096579
- Racinais, S., Alonso, J. M., Coutts, A. J., Flouris, A. D., Girard, O., Gonzalez-Alonso, J., et al. (2015). Consensus recommendations on training and competing in the heat. *Br. J. Sports Med.* 49, 1164–1173. doi: 10.1136/ bjsports-2015-094915
- Saunders, P. U., Garvican-Lewis, L. A., Chapman, R. F., and Periard, J. D. (2019). Special environments: altitude and heat. *Int. J. Sport Nutr. Exerc. Metab.* 29, 210–219. doi: 10.1123/ijsnem.2018-0256
- Scoon, G. S., Hopkins, W. G., Mayhew, S., and Cotter, J. D. (2007). Effect of post-exercise sauna bathing on the endurance performance of competitive male runners. J. Sci. Med. Sport 10, 259–262. doi: 10.1016/j.jsams.2006.06.009
- Słomko, J., and Zalewski, P. (2016). The circadian rhythm of core body temperature (part I): the use of modern telemetry systems to monitor core body temperature variability. *Pol. Hyperb. Res.* 55, 79–83. doi: 10.1515/phr-2016-0014
- Stanley, J., Halliday, A., D'Auria, S., Buchheit, M., and Leicht, A. S. (2015). Effect of sauna-based heat acclimation on plasma volume and heart rate variability. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 115, 785–794. doi: 10.1007/s00421-014-3060-1
- Stevens, C. J., Mauger, A. R., Hassmén, P., and Taylor, L. (2018). Endurance performance is influenced by perceptions of pain and temperature: theory, applications and safety considerations. *Sports Med.* 48, 525–537. doi: 10.1007/ s40279-017-0852-6
- Stevens, C. J., Plews, D. J., Laursen, P. B., Kittel, A. B., and Taylor, L. (2017). Acute physiological and perceptual responses to wearing additional clothing while cycling outdoors in a temperate environment: a practical method to increase the heat load. *Temperature* 4, 414–419. doi: 10.1080/ 23328940.2017.1365108
- Tyler, C. J., Reeve, T., Hodges, G. J., and Cheung, S. S. (2016). The effects of heat adaptation on physiology, perception and exercise performance in the heat: a meta-analysis. Sports Med. 46, 1699–1724. doi: 10.1007/s40279-016-0538-5
- Wendt, D., Van Loon, L. J. C., and Van Marken Lichtenbelt, W. D. (2007). Thermoregulation during exercise in the heat: strategies for maintaining health and performance. *Sports Med.* 37, 669–682. doi: 10.2165/ 00007256-200737080-00002
- Young, A. J., Sawka, M. N., Epstein, Y., Decristofano, B., and Pandolf, K. (1987). Cooling different body surfaces during upper and lower body exercise. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 63, 1218–1223. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1987.63.3.1218
- Zurawlew, M. J., Mee, J. A., and Walsh, N. P. (2018a). Post-exercise hot water immersion elicits heat acclimation adaptations in endurance trained and recreationally active individuals. *Front. Physiol.* 9:1824. doi: 10.3389/ fphys.2018.01824
- Zurawlew, M. J., Mee, J. A., and Walsh, N. P. (2018b). Heat acclimation by postexercise tot-water immersion: reduction of thermal strain during morning and afternoon exercise-heat stress after morning hot-water immersion. *Int.* J. Sports Physiol. Perform. 13, 1281–1286. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.2017-0620
- Zurawlew, M. J., Walsh, N. P., Fortes, M. B., and Potter, C. (2016). Post-exercise hot water immersion induces heat acclimation and improves endurance exercise performance in the heat. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 26, 745–754. doi: 10.1111/sms.12638

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Heathcote, Hassmén, Zhou, Taylor and Stevens. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Performance Changes Following Heat Acclimation and the Factors That Influence These Changes: Meta-Analysis and Meta-Regression

Heat acclimation (HA) is the process of intentional and consistent exercise in the heat that

Courteney Leigh Benjamin^{*}, Yasuki Sekiguchi, Lauren Amanda Fry and Douglas James Casa

Department of Kinesiology, Korey Stringer Institute, University of Connecticut, Storrs, CT, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Caroline Sunderland, Nottingham Trent University, United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

Blake Graeme Perry, Massey University, New Zealand Oliver R. Gibson, Brunel University London, United Kingdom

*Correspondence:

Courteney Leigh Benjamin courteney.mincy@uconn.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Integrative Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 31 July 2019 Accepted: 08 November 2019 Published: 27 November 2019

Citation:

Benjamin CL, Sekiguchi Y, Fry LA and Casa DJ (2019) Performance Changes Following Heat Acclimation and the Factors That Influence These Changes: Meta-Analysis and Meta-Regression. Front. Physiol. 10:1448. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019.01448

results in positive physiological adaptations, which can improve exercise performance both in the heat and thermoneutral conditions. Previous research has indicated the many performance benefits of HA, however, a meta-analysis examining the magnitude of different types of performance improvement is absent. Additionally, there are several methodological discrepancies in the literature that could lead to increased variability in performance improvement following HA and no previous study has examined the impact of moderators on performance improvement following HA. Therefore, the aim of this study was two-fold; (1) to perform a meta-analysis to examine the magnitude of changes in performance following HA in maximal oxygen consumption (VO_{2max}), time to exhaustion, time trial, mean power, and peak power tests; (2) to determine the impact of moderators on results of these performance tests. Thirty-five studies met the inclusion/exclusion criteria with 23 studies that assessed VO_{2max} (n = 204), 24 studies that assessed time to exhaustion (n = 232), 10 studies that performed time trials (n = 232)101), 7 studies that assessed mean power (n = 67), and 10 papers that assessed peak power (n = 88). Data are reported as Hedge's g effect size (ES), and 95% confidence intervals (95% Cl). Statistical significance was set to p < 0.05, a priori. The magnitude of change following HA was analyzed, with time to exhaustion demonstrating the largest performance enhancement (ES [95% CI], 0.86 [0.71, 1.01]), followed by time trial (0.49 [0.26, 0.71]), mean power (0.37 [0.05, 0.68]), VO_{2max} (0.30 [0.07, 0.53]), and peak power (0.29 [0.09, 0.48]) (p < 0.05). When all of the covariates were analyzed as individual models, induction method, fitness level, heat index in time to exhaustion (coefficient [95% Cl]; induction method, -0.69 [-1.01, -0.37], p < 0.001; fitness level, 0.04 [0.02, 0.06], p < 0.001; heat index, 0.04 [0.02, 0.07], p < 0.0001) and induction length in mean power (coefficient [95% CI]; induction length 0.15 [0.05, 0.25], p = 0.002) significantly impacted the magnitude of change. Sport scientists and researchers can use the findings from this meta-analysis to customize HA induction. For time to exhaustion improvements, HA implementation should focus on induction method and baseline fitness, while the training and recovery balance could lead to optimal time trial performance.

Keywords: training, adaptation, thermoregulation, athlete, capacity

INTRODUCTION

Athletes in team and individual sports use a variety of training methods to achieve peak performance. One training modality that has been established is known as heat acclimation (HA) (i.e., training in a hot, artificial environment) or heat acclimatization (i.e., training in a hot, natural environment), repeatedly. HA is the process of intentional and consistent exercise in the heat that results in several positive physiological and perceptual adaptations (Armstrong and Maresh, 1991). A decrease in heart rate, internal body temperature, sweat electrolyte concentration, and perceptual measures and an increase in sweat rate and plasma volume are all positive adaptations that occur throughout HA (Périard et al., 2015; Casadio et al., 2017). While the physiological benefits of HA have been established for many years (Adolph, 1938), a growing body of literature has emerged investigating the many performance benefits of HA in hot and thermoneutral environmental conditions. While the physiological and perceptual benefits of HA are the mechanisms behind enhanced exercise performance, actual result from competition, such as a faster race time, an increased time to exhaustion, or improved aerobic capacity are typically the primary outcomes.

Even still, understanding the mechanisms behind enhanced exercise performance is critical to adopting optimal training programs. Cardiovascular adaptations, including decreases in heart rate and increases in plasma volume, occur within 3-6 days of HA and are known to have a strong influence on exercise performance (Sawka et al., 2011; Périard et al., 2016). Body temperature adaptations, both internal and skin, also occur within 8 days of HA (Armstrong and Maresh, 1991) and are known to improve exercise performance (Nybo and González-Alonso, 2015). Decreases in sweat electrolyte concentration typically occurs within 5-10 days of HA and increase in sweat rate typically occurs within 5-14 days of HA (Armstrong and Maresh, 1991). These adaptations can enhance exercise performance in a hot environment, as these mechanisms improve thermoregulation (Nuccio et al., 2017). These adaptations independently and collectively improve exercise performance by helping the body thermoregulate more efficiently and reduce the overall physiological strain.

In the literature investigating HA, "performance" has been used to describe both physiological and perceptual improvements within a relative bout of exercise. "Performance" has also been used to describe the outcomes from direct measurements, such as time trial and maximal oxygen consumption (VO_{2max}). For this meta-analysis, performance will be defined as the result of any established test that measures exercise ability. Common tests that have been used to assess exercise performance following HA include: VO_{2max} , time to exhaustion, time trial, mean power, and peak power.

While the many physiological and performance benefits of HA have been reported in the literature, there are several methodological discrepancies in the literature that could lead to increased variability in these results, including fitness level, induction length, session duration, exercise intensity, induction method, induction length, environmental conditions of induction, and environmental conditions of testing. Induction method and exercise intensity typically refers to isothermal, controlled work-rate, or self-paced exercise (Daanen et al., 2018). The isothermal induction method involves having individuals exercise to achieve a critical internal body temperature threshold (typically 38.5°C) and maintain that temperature or higher for at least 1 h by adjusting the exercise intensity (Taylor and Cotter, 2006; Taylor, 2014; Périard et al., 2015). The controlled work-rate method involves individuals exercising for a constant intensity for a set duration (Tyler et al., 2016). Both of these methods result in various physiological responses and are thought to influence HA results (Périard et al., 2015). HA induction length refers to the number of days an individual is exposed to exercise in the heat. Previous literature defined various HA protocols as short-term (<7 days), medium-term (8–14 days), and long-term $(\geq 14 \text{ days})$ and concluded that some physiological adaptations (internal body temperature and heart rate) can occur from a short-term HA protocol, however, the extent to which these adaptations translate to specific performance tests are unknown (Tyler et al., 2016). Previous investigations sought to gain a better understanding of induction method and length and reported that isothermal and controlled work-rate protocols yielded similar adaptations and that length did not contribute to additional adaptations (Gibson et al., 2015a,b). Session duration refers to the time per each HA session and typically ranges from 60 to 120 min, with previous research favoring increased duration for physiological benefits (Sawka et al., 2011). In addition to these considerations surrounding HA induction protocols, individuals with high fitness are generally more tolerant to heat and this factor could play a role in the magnitude of performance enhancement from HA (Pandolf et al., 1977; Gardner et al., 1996). Furthermore, environmental conditions during HA induction and testing can modify the response to exercise in the heat and change the magnitude of adaptations to HA, most likely due to the higher physiological strain that ensues in an uncompensable environment (Cheung et al., 2000).

Literature surrounding the practical aspects of HA induction and decay have provided insight into various methods and the many benefits of this method of performance enhancement (Périard et al., 2015). Adaptations in performance tests have been examined in broad sense (i.e., performance vs. exercise capacity), however, no study has examined the effect of HA on specific types of exercise performance tests (Tyler et al., 2016). A recent metaanalysis examined the physiological and perceptual adaptations that occur throughout heat acclimatization induction and decay (Daanen et al., 2018), however, a meta-analysis examining the magnitude of different types of specific performance improvement is absent. Additionally, while several studies have speculated, no previous study has examined the impact of specific moderators on the results observed following HA induction, which could help explain the variability seen in this research. Understanding the magnitude of the performance changes in these tests will be beneficial to athletes, coaches, sports scientists, sport medicine professionals and future researchers who strive to optimize performance and expand the HA literature. Therefore, the aim of this study was two-fold. First, to perform a meta-analysis to examine the magnitude of changes

in performance that results from HA in VO_{2max} , time to exhaustion, time trial, mean power, and peak power. Second, to determine the impact of moderators on HA performance in these performance tests.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

A literature search was conducted using first order search terms ("acclimation," "acclimatization," "adaptation") and second order search terms ("exercise," "endurance," "time trial," "Wingate," "VO_{2max}," "time to exhaustion"). The search was performed in the following databases: PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, SportDiscus, Academic Search Premier, and Cochrane Library. The search was conducted February 15, 2019.

Selection Criteria

The following search criteria was used to determine the suitability of each paper for this analysis. **Figure 1** demonstrates the selection process for this meta-analysis. This meta-analysis only included a study if it met the following requirements:

- 1. The full-text was available from a peer-reviewed scientific journal in the English language.
- 2. The study reported a physical performance test outcome for pre and post HA intervention. Cognitive tests were not included in this analysis because the purpose was to assess the effectiveness of HA on various physical performance tests.
- 3. Only studies that conducted HA were included (not heat acclimatization). The term "acclimatization" was included in the search terms because "acclimation" and "acclimatization" are sometimes used interchangeably in previous research.
- 4. The mode of exercise during HA occurred on a cycle ergometer or a treadmill. These methods of exercise have high external validity and will be included to control for variability that may be introduced with other methods (i.e., sauna, stair- stepping).
- 5. The study reported findings from at least four participants to ensure appropriate power for each of the studies.
- 6. For studies to be included in the time to exhaustion analysis, the baseline test (prior to the start of HA) should be stopped due to volitional fatigue or the laboratory cut-points (such as internal body temperature >40°C), not because of testing time.

Classification of the Studies

Of the 74 peer-reviewed studies identified, 35 met the inclusion criteria. These studies were categorized by the researchers by type of performance test. Upon review, five types of tests were established: (1) VO_{2max} , (2) time to exhaustion, (3) time trial, (4) mean power, and (5) peak power.

Data Extraction

Studies that involved an additional intervention to HA were included in the analysis only if there was no difference between the control group and the intervention group. In cases that reported differences, only the control group was included.

Study Quality Assessment

The PEDro scale was not used for the inclusion criteria, however, a quality assessment is included in the results section (**Tables 1–5**). On this scale, a "high quality" study will score \geq 7; a "moderate quality" study will score 5 or 6; a "poor quality" study will score \leq 4 (Maher et al., 2003; Yamato et al., 2017). To assess for publication bias, funnel plots of each performance test can be seen in the supplementary material (**Supplementary Figures 1–5**).

Data Analysis

This meta-analysis was performed in Comprehensive Meta-Analysis software (version 2.2.064, Biostat company, Englewood, NJ, USA). Studies included in this analysis reported data to determine the changes within group, between pre and post HA. In the event that correlation values were not available, the lowest available correlation value for that test was utilized to calculate the effect size. Data are reported as mean (M), standard deviation (SD) mean difference (MD), Hedge's g effect size (ES), and 95% confidence intervals (95% CI). Statistical significance was set to p < 0.05, a priori.

To determine the effects of moderators on outcomes in performance, a meta-regression was performed. A separate metaregression was performed for each performance test type and moderators were entered separately as individual models in the analysis. Moderators that were considered for all test types in this analysis included: fitness level, induction length, session duration, exercise intensity, induction method, heat index of induction, and heat index of testing. For the "fitness level" moderator, baseline (prior to HA induction) VO_{2max} levels were utilized. Induction length was entered as a continuous variable as the number of days utilized for HA induction. Session duration was entered as a continuous variable as the total number of minutes for each session throughout HA induction. In cases that involved a progressive duration protocol, the average duration time was entered. Exercise intensity was defined as "low," "moderate," and "high," with "low" being defined as <55% VO2max, "moderate" between 55 and 70% VO2max or isothermal, and "high" being greater that 70% VO2max and "low" was set as the reference group. Induction method was defined as "controlled work rate" or "isothermal," with "controlled work rate" referring to an intensity that was set by the investigator throughout HA induction and "isothermal," referring to HA sessions adjusting the exercise intensity seeking to maintain the internal body temperature to a pre-determined criteria (typically 38.5°C). For this moderator, "controlled work rate" was set as the reference group. Environmental conditions of both induction and testing were measured as heat index and were calculated from reported environmental conditions. Tests were included if they were performed in hot ($\geq 25^{\circ}$ C) or thermoneutral ($< 25^{\circ}$ C) environmental conditions. Three of the time to exhaustion tests were performed in thermoneutral environments. Twenty of the time to exhaustion tests were performed in a hot environment. Two studies did not report the environmental conditions of the testing sessions. In terms of mean power, one study conducted the performance test in a thermoneutral environmental condition. Of the VO_{2max} tests, nine were performed in thermoneutral



TABLE 1 | VO_{2max} descriptive table.

References	n	Induction method~	Induction length (Days)	Session duration (min)	Exercise intensity [#]	Heat index induction	Heat index testing	Baseline fitness (ml⋅kg ⁻¹ ⋅min ⁻¹)	PEDro
Horstman and Christensen	6	Controlled work rate	11	68	Low	54	N/A	51.4	5
(1982) A & B	4*	Controlled work rate	11	108	Low	54	N/A	47.2	5
King et al. (1985)	10	Controlled work rate	8	90	Low	43	43	46.1	4
Pivarnik et al. (1987)	16	Controlled work rate	6	90	Moderate	43	43	44.2	4
Febbraio et al. (1994)	13	Controlled work rate	7	90	Low	43	39	68.1	7
Aoyagi et al. (1998)	6	Controlled work rate	6	60	Low	43	43	47.4	7
A, B, C, & D	9	Controlled work rate	6	60	Low	43	43	45.1	7
	8	Controlled work rate	6	150	Low	43	43	49.5	7
	8	Controlled work rate	12	150	Low	43	43	48.6	7
Lorenzo et al. (2010)	12	Controlled work rate	10	90	Low	43	39	66.9	6
Chen et al. (2013) A & B	7	Controlled work rate	5	35	Moderate	51	24	53.0	7
	7	Controlled work rate	5	35	Moderate	51	51	53.0	7
Molloy et al. (2013) A & B	9	Controlled work rate	14	30	High	36	22	57.1	6
	7	Controlled work rate	14	30	High	36	22	55.2	6
Keiser et al. (2015)	8	Controlled work rate	10	90	Low	39	39	58.1	7
DiLeo et al. (2016)	10	Controlled work rate	5	90	Low	47	47	50.0	4
Neal et al. (2016a)	10	Isothermal	5	90	Moderate	55	22	63.3	6
Neal et al. (2016b) A & B	8	Isothermal	11	90	Moderate	55	20	56.9	6
	8	Isothermal	11	90	Moderate	55	20	56.9	6
James et al. (2017)	10^	Isothermal	5	90	Moderate	50	37	58.9	6
Rendell et al. (2017)	8	Isothermal	11	90	Moderate	55	22	58.5	6
Willmott et al. (2018) A & B	10	Isothermal	10	60	Moderate	47	21	48.7	6
	10	Isothermal	10	60	Moderate	47	21	48.7	6

~ Induction method was defined as either "controlled work rate," which was defined as a constant intensity for a set duration or "isothermal," which was defined as exercise intensity defined by a pre-determined internal body temperature.

*Exercise intensity was defined as either "low," which was <55% VO_{2max}, "moderate," which was isothermal or 55–70% VO_{2max}, and "high," which was >70% VO_{2max}.

^Included one female.

conditions and 12 were performed in hot conditions (two not reported). For time trial performance, distance was used as a moderator to see the impact of HA induction on various time trial results.

RESULTS

Search Results

In total, 2,527 articles were found. Of those articles, 35 met the inclusion/exclusion criteria with 23 studies that assessed VO_{2max} (n = 204), 24 studies that assessed time to exhaustion (n = 232), 10 studies that performed time trials (n = 101), 7 studies that assessed mean power (n = 67), and 10 studies that assessed peak power (n = 88). The fitness level prior to the start of HA was reported (M \pm SD; VO_{2max}, 53.7 \pm 6.8 ml·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹; time to exhaustion 49.2 \pm 8.1 ml·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹; time trial, 52.3 \pm 9.0 ml·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹; mean power, 53.8 \pm 9.2 ml·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹; peak power, 53.1 \pm 7.4 ml·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹. Most studies investigated only males, however, some of the studies reported female data. The quality of the included manuscripts was assessed by two readers using the PEDro scale (M \pm SD; 5.6 \pm 1.1). The nature of HA induction does not allow for blinding of the participants. Descriptive information about each of the studies for each performance test type can be seen in **Tables 1–5**.

Impact of HA on Various Performance Tests

HA had a positive impact on performance, regardless of testing type (ES [95% CI]; =0.53 [0.44, 0.63], p < 0.001). HA induced positive adaptions for each performance test [MD [95% CI]; time to exhaustion, 144.30 s [128.30, 160.31], p < 0.001; time trial, -45.60 s [-22.80, -68.40], p < 0.001; mean power 12 W [2.08, 22.37], p = 0.02; VO_{2max}, 1.32 ml·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹ [0.20, 2.43], p = 0.02; peak power 15 W [8.90, 21.09], p < 0.001). The magnitude of change following HA induction was analyzed, with time to exhaustion demonstrating the largest performance enhancement, followed by time trial, mean power, VO_{2max}, and peak power (ES [95% CI]; time to exhaustion, 0.86 [0.71, 1.01], p < 0.001; time trial, 0.49 [0.26, 0.71], p < 0.001; mean power, 0.37 [0.05, 0.68], p < 0.001; VO_{2max}, 0.30 [0.07, 0.53], p = 0.012; peak power, 0.29 [0.09, 0.48], p < 0.001) (**Figure 2**). ES for each of the studies

TABLE 2 | Time to exhaustion descriptive table.

References	n	Induction method~	Induction length (Days)	Session duration (min)	Exercise intensity [#]	Heat index induction	Heat index testing	Baseline fitness (ml⋅kg ⁻¹ ⋅min ⁻¹)	PEDro
Horstman and Christensen	6	Controlled work rate	11	68	Low	44	44	51.4	5
(1982)	4*	Controlled work rate	11	108	Low	44	44	47.2	5
Pandolf et al. (1988)	9	Controlled work rate	10	150	Low	55	55	52.9	6
Nielsen et al. (1993) A & B	13	Controlled work rate	10.5	61	Moderate	37	37	59.0	6
Nielsen et al. (1997)	12	Controlled work rate	10	48.3	Low	61	61	62.0	4
Aoyagi et al. (1998)	6	Controlled work rate	6	60	Low	43	43	47.4	7
	9	Controlled work rate	6	60	Low	43	43	45.1	7
Inoue et al. (1999) A, B, & C	5	Controlled work rate	8	90	Low	49	49	47.0	6
	4	Controlled work rate	8	90	Low	49	49	48.0	6
	5	Controlled work rate	8	90	Low	49	49	30.0	6
Garrett et al. (2009)	10	Isothermal	5	90	Moderate	63	45	57.1	4
Burk et al. (2012)	22	Controlled work rate	11	125.3	Moderate	42	42	53.8	4
Chen et al. (2013) A & B	7	Controlled work rate	5	38	N/A	51	24	53.0	7
	7	Controlled work rate	5	38	N/A	51	51	53.0	7
Kaldur et al. (2014)	21	Controlled work rate	10	100	Low	42	42	53.8	4
Oöpik et al. (2014)	20	Controlled work rate	10	100	Low	42	42	53.2	4
Ashley et al. (2015)	10+	Controlled work rate	10	120	Low	57	57	33.9	7
	8+	Controlled work rate	10	120	Low	57	57	29.2	7
Gibson et al. (2015b)	8	Controlled work rate	10	90	Low	48	42	45.6	6
A, B, & C	8	Isothermal	10	67.4	Moderate	48	42	48.5	6
	8	Isothermal	10	86.1	Moderate	48	42	50.6	6
James et al. (2017)	10^	Isothermal	5	90	Moderate	50	37	58.9	6
Willmott et al. (2018) A & B	10	Isothermal	10	150	Moderate	47	21	48.7	6
	10	Isothermal	10	150	Moderate	47	21	48.7	6

~ Induction method was defined as either "controlled work rate," which was defined as a constant intensity for a set duration or "isothermal," which was defined as exercise intensity defined by a pre-determined internal body temperature.

#Exercise intensity was defined as either "low", which was <55% VO_{2max}, "moderate," which was isothermal or 55–70% VO_{2max}, and "high," which was >70% VO_{2max}.

*Included four females.

^Included one female.

+Included five females.

for time to exhaustion (**Figure 3**), time trial (**Figure 4**), mean power (**Figure 5**), VO_{2max} (**Figure 6**), and peak power (**Figure 7**) were demonstrated.

Time to Exhaustion Meta-Regression

When all of the covariates were analyzed as individual models, induction method significantly impacted the magnitude of change seen in time to exhaustion following HA induction (coefficient [95% CI]; -0.69 [-1.01, -0.37], $r^2 = 0.26$, p < 0.001) (**Figure 8A**). Fitness level also significantly impacted the change seen in time to exhaustion, however, no variance in the results was explained by this model (coefficient [95% CI]; 0.04 [0.02, 0.06], $r^2 = 0.00$, p < 0.001) (**Figure 8B**). The heat index of testing also explained some of the variance seen in this test time (coefficient [95% CI]; 0.04 [0.02, 0.07], $r^2 = 0.18$, p < 0.001) (**Figure 8C**). All other covariates did not significantly impact the magnitude of change seen in time to exhaustion following HA (coefficient [95% CI]; induction length, 0.04 [-0.04, 0.13], p = 0.34; session duration, 0.01 [-0.00, 0.02], p = 0.08; exercise intensity, -0.27 [-0.59, 0.05], p = 0.10; heat index of induction,

0.01 [-0.01, 0.04], p = 0.30). Of the 19 times to exhaustion tests in a hot environment, 18 saw improved performance, while one saw no changes in performance.

Time Trial Meta-Regression

When all of the covariates were entered as individual models, they did not significantly impact the magnitude of change seen from HA, however, high intensity training was approaching significance and this variable explained 24% of the variance seen in this type of performance test (coefficient [95% CI]; fitness level, 0.00 [-0.02, 0.03], p = 0.91; induction length, 0.08 [-0.07, 0.23], p = 0.28; session duration, 0.00 [-0.01, 0.01], p = 0.40; high intensity, -0.58 [-1.17, 0.02], p = 0.06; moderate intensity, -0.23 [-0.65, 0.18], p = 0.26; induction method, -0.08 [-0.53, 0.37], p = 0.74; heat index of induction, 0.01 [-0.02, 0.05], p = 0.45; heat index of testing, 0.03 [-0.01, 0.06], p = 0.16). In terms of environmental conditions, time trial performance was improved in all studies, however, only one study investigated a time trial in thermoneutral conditions.

TABLE 3 | Time trial descriptive table.

References	n	Induction method~	Induction length (Days)	Session duration (min)	Exercise intensity [#]	Heat index induction	Heat index testing	Baseline fitness (ml⋅kg ⁻¹ ⋅min ⁻¹)	PEDro
Garrett et al. (2012)	8	Isothermal	5	90	Moderate	61	45	65.0	4
Neal et al. (2016a)	10	Isothermal	5	90	Moderate	55	22	63.3	6
Guy et al. (2016)	8	Controlled work rate	7	N/A	Low	50	50	45.0	7
Lee et al. (2016)	7	Controlled work rate	10	60	Low	41	41	50.7	6
Willmott et al. (2016) A & B	7	Controlled work rate	2	90	Low	45	33	46.1	6
	7	Controlled work rate	4	45	Low	45	33	45.8	6
Wingfield et al. (2016) A & B	10	Controlled work rate	5	90	Low	40	40	44.3	4
	10	Controlled work rate	5	30	High	40	40	41.9	4
James et al. (2017)	10^	Isothermal	5	90	Moderate	50	37	58.9	6
Pethick et al. (2019)	24+	Isothermal	5	90	Moderate	40	38	62.3	6

~ Induction method was defined as either "controlled work rate," which was defined as a constant intensity for a set duration or "isothermal," which was defined as exercise intensity defined by a pre-determined internal body temperature.

#Exercise intensity was defined as either "low," which was <55% VO_{2max}, "moderate," which was isothermal or 55–70% VO_{2max}, and "high," which was >70% VO_{2max}.

^Included one female.

+Included two females.

TABLE 4 | Mean power descriptive table.

References	n	Induction method~	Induction length (Days)	Session duration (min)	Exercise intensity [#]	Heat index induction	Heat index testing	Baseline fitness (ml·kg ⁻¹ ·min ⁻¹)	PEDro
Lorenzo et al. (2010)	12	Controlled work rate	10	90	Low	43	39	66.9	6
Brade et al. (2013)	10	Controlled work rate	5	40	High	45	45	55.3	7
Lee et al. (2016)	7	Controlled work rate	10	60	Low	41	41	50.7	6
Neal et al. (2016a)	10	Isothermal	5	90	Moderate	55	22	63.3	6
Wingfield et al. (2016) A & B	10	Controlled work rate	5	90	Low	40	40	44.3	4
	10	Controlled work rate	5	30	High	40	40	41.9	4
Duvnjak-Zaknich et al. (2018)	8	Controlled work rate	8	41	N/A	45	46	54.3	7

~ Induction method was defined as either "controlled work rate," which was defined as a constant intensity for a set duration or "isothermal," which was defined as exercise intensity defined by a pre-determined internal body temperature.

#Exercise intensity was defined as either "low," which was <55% VO2max, "moderate," which was isothermal or 55–70% VO2max, and "high," which was >70% VO2max.

Mean Power Meta-Regression

When all of the covariates were run as individual models, induction length significantly impacted the magnitude of change seen in mean power following HA induction (coefficient [95% CI]; induction length 0.15 [0.05, 0.25], $r^2 = 0.75 p = 0.002$) (Figure 9A). All other covariates did not significantly impact the magnitude of change seen in mean power from HA, however, fitness level was approaching significance and this variable explained 30% of the variance observed in this performance test (coefficient [95% CI]; fitness level, 0.03 [-0.001, 0.07], p = 0.06 (Figure 9B); session duration, 0.01 [-0.01, 0.02], p =0.36; high intensity, -0.43 [-1.41, 0.41], p = 0.28; moderate intensity, -0.43 [-1.55, 0.69], p = 0.45; induction method, -0.23 [-1.33, 0.87], p = 0.68; heat index of induction, 0.00 [-0.08, 0.08], p = 0.94; heat index of testing, 0.01 [-0.05, 0.06],p = 0.78). One study that conducted a performance test in a thermoneutral environmental condition observed improved performance, while five out of the six tests that were performed in the heat saw improvements.

VO_{2max} Meta-Regression

When all of the covariates were run as individual models, they did not significantly impact the magnitude of change seen in VO_{2max} from HA (coefficient [95% CI]; fitness level, -0.01 [-0.02, 0.05], p = 0.48; induction method, -0.14 [-0.69, 0.41], p = 0.62; session duration, 0.00 [-0.01, 0.01], p = 0.64; induction length, 0.03 [-0.06, 0.11], p = 0.54; high intensity, -0.44 [-1.26, 0.37], p = 0.29; moderate intensity, -0.25 [-0.82, 0.33], p = 0.41; heat index of induction, -0.03 [-0.07, 0.02], p = 0.20; heat index of testing, -0.01 [-0.02, 0.03], p = 0.59). Of the nine thermoneutral VO_{2max} tests, eight observed improvements in performance following HA induction. Of the 12 in hot tests, seven observed performance improvements following HA induction.

Peak Power Meta-Regression

When all of the covariates were run as individual models, they did not significantly impact the magnitude of change seen in peak power from HA (coefficient [95% CI]; fitness level, 0.02 [-0.01, 0.05], p = 0.22; induction length, 0.01 [-0.08, 0.10],

TABLE 5 | Peak power descriptive table.

References	n	Induction method~	Induction length (Days)	Session duration (min)	Exercise intensity [#]	Heat Index induction	Heat index testing	Baseline fitness (ml⋅kg ⁻¹ ⋅min ⁻¹)	PEDro
(Castle et al., 2011) A & B	8	Controlled work rate	10	60	Low	37	38	43.3	6
	8	Controlled work rate	10	60	Low	37	38	43.3	6
Brade et al. (2013)	10	Controlled work rate	5	40	High	45	45	55.3	7
Keiser et al. (2015)	8	Controlled work rate	10	90	Low	30	39	61.2	7
Neal et al. (2016a)	10	Isothermal	5	90	Moderate	55	22	63.3	6
(Neal et al., 2016b) A & B	8	Isothermal	11	90	Moderate	55	20	56.9	6
	8	Isothermal	11	90	Moderate	55	20	56.9	6
Rendell et al. (2017)	8	Isothermal	11	90	Moderate	55	20	N/A	6
Willmott et al. (2018) A & B	10	Isothermal	10	60	Moderate	47	43	48.7	6
	10	Isothermal	10	60	Moderate	47	43	48.7	6

~ Induction method was defined as either "controlled work rate," which was defined as a constant intensity for a set duration or "isothermal," which was defined as exercise intensity defined by a pre-determined internal body temperature.

#Exercise intensity was defined as either "low," which was <55% VO_{2max}, "moderate," which was isothermal or 55–70% VO_{2max}, and "high," which was >70% VO_{2max}.



p = 0.77; session duration, 0.00 [-0.01, 0.02], p = 0.40; high intensity, -0.24 [-1.02, 0.54], p = 0.54; moderate intensity, -0.27 [-0.77, 0.22], p = 0.28; induction method, -0.19 [-0.61, 0.22], p = 0.36; heat index of induction, -0.02 [-0.04, 0.003], p = 0.09; heat index of testing, 0.01 [-0.01, 0.03], p = 0.56). Peak power performance improved in all tests, regardless of testing environmental conditions (thermoneutral, n = 4; hot, n = 6).

DISCUSSION

The largest performance improvement was observed in time to exhaustion with an average improvement of 144.30 s. Tyler et al. demonstrated in a meta-analysis that exercise capacity improved on average 23% (Tyler et al., 2016). Additionally, internal body temperature decreases an average of 0.31°C and heart rate lowers 12 bpm following HA (Tyler et al., 2016). In the present analysis, time to exhaustion tests were terminated when either participants reached their maximal efforts or heart rate/internal body temperature exceeded the lab safety criteria. One possible

mechanism that could explain the improvements seen in time to exhaustion include lower internal body temperature (at baseline and during exercise) and heart rate that occur over the course of HA. The second largest magnitude of improvement was observed in time trials (MD, -45.6s), followed by mean power (MD, 12 W), VO_{2max} (MD, 1.32 ml·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹), and peak power (MD, 15 W). Previous research demonstrated a 7% improvement in performance tests following HA (Tyler et al., 2016). These performance improvements following HA were most likely due to increases in maximal cardiac output, lactate threshold and plasma volume, lowered skin temperature and a larger core-toskin gradient as seen in previous research (Périard et al., 2015). However, VO_{2max} might be impacted through improved fitness induced by exercise training alone compared to HA specifically (Brooks et al., 2015). Finally, peak power is not specifically a measurement of aerobic performance, thus, might not be impacted as substantially as other tests from HA.

One potential moderator that could explain some of the variance between studies that could not be accounted for in this analysis is the number of days of rest following HA before testing. There were a wide variety of reporting methods for the metric that does not allow for certainty in this analysis. For example, many manuscripts reported completing the performance test "within x number of days," meaning some participants may have completed the test the day after HA induction and other participants may have completed the test on day x after the end of HA induction. In general studies reported completing the tests anywhere from one to seven days following HA induction. A recent paper by Daanen et al. demonstrated that internal body temperature was lowered three and seven days following HA induction compared to the day immediately following HA induction. Thus, leading one to believe that performance adaptations may also be improved with a few days of recovery following HA induction, however, future research is needed (Daanen et al., 2011). Another meta-analysis has extensively examined the timeline of HA decay and concluded that internal body temperature and heart rate responses typically

Study name			Statistics f	or each	study				Hedge	es's g and 95	<u>% CI</u>	
	Hedges's g	Standard error	Variance	Lower limit		Z-Value	p-Value					
Horstman et al., 1981A	2.194	0.458	0.210	1.296	3.092	4.790	0.000	1		-0-		1
Horstman et al., 1981B	2.138	0.533	0.284	1.093	3.183	4.010	0.000			-0-		
Pandolf et al., 1988A	3.876	0.611	0.374	2.678	5.074	6.340	0.000				o-	
Nielsen et al., 1993	8.983	1.132	1.281	6.765	11.201	7.937	0.000				_	
Nielsen et al., 1997	2.543	0.372	0.138	1.815	3.272	6.846	0.000			-0-		
Aoyagi et al., 1998A	0.000	0.219	0.048	-0.428	0.428	0.000	1.000			¢		
Aoyagi et al., 1998B	0.310	0.197	0.039	-0.076	0.696	1.575	0.115			Þ		
Inoue et al., 1999A	1.695	0.410	0.168	0.892	2.498	4.138	0.000			-0-		
Inoue et al., 1999B	1.040	0.329	0.108	0.396	1.684	3.164	0.002			- D		
Inoue et al., 1999C	1.090	0.316	0.100	0.471	1.708	3.451	0.001			Ð		
Garrett et al., 2009	1.382	0.423	0.179	0.553	2.212	3.266	0.001			-0-		
Burk et al., 2012	1.464	0.192	0.037	1.089	1.840	7.638	0.000					
Chen et al., 2013A	0.278	0.214	0.046	-0.142	0.698	1.298	0.194			þ		
Chen et al., 2013B	0.400	0.220	0.048	-0.031	0.830	1.820	0.069			Þ		
Kaldur et al., 2014	1.460	0.196	0.038	1.077	1.844	7.460	0.000					
Oopik et al., 2014	1.444	0.199	0.040	1.054	1.835	7.250	0.000					
Ashley et al., 2015A	0.606	0.203	0.041	0.208	1.004	2.986	0.003					
Ashley et al., 2015B	0.865	0.243	0.059	0.390	1.341	3.568	0.000					
Gibson et al., 2015A	0.065	0.067	0.005	-0.067	0.198	0.969	0.332			Ċ		
Gibson et al., 2015B	0.013	0.014	0.000	-0.014	0.041	0.943	0.346			Ċ		
Gibson et al., 2015C	0.013	0.014	0.000	-0.014	0.041	0.943	0.346			Ċ		
James et al., 2017	1.075	0.244	0.059	0.597	1.552	4.411	0.000					
Willmott et al., 2018A	0.716	0.210	0.044	0.305	1.128	3.410	0.001					
Willmott et al., 2018B	1.170	0.248	0.061	0.685	1.656	4.722	0.000					
	0.864	0.077	0.006	0.713	1.014	11.229	0.000			•		
								-12.00	-6.00	0.00	6.00	12.00

Performance Decrement Performance Improvement

FIGURE 3 | Time to exhaustion forest plot. Data are presented as Hedge's g and 95% confidence intervals.



FIGURE 4 | Time trial forest plot. Data are presented as Hedge's g and 95% confidence intervals.

decay at a rate of 2.5% per day (Daanen et al., 2018). The importance of recovery has even been examined and reported when seeking optimal training improvements in a thermoneutral environment and 96 h of rest following training was suggested (Waldron et al., 2019). The results from both of these manuscripts point to the importance of finding the appropriate

balance between recovery and acclimation decay for optimal performance results.

While differentiating the performance outcomes between HA and training alone is of importance, the current analysis did not examine these differences. Of the manuscripts included in this analysis, only 11 included a control group (time trial, n = 5; time

Study name			Statistics f	or each	study				Hedge	es's g and 95	% CI	
	Hedges's	Standard error	Variance	Lower limit	Upper limit	Z-Value	p-Value					
Horstman et al., 1981A	-0.072	0.176	0.031	-0.417	0.272	-0.412	0.680	1	- I		1	- T
Horstman et al., 1981B	0.412	0.200	0.040	0.021	0.804	2.064	0.039			- <u>-</u> -		
King et al., 1985	2.133	0.284	0.081	1.576	2.690	7.500	0.000			_		<u> </u>
Pivarnik et al., 1987	0.957	0.149	0.022	0.666	1.249	6.442	0.000			H		
Febbraio et al., 1994	-0.303	0.136	0.018	-0.569	-0.036	-2.228	0.026					
Aoyagi et al., 1998A	-0.359	0.183	0.034	-0.717	0.000	-1.958	0.050			-0-		
Aoyagi et al., 1998B	0.195	0.155	0.024	-0.109	0.500	1.258	0.208					
Aoyagi et al., 1998C	-0.582	0.177	0.031	-0.928	-0.236	-3.295	0.001			<u> </u>		
Aoyagi et al., 1998D	-0.608	0.178	0.032	-0.957	-0.259	-3.417	0.001		-			
Lorenzo et al., 2010	1.557	0.139	0.019	1.284	1.829	11.180	0.000				- <u>(</u>)-	
Chen et al., 2013A	-0.110	0.168	0.028	-0.439	0.220	-0.651	0.515					
Chen et al., 2013B	0.120	0.168	0.028	-0.210	0.450	0.712	0.476			-0-		
Molloy et al., 2013A	0.336	0.108	0.012	0.125	0.548	3.118	0.002					
Molloy et al., 2013B	0.127	0.168	0.028	-0.203	0.457	0.752	0.452					
Keiser et al., 2015	2.222	0.325	0.106	1.584	2.860	6.828	0.000					
DiLeo et al., 2016	-0.120	0.148	0.022	-0.410	0.170	-0.812	0.417					
Neal et al., 2016	-0.123	0.161	0.026	-0.438	0.193	-0.761	0.447			-0-		
Neal et al., 2016A	0.153	0.161	0.026	-0.164	0.469	0.946	0.344					
Neal et al., 2016B	0.179	0.149	0.022	-0.113	0.470	1.200	0.230			+		
James et al., 2017	0.414	0.076	0.006	0.266	0.562	5.476	0.000		1			
Rendell et al., 2017	0.300	0.323	0.104	-0.333	0.934	0.930	0.352				-	
Willmott et al., 2018A	0.345		0.023	0.046	0.644	2.263	0.024					
Willmott et al., 2018B	0.283	0.151	0.023	-0.013	0.579	1.876	0.061					
	0.299	0.119	0.014	0.067	0.531	2.522	0.012					

Performance Decrement Performance Improvement

FIGURE 5 | VO_{2max} forest plot. Data are presented as Hedge's g and 95% confidence intervals.



FIGURE 6 | Mean power forest plot. Data are presented as Hedge's g and 95% confidence intervals.

to exhaustion, n = 4; VO_{2max}, n = 6; peak power, n = 3; mean power, n = 2). HA appears to improve time trial performance compared to controls (Guy et al., 2016; Lee et al., 2016; Willmott et al., 2016; James et al., 2017). One short term HA protocol (4– 6 days) did not elicit statistically significant improvements in time trial performance compared to a control group, however, moderate to large effect sizes were reported (Willmott et al., 2016). Time to exhaustion improved with HA in all studies, but not with control groups (Nielsen et al., 1993; Chen et al., 2013; James et al., 2017; Willmott et al., 2018). In terms of VO_{2max} , the performance differences between HA and training are unclear, as some studies reported differences between the groups and other did not (Lorenzo et al., 2010; Chen et al., 2013; Keiser et al., 2015; James et al., 2017; Rendell et al., 2017; Willmott et al., 2018). Peak power may improve with HA compared to training alone, however, the results are unclear and future research is



needed (Keiser et al., 2015; Rendell et al., 2017; Willmott et al., 2018). Both studies that assessed mean power demonstrated improved performance benefits from HA compared to a control group (Lorenzo et al., 2010; Lee et al., 2016). To determine the true performance changes of HA compared to training alone, future studies should aim to include a control group within their study design.

Time to Exhaustion

As previous research has clearly established, HA is an effective strategy to improve time to exhaustion and this was evident in the current meta-analysis, as no study reported decrements. The study that observed the largest performance improvement (ES = 8.98) took place with the participants who held the highest VO_{2max} (62.0 ml·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹), hypothetically giving them a higher training ceiling (Nielsen et al., 1993; Chen et al., 2013; James et al., 2017; Willmott et al., 2018). The HA induction took place over the course of 10 days for \sim 48 min per session at a low exercise intensity (120 beats per minute; \sim 45% VO_{2max}) and in the most extreme environmental conditions (ambient temperature, $35.4 \pm 0.05^{\circ}$ C; relative humidity, $87.2 \pm 0.04\%$) of any study included in this analysis (Nielsen et al., 1997). Pandolf et al. also observed large improvements in time to exhaustion following HA (ES = 3.88) with a controlled work rate exercise intensity for 150 min over 10 days in relatively fit, middle-age individuals (VO_{2max} = 52.9 ml·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹) (Pandolf et al., 1988). The purpose of this particular research was to examine differences in young and middle age males over the course of HA who were matched for several morphological factors and the magnitude of performance time change was much larger for the younger group than the middle age group, due to the younger group reaching exhaustion much sooner than the middle age group at the beginning of HA, however, the middle-age group was not included in this analysis since their baseline test did not meet the inclusion criteria (Pandolf et al., 1988). The authors of this study hypothesized that the higher training volume of the middle aged men explained their thermoregulatory advantage at the beginning of HA, as they reported running on average 20 more miles per week than the younger men, pointing to the importance of previous training for improved thermoregulation capabilities (Pandolf et al., 1988). Despite this difference, HA induction successfully allowed the younger men to reach the same thermoregulatory capacity as middle aged men (Pandolf et al., 1988).

Two studies included in this meta-analysis did not observe any time to exhaustion performance improvements following HA induction (Pandolf et al., 1988; Aoyagi et al., 1998). One potential explanation of these findings in one of these studies is the low exercise intensity of the test (walk at $1.34 \text{ m} \cdot \text{s}^{-1}$ to exhaustion), allowing participants to complete the test to completion before HA induction ensued (Aoyagi et al., 1998). Similarly, the other group in the Pandolf et al. study was able to tolerate the test well on the first day of HA, most likely due to their training history (Pandolf et al., 1988).

Of the moderators entered into the meta-regression, induction method and fitness level appear to explain some of the variance seen in this type of performance test following HA. Controlled work rate exercise intensity during HA appears to hold a slight advantage over isothermal (controlled work rate ES = 1.00; isothermal ES = 0.31). One possible mechanism to explain this finding is the potential increase in area under the heating curve with controlled work rate exercise intensity during HA, as the isothermal method might actually lead to a lower overall thermal load since the exercise is adjusted to maintain a temperature of 38.5° C (Bardis et al., 2013).

While recent evidence suggests that peak internal body temperatures of 39° C are not more advantageous than the traditional isothermal temperature of 38.5° C (Gibson et al., 2015b, 2019), there are perhaps greater improvements with increased levels of hyperthermia (>39.0°C), especially in elite level athletes. Data from the Union Cycliste Internationale Road



FIGURE 8 | (A) Regression of Hedge's g on induction method for time to exhaustion exercise performance following heat acclimation. Solid black bars represent the mean Hedge's g. Each circle represents individual studies. The size of the circle represents the weight of that study that was applied in the analysis. Smaller circles indicate lower weight and larger circles indicate higher weight. (B) Regression of Hedge's g on fitness level for time to exhaustion exercise performance following heat acclimation. Solid black bars represent the mean Hedge's g. Each circle represents individual studies. The size of the circle represents the weight of that study that was applied in the analysis. Smaller circles indicate lower weight and larger circles indicate higher weight. (C) Regression of Hedge's g on heat index for time to exhaustion exercise performance following heat acclimation. Solid black bars represent the mean *(Continued)*

FIGURE 8 | Hedge's g. Each circle represents individual studies. The size of the circle represents the weight of that study that was applied in the analysis. Smaller circles indicate lower weight and larger circles indicate higher weight.

Cycling World Championship demonstrated the capability of elite level athletes to tolerate internal body temperatures well above what is often reported in the HA literature (as high as 41.5°C), however, future research is needed in this area. An increased thermal load has the potential to drive HA through several mechanisms, including, an increased cardiac response, skin temperature, and sweat rate (Shibasaki et al., 2006; Périard et al., 2016). While increased internal body temperature has the potential to elicit greater HA adaptations, a valid measure of internal body temperature (ingestible thermistor or rectal temperature) and professionals trained in recognizing and treating exertional heat illness is needed when intentionally inducing HA in this way to ensure athlete safety.

Fitness level also appeared to impact the results seen in this performance test, as studies with higher starting VO_{2max} values appeared to have greater improvement in this type of performance test. For example, an individual with a VO_{2max} of 60 ml·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹ (predicted ES = 1.50) is likely to achieve a larger magnitude of performance changes following HA compared to an individual with 40 ml·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹ (predicted ES = 0.7). Because of the stimulation of sweating and skin blow flow (Piwonka et al., 1965), improved evaporative cooling (Gisolfi and Robinson, 1969), greater cardiac stability (Strydom and Williams, 1969), changes in fluid dynamics (Senay, 1979), earlier onset of sweating (Baum et al., 1976; Nadel, 1979), and greater sweat sensitivity (Wells et al., 1980), aerobically trained individuals appear to show partial HA benefits (Armstrong et al., 1987).

Time Trial

Time trial performance is arguably the most applicable in the sport setting and every study included in this metaanalysis demonstrated faster times following HA induction. Time trial was improved by -0.76 min on average. Garrett et al. saw the largest improvement in time trial performance (ES =1.50) following HA using the isothermal method for 90 min over 5 days in participants holding the highest VO_{2max} (65.0 $ml \cdot kg^{-1} \cdot min^{-1}$) in the most extreme environmental conditions (ambient temperature, 39.5°C; relative humidity, 60%). A previous review by Periard et al. demonstrated aerobically fit individuals can develop adaptations to HA rapidly (Périard et al., 2015). Lee et al. also demonstrated large improvements following HA induction (ES = 1.42) (Lee et al., 2016). The HA induction took place with a controlled work rate for 60 min over the course of 10 days with relatively fit individuals (VO_{2max} = 50.7 ml·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹). Willmott et al. showed the smallest improvements following HA with 30 min of exercise at a high intensity controlled work rate for 5 days in 32°C and 60% relative humidity (ES = 0.002). Previous research suggested 60–120 min of exercise duration to induce optimal adaptations following HA, therefore, 30 min of exercise for each session in this study might not be enough to elicit optimal adaptations (Sawka et al., 2011).



Hedge's g. Each circle represents individual studies. The size of the circle represents the weight of that study that was applied in the analysis. Smaller circles indicate lower weight and larger circles indicate higher weight. (B) Regression of Hedge's g on fitness level for mean power exercise performance following heat acclimation. Solid black bars represents the mean Hedge's g. Each circle represents the mean Hedge's g. Each circle represents the mean field studies. The size of the circle represents the weight of that study that was applied in the analysis. Smaller circles indicate higher weight. (B) Regression of Hedge's g on fitness level for mean power exercise performance following heat acclimation. Solid black bars represent the mean Hedge's g. Each circle represents individual studies. The size of the circle represents the weight of that study that was applied in the analysis. Smaller circles indicate lower weight and larger circles indicate higher weight.

Of the moderators entered into the meta-regression, exercise intensity might explain some of the variance (24%) seen in this type of performance test following HA even though it was not significant. Low intensity exercise induced large adaptations in time trial performance (High intensity, ES = 0.00; Moderate intensity; ES = 0.35; Low intensity, ES = 0.58), which could be due to lower levels of

fatigue from HA that might be seen with high or moderate exercise intensity.

VO_{2max}

It has been well-established that fitness level contributes substantially to someone's ability to thermoregulate and that individuals with higher fitness levels already demonstrate some physiological parameters of HA (Pandolf et al., 1977). One interesting phenomenon that is evident from this meta-analysis is that there are also improvements of VO_{2max} following HA induction. Keiser et al. observed a 9.6% improvement in VO_{2max} following 10 days of 90 min low intensity HA sessions (Keiser et al., 2015). Lorenzo et al. also demonstrated large improvements in VO_{2max} following 10 days of 90 min, low intensity HA sessions (MD \pm SD, $-4.5 \pm -0.5 \text{ ml} \cdot \text{kg}^{-1} \cdot \text{min}^{-1}$) (Lorenzo et al., 2010). VO_{2max} was lower following HA in eight studies, unlike time to exhaustion and time trial performance tests that did not demonstrate any negative outcomes following HA.

There are several factors that could help explain these negative findings, including the fatigue, training impulse, and the participant's starting fitness levels. Similar to any novel training, HA introduces new stress to the body and can lead to fatigue. Daanen et al. recently demonstrated further performance improvements following HA when a break was initiated at the cessation of induction prior to the performance test (Daanen et al., 2011), allowing the participants time to recover and reap the full benefits of HA. Aoyagi et al. demonstrated the largest decrement in VO_{2max} following HA (MD \pm SD, -1.4 \pm -0.4 ml·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹), that involved 150 min (longest exercise duration) of 12 days of HA with only one rest day (Aoyagi et al., 1998). Similarly, Febbraio et al. saw decrements in VO_{2max} following HA induction (MD \pm SD, -1.5 ± -0.6 $ml \cdot kg^{-1} \cdot min^{-1}$) in highly fit participants, however, the test took place within 24 h of the final HA session, which might not have allowed the full adaptations to take place (Febbraio et al., 1994). There were no moderators that largely impacted the magnitude of changes seen in VO_{2max}.

Power

Power is another critical performance measurement that can be applicable in sport settings. In this meta-analysis, mean power and peak power were analyzed. Mean power was improved by 12W, on average. Lorenzo et al., reported the largest improvements following HA (Lorenzo and Minson, 2010). HA induction took place with 90 min of low intensity, controlled work rate for 10 days at 40°C and 30% relative humidity. Duvnjak-Zaknich et al. also showed large improvements following HA in mean power (ES = 0.480), in which the HA induction took place with 41 min of controlled work rate exercise for 8 days at 35°C and 60% relative humidity (Duvnjak-Zaknich et al., 2018). Lee et al. also showed large improvements in mean power (ES = 0.467). However, Wingfield et al. demonstrated negative mean power result following 30 min of high intensity controlled work rate HA for 5 days and the smallest improvement following 90 min of low intensity control work rate for 5 days in 33°C and 60% relative humidity (Wingfield et al., 2016). The studies showing larger improvements achieved longer length of HA induction. In addition to this point, Wingfield et al. measured mean power during five times of 6 s sprints, while other studies performed mean power during aerobic exercise test, such as 60 min exercise. HA induction could be more beneficial to improve mean power during aerobic exercise following longer duration of induction length.

Induction length explained 75% of the variance seen in power output following HA. For example, when HA induction length was 10 days, the predicted magnitude of change was ES = 0.86 and when it was 5 days, the predicted magnitude of change was only ES = 0.11. This finding is in line with original research which pointed to the full adaptations of HA taking 10 days (Armstrong and Maresh, 1991). However, these findings should be interpreted with caution, as there were only seven studies included in this analysis and other variables, such as the participant's previous training history, were not accounted for and could contribute to this variability. In fact, fitness level was approaching statistical significance in the regression model and may contribute to the variability with increased statistical power.

Peak power was improved 15 W, on average. Keiser et al. showed the largest improvements (ES = 1.695) which took place with 90 min of low intensity exercise for 10 days in 33° C and 39% relative humidity, while other studies showed smaller improvements following HA (ES = 0.030–0.339). Peak power was measured during a graded exercise test, repeated short sprint test, and longer duration exercise. There were no moderators that significantly impacted the results seen in peak power, most likely due to this type of test not directly measuring aerobic capacity, but more likely anaerobic capacity.

Limitations

While the goal of this meta-analysis was to provide an overview of various performance tests, this meta-analysis was not without limitations. One limitation of this meta-analysis was that some papers did not report correlations which was necessary to calculate ES in the statistical software. In this case, the lowest correlation value was used to achieve the most conservative outcomes. Even though females were included in this analysis, it is unclear if the current findings can be extrapolated to this population due to the variety of or lack of control over menstrual cycle status. For example, one study did not control for menstrual cycle status and simply reported that the findings were not different when females were excluded from the analysis (Pethick et al., 2019). Another study reported completing pre-tests and HA during the follicular phase of the menstrual cycle and posttests during the luteal phase (James et al., 2017). Still, some did not report information about menstrual cycle status (Horstman and Christensen, 1982; Ashley et al., 2015). A further limitation of this meta-analysis was that each type of performance test had slightly different testing methods. For example, the distance of the time trial was not the same among the studies but were still categorized as a time trial. The moderator analysis may help with the interpretation of these results. While the physiological mechanisms behind power, endurance, and sprint tests cannot be understated, there were not enough peak power and mean power studies to utilize these categories as moderators in the current analysis. Another limitation was when data needed to calculate effect size was not reported in text or tables and it was demonstrated in figures, the data was estimated using a ruler. Additionally, while all studies reported the use of internal body temperature assessment, very few reported the actual internal body temperature data during HA induction and this metaanalysis could not include this information as a moderator.

However, a previous review indicated an increased internal body temperature during HA is a critical factor to induce adaptations (Périard et al., 2015). Future research should ensure that the internal body temperature data during the HA sessions are reported.

CONCLUSIONS AND PRACTICAL APPLICATION

A wide range of HA induction protocols have been investigated in this meta-analysis. The largest performance improvement was observed in time to exhaustion followed by time trial, mean power, VO_{2max}, and peak power following HA. The results observed in these performance tests were each impacted differently by specific moderators. Performance enhancements were greater in time to exhaustion tests when a controlled work rate method was utilized for HA and when the participants of these studies began the HA with higher baseline fitness levels, as indicated by VO_{2max}. Time trial results were improved if the HA induction involved low exercise intensity, which could be related to the participants in these studies not experiencing fatigue from high intensity HA. Longer HA induction (i.e., 10 days) appeared to elicit greater adaptations in mean power than short HA induction (i.e., 5 days). Sport scientists and researchers can use the findings from this meta-analysis to customize the design of HA induction protocols to maximize the adaptations of specific performance tests.

REFERENCES

- Adolph, E. F. (1938). Heat exchanges of man in the desert. Am. J. Physiol. 123, 486-499. doi: 10.1152/ajplegacy.1938.123.2.486
- Aoyagi, Y., McLellan, T. M., and Shephard, R. J. (1998). Effects of endurance training and heat acclimation on psychological strain in exercising men wearing protective clothing. *Ergonomics* 41, 328–357. doi: 10.1080/0014013981 87071
- Armstrong, L. E., Hubbard, R. W., DeLUCA, J. P., and Christensen, E. L. (1987). Heat acclimatization during summer running in the Northeastern United States. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 19, 131–136. doi: 10.1249/00005768-198704000-00011
- Armstrong, L. E., and Maresh, C. M. (1991). The induction and decay of heat acclimatisation in trained athletes. *Sports Med.* 12, 302–312. doi: 10.2165/00007256-199112050-00003
- Ashley, C. D., Ferron, J., and Bernard, T. E. (2015). Loss of heat acclimation and time to re-establish acclimation. J. Occup. Environ. Hyg. 12, 302–308. doi: 10.1080/15459624.2014.987387
- Bardis, C. N., Kavouras, S. A., Arnaoutis, G., Panagiotakos, D. B., and Sidossis, L. S. (2013). Mild dehydration and cycling performance during 5-kilometer hill climbing. J. Athlet. Train. 48, 741–747. doi: 10.4085/1062-6050-48.5.01
- Baum, E., Brück, K., and Schwennicke, H. P. (1976). Adaptive modifications in the thermoregulatory system of long-distance runners. J. Appl. Physiol. 40, 404–410. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1976.40.3.404
- Brade, C., Dawson, B., and Wallman, K. (2013). Effect of precooling and acclimation on repeat-sprint performance in heat. J. Sports Sci. 31, 779–786. doi: 10.1080/02640414.2012.750006
- Brooks, G. A., Fahey, T. D., and Baldwin, K. M. (2015). *Exercise Physiology Human Bioenergetics and Its Applications. 4th Edn.* New York, NY: McGraw Hill.
- Burk, A., Timpmann, S., Kreegipuu, K., Tamm, M., Unt, E., and Oöpik, V. (2012). Effects of heat acclimation on endurance capacity and prolactin

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CB and YS developed the idea of the meta-analysis, completed the analysis, and created the figures. CB, YS, and LF worked to review and code all of the manuscripts. LF created the tables. DC verified the manuscript review and analytical methods. All authors reviewed and edited the manuscript.

FUNDING

This is an invited manuscript and the publishing fee was fully waived by the journal. No other funding was received for this manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors wish to thank Jill Livingston from the University of Connecticut Library for expertise in searching the literature. The authors also wish to thank the undergraduate students Grayson Keith, Sabrina Bald, Mikayla Bibbins, and Shayna Deluca for their assistance with this manuscript during their course work at the Korey Stringer Institute at the University of Connecticut.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fphys. 2019.01448/full#supplementary-material

response to exercise in the heat. Eur. J. Appl. Physiol. 112, 4091-4101. doi: 10.1007/s00421-012-2371-3

- Casadio, J. R., Kilding, A. E., Cotter, J. D., and Laursen, P. B. (2017). From lab to real world: heat acclimation considerations for elite athletes. *Sports Med.* 47, 1467–1476. doi: 10.1007/s40279-016-0668-9
- Castle, P., Mackenzie, R. W., Maxwell, N., Webborn, A. D. J., and Watt, P. W. (2011). Heat acclimation improves intermittent sprinting in the heat but additional pre-cooling offers no further ergogenic effect. J. Sports Sci. 29, 1125–1134. doi: 10.1080/02640414.2011.583673
- Chen, T., Tsai, P., Lin, J., Lee, N., and Liang, M. (2013). Effect of short-term heat acclimation on endurance time and skin blood flow in trained athletes. *Open Access J. Sports Med.* 4, 161–170. doi: 10.2147/OAJSM.S45024
- Cheung, S. S., McLellan, T. M., and Tenaglia, S. (2000). The thermophysiology of uncompensable heat stress. *Sports Med.* 29, 329–359. doi: 10.2165/00007256-200029050-00004
- Daanen, H. A. M., Jonkman, A. G., Layden, J. D., Linnane, D. M., and Weller, A. S. (2011). Optimising the acquisition and retention of heat acclimation. *Int. J. Sports Med.* 32, 822–828. doi: 10.1055/s-0031-1279767
- Daanen, H. A. M., Racinais, S., and Périard, J. D. (2018). Heat acclimation decay and re-induction: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sports Med.* 48, 409–430. doi: 10.1007/s40279-017-0808-x
- DiLeo, T. D., Powell, J. B., Kang, H.-K., Roberge, R. J., Coca, A., and Kim, J.-H. (2016). Effect of short-term heat acclimation training on kinetics of lactate removal following maximal exercise. J. Sports Med. Phys. Fitness 56:70.
- Duvnjak-Zaknich, D. M., Karen Wallman, E., Dawson, B. T., and Peeling, P. (2018). Continuous and intermittent heat acclimation and decay in team sport athletes. *Eur. J. Sport Sci.* 19, 1–10. doi: 10.1080/17461391.2018.1512653
- Febbraio, M. A., Snow, R. J., Hargreaves, M., Stathis, C. G., Martin, I. K., and Carey, M. F. (1994). Muscle metabolism during exercise and heat stress in trained men: effect of acclimation. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 76, 589–597. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1994.76.2.589

- Gardner, J. W., Kark, J. A., Karnei, K., Sanborn, J. S., Gastaldo, E., Burr, P., et al. (1996). Risk factors predicting exertional heat illness in male marine corps recruits. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 28, 939–944. doi: 10.1097/00005768-199608000-00001
- Garrett, A. T., Creasy, R., Rehrer, N. J., Patterson, M. J., and Cotter, J. D. (2012). Effectiveness of short-term heat acclimation for highly trained athletes. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 112, 1827–1837. doi: 10.1007/s00421-011-2153-3
- Garrett, A. T., Goosens, N. G., Rehrer, N. G., Patterson, M. J., and Cotter, J. D. (2009). Induction and decay of short-term heat acclimation. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 107:659. doi: 10.1007/s00421-009-1182-7
- Gibson, O. R., James, C. A., Mee, J. A., Willmott, A. G. B., Turner, G., Hayes, M., et al. (2019). Heat alleviation strategies for athletic performance: a review and practitioner guidelines. *Temperature*. doi: 10.1080/23328940.2019.1666624
- Gibson, O. R., Mee, J. A., Taylor, L., Tuttle, J. A., Watt, P. W., and Maxwell, N. S. (2015a). Isothermic and fixed-intensity heat acclimation methods elicit equal increases in Hsp72 MRNA. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 25, 259–268. doi: 10.1111/sms.12430
- Gibson, O. R., Mee, J. A., Tuttle, J. A., Taylor, L.,Watt, P. W., and Maxwell, N. S. (2015b). Isothermic and fixed intensity heat acclimation methods induce similar heat adaptation following short and long-term timescales. *J. Thermal Biol.* 49–50, 55–65. doi: 10.1016/j.jtherbio.2015.02.005
- Gisolfi, C., and Robinson, S. (1969). Relations between physical training, acclimatization, and heat tolerance. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 26, 530–534. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1969.26.5.530
- Guy, J. H., Pyne, D. B., Deakin, G. B., Miller, C. M., and Edwards, A. M. (2016). Acclimation training improves endurance cycling performance in the heat without inducing endotoxemia. *Front. Physiol.* 7:318. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2016.00318
- Horstman, D. H., and Christensen, E. (1982). Acclimatization to dry heat: active men vs. active women. J. Appl. Physiol. 52, 825–831. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1982.52.4.825
- Inoue, Y., Havenith, G. L.,Kenney, W., Loomis, J. L., and Buskirk, E. R. (1999). Exercise- and methylcholine-induced sweating responses in older and younger men: effect of heat acclimation and aerobic fitness. *Int. J. Biometeorol.* 42, 210–216. doi: 10.1007/s004840050107
- James, C. A., Richardson, A. J., Watt, P. W., Willmott, A. G., Gibson, O. R., and Maxwell, N. S. (2017). Short-term heat acclimation improves the determinants of endurance performance and 5-km running performance in the heat. *Appl. Physiol. Nutr. Metab.* 42, 285–294. doi: 10.1139/apnm-2016-0349
- Kaldur, T., Kals, J., Ööpik, V., Zilmer, M., Zilmer, K., Eha, J., et al. (2014). Effects of heat acclimation on changes in oxidative stress and inflammation caused by endurance capacity test in the heat. Oxid. Med. Cell. Longev. 2014:107137. doi: 10.1155/2014/107137
- Keiser, S., Flück, D., Hüppin, F., Stravs, A., Hilty, M. P., and Lundby, C. (2015). Heat training increases exercise capacity in hot but not in temperate conditions: a mechanistic counter-balanced cross-over study. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circul. Physiol.* 309, H750–761. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00138.2015
- King, D. S., Costill, D. L., Fink, W. J., Hargreaves, M., and Fielding, R. A. (1985). Muscle metabolism during exercise in the heat in unacclimatized and acclimatized humans. J. Appl. Physiol. 59, 1350–1354. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1985.59.5.1350
- Lee, B. J., Miller, A., James, R. S., and Thake, C. D. (2016). Cross acclimation between heat and hypoxia: heat acclimation improves cellular tolerance and exercise performance in acute normobaric hypoxia. *Front. Physiol.* 7:78. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2016.00078
- Lorenzo, S., Halliwill, J. R., Sawka, M. N., and Minson, C. T. (2010). Heat acclimation improves exercise performance. J. Appl. Physiol. 109, 1140–1147. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00495.2010
- Lorenzo, S., and Minson, C. T. (2010). Heat acclimation improves cutaneous vascular function and sweating in trained cyclists. J. Appl. Physiol. 109, 1736–1743. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00725.2010
- Maher, C. G., Sherrington, C., Herbert, R. D., Moseley, A. M., and Elkins, M. (2003). Reliability of the PEDro scale for rating quality of randomized controlled trials. *Phys. Ther.* 83, 713–721. doi: 10.1093/ptj/83.8.713
- Molloy, J. M., Smith, J. E. W., and Pascoe, D. D. (2013). Age-related responses among adult males to a 14 day high intensity exercise-heat acclimation protocol. *Int. Sport Med. J.* 14, 103–118.

- Nadel, E. R. (1979). Control of sweating rate while exercising in the heat. *Med. Sci. Sports* 11, 31–35. doi: 10.1177/0886368779011 00404
- Neal, R. A., Corbett, J., Massey, H. C., and Tipton, M. J. (2016a). Effect of short-term heat acclimation with permissive dehydration on thermoregulation and temperate exercise performance. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 26, 875–884. doi: 10.1111/sms.12526
- Neal, R. A., Massey, H. C., Tipton, M. J., Young, J. S., and Corbett, J. (2016b). Effect of permissive dehydration on induction and decay of heat acclimation, and temperate exercise performance. *Front. Physiol.* 7: 564. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2016.00564
- Nielsen, B., Hales, J. R., Strange, S., Christensen, N. J., Warberg, J., and Saltin, B. (1993). Human circulatory and thermoregulatory adaptations with heat acclimation and exercise in a hot, dry environment. *J. Physiol.* 460, 467–485. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.1993.sp019482
- Nielsen, B., Strange, S., Christensen, N. J., Warberg, J., and Saltin, B. (1997). Acute and adaptive responses in humans to exercise in a warm, humid environment. *Pflugers Archiv. Eur. J. Physiol.* 434, 49–56. doi: 10.1007/s004240050361
- Nuccio, R. P., Barnes, K. A., Carter, J. M., and Baker, L. B. (2017). Fluid balance in team sport athletes and the effect of hypohydration on cognitive, technical, and physical performance. *Sports Med.* 47, 1951–1982. doi: 10.1007/s40279-017-0738-7
- Nybo, L., and González-Alonso, J. (2015). Critical core temperature: a hypothesis too simplistic to explain hyperthermia-induced fatigue. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 25, 4–5. doi: 10.1111/sms.12444
- Oöpik, V., Timpmann, S., Kreegipuu, K., Unt, E., and Tamm, M. (2014). Heat acclimation decreases the growth hormone response to acute constant-load exercise in the heat. *Growth Hormone IGF Res.* 24, 2–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ghir.2013.10.001
- Pandolf, K. B., Burse, R. L., and Goldman, R. F. (1977). Role of physical fitness in heat acclimatisation, decay and reinduction. *Ergonomics* 20, 399–408. doi: 10.1080/00140137708931642
- Pandolf, K. B., Cadarette, B. S., Sawka, M. N., Young, A. J., Francesconi, R. P., and Gonzalez, R. R. (1988). Thermoregulatory responses of middle-aged and young men during dry-heat acclimation. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 65, 65–71. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1988.65.1.65
- Périard, J. D., Gavin Travers, J. S., Racinais, S., and Sawka, M. N. (2016). Cardiovascular adaptations supporting human exercise-heat acclimation. *Auton. Neurosci.* 196, 52–62. doi: 10.1016/j.autneu.2016. 02.002
- Périard, J. D., Racinais, S., and Sawka, M. N. (2015). Adaptations and mechanisms of human heat acclimation: applications for competitive athletes and sports. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 25(Suppl 1), 20–38. doi: 10.1111/sms. 12408
- Pethick, W. A., Murray, H. J., McFadyen, P., Brodie, R., Gaul, C. A., and Stellingwerff, T. (2019). Effects of hydration status during heat acclimation on plasma volume and performance. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 29, 189–199. doi: 10.1111/sms.13319
- Pivarnik, J. M., Goetting, M. P., and Senay, L. C. Jr. (1987). Effect of endurance training and heat acclimation on aerobic capacity, blood volume and plasma testosterone. J. Strength Condition. Res. 1:33. doi: 10.1519/1533-4287(1987)001<0033:EOETAH>2.3.CO;2
- Piwonka, R. W., Robinson, S., Gay, V. L., and Manalis, R. S. (1965). Preacclimatization of men to heat by training. J. Appl. Physiol. 20, 379–383. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1965.20.3.379
- Rendell, R. A., Prout, J., Costello, J. T., Massey, H. C., Tipton, M. J., Young, J. S., et al. (2017). Effects of 10 days of separate heat and hypoxic exposure on heat acclimation and temperate exercise performance. *Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Compar. Physiol.* 313, R191–201. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00103.2017
- Sawka, M. N., Leon, L. R., Montain, S. J., and Sonna, L. A. (2011). Integrated physiological mechanisms of exercise performance, adaptation, and maladaptation to heat stress. *Compr. Physiol.* 1, 1883–1928. doi: 10.1002/cphy.c100082
- Senay, L. C. (1979). Effects of exercise in the heat on body fluid distribution. *Med. Sci. Sports* 11, 42–48.
- Shibasaki, M., Wilson, T. E., and Crandall, C. G. (2006). Neural control and mechanisms of eccrine sweating during heat stress and exercise. J. Appl. Physiol. 100, 1692–1701. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.01124.2005

- Strydom, N. B., and Williams, C. G. (1969). Effect of physical conditioning on state of heat acclimatization of bantu laborers. J. Appl. Physiol. 27, 262–265. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1969.27.2.262
- Taylor, N. A. S. (2014). Human heat adaptation. Compr. Physiol. 4, 325–365. doi: 10.1002/cphy.c130022
- Taylor, N. A. S., and Cotter, J. D. (2006). Heat adaptation: guidelines for the optimisation of human performance. *Int. Sportmed J.* 7, 33–57.
- Tyler, C. J., Reeve, T., Hodges, G. J., and Cheung, S. S. (2016). The effects of heat adaptation on physiology, perception and exercise performance in the heat: a meta-analysis. *Sports Med.* 46, 1699–1724. doi: 10.1007/s40279-016-0538-5
- Waldron, M., Jeffries, O., Tallent, J., Patterson, S., and Nevola, V. (2019). The time course of adaptations in thermoneutral maximal oxygen consumption following heat acclimation. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 119, 2391–2399. doi: 10.1007/s00421-019-04218-2
- Wells, C. L., Constable, S. H., and Haan, A. L. (1980). Training and acclimatization: effects on responses to exercise in a desert environment. *Aviat. Space Environ. Med.* 51, 105–112.
- Willmott, A. G. B., Gibson, O. R., Hayes, M., and Maxwell, N. S. (2016). The effects of single versus twice daily short term heat acclimation on heat strain and 3000m running performance in hot, humid conditions. *J. Therm. Biol.* 56, 59–67. doi: 10.1016/j.jtherbio.2016.01.001
- Willmott, A. G. B., Hayes, M., James, C. A., Dekerle, J., Gibson, O. R., and Maxwell, N. S. (2018). Once- and twice-daily heat acclimation confer similar heat adaptations, inflammatory responses and exercise tolerance improvements. *Physiol. Rep.* 6:e13936. doi: 10.14814/phy2.13936
- Wingfield, G. L., Gale, R., Minett, G. M., Marino, F. E., and Skein, M. (2016). The effect of high versus low intensity heat acclimation on

performance and neuromuscular responses. J. Therm. Biol. 58, 50-59. doi: 10.1016/j.jtherbio.2016.02.006

Yamato, T. P., Maher, C., Koes, B., and Moseley, A. (2017). The PEDro scale had acceptably high convergent validity, construct validity, and interrater reliability in evaluating methodological quality of pharmaceutical trials. *J. Clin. Epidemiol.* 86, 176–181. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2017. 03.002

Conflict of Interest: DC is employed at the Korey Stringer Institute at the University of Connecticut. He has received numerous grants (over 20 in the past 3 years), but none connected to this publication. He has also received consulting fees or honorariums from Clif Bar, Sports Innovation Lab, and the National Football League. He has received payment for lectures from Gatorade. He has been an expert witness in over 40 cases. He also received royalties from Jones and Bartlett Publishers, LWW, Springer, and Up-to-Date for two published books.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Benjamin, Sekiguchi, Fry and Casa. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Effectiveness of Short-Term Heat Acclimation on Intermittent Sprint Performance With Moderately Trained Females Controlling for Menstrual Cycle Phase

Andrew T. Garrett^{1*}, Edward Dodd¹, Victoria Biddlecombe¹, Damien Gleadall-Siddall¹, Rachel Burke¹, Jake Shaw¹, James Bray¹, Huw Jones², Grant Abt¹ and Jarrod Gritt¹

¹ Department of Sport, Health and Exercise Science, Faculty of Health Science, University of Hull, Hull, United Kingdom, ² Mathematics and Physical Science, Faculty of Science and Engineering, University of Hull, Hull, United Kingdom

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by: François Billaut, Laval University, Canada

Reviewed by:

Oliver R. Gibson, Brunel University London, United Kingdom Toby Mündel, Massey University, New Zealand

> *Correspondence: Andrew T. Garrett a.garrett@hull.ac.uk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Exercise Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 19 July 2019 Accepted: 12 November 2019 Published: 29 November 2019

Citation:

Garrett AT, Dodd E, Biddlecombe V, Gleadall-Siddall D, Burke R, Shaw J, Bray J, Jones H, Abt G and Gritt J (2019) Effectiveness of Short-Term Heat Acclimation on Intermittent Sprint Performance With Moderately Trained Females Controlling for Menstrual Cycle Phase. Front. Physiol. 10:1458. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019.01458 **Introduction:** Investigate the effectiveness of short-term heat acclimation (STHA), over 5-days (permissive dehydration), on an intermittent sprint exercise protocol (HST) with females. Controlling for menstrual cycle phase.

Materials and Methods: Ten, moderately trained, females (Mean [SD]; age 22.6 [2.7] y; stature 165.3 [6.2] cm; body mass 61.5 [8.7] kg; $\dot{VO}_{2 \text{ peak}}$ 43.9 [8.6] mL·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹) participated. The HST (31.0°C; 50%RH) was 9 × 5 min (45-min) of intermittent exercise, based on exercise intensities of female soccer players, using a motorized treadmill and Wattbike. Participants completed HST1 vs. HST2 as a control (C) trial. Followed by 90 min, STHA (no fluid intake), for five consecutive days in 39.5°C; 60%RH, using controlled-hyperthermia (~rectal temperature [T_{re}] 38.5°C). The HST3 occurred within 1 week after STHA. The HST2 vs HST3 trials were in the luteal phase, using self-reported menstrual questionnaire and plasma 17β-estradiol.

Results: Pre (HST2) vs post (HST3) STHA there was a reduction at 45-min in T_{re} by 0.20°C (95%Cl -0.30 to -0.10°C; d = 0.77); \overline{T}_{sk} (-0.50; -0.90 to -0.10°C; d = 0.80); and \overline{T}_b (-0.25; -0.35 to -0.15°C; d = 0.92). Cardiac frequency reduced at 45-min (-8; -16 to -1 b·min⁻¹; d = 1.11) and %PV increased (7.0; -0.4 to 14.5%: d = 1.27). Mean power output increased across all nine maximal sprints by 56W (-26 to 139W; d = 0.69; n = 9). There was limited difference (P > 0.05) for these measures in HST1 vs HST2 C trial.

Discussion: Short-term heat acclimation (5-days) using controlled-hyperthermia, leads to physiological adaptation during intermittent exercise in the heat, in moderately trained females when controlling for menstrual cycle phase.

Keywords: female, menstrual cycle, dehydration, fluid-regulation, plasma volume

INTRODUCTION

The worldwide popularity of football results in competitive matches being held in a whole host of environmental conditions, some of which can be in excess of 30°C with high levels of RH (Ozgunen et al., 2010). The 2016 Olympic Games in Brazil and the future 2020 Olympics in Tokyo, Japan (Gerrett et al., 2019) are examples of this.

It has been reported that the menstrual cycle plays a significant role in athletic performance in the heat (Avellini et al., 1979; Tenaglia et al., 1999; Janse de Jonge et al., 2012). However, research is limited and recent evidence has been contradictory. It has demonstrated little effect of the menstrual cycle (Sunderland and Nevill, 2003), oral contraceptive pill (OCP) usage (Lei et al., 2017) and in trained females who have smaller fluctuations in hormonal response (Lei and Mundel, 2018). However, the possible attenuation of endurance performance during heat stress has been reported (Avellini et al., 1979; Tenaglia et al., 1999; Constantini et al., 2005; Janse de Jonge et al., 2012) but this is not a universal finding (Kolka and Stephenson, 1997; Sunderland and Nevill, 2003; Lei et al., 2017). Secondly, there is limited research on fluid handling across the menstrual cycle with OCP usage (Stachenfeld et al., 1999; Stachenfeld, 2008). This supports the need for a robust research design in the present study. It is recognized that resting core temperature and the temperature threshold for the activation of the thermoregulatory responses, cutaneous vasodilation and sweating in females is elevated during the luteal phase of the menstrual cycle (Stachenfeld et al., 2000; Sunderland and Nevill, 2003). Especially, in those taking the OCP (Charkoudian and Johnson, 1997; Rogers and Baker, 1997) which can rise by \sim 0.2–0.6°C in the early follicular phase (Stephenson and Kolka, 1985; Kolka and Stephenson, 1989; Grucza et al., 1993; Rogers and Baker, 1997). Many women feel that the menstrual cycle status negatively affects athletic performance (Wilson et al., 1991; Bruinvels et al., 2016) but in reality it has been reported that most physical aspects of athletic performance are not hindered by the menstrual cycle (Lebrun et al., 1995; Constantini et al., 2005; Wiecek et al., 2016; Tounsi et al., 2017). In summary, research on how the menstrual cycle phase affects exercise performance in unacclimated females in the heat is limited and contradictory. Furthermore, the limited information on female sex hormones, OCP and fluid regulation by Stachenfeld and colleagues (Stachenfeld et al., 1999; Stachenfeld, 2008) supports the research design of the present study.

There are fundamentally three models in which active heat acclimation can be achieved; (i) constant work-rate, (ii) selfregulated exercise and (iii) the controlled hyperthermia or isothermic technique (Taylor and Cotter, 2006). The controlled hyperthermia technique has been postulated to provide greater heat adaptation than the constant work-rate and self-regulated work-rate methodologies. On the basis that core temperature elevation is a key consideration for successful heat acclimation associated with high skin temperature and sweating response, as exercise alone is not a sufficient stimulus for adaptation (Hessemer et al., 1986). In contrast, there has been evidence to demonstrate isothermic and fixed intensity heat acclimation methods induce similar heat adaptation in the short and longterm. However, it is suggested controlled-hyperthermia is a more efficient and practical method for heat adaptation, especially for athletes tapering before competition (Gibson et al., 2015). The addition of a permissive dehydration stimulus, that is restricting fluid intake during acclimation has received recent attention in the literature (Akerman et al., 2016) and with a female cohort (Kirby et al., 2019). However, the benefits of permissive dehydration has not been reported universally (Neal et al., 2016). In our previous work using a male cohort (Garrett et al., 2014), permissive dehydration during acclimation has been shown to improve the fluid regulatory mechanisms by improving the reabsorption of water and Na⁺ resulting in PV expansion. This indicated that the adaptive response may be enhanced rather than impaired by dehydration acclimation and this work had a euhydration control. Furthermore, we have demonstrated that the use of permissive dehydration with STHA (5-days) has been shown to provide heat adaptation for moderately (Garrett et al., 2009) and highly trained (Garrett et al., 2012) male athletes. From a practical perspective it provides a very light exercise load that minimizes both additional exercise strain and the disruption of quality training during the tapering period for competition (Garrett et al., 2011).

Most heat acclimation protocols have been carried out using male cohorts. Furthermore, the limited research that has been conducted using female participants, to the author's knowledge only three have used the controlled hyperthermia technique. Mee et al. (2015) reported that in response to STHA of 5-days with permissive dehydration, there was limited physiological change. Improvements in cardiovascular stability, lower core temperature and sudomotor adaptation required a longer, medium-term heat acclimation (MTHA) of 10-days (Mee et al., 2015). Similarly, Kirby et al. (2019) determined nine-, but not 4-days heat acclimation with permissive dehydration, improves self-paced endurance performance in females (Kirby et al., 2019). Daanen and Herweijer (2015) demonstrated limited responses to STHA of 3-days in a younger versus an older female population (Daanen and Herweijer, 2015). However, these studies may not give us all the information we need given their research designs have mixed OCP and non-users. Furthermore, they have not controlled for menstrual cycle phase.

The aims of the present study are to evaluate the physiological and performance effects of a STHA (5-day) protocol, using the controlled hyperthermia technique with no fluid intake, on an intermittent HST with a female cohort and controlling for menstrual cycle phase. It is hypothesized that STHA will improve thermoregulation in a cohort of young, moderately trained female game players when controlling for menstrual cycle phase.

Abbreviations: f_c , cardiac frequency (b·min⁻¹); \dot{Q} , cardiac output (L·min⁻¹); HST, heat stress test; $\dot{VO}_{2 \text{ max}}$, maximum oxygen uptake (L·min⁻¹ or mL·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹); MPO, mean power output (W); T_b , mean body temperature (°C); T_{sk} , mean skin temperature (°C); \dot{VO}_2 , oxygen consumption (L·min⁻¹ or mL·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹); \dot{VO}_2 peak, peak oxygen uptake (L·min⁻¹ or mL·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹); \dot{VO}_2 peak, peak oxygen uptake (L·min⁻¹ or mL·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹); PPO, peak power output (W); %PV, percentage plasma volume (%); [alb]_p, plasma albumin (mg·mL⁻¹); [aldo]_p, plasma aldosterone (pg·mL⁻¹); [cortisol]_p, plasma cortisol (ug·dl⁻¹); [Na⁺]_p, plasma sodium (mml·L⁻¹); TP_p, plasma total protein (mg·mL⁻¹); T_{re} , rectal temperature (°C); RH, relative humidity (%); STHA, short-term heat acclimation; color_u, urine color (units); cosm_u, urine osmolality (mOsm/kg); SG_u, urine specific gravity (units).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Experimental Design and Overview

Ten moderately trained female participants undertook a 5-day STHA regime, with no fluid replenishment during each daily acclimation session. Participants' thermoregulatory, cardiovascular and fluid-regulatory status were measured at rest and in response to an intermittent, exercising HST, administered the week before and after the 2nd day after the STHA regime to ensure 1 day of rest. Participants were asked to refrain from strenuous exercise immediately before and 24 h prior to each HST, as it has been demonstrated that lower resting core temperature contributes to reduced physiological strain during acclimation (Kampmann et al., 2008). A general overview of the STHA protocol for the moderately trained females is shown in **Figure 1**.

Participants

Ten, moderately trained, females (Mean [SD]; age 22.6 [2.7] years; stature 165.3 [6.2] cm; body mass 61.5 [8.7] kg; cardiac output 5.5 [1.3] L; and $\dot{V}O_{2 \text{ peak}}$ 43.9 [8.6] mL·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹) participated. They were games players and oral contraceptive pill users (combined). Participants completed pre-exercise medical questionnaires and informed consent to participate in the study. All participants were in good health. The study had ethical approval (No. 1516177) from the University of Hull ethics committee following the World Health Organization declaration of Helsinki guidelines.

Protocol

Experimental Standardization

All participants were fully informed of all experimental procedures (orally and written). Prior to experimental testing participants completed pre-exercise medical questionnaires and informed consents. Each female participant used a monophasic, oral contraceptive pill (OCP) and dose of hormone concentration differed between individuals depending on their specific medication. All participants were previously unacclimated to

the heat and this study was completed outside the British summertime to minimize seasonal acclimatization effects. To minimize circadian rhythm affects HSTs and acclimations occurred at the same time of day. Participants were asked to refrain from strenuous exercise for 24 h prior to HSTs and using a food diary follow a consistent food intake. They were asked to refrain from caffeine and alcohol consumption 12 h before all testing procedures.

As a methodological control participants completed HST2 and HST3 in the same phase of their menstrual cycle (luteal phase), in the active pill portion of the OCP. This was reported by menstrual cycle questionnaire. This detailed the start of the menstrual cycle, premenstrual symptoms and contraceptive medication. This was confirmed by baseline measurement of plasma 17β -estradiol (Table 1).

Short-Term Heat Acclimation (STHA)

The STHA protocol consisted of five consecutive day's heat exposure (39.5°C; 60% RH) for 90 min a day, using the controlled hyperthermia technique (Garrett et al., 2009), with permissive dehydration (Garrett et al., 2014). Participants cycled (Monark 824E, Monark Exercise AB, Varberg, Sweden) against a selfselected resistance at 60 rpm attaining a T_{re} 38.5°C, as quickly as possible and maintained for the 90 min of exposure by regular adjustment of workload. However, an initial workload of 60 watts for the first 5 min duration was the same for all participants at the start of each day's trial. Elevation of T_{re} to the same point during heat exposures was to increase workload progressively during the week. The fluid-regulatory hormone aldosterone [aldosterone]_p, electrolytes (Na^+ , K^+ , and Cl^-), proteins (total protein [TP]_p; Albumin [alb]_p), cortisol [cortisol]_p

TABLE 1 | Mean \pm SD plasma 17β-estradiol in HST2 (pre-) and HST3 (post-) STHA in the luteal phases of the menstrual cycle.

Menstrual cycle week ($n = 8$)	3	3
Heat stress test	HST2	HST3
Plasma 17β-estradiol (pg⋅mL ⁻¹)	29.7 ± 16.4	28.7 ± 8.0



and percentage change in plasma volume (%PV) were measured at rest and end of acclimation bouts on day 1 and day 5. Time (minutes) time to a T_{re} of 38.5°C and work (J) was recorded on each day of acclimation.

Urinary measures

Urine samples were obtained before and after day 1 and day 5 acclimation. Using fresh urine samples, urine specific gravity and urine color were measured using a calibrated refractometer (Uricon-N, Urine specific gravity refractometer, Atago Co., Tokyo, Japan) and urine color chart (Armstrong et al., 1994, 1998), respectively. Urine volume was recorded and urine osmolality was analyzed after the experiment.

Blood measures

Plasma for the measurement of the fluid regulatory hormone aldosterone (200 μ l) was stored using chilled K-EDTA tubes (1.6 mg·ml⁻¹). Measurement of aldosterone and cortisol used the Coat-A Count aldosterone procedure. The intra-assay coefficient of variation for aldosterone and cortisol was 8.8 and 12.1%, respectively, for duplicate measures. All samples for a given individual were analyzed within the same assay. Plasma Na^+ , K^+ , and Cl^- was analyzed using duplicate colorometric analysis (Cobas Mira Plus, New Jersey, United States).

Changes in the concentration of hemoglobin [Hb] and haematocrit [Hct] were used to determine the relative change in plasma volume described by Dill and Costill (1974). Venous blood samples (5 mL) were taken from an antecubital vein (Vacutainer Precision Glide 21-gauge needle, Becton Dickinson Vacutainer Systems) by phlebotomy without stasis and immediately analyzed – in sexplicate – for [Hb] (Willoughby et al., 2002), (Model OSM3, Radiometer, Copenhagen, Denmark), and [Hct] (using a Hawksley Microhematocrit centrifuge [Sussex, United Kingdom] and a Micro-capillary reader [Damon/IEC Division, Mass, United States]). The percentage change in plasma volume was analyzed from day 1 to 5 of the acclimation regime, during HSTs and calculated using a mathematical equation (Dill and Costill, 1974).

Aerobic Fitness Testing and Cardiac Output

Participants performed an incremental ramp exercise test to volitional exhaustion on a treadmill (h/p/Cosmos, Model Pulsar 3p, Traunstein, Germany), for determination of peak oxygen uptake ($\dot{VO}_{2 peak}$) and velocities for individualisation of the HSTs. This procedure involved a starting velocity of 5 km/hr with workload increments of 0.1 km/hr every 6 s (1 km/hr/min), until volitional exhaustion. Breath by breath expired air was collected via a metabolic cart system (Cortex Metalyzer 3B, Cortex Biophysic, Leipzig, Germany). Participants RPE (Borg, 1982) and f_c (Polar FS1, Polar Electro, OY, Finland) were recorded every minute. All participants were given verbal encouragement in the latter stages of the incremental test.

Baseline cardiac output was measured using a breath-bybreath cardiac output analyser (Innocor, Innovision, Odense, Denmark). Prior to measurement, calibration of the cardiac output analyser was completed. Each participant had a fresh mouthpiece connected to a bacterial filter (Innovision, Odense, Denmark). A nose clip (Innovision, Odense, Denmark) was then placed over the participant's nose to prevent any expired air escaping. Participants were instructed to breathe in synchronization (\sim 5 breaths, \sim 15 s) with the on-screen demonstration until measurement was complete.

Heat Stress Test (HST)

The HST took place in an environmental chamber (Type SSR 60-20H, Design Environment, Gwent, United Kingdom) set to ambient temperature of 31°C; 50% RH. Pre-exercise urine and blood measure (%PV) were taken prior to entering the chamber. The HST consisted of 9 \times 5 min blocks of intermittent exercise on a treadmill (Pulsar 3p, h/p/Cosmos, Traunstein, Germany) and cycle ergometer (Wattbike Ltd., Nottingham, United Kingdom). Each 5-min block consisted of intermittent treadmill running; standing (recovery), walking (50% HRmax), jogging (60% HRmax), low- (70% HRmax), moderate- (85% HRmax) and high-intensity (95% HRmax), ending with a 6-s maximal cycle ergometer sprint. Treadmill velocity changed every 5-11 s and percentage time spent at each velocity was adapted from collegiate level football match play characteristics (Vescovi and Favero, 2014). Sprint characteristics; peak power output (PPO) and mean power output (MPO) were used as performance measures.

Prior to acclimation, as a control trial, two HST's (HST1 vs. HST2) were performed and separated by 1 week. The post acclimation HST3 was performed within a week (5 \pm 2 days) of the final acclimation day to prevent the decay of acclimation (Garrett et al., 2009) and we acknowledge there may be some variability in the magnitude of response (Waldron et al., 2019). To control for menstrual cycle phase the HST2 (Pre-) and HST3 (Post-) STHA trials were performed in week three of the menstrual cycle (luteal phase), in the active pill portion of the OCP for all participants. Baseline measures of plasma 17 β -estradiol were taken prior to HST2 and HST3 trials in the luteal phase of the menstrual cycle and there was no difference (*P* = 0.87) observed (**Table 1**).

Body temperature

Core body temperature was measured using a rectal thermistor (U thermistor, Grant Instruments Ltd., Cambridge, United Kingdom) was self-inserted to a depth of 10 cm beyond the anal sphincter. Skin temperature was measured using skin thermistors (Type EUS-U-V5-V2, Grant Instruments Ltd., Cambridge, United Kingdom) placed on four, left sided, sites: chest, bicep, thigh, and calf, secured using micropore tape. Mean skin temperature (\overline{T}_{sk}) (Ramanathan, 1964) and mean body temperature (\overline{T}_b) (Sawka et al., 1996) were measured. Temperature data was recorded at 1-min intervals on a portable data logger (2020 series data logger, Grant Instruments Ltd., Cambridge, United Kingdom).

Data analysis

Sample size was based upon results from the previous limited research on females (Mee et al., 2015; Kirby et al., 2019), using our permissive dehydration protocol during STHA (Garrett et al., 2014). Where a statistical difference was observed in primary outcomes. The stress response of dependent measures in STHA and HSTs were analyzed for normal distribution by

using the Shapiro-Wilk and the Brown-Forsythe test determined equal variance. All data were normally distributed and twoway repeated measures ANOVA was used to determine main effects between day 1 and 5 acclimation, pre vs post HSTs and interaction over time for all dependent measures. Pairwise multiple comparison procedures were analyzed using post-hoc Bonferroni correction t-tests when appropriate. The change in thermal markers on day 1 and day 5 of acclimation were analyzed using paired t-test analysis. Work output from day 1 to day 5 of acclimation was analyzed using one-way analysis of variance ANOVA, with repeated measures and Bonferroni correction t-tests to isolate differences between days. Data is reported for ten moderately trained females unless otherwise stated. Where appropriate data is reported as mean differences \pm SD with 95% confidence intervals (95% CI) and the magnitude of effect using Cohen's *d* effect sizes (where 0.2–0.59 small; 0.6–1.19 moderate; 1.2–1.99 large; 2.0–4.0 very large).

RESULTS

All ten participants completed the 5-day STHA protocol and three HSTs (HST1; HST2; HST3). The HST1 versus HST2 was a control trial taken 1 week apart with no intervention. The HST2 versus HST3 with the STHA intervention took place in week 3 of the menstrual cycle (luteal phase) for all ten participants. Due to issues with venepuncture measures blood parameters were analyzed for eight participants only. Similarly, eight participants had baseline plasma 17 β -estradiol measured before HST2 and HST3 trials in the luteal phase.

Acclimation

Thermal Stress and Strain

Thermal stress and strain from days 1 to 5 of heat acclimation are presented in **Table 2** and work completed in **Figure 2**.

Measures of ambient temperature (T_a) and RH indicated that the thermal stress was similar on day 1 and 5 of acclimation. Similarly, the thermal strain was consistent between days illustrated by mean cardiac frequency (f_c) and rectal temperature

TABLE 2 | Thermal stress and strain on the first (Day 1) and last day (Day 5) of short-term heat acclimation (STHA) for ten moderately trained females.

	Day 1	Day 5	P-value
<i>T_a</i> (°C)	39.6 ± 0.1	39.7 ± 0.2	0.14
RH (%)	60.0 ± 0.2	60.1 ± 0.1	0.72
Mean f_c (b·min ⁻¹)	144 ± 22	141 ± 19	0.11
Mean T _{re} (°C)	38.29 ± 0.46	38.24 ± 0.47	0.24
Time to Tre 38.5°C (min)	36.70 ± 6.36	44.62 ± 11.04	0.04
Work (KJ)	18.98 ± 5.94	23.03 ± 5.14	0.02
Body mass change (%)	-1.7 ± 0.6	-1.8 ± 0.7	0.80
%PV change	0.9 ± 13.1	0.7 ± 12.0	0.98

Ambient temperature (T_a), RH cardiac frequency (f_c), rectal temperature (T_{re}), time to T_{re} 38.5°C and work on day 1 and 5 of acclimation undertaken with no fluid intake. Data presented as mean ±SD for ten female participants. Significant differences by paired t-test are shown in bold.

 (T_{re}) responses. Time to 38.5°C was longer on day 5 cf. day 1 (**Table 2**; *P* = 0.04). Therefore, less work was performed on day 1 cf. day 5 (**Table 2** and **Figure 2**; *P* = 0.02).

Urinary Measures

To determine hydration status urine color (color_u), urine osmolality (osm_u), urine specific gravity (SG_u) and body mass were measured at rest and 90 min, on day 1 and 5 of acclimation (**Table 3**). There was no main effect (P > 0.05) and interaction across time (P > 0.05) for color_u, osm_u, SG_u and body mass on day 1 and 5 of STHA.

Blood Measurements

Blood measures and percentage change on the first day (Day 1) to the last day (Day 5) of acclimation after 90-min heat exposure are presented in **Table 4**.

There was no main effect for $[aldo]_p$ between day 1 and 5 (F = 1.583; P = 0.25) or interaction across time (F = 0.755; P = 0.41). Similarly, there was no main effect between day 1 and 5 for $[Na^+]_p$ (F = 1.106; P = 0.32) or interaction across time (F = 0.983; P = 0.36). The measure $[TP]_p$ demonstrated no main effect between day 1 and 5 (F = 0.93; P = 0.37) or interaction across time (F = 0.198; P = 0.67). There was no main effect between day 1 and 5 (F = 0.618; P = 0.81) for $[alb]_p$ or interaction across time (F = 0.50; P = 0.50). In contrast, there was a significant main effect between day 1 and 5 for $[cortisol]_p$ (F = 15.303; P = 0.01), and interaction across time (F = 10.775; P = 0.02). Bonferroni-corrected post-hoc comparisons showed a significant difference between pre and post measures within day 1 (P = 0.002) but not on day 5 (P = 0.57).

Heat Stress Test

Measurements were taken at rest and across the 45 min in HSTs. Data is presented for ten female participants unless otherwise stated.

Control Study

The HST1 versus HST2 was a control trial taken 1 week apart with no intervention. There was a limited change for T_{re} , \overline{T}_{sk} , \overline{T}_b , f_c , and %PV (P > 0.05). Similarly, in the sprint performance test the PPO and MPO demonstrated limited change (P > 0.05).

Intervention Study

The HST2 trial took place 1 week before the STHA (5-days), with no fluid intake intervention. The post HST3 occurred within 7-days of the last acclimation.

Body temperatures

Figure 3 presents mean \pm SD rectal temperature (T_{re}), mean skin temperature (\overline{T}_{sk}) and mean body temperature (\overline{T}_{b}), pre- to post acclimation in hot conditions (31°C; 50% RH; n = 10).

There was no main effect for $T_{re}(F = 1.411; P = 0.27)$ after STHA but there was a significant interaction across time (F = 2.991; P = 0.004). Bonferroni-corrected post-hoc comparisons showed a significant mean difference at 40 (P = 0.01) and 45 min (P = 0.007). At 45 min T_{re} reduced by 0.20°C (95%CI -0.30 to -0.10°C; d = 0.77: Moderate). There was a significant main effect for \overline{T}_{sk} (F = 5.252; P = 0.05) after



FIGURE 2 | Work output on the first day (Day 1) to the last day (Day 5) of acclimation after 90-min heat exposure. Data are mean \pm SD are for ten moderately trained females. Significant difference *p < 0.05; Day 1 to the last day of acclimation analyzed using one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) with repeated measures and Bonferroni correction *t*-tests to isolate differences between days.

TABLE 3 | Urinary measures of hydration (color_u, osm_u, SG_u) and nude body mass, at rest and end-exercise, on day 1 and 5 of short-term heat acclimation.

	Day 1:rest	Day 1:end	Day 5:rest	Day 5:end
Color _u (units)	2 ± 1	4 ± 2	3 ± 1	4 ± 2
osm _u (mOsm/kg)	379 ± 292	447 ± 181	379 ± 267	396 ± 271
SG _u (units)	1.008 ± 0.007	1.012 ± 0.007	1.008 ± 0.006	1.010 ± 0.008
Body mass (kg)	62.3 ± 9.9	61.2 ± 9.8	62.5 ± 9.8	61.4 ± 9.7

Data presented as mean ±SD for ten female participants. A two-way repeated measures ANOVA and post-hoc Bonferroni correction t-tests when appropriate was used to determine the differences from rest to end-heat exposure, on day 1 and 5 of short-term heat acclimation.

TABLE 4 | Blood measures and percentage change from rest to end-exposure on the first day (Day 1) versus the last day (Day 5) of acclimation after 90-min heat exposure.

	[aldo] _p	[Na ⁺] _p	[TP] _p	[alb] _p	[cortisol] _p
	(pg⋅mL ⁻¹)	(mmol·L ^{−1})	(mg⋅mL ^{−1})	(mg⋅mL ^{−1})	(ug∙dl ^{−1})
Day 1					
Acclimation					
Rest	216 ± 131	140 ± 2	72.8 ± 3.2	670 ± 36	172 ± 63
End	417 ± 99	141 ± 1	78.3 ± 3.0	716 ± 33	$307 \pm 47^{*}$
%Change	48%	1%	7%	6%	44%
Day 5					
Acclimation					
Rest	187 ± 64	139 ± 1	71.6 ± 4.8	666 ± 41	190 ± 47
End	332 ± 143	142 ± 2	77.6 ± 5.7	717 ± 52	200 ± 67
%Change	44%	2%	8%	7%	5%

Data are mean \pm SD for eight moderately trained females. A two-way repeated measures ANOVA and post-hoc Bonferroni correction t-tests when appropriate was used to determine the differences from rest to end-heat exposure, on day 1 and 5 of short-term heat acclimation. *P < 0.05 at rest versus end-heat exposure (90 min) on day 1 and 5.



FIGURE 3 | Mean ± SD rectal temperature (T_{re}) (upper plate), mean skin temperature (\overline{T}_{sk}) (mid plate) and mean body temperature (\overline{T}_b) (lower plate), pre- to post acclimation in hot conditions (31°C; 50% RH; n = 10). *P < 0.05 post-hoc Bonferroni correction *t*-tests.

STHA and interaction across time (F = 4.689; P = 0.001). Bonferroni-corrected post-hoc comparisons showed a significant mean difference at 15 (P = 0.043), 30 (P = 0.03); 35 (P = 0.004); 40 (P = 0.009) and 45 min (P = 0.009). The reduction in \overline{T}_{sk} at 45 min was -0.50 (-0.90 to -0.10° C; d = 0.80: Moderate). There was no main effect for \overline{T}_b (F = 4.419; P = 0.07) after STHA but there was a significant interaction across time (F = 3.942; P = 0.001). Bonferroni-corrected post-hoc comparisons showed a significant mean difference at 35 (P = 0.01), 40 (P = 0.002) and 45 min (P = 0.001). At 45 min \overline{T}_b reduced by -0.25 (-0.35 to -0.15° C; d = 0.92: Moderate).

Cardiac frequency and percentage change in plasma volume (%PV)

There was a significant main effect for cardiac frequency (F = 7.702; P = 0.02) after STHA and interaction across time (F = 2.485; P = 0.02). Bonferroni-corrected post-hoc comparisons showed a significant mean difference at rest (P = 0.001), 5 (P = 0.04) and 45 min (P = 0.003). Cardiac frequency reduced at rest (-13; -18 to -7 b·min⁻¹; d = 1.04: Moderate) and at 45-min (-8; -16 to -1 b·min⁻¹; d = 1.11: Moderate). There was an increase in %PV from baseline post STHA by 7.0% (-0.4 to 14.5%, d = 1.27: Large).

Psychophysiological

There was a significant main effect for thermal comfort (F = 27.156; P = 0.001) after STHA and interaction across time (F = 3.378; P = 0.001). Bonferroni-corrected post-hoc comparisons showed a significant mean difference from 10 to 45 min (P < 0.05). Thermal comfort reduced at 45 min by -1(-1.5 to -0.5 units; d = 0.89: Moderate). There was a significant main effect for thermal sensation (F = 19.462; P = 0.002) after STHA and interaction across time (F = 4.533; P = 0.001). Bonferroni-corrected post-hoc comparisons showed a significant mean difference at 0 to 10 and 20 to 45 min (P < 0.05). Thermal sensation reduced at 45 min by -1 (-1.5 to -0.0 units; d = 0.67: Moderate). There was a significant main effect for RPE (F = 5.831; P = 0.04) after STHA and interaction effect across time (F = 2.853; P = 0.006). Bonferroni-corrected post-hoc comparisons showed a significant mean difference 20 (P = 0.04), 25 (P = 0.04) 30 (P = 0.02), 40 (P = 0.01) and 45 min (P = 0.01). RPE decreased at 45 min by -2 (-4 to 0 units; d = 0.70: Moderate).

Repeated sprint performance

The PPO and MPO were measured across all nine, 6-s maximal sprints in the 45-min protocol (**Figure 4**).

There was no main effect for PPO (F = 1.458; P = 0.26) after STHA or significant interaction effect across all nine sprints (F = 0.397; P = 0.91). There was not a main effect for MPO (F = 3.064; P = 0.12) after STHA but the interaction across all nine sprints was close to significance (F = 0.296; P = 0.06). The MPO increased across all nine maximal sprints by 56W (-26 to 139W; d = 0.69: Moderate; n = 9).

DISCUSSION

Effectiveness of Short-Term Heat Acclimation

The adaptations from short-term (5-d) heat acclimation with no fluid intake during acclimation, using the controlled hyperthermia technique, reduced exercising cardiovascular strain in females controlling for menstrual cycle phase. The cardiovascular stability was due to increased heat loss rather



than lower heat content (\sim resting core temperature), at the time of day of testing HSTs. This concurs with our previous work that has used no fluid intake during acclimation but with moderately (Garrett et al., 2009) and highly trained males (Garrett et al., 2012). However, it is in contrast with the limited work on STHA with females, using controlled-hyperthermia with permissive dehydration (Mee et al., 2015; Kirby et al., 2019).

Adaptation to Exercise in the Heat and Menstrual Cycle Phase

The post acclimation HST3 was performed within a week of the final acclimation day to prevent the decay of acclimation (Garrett et al., 2009). It has long been recognized that the menstrual cycle plays a significant role in athletic performance (Avellini et al., 1979; Tenaglia et al., 1999; Janse de Jonge et al., 2012). Therefore, to control for menstrual cycle phase the HST2 (Pre-) and HST3 (Post-) STHA trials were performed in week 3 of menstrual cycle (luteal phase), with all participants using oral contraceptive pills (combined). This was determined by menstrual cycle questionnaire and baseline measures of plasma 17β-estradiol. This was measured prior to HST2 and HST3 intervention trials and there was no statistical difference observed (Table 1). It has previously been reported that heat adaptation in females is not affected by menstrual cycle phase (Lei et al., 2017; Lei and Mundel, 2018) or the use of oral contraceptive pill (Armstrong et al., 2005). However, menstrual cycle phase and the associated changes in female sex hormones can influence core temperature (Inoue et al., 2005), the overall thermoregulatory set point range (Charkoudian and Stachenfeld, 2016) but a limited effect on whole body heat loss has been reported (Notley et al., 2018).

The present results using a female cohort and controlling for menstrual cycle phase, undergoing STHA of daily controlled hyperthermia with no fluid intake, demonstrated that the participants experienced adaptation to the heat. This was indicated by the characteristic features of acclimation. A decrease in T_{re} by -0.2° C (Figure 3; top panel), \overline{T}_{sk} by -0.5° C (Figure 3; mid panel) and \overline{T}_b by -0.25 (Figure 3; lower panel) was observed. Similar body temperature measures have previously been reported by the author, using the hyperthermiacontrol technique but with male participants (Garrett et al., 2009, 2012, 2014). In contrast, the research group of Mee et al. (2015) reported that the employment of the controlled hyperthermia model with permissive dehydration successfully attenuated T_{re} during a 30-min run in the heat after 5 days in males $(-0.39 \pm 0.36^{\circ}C)$ but not in females $(-0.07 \pm 0.18^{\circ}C)$. Yet after a further 5 days of acclimation the females T_{re} response was similar by 0.48 \pm 0.27°C (Mee et al., 2015). This indicates that a female population requires a longerterm intervention than the 5-days STHA we employed (Mee et al., 2015). Similarly, Kirby et al. (2019) determined nine-, but not 4-days heat acclimation improves self-paced endurance performance in females, using hyperthermia control with permissive dehydration (Kirby et al., 2019). However, this was over a shorter 4-day STHA. Furthermore, in these two studies there were method differences with the present work. The exercise protocols were short in duration (~30 min), selfpaced/fixed speed trials and importantly menstrual OCP phase was not controlled.

End-exercise f_c decreased by 8 b·min⁻¹. Increased cardiovascular stability is recognized as one of the most rapidly occurring adaptations to the heat (Garrett et al., 2009, 2011). Furthermore, a 7.0% PV expansion from baseline was observed in this study. Previous research suggests intravascular

fluid expansion resulting from such increases in colloidosmotic pressure (Senay et al., 1976; Senay, 1979) explains a majority of PV expansion (Goto et al., 2010). Therefore, this suggests that the PV expansion may have contributed to the greater cardiovascular stability that was observed. This is similar to the findings of Pethick et al. (2018) who demonstrated induced plasma volume expansion in a female cohort following 5-days high-intensity heat acclimation (Pethick et al., 2018).

Repeated Sprint Performance

This study demonstrated that an increase in MPO was close to significance across all nine maximal sprints after STHA of 5days (Figure 4). This improvement in intermittent performance is supported by Sunderland et al. (2008) who developed a heat acclimation protocol (4-days) for female team sports (Sunderland et al., 2008). They reported a reduced rate of rise in rectal temperature and a 33% improvement in distance run during a repeated shuttle run performance test after STHA in a female cohort. From a practical perspective, an improvement in sprint performance is a valuable asset in team sport situations. Work-rate during team sports matches are largely determined by the oppositions playing style of the opposing team and individuals (Ozgunen et al., 2010), the ability to maintain repeated sprint performance can determine when a games player gets to the ball first and outrun the opposition.

Fluid Regulation Response to Repeated Heat Stress

In the present study, participants experienced the same thermal load and this is the basis of using the controlled hyperthermia technique for heat acclimation. Individual's experienced a mild hypohydration of $\sim 2\%$ body mass (**Table 2**). This is similar to the imposed hypohydration administered by Judelson and colleagues, who reported a modification in the hormonal and metabolic response to resistance exercise, influencing the post-exercise circulatory milieu (Judelson et al., 2008). The research design of this study is supported by recommendations from earlier work with females on sex hormones and fluid regulation by the Stachenfeld research group (Stachenfeld et al., 1999; Stachenfeld, 2008).

Fluid Regulatory Hormones, Electrolytes and Plasma Volume Expansion

In the present study, after 90-min exercise $[aldo]_p$ did not significantly increase across acclimation bouts (**Table 4**) and this is in contrast to what has previously been reported (Judelson et al., 2008). The principal effects of aldosterone are the retention of Na^+ and therefore water from the urine output to maintain extracellular fluid volume and thus blood volume. However, in the present study, an exercise-induced response of increased $[Na^+]_p$ was not clearly evident after the no fluid intake acclimation regime (**Table 4**). Therefore, this is in contrast with previous findings (Brandenberger et al., 1989; Francesconi et al., 1993; Allsopp et al., 1998) who reported a strong relationship between increased Na^+ with [aldo]_p response. In the present study, using the ΔPV (Dill and Costill, 1974) technique, there was an acclimation induced increase in resting %PV across HSTs by 7.0 ± 6% in the present study. This is similar to Pethick et al. (2018) who successfully induced plasma volume expansion in a female cohort, following 5-days high-intensity heat acclimation (Pethick et al., 2018).

Stress Hormone Response

In the present study the time to reach 38.5°C significantly increased (21.6%) from day 1 to 5 resulting in an associated increase in work (21.3%) (Table 2). Mean time to reach 38.5°C has been shown to be longer during STHA, using the controlled hyperthermia technique for females (51 \pm 7 min), in comparison with males (48 \pm 9 min) (Mee et al., 2015). Similarly, in the present study, a much larger % difference in time to 38.5°C was observed in comparison with previous studies using male cohorts with the same protocol (Garrett et al., 2009, 2012, 2014; Neal et al., 2015). The stress hormone, cortisol, significantly increased during acclimation on day 1 but this response was not observed on day 5. Despite a greater time to 38.5°C and more work being completed, hence, indicating a heat adaptive response (Table 4). This agrees with previous observations on male cohorts suggesting heat acclimation reduces cortisol levels during exercise in the heat (Francesconi et al., 1983; Armstrong et al., 1989) but such findings are not universal (Finberg and Berlyne, 1977; Sunderland et al., 2008).

LIMITATIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

In order to standardize menstrual cycle phase each female participant used a monophasic, oral contraceptive pill (OCP) but a potential limitation was that the dose of hormone concentration differed between individuals depending on their specific medication.

For future directions, information is limited on the physiological mechanisms of fluid regulation in females, following STHA. Therefore, a comparison of euhydration versus dehydration STHA, may provide a greater understanding of this area. To the authors knowledge, our earlier work (Garrett et al., 2014) is the only study to have done this but with male participants.

CONCLUSION

In summary, this work has established the effectiveness of STHA for 5 days, using the controlled-hyperthermia technique with no fluid intake (Garrett et al., 2009, 2012, 2014), on intermittent activity in hot environments with a female cohort, controlling for menstrual cycle phase. The current research suggests these methods of heat acclimation in a female cohort enhances thermoregulation and cardiovascular stability

during intermittent exercise in the heat. These improvements may provide protection from exertional heat related illnesses associated with exercise performance. This work adds to the limited body of literature available and this is particularly important given the 2020 Olympics will be held in the hot and humid conditions of Tokyo in Japan.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets generated for this study are available on request to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the University of Hull Ethics Committee. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

REFERENCES

- Akerman, A. P., Tipton, M., Minson, C. T., and Cotter, J. D. (2016). Heat stress and dehydration in adapting for performance: good, bad, both, or neither? *Temperature* 3, 412–436. doi: 10.1080/23328940.2016.1216255
- Allsopp, A. J., Sutherland, R., Wood, P., and Wooton, S. A. (1998). The effect of sodium balance on sweat sodium secretion and plasma aldosterone concentration. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 78, 516–521. doi: 10.1007/s004210050454
- Armstrong, L. E., Francesconi, R. P., Kraemer, W. J., Leva, N., De Luca, J. P., and Hubbard, R. W. (1989). Plasma cortisol, renin, and aldosterone during an intense heat acclimation program. *Int. J. Sports Med.* 10, 38–42. doi: 10.1055/s-2007-1024871
- Armstrong, L. E., Herrera Soto, J. A., Hacker, F. T., Casa, D. J., Kavouras, S. A., and Maresh, C. M. (1998). Urinary indices during dehydration, exercise, and rehydration. *Int. J. Sport Nutr.* 8, 345–355. doi: 10.1123/ijsn.8.4.345
- Armstrong, L. E., Maresh, C. M., Castellani, J. W., Bergeron, M. F., Kenefick, R. W., LaGasse, K. E., et al. (1994). Urinary indices of hydration status. *Int. J. Sport Nutr.* 4, 265–279. doi: 10.1123/ijsn.4.3.265
- Armstrong, L. E., Maresh, C. M., Keith, N. R., Elliott, T. A., Van Heest, J. L., Scheet, T. P., et al. (2005). Heat acclimation and physical training adaptations of young women using different contraceptive pills. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* 288, E868–E875.
- Avellini, B. A., Kamon, E., and Krajewski, J. T. (1979). Physiological responses of physically fit men and women to acclimation to humid heat. *DTIC Doc*. 49, 254–261. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1980.49.2.254
- Borg, G. A. (1982). Psychophysical bases of perceived exertion. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 14, 377–381.
- Brandenberger, G., Candas, V., Follenius, M., and Kahn, J. M. (1989). The influence of initial state of hydration on endocrine responses to exercise in the heat. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 58, 674–679. doi: 10.1007/bf00418516
- Bruinvels, G., Burden, R., Brown, N., Richards, T., and Pedlar, C. (2016). The Prevalence and Impact of Heavy Menstrual Bleeding (Menorrhagia) in Elite and Non-Elite Athletes. *PLoS One* 11:e0149881. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0149881
- Charkoudian, N., and Johnson, J. M. (1997). Modification of active cutaneous vasodilation by oral contraceptive hormones. J. Appl. Physiol. 83, 2012–2018. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1997.83.6.2012
- Charkoudian, N., and Stachenfeld, N. (2016). Sex hormone effects on autonomic mechanisms of thermoregulation in humans. *Auton. Neurosci.* 196, 75–80. doi: 10.1016/j.autneu.2015.11.004
- Constantini, N. W., Dubnov, G., and Lebrun, C. M. (2005). The menstrual cycle and sport performance. *Clin. Sports Med.* 24:e51-82.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AG conceived and designed the research. JG, ED, VB, and JS conducted the experiments. JB, HJ, DG-S, and RB contributed to the blood handling and analysis. AG and GA analyzed the data. AG and JG wrote the manuscript. All authors read and approved the manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the João Havelange Research Scholarship (FIFA) and Sport, Health and Exercise Science at the University of Hull, United Kingdom.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Special thanks to the participants in this study and the technical expertise provided.

- Daanen, H. A., and Herweijer, J. A. (2015). effectiveness of an indoor preparation program to increase thermal resilience in elderly for heat waves. *Build. Environ.* 83, 115–119. doi: 10.1016/j.buildenv.2014.04.010
- Dill, D. B., and Costill, D. L. (1974). Calculation of percentage changes in volumes of blood, plasma, and red cells in dehydration. J. Appl. Physiol. 37, 247–248. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1974.37.2.247
- Finberg, J. P., and Berlyne, G. M. (1977). Modification of renin and aldosterone response to heat by acclimatization in man. J. Appl. Physiol. Respir. Environ. Exerc. Physiol. 42, 554–558. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1977.42.4.554
- Francesconi, R. N., Amstrong, L. E., Leva, N. M., Moore, R. J., Szlyk, P. C., Matthew, W. T., et al. (1993). Endocrinological Responses to Dietary Salt Restriction During Heat Acclimation. Nutritional Needs in Hot Environments. Washington, D.C: National Academy Press, 259–275.
- Francesconi, R. P., Sawka, M. N., and Pandolf, K. B. (1983). Hypohydration and heat acclimation: plasma renin and aldosterone during exercise. J. Appl. Physiol. Respir. Environ. Exerc. Physiol. 55, 1790–1794. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1983.55.6. 1790
- Garrett, A. T., Creasy, R., Rehrer, N. J., Patterson, M. J., and Cotter, J. D. (2012). Effectiveness of short-term heat acclimation for highly trained athletes. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 112, 1827–1837. doi: 10.1007/s00421-011-2153-3
- Garrett, A. T., Goosens, N. G., Rehrer, N. J., Patterson, M. J., and Cotter, J. D. (2009). Induction and decay of short-term heat acclimation. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 107, 659–670. doi: 10.1007/s00421-009-1182-7
- Garrett, A. T., Goosens, N. G., Rehrer, N. J., Patterson, M. J., Harrison, J., Sammut, I., et al. (2014). Short-term heat acclimation is effective and may be enhanced rather than impaired by dehydration. *Am. J. Hum. Biol.* 26, 311–320. doi: 10.1002/ajhb.22509
- Garrett, A. T., Rehrer, N. J., and Patterson, M. J. (2011). Induction and decay of short-term heat acclimation in moderately and highly trained athletes. Sports Med. 41, 757–771. doi: 10.2165/11587320-00000000-00000
- Gerrett, N., Kingma, B. R. M., Sluijter, R., and Daanen, H. A. M. (2019). Ambient conditions prior to Tokyo 2020 olympic and paralympic games: considerations for acclimation or acclimatization strategies. *Front. Physiol.* 10:414. doi: 10. 3389/fphys.2019.00414
- Gibson, O. R., Mee, J. A., Tuttle, J. A., Taylor, L., Watt, P. W., and Maxwell, N. S. (2015). Isothermic and fixed intensity heat acclimation methods induce similar heat adaptation following short and long-term timescales. *J. Therm. Biol.* 4, 55–65. doi: 10.1016/j.jtherbio.2015.02.005
- Goto, M., Okazaki, K., Kamijo, Y., Ikegawa, S., Masuki, S., Miyagawa, K., et al. (2010). Protein and carbohydrate supplementation during 5-day aerobic training enhanced plasma volume expansion and thermoregulatory adaptation

in young men. J. Appl. Physiol. 109, 1247–1255. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00577. 2010

- Grucza, R., Pekkarinen, H., Titov, E. K., Kononoff, A., and Hänninen, O. (1993). Influence of the menstrual cycle and oral contraceptives on thermoregulatory responses to exercise in young women. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol. Occup. Physiol.* 67, 279–285. doi: 10.1007/bf00864229
- Hessemer, V., Zeh, A., and Brück, K. (1986). Effects of passive heat adaptation and moderate sweatless conditioning on responses to cold and heat. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol. Occup. Physiol.* 55, 281–289. doi: 10.1007/bf02343800
- Inoue, Y., Tanaka, Y., Omori, K., Kuwahara, T., Ogura, Y., and Ueda, H. (2005). Sex-and menstrual cycle-related differences in sweating and cutaneous blood flow in response to passive heat exposure. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 94, 232–332.
- Janse de Jonge, X. A., Thompson, M. W., Chuter, V. H., Silk, L. N., and Thom, J. M. (2012). Exercise performance over the menstrual cycle in temperate and hot, humid conditions. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 44, 2190–2198. doi: 10.1249/MSS. 0b013e3182656f13
- Judelson, D. A., Maresh, C. M., Yamamoto, L. M., Farrell, M. J., Armstrong, L. E., Kraemer, W. J., et al. (2008). Effect of hydration state on resistance exerciseinduced endocrine markers of anabolism, catabolism, and metabolism. J. Appl. Physiol. 105, 816–824. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.01010.2007
- Kampmann, B., Brode, P., Schutte, M., and Griefahn, B. (2008). Lowering of resting core temperature during acclimation is influenced by exercise stimulus. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 104, 321–327. doi: 10.1007/s00421-007-0658-6
- Kirby, N. V., Lucas, S. J. E., and Lucas, R. A. I. (2019). Nine-, but not four-days heat acclimation improves self-paced endurance performance in females. *Front. Physiol.* 10:539. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019.00539
- Kolka, M. A., and Stephenson, L. A. (1989). Control of sweating during the human menstrual cycle. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol. Occup. Physiol.* 58, 890–895. doi: 10.1007/ bf02332224
- Kolka, M. A., and Stephenson, L. A. (1997). Interaction of menstrual cycle phase, clothing resistance and exercise on thermoregulation in women. *J. Therm. Biol.* 22, 137–141. doi: 10.1016/s0306-4565(97)00003-x
- Lebrun, C. M., McKenzie, D. C., Prior, J. C., and Taunton, J. E. (1995). Effects of menstrual cycle phase on athletic performance. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 27, 437–444.
- Lei, T. H., and Mundel, T. (2018). Humid heat stress affects trained female athletes more than does their menstrual phase. *Temp. Vol.* 5, 202–204. doi: 10.1080/ 23328940.2018.1436394
- Lei, T.-H., Stannard, S. R., Perry, B. G., Schlader, Z. J., Cotter, J. D., and Mu, T. (2017). Influence of menstrual phase and arid vs. humid heat stress on autonomic and behavioural thermoregulation during exercise in trained but unacclimated women. J. Physiol. 595, 2823–2837. doi: 10.1113/JP273176
- Mee, J. A., Gibson, O. R., Doust, J., and Maxwell, N. S. (2015). A comparison of males and females' temporal patterning to short- and long-term heat acclimation. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 25(Suppl. 1), 250–258. doi: 10.1111/sms. 12417
- Neal, R. A., Corbett, J., Massey, H. C., and Tipton, M. J. (2015). Effect of shortterm heat acclimation with permissive dehydration on thermoregulation and temperate exercise performance. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 26, 875–884. doi: 10.1111/sms.12526
- Neal, R. A., Massey, H. C., Tipton, M. J., Young, J. S., and Corbett, J. (2016). Effect of permissive dehydration on induction and decay of heat acclimation, and temperate exercise performance. *Front. Physiol.* 7:564. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2016. 00564
- Notley, S. R., Dervis, S. M., Poirier, M. P., and Kenny, G. P. (2018). Menstrual cycle phase does not modulate whole-body heat loss during exercise in hot dry conditions. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 126, 286–293. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00735.2018
- Ozgunen, K. T., Kurdak, S. S., Maughan, R. J., Zeren, C., Korkmaz, S., Yazici, Z., et al. (2010). Effect of hot environmental conditions on physical activity patterns and temperature response of football players. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 20(Suppl. 3), 140–147. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0838.2010.01219.x
- Pethick, W. A., Stellingwerff, T., Lacroix, M. A., Bergstrom, C., and Meylan, C. M. (2018). The effect of a team sport-specific heat acclimation protocol on plasma volume in elite female soccer players. *Sci. Med. Footb.* 2, 16–22. doi: 10.1080/24733938.2017.1384559
- Ramanathan, N. L. (1964). A New weighting system for mean surface temperature of the human body. J. Appl. Physiol. 19, 531–533. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1964. 19.3.531

- Rogers, S. M., and Baker, M. A. (1997). Thermoregulation during exercise in women who are taking oral contraceptives. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol. Occup. Physiol.* 75, 34–38. doi: 10.1007/s004210050123
- Sawka, M. N., Wenger, C. B., and Pandolf, K. B. (1996). "Thermoregulatory responses to acute exercise-heat stress and heat acclimation," in *Handbook of Physiology, Section 4: Environmental Physiology*, eds M. J. Fregly, and C. M. Blatteis, (New York, NY: Oxford University Press), 157–185.
- Senay, L. C. (1979). Effects of exercise in the heat on body fluid distribution. Med. Sci. Sports 11, 42–48.
- Senay, L. C., Mitchell, D., and Wyndham, C. H. (1976). Acclimatization in a hot, humid environment: body fluid adjustments. J. Appl. Physiol. 40, 786–796. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1976.40.5.786
- Stachenfeld, N. S. (2008). Sex hormone effects on body fluid regulation. Exerc. Sport Sci. Rev. 36, 152–159. doi: 10.1097/JES.0b013e31817be928
- Stachenfeld, N. S., Silva, C., and Keefe, D. L. (2000). Estrogen modifies the temperature effects of progesterone. J. Appl. Physiol. 88, 1643–1649. doi: 10. 1152/jappl.2000.88.5.1643
- Stachenfeld, N. S., Silva, C., Keefe, D. L., Kokoszka, C. A., and Nadel, E. R. (1999). Effects of oral contraceptives on body fluid regulation. J. Appl. Physiol. 87, 1016–1025. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1999.87.3.1016
- Stephenson, L. A., and Kolka, M. A. (1985). Menstrual cycle phase and time of day alter reference signal controlling arm blood flow and sweating. *Am. J. Physiol.* 249(2 Pt 2), R186–R191.
- Sunderland, C., Morris, J. G., and Nevill, M. E. (2008). A heat acclimation protocol for team sports. *Br. J. Sports Med.* 42, 327–333. doi: 10.1136/bjsm.2007. 034207
- Sunderland, C., and Nevill, M. (2003). Effect of the menstrual cycle on performance of intermittent, high-intensity shuttle running in a hot environment. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 88, 345–352. doi: 10.1007/s00421-002-0722-1
- Taylor, N. A. S., and Cotter, J. D. (2006). Heat adaptation: guidelines for the optimisation of human performance. Int. Sport Med. J. 7, 33–57.
- Tenaglia, S. A., McLellan, T. M., and Klentrou, P. P. (1999). Influence of menstrual cycle and oral contraceptives on tolerance to uncompensable heat stress. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol. Occup. Physiol.* 80, 76–83. doi: 10.1007/s0042100 50561
- Tounsi, M., Jaafar, H., Aloui, A., and Souissi, N. (2017). Soccer-related performance in eumenorrheic Tunisian high-level soccer players: effects of menstrual cycle phase and moment of day. J. Sports Med. Phys. Fitness 58, 497–502. doi: 10. 23736/S0022-4707.17.06958-4
- Vescovi, J. D., and Favero, T. G. (2014). Motion characteristics of women's college soccer matches: Female Athletes in Motion (FAiM) study. *Int. J. Sports Physiol. Perform.* 9, 405–414. doi: 10.1123/IJSPP.2013-0526
- Waldron, M., Jeffries, O., Tallent, J., Patterson, S., and Nevola, V. (2019). The time course of adaptations in thermoneutral maximal oxygen consumption following heat acclimation. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 119, 2391–2399. doi: 10.1007/ s00421-019-04218-2
- Wiecek, M., Szymura, J., Maciejczyk, M., Cempla, J., and Szygula, Z. (2016). Effect of sex and menstrual cycle in women on starting speed, anaerobic endurance and muscle power. *Physiol. Int.* 103, 127–132. doi: 10.1556/036.103.2016.1.13
- Willoughby, D. S., Priest, J. W., and Nelson, M. (2002). Expression of the stress proteins, Ubiquitin, heat shock protein 72, and Myofibrillar protein content after 12 weeks of leg cycling in persons with spinal cord injury. *Arch. Phys. Med. Rehabil.* 83, 649–654. doi: 10.1053/apmr.2002.31184
- Wilson, C. A., Abdenour, T. E., and Keye, W. R. (1991). Menstrual disorders among intercollegiate athletes and non athletes: perceived impact on performance. *Athletic Train. JNATA* 26, 170–177.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Garrett, Dodd, Biddlecombe, Gleadall-Siddall, Burke, Shaw, Bray, Jones, Abt and Gritt. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.




Integrating Heat Training in the Rehabilitation Toolbox for the Injured Athlete

Mohammed Ihsan¹, Julien D. Périard² and Sébastien Racinais^{1*}

¹ Aspetar Orthopaedic and Sports Medicine Hospital, Doha, Qatar, ² Research Institute for Sport and Exercise, University of Canberra, Canberra, ACT, Australia

Keywords: heat acclimation, heat therapy, physiotherapy (rehabilitation), muscle hypertrophy, muscle atrophy, passive heating, thermal therapy

INTRODUCTION

Musculoskeletal injuries are arguably one of the most severe impediments athletes may encounter in their career. Depending on the severity of the sustained injury, time-loss could be substantial, leading to profound de-conditioning effects within the cardiovascular, metabolic and muscular systems. For instance, following ACL reconstruction, athletes' return to sport may range between 16 and 52 weeks (Anderson et al., 2019). Case studies in elite soccer players have reported profound losses in whole body fat-free mass (5.8 kg), as well as in lean leg mass (0.9–1.5 kg) following immobilization and inactivity during this period (Milsom et al., 2014; Anderson et al., 2019). Moreover, a 4–20% decline in maximal aerobic capacity (VO_{2max}) has been reported following 2–8 weeks of physical de-conditioning, owing largely to the decline in blood volume, and consequently stroke volume and cardiac output (Mujika and Padilla, 2001). In this context, there is a crucial need to optimize rehabilitation programs, such that the physical demands associated with return to sport and beyond are well-tolerated.

Here we propose that an athlete's rehabilitation program may be optimized by incorporating repeated heat exposures or heat acclimation, given the evidence in support of this modality to minimize skeletal muscle and cardiovascular de-conditioning during periods of disuse and reduced physical activity. For example, there is emerging evidence demonstrating remarkable benefits of heat stress on the regulation of muscle mass (Selsby and Dodd, 2005; Selsby et al., 2007; Ihsan et al., 2014; Hafen et al., 2019). Moreover, training in the heat allows for maintaining a lower absolute work load for a given relative exercise intensity, reducing the mechanical demands of the rehabilitating athlete. While it is important to note that some (Shvartz et al., 1977; Sawka et al., 1985; Lorenzo et al., 2010), but not all (Karlsen et al., 2015; Keiser et al., 2015; Neal et al., 2016) studies have reported improved exercise performance in cooler environments following heat acclimation, harnessing the benefits through passive or active heat acclimation remains a promising strategy to minimize cardiovascular de-conditioning in a rehabilitating athlete, whose training load is considerably reduced. This opinion piece presents how repeated heat exposures may be incorporated in the rehabilitation toolbox at various stages of the return to sport journey (**Figure 1**).

MUSCLE ADAPTATIONS TO HEAT THERAPY TO MINIMIZE MUSCLE ATROPHY WHEN IMMOBILIZED

During the first phase of the rehabilitation program, including pre- and post-surgery, heat exposure may be used to minimize the loss in muscle mass (Figure 1). Indeed, the effects of heat stress on the regulation of muscle mass has been relatively well-studied in cell cultures and rodents, demonstrating remarkable benefits. For instance, heat stress has been shown to enhance the

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Billy Sperlich, Julius Maximilian University of Würzburg, Germany

Reviewed by:

Christopher James Tyler, University of Roehampton London, United Kingdom Geoffrey M. Minett, Queensland University of Technology, Australia

*Correspondence: Sébastien Racinais sebastien.racinais@aspetar.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Exercise Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 22 July 2019 Accepted: 21 November 2019 Published: 11 December 2019

Citation:

Ihsan M, Périard JD and Racinais S (2019) Integrating Heat Training in the Rehabilitation Toolbox for the Injured Athlete. Front. Physiol. 10:1488. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019.01488

72





recovery of muscle mass within atrophied muscles (Goto et al., 2004; Selsby et al., 2007), as well as attenuate the loss in muscle mass in aging (Ohno et al., 2012), disuse (Selsby and Dodd, 2005), and pharmacological (Tsuchida et al., 2017) models of muscle atrophy. Moreover, heat exposure has been shown to preserve muscle mass and minimize protein degradation in a variety of muscle trauma models including ischemic injury (Garramone et al., 1994), crush injury (Takeuchi et al., 2012), and pharmacologically-induced muscle toxicity (Kojima et al., 2007; Shibaguchi et al., 2016).

The potential for heat-based interventions to be an integrative part of a rehabilitation strategy has, therefore, gathered considerable enthusiasm lately. This surge in interest is in-part due to recent studies in humans demonstrating improved muscle contractile function (Racinais et al., 2017b) or attenuated loss of muscle mass during immobilization (Hafen et al., 2019) following short-term heat exposure. Specifically, Racinais et al. (2017b) showed that 11 days of passive whole body heat exposure (60 min @ 48-50°C, 50% RH) resulted in an increased peak twitch amplitude, improved maximal voluntary torque, as well as the relative torque/electromyographic relationship. Additionally, more recent data by Hafen et al. (2019) showed that the decline in muscle mass following 10 days of lower limb immobilization was in-part attenuated when 120 min of localized heating of the vastus lateralis was administered daily. The preserved muscle mass following heat treatment coincided with the protein abundance of the transcriptional co-activator PGC-1a, HSP 70, and HSP 90, as well as minimized loss of mitochondrial respiratory chain protein content and mitochondrial respiratory function (Hafen et al., 2019). These findings are in general agreement with evidence gathered from cultured cells and rodents, where heat stress had been shown to mitigate muscle atrophic pathways through HSPs, PGC-1 α , and mitochondrial signaling (Sandri et al., 2006; Romanello et al., 2010; Cannavino et al., 2015).

In addition to a mitochondrial and HSP centered mechanism, data gathered from cell cultures and rodent models implicate the Akt-mTOR cascade as a potential pathway by which heat stress might preserve muscle mass during immobilization. For instance, acute exposures (30-60 min) to environmental heat (39-41°C) has been shown to increase anabolic signaling (i.e., Akt-mTOR pathway), in line with increased muscle protein content (Goto et al., 2003; Uehara et al., 2004; Ohno et al., 2012; Yoshihara et al., 2013). Apart from initiating protein synthesis per se, activation of Akt has also been shown to suppress protein degradation through inactivating FOXO3, a key transcription factor regulating the expression of atrophic genes (Sandri et al., 2004). Nevertheless, while there is considerable evidence indicating that Akt-mTOR signaling may be up-regulated following heat stress, further evidence involving humans is further needed to verify this pathway within immobilization and injury models.

PASSIVE HEAT ACCLIMATION TO MINIMIZE DE-CONDITIONING EFFECTS WHEN NOT TRAINING

In addition to protecting muscle mass, passive heat exposures may also help to maintain cardiovascular fitness from the

onset of injury (Figure 1). Indeed, the cardiovascular and thermoregulatory adaptations conferred by repeated heat exposures are somewhat similar to the adaptations acquired through exercise per se, but with some specificities to improve thermoregulation. Importantly, a large part of the cardiovascular and thermoregulatory adaptations conferred by exercise heat stress may also be obtained through passive exposures in the condition that they sufficiently trigger an increase in body temperature, circulation, and sweating (Racinais et al., 2015; Périard et al., 2016). With recent studies demonstrating the accrue of such adaptations following passive heat exposures (Brazaitis and Skurvydas, 2010; Racinais et al., 2017a,b), there is intuitively an interest in developing heatrelated therapeutic modalities for injured athletes restricted from training. The purpose of such modalities would be to induce cardiovascular adaptations (e.g., blood volume expansion) that aid in attenuating the loss of fitness, given the deterioration in cardiovascular adaptation substantially accounts for the decrease in VO_{2max} during de-conditioning (Mujika and Padilla, 2001). Practical passive heat acclimation strategies include hot water immersion or sauna bathing. Saunas are typically 80-90°C, whereas water temperature when immersing into a bath should be 40-42°C to induce adaptation, while remaining tolerable. These modalities are typically undertaken for 30-60 min, depending on whether heating was preceded by exercise. Guidelines regarding passive heating strategies are comparable to exercise heat acclimation and include consecutive days of exposure with a minimum of 5-7 exposures for initiating adaptations (Heathcote et al., 2018).

HEAT TRAINING TO OPTIMIZE THE RELATIVE/ABSOLUTE WORKLOAD IN INJURED ATHLETES

Once the athlete can progressively load the injured limb but is still unable to undertake heavy training, heat exposure during mild exercise may enhance the re-conditioning process (Figure 1). Indeed, exercise heat exposure provides a unique challenge to the cardiovascular system, which must not only supply blood to exercising muscles (i.e., oxygen delivery), but also to the peripheral vasculature (i.e., heat loss). When prolonged exercise is undertaken under heat stress and whole-body temperature increases, the cardiovascular response is progressively exacerbated compared to that of temperate conditions (Périard et al., 2013). This exacerbation is characterized by a compromise in the maintenance of mean arterial blood pressure and cardiac output, as heart rate drifts upward and stroke volume decreases (Rowell, 1974; Coyle and Gonzalez-Alonso, 2001). This forces the cardiovascular system toward a functional limit (i.e., VO_{2max}) (Nybo et al., 2001; Arngrimsson et al., 2003) with a progressive hyperthermia-induced reduction in VO_{2max} increasing the relative exercise intensity (i.e., $%VO_{2max}$) for a given absolute workload (Périard et al., 2011; Périard and Racinais, 2015). Thus, the hyperthermia-induced dissociation between relative and absolute exercise intensity (Périard and Racinais, 2015) may allow injured athletes to train at a given heart rate or percentage of VO_{2max} for a lower absolute mechanical load in hot than temperate conditions.

Although the exacerbated cardiovascular response inherent with exercising under heat stress impairs the ability to perform optimally in hot environments, it may provide a pathway for injured athletes to train at high relative intensities without having to produce high levels of mechanical work with an injured limb. For example, injured athletes could exercise at a workload equivalent to a particular %VO_{2max}, which as the session progressed, would result in increasing cardiovascular (Wingo, 2015) and metabolic (Febbraio et al., 1994) responses. To expedite these responses and avoid having to produce high levels of mechanical work in the early part of exercise sessions, prior to the development of whole-body hyperthermia, exercise may be preceded by passive heating.

Ultimately, we suggest that injured athletes may benefit from training in the heat as the cardio-metabolic load associated with a given mechanical workload increases progressively with the development of hyperthermia. This may help maintain fitness or attenuate the loss of aerobic capacity associated with a prolonged rehabilitation process following an injury, particularly in those unable to fully load the injured limb.

CONCLUSION

In summary, the therapeutic use of either exercise or passive heat exposure is a novel and emerging modality to assist with post-injury rehabilitation or re-conditioning. The use of such modalities can be targeted toward minimizing cardiovascular de-conditioning in athletes who are unable to undertake their usual mechanical loading. Moreover, drawing from the extensive research in rodent and cell cultures, as well as emerging evidence in humans, the use of passive heat application may minimize the decline in muscle mass during immobilization or periods of severely restricted exercise. There is a need though, to undertake further research toward optimizing the delivery of passive and active heat treatment modalities (i.e., whole-body vs. limb only, optimal muscle temperature and duration, doseresponse, etc.). Such information would aid in the development of evidence-based heat therapy protocols for both sporting and clinical situations.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MI, JP and SR conceived and contributed to writing the manuscript. All authors provided critical feedback approved the final version of the manuscript.

REFERENCES

- Anderson, L., Close, G. L., Konopinksi, M., Rydings, D., Milsom, J., Hambly, C., et al. (2019). Case study: muscle atrophy, hypertrophy and energy expenditure of a premier league soccer player during rehabilitation from ACL injury. *Int. J. Sport Nutr. Exerc. Metab.* 29, 559–566. doi: 10.1123/ijsnem.2018-0391
- Arngrimsson, S. A., Stewart, D. J., Borrani, F., Skinner, K. A., and Cureton, K. J. (2003). Relation of heart rate to percentV o 2 peak during submaximal exercise in the heat. J. Appl. Physiol. 94, 1162–1168. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00508.2002
- Brazaitis, M., and Skurvydas, A. (2010). Heat acclimation does not reduce the impact of hyperthermia on central fatigue. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 109, 771–778. doi: 10.1007/s00421-010-1429-3
- Cannavino, J., Brocca, L., Sandri, M., Grassi, B., Bottinelli, R., and Pellegrino, M. A. (2015). The role of alterations in mitochondrial dynamics and PGC-1α overexpression in fast muscle atrophy following hindlimb unloading. *J. Physiol.* 593, 1981–1995. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2014.286740
- Coyle, E., and Gonzalez-Alonso, J. (2001). Cardiovascular drift during prolonged exercise: new perspectives. *Exerc. Sport Sci. Rev.* 29, 88–92. doi: 10.1249/00003677-200104000-00009
- Febbraio, M., Snow, R., Stathis, C., Hargreaves, M., and Carey, M. (1994). Effect of heat stress on muscle energy metabolism during exercise. J. Appl. Physiol. 77, 2827–2831. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1994.77.6.2827
- Garramone, J. R., Winters, R. M., Das, D. K., and Deckers, P. J. (1994). Reduction of skeletal muscle injury through stress conditioning using the heat-shock response. *Plastic Reconstr. Surg.* 93, 1242–1247. doi: 10.1097/00006534-199405000-00021
- Goto, K., Honda, M., Kobayashi, T., Uehara, K., Kojima, A., Akema, T., et al. (2004). Heat stress facilitates the recovery of atrophied soleus muscle in rat. *Jpn. J. Physiol.* 54, 285–293. doi: 10.2170/jjphysiol.54.285
- Goto, K., Okuyama, R., Sugiyama, H., Honda, M., Kobayashi, T., Uehara, K., et al. (2003). Effects of heat stress and mechanical stretch on protein expression in cultured skeletal muscle cells. *Pflügers Archiv.* 447, 247–253. doi: 10.1007/s00424-003-1177-x
- Hafen, P. S., Abbott, K., Bowden, J. A., Lopiano, R., Hancock, C. R., and Hyldahl, R. D. (2019). Daily heat treatment maintains mitochondrial function and attenuates atrophy in human skeletal muscle subjected to immobilization. J. Appl. Physiol. 127, 47–57. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.0109 8.2018
- Heathcote, S. L., Hassmen, P., Zhou, S., and Stevens, C. J. (2018). Passive heating: reviewing practical heat acclimation strategies for endurance athletes. *Front. Physiol.* 9:1851. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.01851
- Ihsan, M., Watson, G., and Abbiss, C. (2014). PGC-1α mediated muscle aerobic adaptations to exercise, heat and cold exposure. *Cell. Mol. Exerc. Physiol.* 3:e7. doi: 10.7457/cmep.v3i1.e7
- Karlsen, A., Racinais, S., Jensen, M., Nørgaard, S., Bonne, T., and Nybo, L. (2015). Heat acclimatization does not improve VO2max or cycling performance in a cool climate in trained cyclists. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 25, 269–276. doi: 10.1111/sms.12409
- Keiser, S., Flück, D., Hüppin, F., Stravs, A., Hilty, M. P., and Lundby, C. (2015). Heat training increases exercise capacity in hot but not in temperate conditions: a mechanistic counter-balanced cross-over study. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* 309, H750–H761. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00138.2015
- Kojima, A., Goto, K., Morioka, S., Naito, T., Akema, T., Fujiya, H., et al. (2007). Heat stress facilitates the regeneration of injured skeletal muscle in rats. J. Orthop. Sci. 12, 74–82. doi: 10.1007/s00776-006-1083-0
- Lorenzo, S., Halliwill, J. R., Sawka, M. N., and Minson, C. T. (2010). Heat acclimation improves exercise performance. J. Appl. Physiol. 109, 1140–1147. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00495.2010
- Milsom, J., Barreira, P., Burgess, D. J., Iqbal, Z., and Morton, J. P. (2014). Case study: muscle atrophy and hypertrophy in a premier league soccer player during rehabilitation from ACL injury. *Int. J. Sport Nutr. Exerc. Metab.* 24, 543–552. doi: 10.1123/ijsnem.2013-0209
- Mujika, I., and Padilla, S. (2001). Cardiorespiratory and metabolic characteristics of detraining in humans. *Med. Sci. Sport. Exerc.* 33, 413–421. doi: 10.1097/00005768-200103000-00013
- Neal, R. A., Corbett, J., Massey, H. C., and Tipton, M. J. (2016). Effect of short-term heat acclimation with permissive dehydration on thermoregulation

and temperate exercise performance. Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports 26, 875–884. doi: 10.1111/sms.12526

- Nybo, L., Jensen, T., Nielsen, B., and González-Alonso, J. (2001). Effects of marked hyperthermia with and without dehydration onV o 2 kinetics during intense exercise. J. Appl. Physiol. 90, 1057–1064. doi: 10.1152/jappl.2001.90.3.1057
- Ohno, Y., Yamada, S., Goto, A., Ikuta, A., Sugiura, T., Ohira, Y., et al. (2012). Effects of heat stress on muscle mass and the expression levels of heat shock proteins and lysosomal cathepsin L in soleus muscle of young and aged mice. *Mol. Cell. Biochem.* 369, 45–53. doi: 10.1007/s11010-012-1367-y
- Périard, J. D., Cramer, M. N., Chapman, P. G., Caillaud, C., and Thompson, M. W. (2011). Cardiovascular strain impairs prolonged self-paced exercise in the heat. *Exp. Physiol.* 96, 134–144. doi: 10.1113/expphysiol.2010.054213
- Périard, J. D., and Racinais, S. (2015). Self-paced exercise in hot and cool conditions is associated with the maintenance of% VO2peak within a narrow range. J. Appl. Physiol. 118, 1258–1265. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00084.2015
- Périard, J. D., Thompson, M. W., Caillaud, C., and Quaresima, V. (2013). Influence of heat stress and exercise intensity on vastus lateralis muscle and prefrontal cortex oxygenation. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 113, 211–222. doi: 10.1007/s00421-012-2427-4
- Périard, J. D., Travers, G. J., Racinais, S., and Sawka, M. N. (2016). Cardiovascular adaptations supporting human exercise-heat acclimation. *Auton. Neurosci.* 196, 52–62. doi: 10.1016/j.autneu.2016.02.002
- Racinais, S., Alonso, J.-M., Coutts, A. J., Flouris, A. D., Girard, O., González-Alonso, J., et al. (2015). Consensus recommendations on training and competing in the heat. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 25, 6–19. doi: 10.1111/sms.12467
- Racinais, S., Wilson, M. G., Gaoua, N., and Périard, J. D. (2017a). Heat acclimation has a protective effect on the central but not peripheral nervous system. J. Appl. Physiol. 123, 816–824. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.0043 0.2017
- Racinais, S., Wilson, M. G., and Périard, J. D. (2017b). Passive heat acclimation improves skeletal muscle contractility in humans. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 312, R101–R107. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.0043 1.2016
- Romanello, V., Guadagnin, E., Gomes, L., Roder, I., Sandri, C., Petersen, Y., et al. (2010). Mitochondrial fission and remodelling contributes to muscle atrophy. *EMBO J.* 29, 1774–1785. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2 010.60
- Rowell, L. B. (1974). Human cardiovascular adjustments to exercise and thermal stress. *Physiol. Rev.* 54, 75–159. doi: 10.1152/physrev.1974.54.1.75
- Sandri, M., Lin, J., Handschin, C., Yang, W., Arany, Z. P., Lecker, S. H., et al. (2006). PGC-1α protects skeletal muscle from atrophy by suppressing FoxO3 action and atrophy-specific gene transcription. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 103, 16260–16265. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0607795103
- Sandri, M., Sandri, C., Gilbert, A., Skurk, C., Calabria, E., Picard, A., et al. (2004). Foxo transcription factors induce the atrophy-related ubiquitin ligase atrogin-1 and cause skeletal muscle atrophy. *Cell* 117, 399–412. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(04)00400-3
- Sawka, M. N., Young, A. J., Cadarette, B. S., Levine, L., and Pandolf, K. B. (1985). Influence of heat stress and acclimation on maximal aerobic power. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol. Occup. Physiol.* 53, 294–298. doi: 10.1007/BF00422841
- Selsby, J. T., and Dodd, S. L. (2005). Heat treatment reduces oxidative stress and protects muscle mass during immobilization. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 289, R134–R139. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00497.2004
- Selsby, J. T., Rother, S., Tsuda, S., Pracash, O., Quindry, J., and Dodd, S. L. (2007). Intermittent hyperthermia enhances skeletal muscle regrowth and attenuates oxidative damage following reloading. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 102, 1702–1707. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00722.2006
- Shibaguchi, T., Sugiura, T., Fujitsu, T., Nomura, T., Yoshihara, T., Naito, H., et al. (2016). Effects of icing or heat stress on the induction of fibrosis and/or regeneration of injured rat soleus muscle. *J. Physiol. Sci.* 66, 345–357. doi: 10.1007/s12576-015-0433-0
- Shvartz, E., Shapiro, Y., Magazanik, A., Meroz, A., Birnfeld, H., Mechtinger, A., et al. (1977). Heat acclimation, physical fitness, and responses to exercise in temperate and hot environments. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 43, 678–683. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1977.43.4.678
- Takeuchi, K., Hatade, T., Wakamiya, S., Fujita, N., Arakawa, T., and Miki, A. (2014). Heat stress promotes skeletal muscle regeneration after crush

injury in rats. Acta Histochem. 116, 327-334. doi: 10.1016/j.acthis.201 3.08.010

- Touchberry, C. D., Gupte, A. A., Bomhoff, G. L., Graham, Z. A., Geiger, P. C., and Gallagher, P. M. (2012). Acute heat stress prior to downhill running may enhance skeletal muscle remodeling. *Cell Stress Chaperones* 17, 693–705. doi: 10.1007/s12192-012-0343-5
- Tsuchida, W., Iwata, M., Akimoto, T., Matsuo, S., Asai, Y., and Suzuki, S. (2017). Heat stress modulates both anabolic and catabolic signaling pathways preventing dexamethasone-induced muscle atrophy *in vitro. J. Cell. Physiol.* 232, 650–664. doi: 10.1002/jcp.25609
- Uehara, K., Goto, K., Kobayashi, T., Kojima, A., Akema, T., Sugiura, T., et al. (2004). Heat-stress enhances proliferative potential in rat soleus muscle. *Jpn. J. Physiol.* 54, 263–271. doi: 10.2170/jjphysiol.54.263
- Wingo, J. (2015). Exercise intensity prescription during heat stress: a brief review. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 25, 90–95. doi: 10.1111/sms.12381

Yoshihara, T., Naito, H., Kakigi, R., Ichinoseki-Sekine, N., Ogura, Y., Sugiura, T., et al. (2013). Heat stress activates the Akt/mTOR signalling pathway in rat skeletal muscle. *Acta Physiol.* 207, 416–426. doi: 10.1111/apha.12040

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Ihsan, Périard and Racinais. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Heat Acclimation Does Not Modify Q_{10} and Thermal Cardiac Reactivity

Bernhard Kampmann¹ and Peter Bröde^{2*}

¹ Department of Occupational Health Science, School of Mechanical Engineering and Safety Engineering, University of Wuppertal, Wuppertal, Germany, ²Department of Immunology, Leibniz Research Centre for Working Environment and Human Factors (IfADo), Dortmund, Germany

Heat acclimation (HA) is an essential modifier of physiological strain when working or exercising in the heat. It is unknown whether HA influences the increase of energy expenditure (Q_{10} effect) or heart rate (thermal cardiac reactivity TCR) due to increased body temperature. Therefore, we studied these effects using a heat strain database of climatic chamber experiments performed by five semi-nude young males in either non-acclimated or acclimated state. Measured oxygen consumption rate (VO₂), heart rate (HR), and rectal temperature (T_{re}) averaged over the third hour of exposure were obtained from 273 trials in total. While workload (walking 4 km/h on level) was constant, heat stress conditions varied widely with air temperature 25–55°C, vapor pressure 0.5–5.3 kPa, and air velocity 0.3-2 m/s. HA was induced by repeated heat exposures over a minimum of 3 weeks. Non-acclimated experiments took place in wintertime with a maximum of two exposures per week. The influence of T_{re} and HA on VO₂ and HR was analyzed separately with mixed model ANCOVA. Rising T_{re} significantly (p < 0.01) increased both VO₂ (by about 7% per degree increase of T_{re}) and HR (by 39–41 bpm per degree T_{re}); neither slope nor intercept depended significantly on HA (p > 0.4). The effects of T_{re} in this study agree with former outcomes for VO₂ (7%/°C increase corresponding to $Q_{10} = 2$) and for HR (TCR of 33 bpm/°C in ISO 9886). Our results indicate that both relations are independent of HA with implications for heat stress assessment at workplaces and for modeling heat balance.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Andrew T. Garrett, University of Hull, United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

Michal Horowitz, Hebrew University of Jerusalem, Israel Fabien Andre Basset, Memorial University of Newfoundland, Canada

*Correspondence:

Peter Bröde broede@ifado.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Exercise Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 28 July 2019 Accepted: 04 December 2019 Published: 17 December 2019

Citation:

Kampmann B and Bröde P (2019) Heat Acclimation Does Not Modify Q₁₀ and Thermal Cardiac Reactivity. Front. Physiol. 10:1524. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019.01524 Keywords: heat acclimation, metabolic rate, heart rate, body temperature, rectal temperature, Q_{10} coefficient, heat strain, heat stress

INTRODUCTION

Heat acclimation (HA) refers to adaptations of physiological functions to repeated exposures to heat stress enhancing the tolerance to that stressor and, thus, reducing physiological strain (Taylor, 2014). This manifests, among others, in increased sweat rates accompanied by reduced rates of energy expenditure, heart rates, and body temperatures when exercising in the heat with relevance in military (Sawka et al., 2011), occupational (Strydom et al., 1966; Kampmann, 2000), or sports context (Garrett et al., 2011; Périard et al., 2015).

The above-mentioned heat strain indicators are interlinked, e.g., by the well-known temperature dependency of the rates of chemical and physiological processes (van't Hoff, 1884), which is conveniently described as Q_{10} coefficient, defined as "the ratio of the rate of a physiological process at a particular temperature to the rate at a temperature $10^{\circ}C$ lower"

77

(IUPS Thermal Commission, 2003). Using oxygen uptake rate (VO_2) as indicator of metabolic rate and rectal temperature (T_{re}) characterizing body temperature, this is mathematically expressed as (Chaui-Berlinck et al., 2002):

$$Q_{10} = (VO_2 / VO_{2,\text{ref}})^{10/(T_{\text{re}} - T_{\text{re,ref}})}$$
(1)

 $VO_{2,ref}$ refers to the oxygen uptake rate at a reference rectal temperature, e.g., $T_{re,ref} = 36.8^{\circ}C$. Re-arranging Eq. 1, it expresses percentage change in oxygen uptake rate (%VO₂) due to a change in T_{re} (ΔT_{re}) as follows (Bröde and Kampmann, 2019):

%VO₂ =
$$(Q_{10}^{\Delta T_{re}/10} - 1) \times 100$$
 (2)

 Q_{10} coefficients for biological systems typically vary between 2 and 3 (Chaui-Berlinck et al., 2002; IUPS Thermal Commission, 2003; Seebacher et al., 2015), with relevance not only during hyperthermia (Nadel et al., 1971; Howells et al., 2013), but also during body cooling (Erecinska et al., 2003). Furthermore, the setting $Q_{10} = 2$ is applied in human thermoregulation models (Werner and Buse, 1988; Fiala et al., 2012). A recent study on the influence of core temperature on oxygen uptake with 11 young acclimated males (Kampmann and Bröde, 2015) confirmed this with $Q_{10} = 2.1$ on average, corresponding to a 7% increase in VO₂ per degree rise in T_{re} according to Eq. 2. However, there was large inter-individual variation from $Q_{10} = 1$, i.e., no increase in VO₂ due to T_{re} , to $Q_{10} = 8$, corresponding to 23% VO₂ increase per degree rise in T_{re} .

There are reports on decreased Q_{10} after acclimation to heat indicating a reduced sensitivity of metabolic rates to increasing environmental temperature in ectotherms (Sandblom et al., 2014; Seebacher et al., 2015). Aiming at a comparative human study related to body temperature, we would like to extend the preceding works and analyze "whole organism" Q_{10} effects with acclimated compared to non-acclimated participants.

Body temperature also influences heart rate (HR) with a typical increase of 30–40 bpm per degree rise in $T_{\rm re}$ (Vogt et al., 1973; Kuhlemeier and Miller, 1978; Kampmann, 2000; ISO 9886, 2004; Bröde and Kampmann, 2019). This increase is termed "thermal cardiac reactivity" (TCR), and also "thermal pulses" (Kampmann et al., 2001) or "thermal heart rate component" (ISO 8996, 2004; Dubé et al., 2019), and shows considerable inter-individual variation between 16 and 60 bpm/°C (Kampmann, 2000; Bröde and Kampmann, 2019). An earlier study (Kuhlemeier and Miller, 1978) estimated TCR from pooled intra- and interindividual data under different workloads of workers classified in "hot" and "cold-neutral" professions during summer and winter months, thus considering "natural" acclimation effects. The authors reported 6-7 bpm lower HR in summer compared to winter, and a 5-6 bpm reduction in HR in "hot" professions compared to the reference group, but did not allow for changes in the slope, i.e., TCR, depending on acclimation in their analyses, which were performed using the estimated overall value of 29 bpm/°C. Thus, it is unclear, whether acclimation changes TCR.

 Q_{10} and TCR are relevant for the assessment of thermal stress and strain in different fields of application, e.g., as a potential

source of error when estimating metabolic rate from heart rate measurements (ISO 8996, 2004; Malchaire et al., 2017). Here, TCR may induce an overestimation bias (Bröde and Kampmann, 2019) requiring dedicated correction procedures (Vogt et al., 1973; Kampmann et al., 2001; Dubé et al., 2019). Q_{10} also helps to explain the reduced cycling gross efficiency observed with increasing body temperature (Daanen et al., 2006).

Recently, Q_{10} and TCR were explicitly and implicitly applied for the non-invasive determination of core temperature from peripheral signals including heart rate, sometimes also involving the estimation of metabolic rate. Algorithms have been developed typically for work in protective clothing in industry (Richmond et al., 2015), firefighting (Kim, 2018), and military scenarios (Buller et al., 2013; Welles et al., 2018; Hunt et al., 2019).

For those applications, it is important to know whether the underlying algorithms will require adjustments considering the heat acclimation state of the individual. A recent pooled analysis (Bröde et al., 2009) of the changes in $T_{\rm re}$ ($\Delta T_{\rm re}$) and HR (Δ HR) after 5 days of short-term HA observed in 23 females and 34 males showed a significant positive correlation with Δ HR increasing with $\Delta T_{\rm re}$ by 32.6 bpm/°C, close to the 33 bpm/°C reported for TCR in international standards (ISO 9886, 2004). Thus, TCR may have a role in explaining the effects of HA. However, it is unknown whether Q_{10} or TCR will depend on HA.

Therefore, the aim of this research was to study the influence of HA on Q_{10} and TCR using an extensive heat strain database compiled from controlled climatic chamber experiments.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Heat Strain Database

We used a heat strain database of climate chamber experiments conducted previously at IfADo (Wenzel et al., 1989; Kampmann, 2000) according to the ethical principles of the Declaration of Helsinki with approval by IfADo's local Ethics Committee. **Figure 1** illustrates the recordings of rectal temperature ($T_{\rm re}$) and heart rate (HR) for a typical heat stress exposure.

We searched our database for individuals having performed series of experiments in both non-acclimated (HA0) and acclimated (HA1) states. Inclusion criteria were a minimum number of 15 experiments per series with comparable workload and clothing in order to determine Q_{10} and TCR on an individual level. We retrieved 273 trials organized in 10 series, which originated from five semi-nude young fit males in either HA0 or HA1 state. The number of experiments in each series varied depending on acclimation state and individual between 15 and 47 experiments, with total figures of 118 trials for HA0 and 155 for HA1. The personal characteristics (mean \pm SD) of the participants were 20.2 \pm 0.8 years of age, 1.84 \pm 0.02 m of body height, 71.4 \pm 7.5 kg of body weight, 1.9 \pm 0.1 m² of body surface area, and 47.1 \pm 9.8 mL/min/kg of peak rate of oxygen uptake.

As the procedures have been described in detail elsewhere (Kampmann, 2000), they are only briefly summarized here. Each trial consisted of treadmill work with constant workload



of walking 4 km/h on the level for at least 3 h organized in 30 min work periods interrupted by 3 min breaks for determining body weight loss (**Figure 1**). The participants were exposed to varying levels of heat stress with conditions characterized by different combinations of air temperature (range $25-55^{\circ}$ C), water vapor pressure (0.5–5.3 kPa), and air velocity (0.3–2.0 m/s). Mean radiant temperature was equal to air temperature.

Rectal temperatures were recorded continuously using a thermistor probe (YSI 401, Yellow Springs) inserted 10 cm past the anal sphincter, as well as heart rates, which were obtained using ECG electrodes. $T_{\rm re}$ and HR were stored as 1-min averages, and means calculated over the third hour of exposure were used for further analyses (**Figure 1**). They were matched to oxygen uptake rates (VO₂) obtained toward the end of the third hour of exposure by collecting the expired air with Douglas bags (Douglas, 1911). We determined the oxygen and carbon dioxide concentrations with a paramagnetic gas analyzer (Servomex) and infrared analyzer (UNOR Mark 2), respectively. The VO₂ calculations based on the Haldane transformation (Poole and Whipp, 1988) are detailed in Rutenfranz and Wenzel (1980), while the methods were historically reviewed recently (Shephard, 2017).

Heat Acclimation Protocol

HA was induced by repeated experiments in warm-humid climates (air temperature 38–40°C with 65–70% relative humidity) over 3–4 weeks in a way that the subjects could sustain 3 h

of heat exposure reaching a $T_{\rm re}$ of 38.5°C. To counteract a decay in acclimation over the weekend (Daanen et al., 2018), HA was re-established on Mondays and measurements for the series started the day after.

Non-acclimated exposures took place in wintertime in order to avoid seasonal adaptation, and with a maximum of two exposures per week on non-consecutive days to prevent shortterm HA effects.

Data Analysis and Statistics

Statistical analysis was performed using R version 3.6.1 (R Core Team, 2019). The influence of $T_{\rm re}$, which was centered to a reference value of 36.8°C, and HA on VO₂ and HR was analyzed separately with linear mixed model ANCOVA (Bates et al., 2015). The models included random intercepts and $T_{\rm re}$ slopes for individuals nested within acclimation status with tests for statistical significance carried out applying Kenward-Roger approximations for denominator degrees of freedom (Kuznetsova et al., 2017).

RESULTS

Figure 2 illustrates the influence of T_{re} on HR (**Figure 2A**) and VO₂ (**Figure 2B**), respectively. While the information for T_{re} and HR was almost complete (only 5 missing HR values), 34 VO₂ observations were missing, the majority (24) for ID5 in HA1 due to a defect in the O₂ analyzer requiring repairing



TABLE 1 | Mixed effects ANCOVA results for the influence of T_{re} , centered to a reference value of 36.8°C, and heat acclimation (HA) on HR (thermal cardiac reactivity) and on VO₂ (Q_{10} effect).

Parameter	HR (bpm)	VO ₂ (mL/min)	
Intercept $@T_{re} = 36.8^{\circ}C$ for non-acclimated	71.9 ± 3.3 (p < 0.0001)	702.8 ± 30.5 (p < 0.0001)	
$T_{\rm re}$ slope for non-acclimated	39.0 ± 1.9 (p < 0.0001)	50.7 ± 10.9 (p = 0.0024)	
HA1: intercept adjustment for acclimated	-3.6 ± 4.6 (p = 0.4560)	8.7 ± 43.4 (p = 0.8456)	
$T_{\rm re}$ *HA1: slope adjustment for acclimated	2.0 ± 2.7 (p = 0.4716)	-1.0 ± 16.5 (p = 0.9516)	

 $T_{re,}$ rectal temperature; HR, heart rate; VO₂, oxygen uptake rate; HA1, acclimated. Data are parameter estimates \pm SE with values of p for the null hypotheses of zero estimates in brackets resulting from linear mixed model analyses including random intercepts and slopes for participants nested within acclimation status. Bold p-values indicate statistically significant results (p < 0.05).

while the series of exposures had to be continued. Nevertheless, linear regression lines showed positive correlations with $T_{\rm re}$ for both dependent variables in each series.

The parameter estimates from the statistical analysis (**Table 1**) indicate that on average HR rose from 72 bpm at reference $T_{\rm re} = 36.8^{\circ}$ C by 39 bpm per degree increase in $T_{\rm re}$, i.e. TCR was 39 bpm/°C for non-acclimated individuals. When acclimated, the intercept was reduced by 4 bpm, while TCR slightly increased to 41 bpm/°C. However, while the TCR effect was highly statistically significant (p < 0.0001), adjustments due to HA to both intercept and slope were non-significant (p > 0.4).

Similar to TCR, rising $T_{\rm re}$ also significantly (p < 0.01) increased VO₂ by about 7% per degree increase of $T_{\rm re}$ compared to the reference VO₂ at $T_{\rm re} = 36.8^{\circ}$ C for both HA0 and HA1; neither slope (i.e., Q_{10}) nor intercept depended significantly on HA (p > 0.8).

DISCUSSION

Our results regarding the impact of T_{re} on HR conform with reports of TCR between 30 and 40 bpm/°C in previous studies (Vogt et al., 1973; Kuhlemeier and Miller, 1978; Bröde and Kampmann, 2019) and in ISO 9886 (2004). They also agree with former effect sizes for VO₂, as the observed increase of 7%/°C corresponds to a Q_{10} coefficient around 2, which were reported as mean value in human trials (Kampmann and Bröde, 2015) and used in advanced models of human thermoregulation (Werner and Buse, 1988; Fiala et al., 2012).

A novel finding of our study was that heat acclimation did neither modify thermal cardiac reactivity nor influence Q_{10} .

In contrast, a Q_{10} decrease after acclimation to warm conditions was reported for ectotherms and interpreted as lowered sensitivity to increasing environmental temperatures under climate change scenarios (Sandblom et al., 2014). However, those lowered Q_{10} were calculated across states of acclimation presuming that acclimation will shift the otherwise unchanged temperatureresponse function to the right (Seebacher et al., 2015). The latter would conform to the invariance regarding heat acclimation of the intra-individually determined Q_{10} in our study. On the other hand, the shift of the intercept observed in **Table 1** was minimal and non-significant.

There are limitations within this study that only used observations retrieved from an existing database of semi-nude fit young males performing light to moderate work. It would be worthwhile to verify our results involving other populations, e.g., females or elderly, under higher activity levels or working in protective clothing. Future studies might further include heart rate variability (HRV) measurements quantifying the sympathetic and vagal impacts on HR. Earlier studies had indicated vagal dominance following HA (Flouris et al., 2014), and negative correlations of vagal tone with $T_{\rm re}$ and HR (Brenner et al., 1997). However, as HRV calculations require beat-to-beat (RR) intervals, we could not perform these analyses with our aggregated HR data.

Nevertheless, our analyses of 273 experiments indicate that intra-individually determined Q_{10} and TCR remain unaltered following heat acclimation. This stability could have implications for the development and application of methods using the Q_{10} and TCR relationships for the heat stress assessment at workplaces (Malchaire et al., 2017; Bröde and Kampmann, 2019), and for the modeling of heat balance, e.g., for predicting core temperature from non-invasive signals when working with protective clothing in industrial, military, or firefighting operations (Richmond et al., 2015; Kim, 2018; Welles et al., 2018).

REFERENCES

- Bates, D., Mächler, M., Bolker, B., and Walker, S. (2015). Fitting linear mixedeffects models using lme4. J. Stat. Softw. 67, 1-48. doi: 10.18637/jss.v067.i01
- Brenner, I. K. M., Thomas, S., and Shephard, R. J. (1997). Spectral analysis of heart rate variability during heat exposure and repeated exercise. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 76, 145–156. doi: 10.1007/s004210050227
- Bröde, P., and Kampmann, B. (2019). Accuracy of metabolic rate estimates from heart rate under heat stress—an empirical validation study concerning ISO 8996. *Ind. Health* 57, 615–620. doi: 10.2486/indhealth.2018-0204
- Bröde, P., Schütte, M., Kampmann, B., and Griefahn, B. (2009). Heat acclimation and its relation to resting core temperature and heart rate. *Occup. Ergon.* 8, 185–193. doi: 10.3233/OER-2009-0168
- Buller, M. J., Tharion, W. J., Cheuvront, S. N., Montain, S. J., Kenefick, R. W., Castellani, J., et al. (2013). Estimation of human core temperature from sequential heart rate observations. *Physiol. Meas.* 34, 781–798. doi: 10.1088/0967-3334/34/7/781

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data including the R scripts used for the analyses supporting the conclusions of this article are provided as **Supplementary Material** to this article.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by IfADo's Local Ethics Commission. The patients/ participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

BK and PB designed and conceived the analyses. BK collected the data. PB organized the database and performed the statistical analysis. Both authors interpreted the data, and wrote the manuscript, and, after critically reviewing and providing significant editing of its content, approved the final article.

FUNDING

The publication of this article was funded by the Open Access Fund of the Leibniz Association.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors gratefully acknowledge the members of IfADo's former department "Environmental Physiology" for skillfully running the experiments.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fphys.2019.01524/ full#supplementary-material

- Chaui-Berlinck, J. G., Monteiro, L. H. A., Navas, C. A., and Bicudo, J. E. P. W. (2002). Temperature effects on energy metabolism: a dynamic system analysis. *Proc. R. Soc. Lond. Ser. B Biol. Sci.* 269, 15–19. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2001.1845
- Daanen, H. A. M., Racinais, S., and Périard, J. D. (2018). Heat acclimation decay and re-induction: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Sports Med. 48, 409–430. doi: 10.1007/s40279-017-0808-x
- Daanen, H. A., van Es, E. M., and de Graaf, J. L. (2006). Heat strain and gross efficiency during endurance exercise after lower, upper, or whole body precooling in the heat. *Int. J. Sports Med.* 27, 379–388. doi: 10.1055/ s-2005-865746
- Douglas, C. G. (1911). A method for determining the total respiratory exchange in man. J. Physiol. 42(Suppl), xvii–xxii. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.1911.sp001452
- Dubé, P.-A., Imbeau, D., Dubeau, D., and Auger, I. (2019). Worker heat stress prevention and work metabolism estimation: comparing two assessment methods of the heart rate thermal component. *Ergonomics* 62, 1066–1085. doi: 10.1080/00140139.2019.1588386

- Erecinska, M., Thoresen, M., and Silver, I. A. (2003). Effects of hypothermia on energy metabolism in mammalian central nervous system. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 23, 513–530. doi: 10.1097/01.Wcb.0000066287.21705.21
- Fiala, D., Havenith, G., Bröde, P., Kampmann, B., and Jendritzky, G. (2012). UTCI-Fiala multi-node model of human heat transfer and temperature regulation. *Int. J. Biometeorol.* 56, 429–441. doi: 10.1007/s00484-011-0424-7
- Flouris, A. D., Poirier, M. P., Bravi, A., Wright-Beatty, H. E., Herry, C., Seely, A. J., et al. (2014). Changes in heart rate variability during the induction and decay of heat acclimation. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 114, 2119–2128. doi: 10.1007/s00421-014-2935-5
- Garrett, A., Creasy, R., Rehrer, N., Patterson, M., and Cotter, J. (2011). Effectiveness of short-term heat acclimation for highly trained athletes. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 112, 1827–1837. doi: 10.1007/s00421-011-2153-3
- Howells, J., Czesnik, D., Trevillion, L., and Burke, D. (2013). Excitability and the safety margin in human axons during hyperthermia. J. Physiol. 591, 3063–3080. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2012.249060
- Hunt, A. P., Buller, M. J., Maley, M. J., Costello, J. T., and Stewart, I. B. (2019). Validity of a noninvasive estimation of deep body temperature when wearing personal protective equipment during exercise and recovery. *Mil. Med. Res.* 6:20. doi: 10.1186/s40779-019-0208-7
- ISO 8996 (2004). Ergonomics of the thermal environment determination of metabolic rate. Geneva: International Organisation for Standardisation.
- ISO 9886 (2004). Ergonomics evaluation of thermal strain by physiological measurements. Geneva: International Organisation for Standardisation.
- IUPS Thermal Commission (2003). Glossary of terms for thermal physiology. J. Therm. Biol. 28, 75-106. doi: 10.1016/S0306-4565(02)00055-4
- Kampmann, B. (2000). Zur Physiologie der Arbeit in warmem Klima. Ergebnisse aus Laboruntersuchungen und aus Feldstudien im Steinkohlenbergbau. Habilitation thesis. Bergische Universität Wuppertal. Available at: http://elpub. bib.uni-wuppertal.de/servlets/DerivateServlet/Derivate-735/h140001.pdf (Accessed December 10, 2019).
- Kampmann, B., and Bröde, P. (2015). Metabolic costs of physiological heat stress responses - Q₁₀ coefficients relating oxygen consumption to body temperature. *Extrem. Physiol. Med.* 4(Suppl. 1):A103. doi: 10.1186/2046-7648-4-S1-A103
- Kampmann, B., Kalkowsky, B., and Piekarski, C. (2001). Estimation of metabolic rate from cardiac frequency for field studies: correcting for "thermal pulses". *J. Therm. Biol.* 26, 437–440. doi: 10.1016/S0306-4565(01)00057-2
- Kim, S. (2018). Prediction of heat strain by heart rate for firefighters in protective clothing. PhD Thesis, Seoul National University. Available at: http://hdl. handle.net/10371/143235 (Accessed December 10, 2019).
- Kuhlemeier, K. V., and Miller, J. M. (1978). Pulse rate-rectal temperature relationships during prolonged work. J. Appl. Physiol. 44, 450–454. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1978.44.3.450
- Kuznetsova, A., Brockhoff, P. B., and Christensen, R. H. B. (2017). ImerTest package: tests in linear mixed effects models. J. Stat. Softw. 82, 1–26. doi: 10.18637/jss.v082.i13
- Malchaire, J., d'Ambrosio Alfano, F. R., and Palella, B. I. (2017). Evaluation of the metabolic rate based on the recording of the heart rate. *Ind. Health* 55, 219–232. doi: 10.2486/indhealth.2016-0177
- Nadel, E. R., Bullard, R. W., and Stolwijk, J. A. (1971). Importance of skin temperature in the regulation of sweating. J. Appl. Physiol. 31, 80–87.
- Périard, J. D., Racinais, S., and Sawka, M. N. (2015). Adaptations and mechanisms of human heat acclimation: applications for competitive athletes and sports. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 25, 20–38. doi: 10.1111/sms.12408
- Poole, D. C., and Whipp, B. J. (1988). Haldane transformation. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 20, 420–421.

- R Core Team (2019). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. Vienna, Austria: R Foundation for Statistical Computing. Available at: https:// www.R-project.org/ (Accessed December 10, 2019).
- Richmond, V. L., Davey, S., Griggs, K., and Havenith, G. (2015). Prediction of core body temperature from multiple variables. *Ann. Occup. Hyg.* 59, 1168–1178. doi: 10.1093/annhyg/mev054
- Rutenfranz, J., and Wenzel, H. G. (1980). "Energiehaushalt" in Biochemie und Physiologie der Ernährung (Ernährungslehre und Diätetik, Bd. 1, Teil 1). eds. H.-D. Cremer, D. Hötzel, and J. Kühnau (Stuttgart: Thieme), 240–256.
- Sandblom, E., Gräns, A., Axelsson, M., and Seth, H. (2014). Temperature acclimation rate of aerobic scope and feeding metabolism in fishes: implications in a thermally extreme future. *Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* 281:20141490. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2014.1490
- Sawka, M. N., Leon, L. R., Montain, S. J., and Sonna, L. A. (2011). Integrated physiological mechanisms of exercise performance, adaptation, and maladaptation to heat stress. *Compr. Physiol.* 1, 1883–1928. doi: 10.1002/ cphy.c100082
- Seebacher, F., White, C. R., and Franklin, C. E. (2015). Physiological plasticity increases resilience of ectothermic animals to climate change. *Nat. Clim. Chang.* 5, 61–66. doi: 10.1038/nclimate2457
- Shephard, R. J. (2017). Open-circuit respirometry: a brief historical review of the use of Douglas bags and chemical analyzers. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 117, 381–387. doi: 10.1007/s00421-017-3556-6
- Strydom, N. B., Wyndham, C. H., Williams, C. G., Morrison, J. F., Bredell, G. A., Benade, A. J., et al. (1966). Acclimatization to humid heat and the role of physical conditioning. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 21, 636–642. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1966.21.2.636
- Taylor, N. A. S. (2014). Human heat adaptation. Compr. Physiol. 4, 325–365. doi: 10.1002/cphy.c130022
- van't Hoff, M. J. H. (1884). Etudes de dynamique chimique. Rec. Trav. Chim. Pays Bas 3, 333-336. doi: 10.1002/recl.18840031003
- Vogt, J. J., Meyer-Schwertz, M. T., Metz, B., and Foehr, R. (1973). Motor, thermal and sensory factors in heart rate variation: a methodology for indirect estimation of intermittent muscular work and environmental heat loads. *Ergonomics* 16, 45–60. doi: 10.1080/00140137308924481
- Welles, A. P., Buller, M. J., Looney, D. P., Rumpler, W. V., Gribok, A. V., and Hoyt, R. W. (2018). Estimation of metabolic energy expenditure from core temperature using a human thermoregulatory model. *J. Therm. Biol.* 72, 44–52. doi: 10.1016/j.jtherbio.2017.12.007
- Wenzel, H. G., Mehnert, C., and Schwarzenau, P. (1989). Evaluation of tolerance limits for humans under heat stress and the problems involved. *Scand. J. Work Environ. Health* 15(Suppl. 1), 7–14.
- Werner, J., and Buse, M. (1988). Temperature profiles with respect to inhomogeneity and geometry of the human body. J. Appl. Physiol. 65, 1110–1118.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Kampmann and Bröde. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Heat Adaptation in Military Personnel: Mitigating Risk, Maximizing Performance

Iain T. Parsons^{1,2*}, Michael J. Stacey^{1,3} and David R. Woods^{1,4}

¹ Academic Department of Military Medicine, Research and Clinical Innovation, Royal Centre for Defence Medicine, Birmingham, United Kingdom, ² School of Cardiovascular Medicine & Sciences, Faculty of Life Sciences & Medicine, King's College London, London, United Kingdom, ³ Department of Diabetes and Endocrinology, Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust, London, United Kingdom, ⁴ Department of Sport and Exercise Endocrinology, Carnegie Research Institute, Leeds Beckett University, Leeds, United Kingdom

The study of heat adaptation in military personnel offers generalizable insights into

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Caroline Sunderland, Nottingham Trent University, United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

Ren-Jay Shei, Mallinckrodt, United States Simona Mrakic-Sposta, Institute of Clinical Physiology, Italian National Research Council, Italy

*Correspondence:

lain T. Parsons iainparsons@doctors.org.uk; iain.parsons@kcl.ac.uk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Integrative Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 26 August 2019 Accepted: 21 November 2019 Published: 17 December 2019

Citation:

Parsons IT, Stacey MJ and Woods DR (2019) Heat Adaptation in Military Personnel: Mitigating Risk, Maximizing Performance. Front. Physiol. 10:1485. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019.01485 a variety of sporting, recreational and occupational populations. Conversely, certain characteristics of military employment have few parallels in civilian life, such as the imperative to achieve mission objectives during deployed operations, the opportunity to undergo training and selection for elite units or the requirement to fulfill essential duties under prolonged thermal stress. In such settings, achieving peak individual performance can be critical to organizational success. Short-notice deployment to a hot operational or training environment, exposure to high intensity exercise and undertaking ceremonial duties during extreme weather may challenge the ability to protect personnel from excessive thermal strain, especially where heat adaptation is incomplete. Graded and progressive acclimatization can reduce morbidity substantially and impact on mortality rates, yet individual variation in adaptation has the potential to undermine empirical approaches. Incapacity under heat stress can present the military with medical, occupational and logistic challenges requiring dynamic risk stratification during initial and subsequent heat stress. Using data from large studies of military personnel observing traditional and more contemporary acclimatization practices, this review article (1) characterizes the physical challenges that military training and deployed operations present (2) considers how heat adaptation has been used to augment military performance under thermal stress and (3) identifies potential solutions to optimize the risk-performance paradigm, including those with broader relevance to other populations exposed to heat stress.

Keywords: heat acclimation, heat acclimatization, heat adaptation, heat stroke, heat syncope, heat illness, heat stress

INTRODUCTION

Heat stress, through occupational exposure to strenuous physical exercise and/or environmental extremes of heat and humidity, presents a perennial challenge (Hancock et al., 2007) to military personnel. The consequences of incomplete or inadequate heat adaptation may be fatal; either directly, as with heat stroke, or through impaired physiological functioning and increased

83

susceptibility to military hazards, including combat. Augmenting physical and mental performance through heat adaptation may be pivotal to military operational success (Nindl et al., 2013).

Over the last two decades, many Western militaries have conducted land-based campaigns in climatically-severe regions (World and Booth, 2008; Cox et al., 2016a). These operations frequently evolved into mature missions allowing for targeted physical training prior to deployment and large-scale graded acclimatization practices upon arrival to operational theaters. In more recent history, several militaries have contributed to internationally-sponsored security projects including the protection of internally displaced civilian populations (Bailey et al., 2019) and the containment of infectious diseases outbreaks, such as Ebola (Dickson et al., 2018). Achieving peak occupational performance and developing and maintaining resilience in the face of thermal threat has been a critical endpoint in all such circumstances.

Routinely, the 'special population' fulfilling these roles is drawn from the general population of its parent nation and allied entities. Historically, the study of military personnel has provided insights into acclimatization mechanisms and strategies that have been generalizable to other occupational groups and the wider civilian population (Conn, 1963). The concept of relative climatic adaptation has been attributed to the renowned British Naval officer and clinician-scientist, Sir James Lind (Lind, 1771; Périard et al., 2015). As research findings on heat adaptation in this special population may be applied in other groups, so those learned elsewhere may have potential to prove militarily advantageous.

Illustrated by research data from uniformed personnel observing traditional and more contemporary acclimatization practices – and with particular reference to recent United Kingdom (UK) military experience – this article (1) characterizes the physical challenges that modern training and operations present (2) considers how heat adaptation has been used or may be applied to protect and augment the health and performance of military personnel and (3) identifies potential solutions to optimize the risk-performance paradigm that operates both during and after heat acclimatization.

METHODS

No articles were dismissed in this review but, where appropriate, comment has been made on the limitations of the study presented, i.e., limited subject numbers and confounding methodological issues. Historically, based journals have been included where appropriate to indicate the limitations in current research. Use of the terms 'military,' 'armed forces,' 'heat acclimation,' 'heat acclimatis(z)ation,' heat adaptation and 'heat illness' were employed. Search engines included PubMed, Web of Knowledge and directly from the appropriate academic journals. Studies previously reported from our group's work with the United Kingdom military are used to illustrate certain concepts, including novel unpublished data.

THE THERMAL CHALLENGE OF MODERN MILITARY OPERATIONS, TRAINING, AND CEREMONIAL DUTIES

In a volatile and increasingly complex world, governments of globally-facing nations foster contingency for a wide variety of overseas commitments (Ministry of Defence, 2018). These may be conducted through changing weather and elevation, over a range of timescales and set across challenging geographies: from short notice deployments to more enduring overseas operations (Edholm, 1969; Shapiro et al., 1981). Performance requirements are equally diverse arising from the scope of potential missions confronting the military and associated bodies, such as host nation civilian agencies and non-governmental aid organizations. Dedicated military taskings may include training and mentoring to allied forces; counter-terrorism/insurgency work; and fullscale war, including 'peer-to-peer' conflict conducted at largescale, high tempo and over substantial physical areas. Other activities in which the military may contribute, or play a complementary role, include medical and engineering support to humanitarian relief efforts; law enforcement; firefighting responses; and management of other natural or man-made disasters and hazards (Ministry of Defence, 2018).

Operational capability may be impaired when unacclimatized personnel are required to travel at short-notice to a severe climate or to over-ride intrinsic or extrinsic thermal safeguards in the face of physical or tactical threats. For example, operational pressures may on occasion limit time or opportunity for full acclimatization, in favor of getting 'boots on the ground' with a view to achieving immediate military effects. From a physiological standpoint, however, inadequate or suboptimal heat adaptation may have an array of consequences, the most feared of which is heat stroke and its associated morbidity and mortality (Abriat et al., 2014). Heat stroke has been defined as central nervous system (CNS) dysfunction, multiorgan failure and extreme hyperthermia, with core body temperature (Tc) usually > 40.5°C (Epstein and Yanovich, 2019). It arises from failure to dissipate excessive body heat and is presently considered more preventable than treatable, being associated with a high mortality rate where treatment is delayed (Leon and Bouchama, 2015). Heat stroke and lesser forms of incapacity may be defined occupationally as 'heat illness': an 'all embracing term including those individuals who become incapacitated through exhaustion or syncope as a result of a rise in core body temperature'(Ministry of Defence, 2017). The occurrence of heat illness in military personnel falls with heat acclimation/acclimatization (Bean and Eichna, 1943; Edholm, 1969). This is particularly-well evidenced for minor episodes of heat illness characterized by heat syncope, or syncope upon cessation of exercise (post-exertional syncope), with prompt recovery of consciousness on prostration (Bean and Eichna, 1943). It is less clear whether risk of more severe illness, such as heat stroke, is substantially ameliorated in the heat adapted phenotype (Lim and Mackinnon, 2006). An increased hospitalization risk for heat illness (as a surrogate for severity) has been reported in unselected military personnel considered acclimatized by attending physicians (Stacey et al., 2015). Hospitalization (Carter et al., 2005), and heat stroke deaths (Malamud et al., 1946) are less prevalent in military recruit populations originating from hotter regions, as opposed to cooler. However, it is unclear whether this is secondary to long-term physiological adaptation and/or modification of exertional behaviors and practices. In military recruit populations training in hot regions 77% of cases of heat illness (all forms) and 75% of heat stroke deaths have been observed to occur in the first 8 weeks of training, though the remainder of cases after this point are not insignificant proportions, considering the expected time course for acclimatization (Borden et al., 1945).

When an episode of heat illness occurs during, or soon after, strenuous physical exertion, it may be termed Exertional Heat Illness (EHI). This has been the predominant form of heat illness to affect British Army personnel in recent history, with EHI representing 96% of military cases reported by military doctors between 2009 and 2013 (Stacey et al., 2015) and continuing to make up the majority of referrals for specialist assessment. Most United Kingdom cases are incapacitated during training in temperate climates (Stacey et al., 2016). However, during the first 6 months of operational deployment to the extremedry heat of Iraq in 2003, 849 heat-implicated casualties were reported among United Kingdom military personnel, requiring 766 hospital admissions and 161 aeromedical evacuations to the United Kingdom (Bricknell, 2003). Three hundred of these cases presented to a dedicated Heat Illness Unit in July alone (incidence 50 per 1,000 deployed personnel) (Bolton et al., 2006) 90% had been affected within the first 10 days of arrival into theater and only a minority (14%) had been undertaking heavy work at the time of incapacity. This experience was reflected in Schickele's historic 1947 analysis of fatal heat stroke among military recruits in the continental United States, in which over 80% of 157 cases confirmed at post-mortem suffered heat stroke in relation to 'average activity' (drill, guard duty, relatively short marches) versus only 14% affected during heavy exercise (Schickele, 1947). Nearly all deaths occurred above a critical threshold of elevated heat and/or humidity, though some cases occurred with heavy physical exercise below the 'heat death line.' At the multinational field hospital in Camp Bastion, Afghanistan, heat illness was also a leading cause of admission, ranking second only to infectious diseases among all diagnoses made in internal medicine (2011 to 2013, summer and non-summer presentations) (Cox et al., 2016a). In the experience of the authors, the case load in Afghanistan represented a mixture of exertional, non-exertional, and intermediate heat illness (i.e., incapacitation where only light levels of physical activity were implicated in pathogenesis). Thus incapacity sustained with exposure to heat stress may manifest with excessive external (climatic, both macro and microclimate) and internal (metabolic) load, with each type of stressor capable of causing incapacity at lower 'doses' when operating synergistically. Heat stress also impacts on other duties, particular to the military, such as precipitating syncope or heat exhaustion during drill (Smalley et al., 2003; Wallace et al., 2006; Budd, 2008) often during large state ceremonial parades (Parsons et al., 2015). The effect of heat stress on reducing orthostatic tolerance has been well-demonstrated (Crandall et al., 2010a; Crandall and Wilson, 2015; Schlader et al., 2016a,b).

HEAT ADAPTATION: HEALTH PROTECTION AND AUGMENTED PERFORMANCE IN MILITARY PERSONNEL

The thermal challenge of military service raises questions over the optimal ways for parent organizations to exercise their duty of care and facilitate mission objectives. Heat adaptation is a key component of managing the overarching risk presented and, in the military as elsewhere, serves two key purposes: (1) the prevention of heat-related illnesses and (2) the improvement of physical performance and mental functioning. Crucially for military tasks, this may include improved decision-making under heat stress (Cheung et al., 2016).

Acquisition of the heat-adapted state occurs through repeated or continuous exposure to heat stress and accompanying elevation in Tc and may be achieved with artificial exposure to heat, by residence in a natural hot climate, or with physical training sufficient to raise Tc in less severe conditions (Leon and Bouchama, 2015). Phenotypic changes that are associated with repeated heat stress include altered sweating and skin blood flow responses, decreased metabolic rate, plasma volume (PV) expansion and improved cardiovascular stability (Nielsen, 1998; Shapiro et al., 1998; Patterson et al., 2004). In the hot environment, acquisition of these adaptations associates with improved thermal comfort (Sato et al., 1990), lower physiological strain (Taylor, 2014) and restored performance capacity for equivalent bouts of exercise conducted in less severe conditions. In some studies, performance is also enhanced on return to the thermoneutral environment, by way of increased maximal aerobic capacity (Sawka et al., 1985; Lorenzo et al., 2010). A core physiological change in heat adaptation, as described by Conn and Johnston (1944), is increased sweat rate and decreased concentration of sweat sodium and chloride (Leon and Bouchama, 2015) due to changes in the eccrine glands (Sato et al., 1990). Sweating, through changes in the CNS, occurs earlier and at a lower core temperature (Taylor, 2014).

Bass and Henschel defined acclimatization as 'the dramatic improvement in the ability to work in the heat which occurs within 4 to 7 days of first exposure' (Bass and Henschel, 1956). Over this period, rapid, demonstrably effective (Garrett et al., 2009, 2012) but ultimately incomplete (Pandolf, 1998; Gibson et al., 2015) adaptation ensues with improved cardiovascular stability and heart rate decrease, in association with PV expansion (Armstrong and Maresh, 1991). Horvath and Shelley described attaining a stable state of improved physical and mental functioning with fuller acclimatization (Horvath and Shelley, 1946) encompassing the features of longer term heat adaptation such as behavior changes resulting in reduced heat stress, e.g., reduced work and greater use of shelter (Périard et al., 2015), and improved thermal sensation (Chalmers et al., 2014). Acclimation status has been categorized by the number of exposures to heat stress (Chalmers et al., 2014; Tyler et al., 2016) as short-term (up to seven exposures), medium- term (eight to 14 exposures), and long-term (15 or more exposures).

Heat adaptation from exercise-heat stress is commonly induced through three mechanisms (Daanen et al., 2018):

(1) constant work-rate exercise (Nadel et al., 1974; Nielsen et al., 1993, 1997) (2) self-paced exercise (Nelms and Turk, 1972) and (3) isothermic acclimation (Regan et al., 1996; Garrett et al., 2009). Additional novel methods that have been proposed include matching exercise intensity to the observed decrease in heart rate (Périard et al., 2015; Tyler et al., 2016) or constant-rate exercise to a fixed rating of perceived exertion (RPE) (Omassoli et al., 2019). For the purposes of simplicity and economy, military organizations have favored standardized exposures (Gibson et al., 2015), commonly at a constant workrate (Daanen et al., 2018), with some approaches being more selfpaced. In recent decades, Western military forces have regained significant experience in deploying large numbers of personnel to thermally-stressful environments for demanding combat and peace support operations. This has seen the introduction of empirical guidance to achieve safe and effective group-based acclimatization, drawing on earlier lessons learned in the wake of hot weather training and campaigns during World War 2 (Bean and Eichna, 1943; Schickele, 1947; Conn, 1963), and the propagation of general principles in support of this aim (Table 1). In this context, it has been stated that approximately 2 weeks of progressive heat exposure and physical work should expedite near-complete acclimatization, with the average service person expected to have achieved \sim 50 and \sim 80% of ultimate physiological adaptation, respectively, by the completion of the first and second weeks of appropriate training (STO/NATO, 2013) (Figure 1). An example of a validated acclimatization schedule for physically fit personnel to follow on arrival to a hot region is provided at Table 2. This is reproduced from United Kingdom Defense policy on prevention of climatic illness and injury (Ministry of Defence, 2017). The specific impact and potential implications of following this protocol are discussed below.

Over the short term moderate intensity exercise appears to induce a more efficient physiological adaptation (Houmard et al., 1990) in terms of time spent exercising in the heat. But, for simple approaches utilizing constant work rate, it has been argued that the 'forcing function' of fixed environmental heat exposure and endogenous heat production is attenuated by the effects of progressive heat adaptation, in a process of habituation (Taylor, 2000, 2014). Such protocols may be convenient to apply and effective at restoring the ability to perform a standard bout of work in the new (hot) conditions, but may limit or slow progress toward maximum acclimatization. Furthermore, excessive thermal stress in the absence of close monitoring as may be seen with large numbers of military participants working to a constant level or group pace, especially early in the course of adaptation - has potential to induce significant heatrelated morbidity, with group-paced activities associating with hospitalization among United Kingdom heat illness casualties (Abriat et al., 2014). Yet whilst a self-paced heat acclimatization program would be seemingly protective in this regard, such practices are not an absolute safeguard, with soldiers exceeding pre-defined heart rate and temperature limits, particularly in competitive groups (Armstrong et al., 1986).

Isothermic or controlled hyperthermic acclimation commonly manipulates the endogenous thermal load under constant

 TABLE 1 | Heat acclimatization strategies that can be considered before and after military deployment to a hot region (STO/NATO, 2013).

- (1) Mimic the deployment climate.
- (2) Ensure adequate heat stress by:
 - Invoking profuse sweating.
 - Using exercise and rest to modify the heat strain.
 - Having 4 to 14 days of heat exposures.
 - Maintaining the daily duration of at least 120 min.
- (3) Start early (1 month before deployment).
 - Performance benefits may take longer than physiological benefits.
 - Be flexible with training.
 - Build confidence.
 - Pursue optimum physical fitness in the current climate.
- (4) Methods.
 - Pre-deployment: climate controlled room or hot weather.
 - Integrate with training by adding additional acclimatization sessions; inserting.
 - Acclimatization with training; alternating acclimatization days with training days, and no detraining.
 - Mimic the deployment environment by working out in a warm room wearing sweats (*sic*) if you are in a cool/temperate environment.

(5) On arrival.

- Start slowly at reduced training intensity and duration and limit heat exposure.
- Increase heat and training volume (intensity and duration) as tolerance permits.
- Acclimatize in heat of day.
- Physical training should be conducted in coolest part of day.
- Use work/rest cycles or interval training.
- Be especially observant of salt needs for the first week of acclimatization.
- Sleeping in cool or air-conditioned rooms will not affect heat acclimatization status and will aid recovery from heat stress.

exogenous heat stress (Regan et al., 1996), but can also vary environmental conditions to reach and sustain a target Tc. These regimens associate with greater physiological adaptations in a shorter space of time, with incorporation of physical exercise (Hellon et al., 1956; Bain et al., 2013; Charlot et al., 2017) being more efficient than a passive strategy (Harrison, 1985; Périard et al., 2015; Racinais et al., 2015; Tyler et al., 2016). Often isothermic regimens utilize both forms of heat exposure (Daanen et al., 2018). Approaches of this kind could hold considerable appeal for military planners and commanders intent on taking personnel through a rapid transition to a more severe environment, as with deployment of high readiness troops into an emerging or escalating operational theater. This methodology is resource intensive however and may be unsuited to large scale implementation, i.e., in groups of military personnel above sub-unit size (20-30 pax). Whether it would always be operationally effective to strictly observe sub-maximal physiological thresholds is a matter of military debate, at least as it applies to routine training in the heat (Hunt et al., 2016). Attaining measures of heart rate, Tc or derived/composite parameters such as the Physiological Strain Index (Buller et al., 2018) could ensure



temperature; Borg RPE (Borg, 1973), Relative Perceived Exertion according to Borg's scale (may need to reference: as below). Dotted line indicates 70% adaption.

safe initial induction of heat adaptation, whatever the method selected to achieve it.

PRACTICES AND PITFALLS IN GENERATING AND SUSTAINING HEAT ADAPTATION IN MILITARY POPULATIONS

Drawing parallels with civilian athletic groups, whom may also be rapidly required to perform in hot climates with minimal preparation (Périard et al., 2015), military personnel should maintain a high state of physical fitness. Military guidance developed within the North Atlantic Treaty Organization (NATO) (**Figure 1**) identifies an increased need for monitoring 'the least fit soldier, who will have the most difficult time (to acclimatize) (STO/NATO, 2013). This assertion is supported by findings that: (1) physical fitness improves physiological responses to exercise in the heat (Armstrong and Maresh, 1991) (2) heat-related illnesses are reported at lower rates in trained personnel than (putatively less well-conditioned) recruits undergoing induction to the Armed Forces (Carter et al., 2005; Stacey et al., 2015) (3) aerobically well-trained participants may be 'primed' to heat adaptation with an indirect relationship

TABLE 2 | A validated acclimatization schedule for physically fit personnel to follow on arrival to a hot region reproduced from United Kingdom Defense policy on prevention of climatic illness and injury (Ministry of Defence, 2017).

Day	Dress	Target WBGT Index (°C WGBT)	Duration (min)	Activity
1	No ac	tivity. rest, eat, drink, and s	leep (for 24 h)	
2	T-shirt and shorts	26-30	1 × 50	Walk at 6 km/h (3.7 miles/h)
3	T-shirt and shorts	26–30	2×50	Walk at 6 km/h; rest for 15 min; resume walking.
4	T-shirt and shorts	26–30	100	Walk at 6 km/h
5	T-shirt, combat jacket, lightweight trousers, and body armor	26–30	2 × 50	Walk at 6 km/h for 50 min then remove body armo and jacket and rest for 15 min; resume walking.
6	T-shirt, combat jacket, lightweight trousers, and body armor	26-30	100	Walk at 6 km/h
7	T-shirt, combat jacket, lightweight trousers and body armor and webbing (10 kg)	26–30	2 × 50	Walk at 6 km/; remove webbing, rest for 15 min; resume walking.
8	T-shirt, combat jacket, lightweight trousers and body armor and webbing (10 kg)	26–30	100	Walk at 6 km/h

Personnel undertaking acclimatization should be allowed fluids as required

existing between VO₂max and the number of days required to acclimatize (Pandolf et al., 1977; Garrett et al., 2011). The NATO guidance also identifies a second high-risk group: 'the most motivated soldiers, who may overdo their physical activity and be susceptible to becoming heat casualties' (STO/NATO, 2013). Highly motivated personnel can be found throughout any military organization, but are often concentrated among the fittest elements, including the infantry, marines, and other 'frontline' occupations. These units are trained to engage in dismounted ground close combat (DGCC) and may be required to close with and kill enemy forces, among other physicallyarduous functions. Reported heat stroke rates have been 7- to 11- times higher in the US Army and Marine Corps than in the Navy or Air Force and all forms of heat illness are significantly commoner in combat versus other occupational roles (Armed Forces Health Surveillance Bureau, 2019). Individuals in these higher risk groups may be required to deploy more quickly, risking inadequate time for acclimatization before action, plus exposure to a multitude of other factors that may delay or interrupt full heat adaptation. Whilst in most cases one single predisposing factor (Epstein, 1990; Epstein et al., 1999) is sufficient to reduce the ability of the individual to tolerate heat during physical activity - or even with passive exposure aggregating factors can further increase risk for heat illness (Gardner et al., 1996). Motivation to accomplish a mission, whilst disregarding early signs and symptoms for heat-related disability, is a contributing factor that can significantly exacerbate this situation (Shibolet et al., 1976; Epstein et al., 1999).

In advance of deployment to a hot environment, United Kingdom military guidance directs commanders, physical training staff and individual service personnel to build or improve aerobic fitness over 3 to 4 weeks, aiming to 'increase and maintain heart rate above 65% of maximum heart rate for periods of 40 min initially, then extending to an hour.' This should be followed by 10-14 days of individual or group exercise to 'raise and maintain an elevated body temperature for at least 1 h each day'... 'checked by visual assessment of sweating,' such that a total of 6 weeks dedicated readiness-training has been completed pre-deployment (Ministry of Defence, 2017). In prescribing sub-maximal exercise in time-limited bouts, with allocated rest days (at least 2 per week) and progress toward more thermally-stressful exposures immediately prior to deploying, this approach has the potential to protect, both less and more fit, individuals during preparation for, and on arrival to, a hot environment. In what may be a busy run-in to an overseas exercise or operational mission, unit schedules and individual availability can conceivably limit full compliance with this strategy.

Following arrival to a hot environment, the performance of military duties may usefully be used to induce heat acclimatization, so long as personnel are not critically stressed and/or affected by heat illness in the process. It is common practice (e.g., French and United Kingdom guidance) to promote an initial rest day, with no exercise permitted, in order to allow for transient factors specifically associated with preceding travel that may otherwise undermine heat tolerance (**Table 2**). The impact of significant troop numbers being incapacitated during early acclimatization can degrade operational capability, challenge the capacity of deployed healthcare systems and, as described above in relation to United Kingdom deployment to Iraq, dictate that many affected personnel are re-patriated (Bricknell, 2003; Bolton et al., 2006). This is particularly the case for severe cases of heat illness or if local healthcare assets lack expertise in the risk stratification and discrimination of casualties whom remain at increased risk of heat stroke, and subsequently require protection from further exposure, or where those with minor heat related debility are removed unnecessarily. The military guidance (**Table 2**) therefore advocates a slow start to acclimatization, with reduced and time-limited exercise bouts, gradually increasing in intensity and length toward pre-acclimatization norms.

In assessing the impact of progressive aerobic activity added into a program of 'usual outdoor military activities,' Charlot et al. (2017) showed an accelerated adaptation versus individuals not exposed to dedicated training, with greater improvements in post-exertional heart rate, thermal discomfort, and RPE following the first week of acclimatization (Charlot et al., 2017). These bouts were of relatively short duration (32 rising to 56 min sub-maximal interval running bouts) by the standards often observed in military protocols, but had the advantage of being complemented by and accommodated within the operationally-focused work schedule mandated from arrival to the hot environment. Performed within military logistic-time constraints the investigators failed to demonstrate a greater reduction in Tc - or blunting of its rise with exertion - in the training group, but cited their improved cardiovascular stability as theoretically conferring better protection against nonheat stroke illnesses, such as heat exhaustion and syncope. Coupled with the significant and substantial reductions in thermal discomfort and RPE observed in both groups following early acclimatization, the authors pointed to the potential for exercise performance to be sustained - and less severe forms of heat illness potentially bypassed - despite limited improvements in heat dissipation and thus Tc responses. The risk of 'high intensity tasks' causing adverse effects, such as heat stroke, after 7 days of heat acclimatization, with or without training' was highlighted. This warning has been echoed in United Kingdom guidance that full acclimatization may take longer than 15 days; that this process may be extended further when a substantial period of travel or crossing of multiple time-zones precedes arrival to the hot environment; and that living or working in air-conditioned accommodation may slow its development (Ministry of Defence, 2017). Charlot et al. (2017) also identified a dissociation between objective physiological variables and subjective psychological variables, with sweat volumes and Tc responses failing to keep pace with large improvements in thermal discomfort and RPE. In a formal evaluation of the United Kingdom regimen provided in Table 1 - undertaken in British paratroopers, marines and specialized infantry, deployed from the United Kingdom to Cyprus, and adapted to incorporate serial testing of heat tolerance (Stacey et al., 2018b) - the most substantial early reductions in exercising heat strain parameters were seen for RPE, followed by heart rate and then Tc (Figure 1). Progress toward final acclimatization status (deployment Day 21) followed the same pattern, with Tc lagging behind RPE and heart rate even after the first full week of the protocol. The need for caution as heat adaptation progresses, highlighted by this relative discrepancy, has been explained as: participants 'may feel larger improvements in thermal and exercise discomfort, likely increasing intensity during training sessions or operational tasks based on these positive feelings/sensations... (but) the maximum decrease in core temperature was not yet achieved (Charlot et al., 2017). Work conducted in US Navy personnel has shown adaptation discordance between mean skin temperature (>90% progress toward Day 21 acclimatization status after first week) and both heart rate and rectal temperature (only 37 and 38% complete at 7 days, respectively) (Naval Medical Command, 1988) as improved perceptions of the severity of exertion and thermal stress experienced with acclimatization are thought to derive through greater reductions in facial temperature (Malgoyre et al., 2018). The mean lowering of skin temperature may be an important factor in improved physical capacity and the associated potential for sustaining heat stroke - e.g., with unsafe levels of self-paced physical exertion - during and after heat acclimatization.

These data provide a basis to understand how a state of partially complete, or temporarily undermined, heat adaptation may risk more serious forms of heat illness; they would also help to explain the increased hospitalization risk in heat illness cases (Stacey et al., 2015). One factor relevant to this interpretation may be the minimum exposure period recognized as fostering adequate acclimatization. Despite NATO recommendations stating that only a percentage of ultimate adaptation will be achieved with 7 days of protocolized exercise in the heat and United Kingdom guidance highlighting how some individuals will progress more slowly, commanders, and medical personnel alike may fail to appreciate that heat adaptation status has not been adequate to the task required in an individual subsequently affected by heat illness. Based on observations of improved cellular protection and increased organ efficiencies, Horowitz's group has advanced the case for long term heat acclimatization (LTHA) status taking at least 3 weeks to acquire (Schwimmer et al., 2006). The avoidance of strenuous physical activities until after 3 weeks of adaptation to a new hot environment has long been advocated in military medical practice, at least for deployments where circumstances permit a more graded introduction to heat (World, 2001).

Adaptations to heat exposure is never permanent. According to Givoni and Goldman (1973), heat adaptation is lost for every day spent without heat exposure at a rate that is twice as fast as the rate with which the heat adaptation was initially gained. The lasting effects of heat adaptation, upon removal of heat stimulus, and subsequent re-acclimation has relevance to the military undergoing short notice high intensity missions such as special forces personnel, but also personnel on more enduring operations. The United Kingdom Armed forces, in recent operations, granted its deployed service personnel a leave of rest and recuperation (R&R) for a period of 2 weeks midway through the operational tour. A meta-analysis of 12 studies reported adaptations in end-exercise heart rate decreased by 2.3% for every day of heat acclimation decay. For end-exercise core temperature, the daily decrease was 2.6% (Daanen et al., 2018).

There are several factors, environmental and logistical, which may attenuate or even reverse the physiological effects of heat acclimatization. Whilst some of these factors are specific to the military others are relevant to other occupational groups including firefighters and humanitarian organizations. Core physiological changes in heat adaptation include increased sweat rate, sweating occurring at a lower temperature (Sato et al., 1990) and decreased concentration of sodium and chloride (Conn and Johnston, 1944; Horvath and Shelley, 1946). More dilute sweat is more easily evaporated but only if the climate allows for evaporation (Taylor, 2014; Périard et al., 2015). Certain occupational professionals, particularly firefighters, police and military personnel have requirements for particular uniforms or personal protective equipment due to the nature of the work. These mandatory dress states may attenuate the physiological benefit from sweating adaptation (Smolander et al., 1984; Patton et al., 1995; Maynard et al., 2016) by limiting sweat evaporation even in the context of full acclimatization (Aoyagi et al., 1995). Body armor, having shown to substantially reduce fatal injury to the thorax and abdomen (Mabry et al., 1999; Masini et al., 2009; Belmont et al., 2010) has, over recent conflicts, become commonplace for military personnel, journalists, non-governmental organizations as well as some police units. Studies have indicated that the wearing of body armor increases temperature (Majumdar et al., 1997; Cheuvront et al., 2008; Caldwell et al., 2011) (both core and skin), heart rate (Majumdar et al., 1997; Cheuvront et al., 2008; Caldwell et al., 2011) and produces more sweat (Caldwell et al., 2011) whilst performing military activities (Chinevere et al., 2008; Caldwell et al., 2011). Several studies have outlined an increase in heat stress and thermoregulatory load to chemical warfare suits with a consequential degradation in human performance (Taylor and Orlansky, 1993; Aoyagi et al., 1995). The amount of protection (encapsulation), environmental conditions, physical condition of the soldiers, mission (including duration), amount of physical activity and work rest/cycles appear to be important co-factors (Pandolf et al., 1986; Taylor and Orlansky, 1993). Improved aerobic fitness and the degree of heat acclimation do little to improve the tolerance to CBRN suits during light and moderate exercise (McLellan and Frim, 1994).

Numerous studies have attempted to capture the potential risk factors implicated in heat illness. Commonly cited precipitants include: alcohol (Armstrong et al., 2007), medications (Epstein, 1990; Armstrong et al., 2007) (particularly psychiatric), recreational drugs (Epstein et al., 1999; Armstrong et al., 2007), sickle cell trait (Nelson et al., 2017; Singer et al., 2018), recent febrile illness/diarrheal illness (Epstein, 1990; Armstrong et al., 2007), sleep deprivation (Armstrong et al., 1990, 2007; Bolton et al., 2006; Stacey et al., 2015), sunburn (Armstrong et al., 2007), obesity (Gardner et al., 1996; Epstein et al., 1999; Wallace et al., 2006; Bedno et al., 2014), dehydration (Montain et al., 1998; Armstrong et al., 2007) as well as the known intrinsic factors such as environmental temperature and humidity, clothing and activity levels (Kark et al., 1996; Howe and Boden, 2007). More militarily relevant studies have associated the increased risk of prior heat stroke (Armstrong et al., 2007), combat or healthcare occupational roles, reservists (Bricknell, 1996), subjects over 30 (Epstein, 1990), female sex (Fortney and Senay, 1979; Carter et al., 2005), lower levels of physical fitness (Shvartz et al., 1977b; Epstein, 1990; Gardner et al., 1996; Wallace et al., 2006; Bedno et al., 2014), lack of acclimatization (Epstein, 1990; Bricknell, 1996; Armstrong et al., 2007) and scarred skin areas (Epstein, 1990; Crandall and Davis, 2010; Ganio et al., 2013; Cramer et al., 2019). Caucasian soldiers appear to be at higher risk than African American (Carter et al., 2005). Militaries are drawn from the population of the nations they serve so these risk factors are not generalizable. Many factors can be controlled for using a command structure built on discipline, inherent in military organizations, coupled with careful occupational management. Both systems are fallible however (Cox et al., 2016b). How heat acclimation impacts or mitigates these exacerbating factors is unknown.

Hemorrhage remains the primary modality of battlefield death (Sauaia et al., 1995; Eastridge et al., 2012) commonly before the provision of surgical management (Lind et al., 1968; Crandall et al., 2010b) yet little is known of the effects of heat acclimation on hemorrhagic shock. This is of particular relevance to the military but also civilian aid workers and firefighters. Models, which typically use orthostasis to pool blood in the lower limbs, have demonstrated an inability to tolerate central hypovolemia during simulated hemorrhage when heatstressed (Lind et al., 1968; Crandall et al., 2010b; Schlader et al., 2016b) although heat acclimation is reportedly protective (Greenleaf and Bosco, 1969; Shvartz and Meyerstein, 1970; Shvartz et al., 1975, 1977a). These findings are not consistent particularly when combining exercise with heat stress in the acclimated (Greenleaf et al., 1974). During heat stress skin blood flow increases significantly requiring a doubling of cardiac output to maintain arterial blood pressure (Schlader et al., 2016b) causing a reduction in central blood volume (Crandall et al., 2012), preload (Wilson et al., 2009), left ventricular end diastolic volume (Nelson et al., 2011) and stroke volume; the proposed mechanisms to how heat stress compromises tolerance to a simulated hemorrhagic insult (Crandall et al., 2019). Whilst heat adaptation, by increasing plasma volume, may improve orthostatic tolerance and reduce heat syncope this may have little effect on actual, rather than simulated, hemorrhage with volume expansion mitigated by dilution of endogenous clotting factors. Furthermore those with a better or worse tolerance to simulated hypovolemia in the heat (Schlader and Crandall, 2014) may not correspond to a better or worse tolerance to hemorrhagic hypovolemia. Heat stress is thought to confer a hyperadrenergic state (Niimi et al., 1997; Cui et al., 2002, 2004, 2010; Low et al., 2011), which potentially reduces the reserve which can be sympathetically activated to maintain blood pressure in the event of a hemorrhagic insult (Crandall et al., 2019). In the military this hyperadrenergic state could be enhanced by sleep deprivation, inadequate nutrition, dehydration (Morgan et al., 2004; Lucas et al., 2013) or mental stress (Greenleaf and Bosco, 1969;

Shvartz and Meyerstein, 1970; Shvartz et al., 1975, 1977a, 1981; Yamazaki and Hamasaki, 2003).

Dehydration often used synonymously with hypohydration (Cheuvront and Kenefick, 2014; Kavouras, 2019) and is a common finding in deployed military personnel (Rogers and Cole, 2016; Kavouras, 2019). Heat acclimation potentially guards against dehydration during thermal stress and is associated with reduced markers of renal stress and AKI incidence (Omassoli et al., 2019). Whilst physical conditioning maintains physical work following dehydration, heat acclimatization did not appreciably supplement this effect (Buskirk et al., 2000). Dehydration following heat acclimation may attenuate the effect of heat acclimation in terms of reducing cardiac output during exercise (Montain et al., 1998) and attenuating improvements in cardiac stability. The acclimation derived alterations in core temperature appear to be maintained during dehydration being unaffected by exercise intensity (Montain et al., 1998). Partly due to hypohydration being so ubiquitous in a hot environment, it has been hypothesized that permissive dehydration drives the improved physiological response during heat acclimation (Garrett et al., 2011; Neal et al., 2016) although this remains disputed (Schleh et al., 2018). Permissive dehydration during exercise in the heat may increase the response of fluid regulatory hormones aldosterone, vasopressin, and cortisol (Kenefick et al., 2007) and potentiate acclimation by increased fluid retention resulting in plasma volume expansion (Garrett et al., 2011). Due to concerns regarding heat illness such a strategy would unlikely to gain traction in a military context without further research to address concerns on safety and efficacy.

That acclimatized soldiers succumb to severe heat illness, or heat stroke (Stacey et al., 2015), suggests a dissociation between thermoregulation and heat tolerance (Lim, 2018). There is a growing body of literature suggesting that exertional heat illness is an endotoxemia (Moseley and Gisolfi, 1993; Lim, 2018). A secondary function of the gastrointestinal tract is in the prevention of translocation of potentially harmful luminal antigens into the systemic circulation (Camilleri et al., 2012; Wells et al., 2016). Exercise can adversely disrupt the gastrointestinal barrier integrity (Lambert, 2004) in proportion to the amount of thermal stress (Costa et al., 2017b; Pires et al., 2017) so causing leaking of gram negative bacteria into the intravascular space (Lambert, 2004; Yeh et al., 2013) potentially causing exertional heat stroke (Armstrong et al., 2018; Lim, 2018). Mechanisms include a transient gut hypoxemia secondary to blood shunting from the viscera to exercising muscles causing an overwhelming efflux of endotoxins in circulation (Pyne et al., 2014) and systemic inflammatory responses. Immune stress may further potentiate this with military personnel and aid workers, through sleep deprivation (Day and Grimshaw, 2005; Stacey et al., 2015; Moore et al., 2016), psychological stress (Clow and Hucklebridge, 2001) or repeated (particularly gram negative) infection (Wale, 1989; Grainge and Heber, 2005; Howe and Boden, 2007; Cox et al., 2016a) causing a heightened inflammatory state. Attempts have been made to modulate exercise-induced gastrointestinal permeability with nutritional countermeasures. These include carbohydrates which as well as improving exercise performance (Pöchmüller et al., 2016), immune function (Bermon et al., 2017) and recovery (McCartney et al., 2018) may have a beneficial effect on GI barrier integrity (Gentilcore et al., 2009; David et al., 2014; Edinburgh et al., 2018), although this effect has not been reproducible (Moncada-Jiménez et al., 2009; Sessions et al., 2016; Costa et al., 2017a; Trommelen et al., 2017). Glutamine, an energy substrate of GI enterocytes (Kim and Kim, 2017) is thought to be protective if consumed in higher doses prior to exercise (Zuhl et al., 2014, 2015; Pugh et al., 2017). Bovine Colostrum has been shown to reduce surrogate markers of bacterial translocation and gut permeability following short duration high intensity running (Antonio et al., 2001) but the effects appear attenuated in more demanding exercise protocols in the heat (Morrison et al., 2014; McKenna et al., 2017; March et al., 2019). Whilst multistrain probiotic supplementation has been shown to reduce endotoxin concentrations in some studies (Shing et al., 2014; Roberts et al., 2016), but not others (Pugh et al., 2019), single strain probiotics may increase concentrations of endotoxin following running in the heat (Gill et al., 2016). Zinc-Carnosine whilst commonly used to treat gastric ulcers (Matsukura and Tanaka, 2000), may also be beneficial in improving gut barrier permiability (Davison et al., 2016). Studies have also assessed the effect of polyphenols such as quercetin during isothermic heat acclimation regimes (Kuennen et al., 2011) or curcumin, a constituent of turmeric (Szymanski et al., 2018), but the effects of these appear negligible (Sergent et al., 2010). Other studied agents include the NO precursors L-arginine (Costa et al., 2014) and L-citrulline (Van Wijck et al., 2014) which also lack objective evidence. Overall there is insufficient reproducibility to recommend the use of large scale nutritional supplementation to prevent heat stroke either during, or as an adjunct, to heat acclimation at present. From a nutrition perspective in terms of heat acclimatization, the military has previously had high salt intakes in their diet (Bannister, 1959) which has the beneficial effect of improving orthostatic tolerance (El-Sayed and Hainsworth, 1996; Cooper and Hainsworth, 2002; Claydon and Hainsworth, 2004). The effect of salt intake on the physiological adaptations following heat acclimation has been studied with the potential of accelerating plasma volume (Armstrong et al., 1993) expansion whilst decreasing heat rate and rectal temperature (Armstrong et al., 1987).

OPTIMIZING THE RISK-PERFORMANCE PARADIGM – THE FUTURE OF MILITARY HEAT ACCLIMATIZATION

Organizing deployments to allow time for military personnel to acclimate not only improves heat tolerance but can pay dividends in terms of improved physical and cognitive performance (Muza et al., 1988; Chen et al., 1997; Cheuvront et al., 2008; Jovanović et al., 2014). However, mission specific requirements may not allow time for these physiological responses and swifter methods, such as those outlined by Charlot et al. (2017) remain attractive. Whilst, as outlined above, maintaining a high level of physical fitness improves physiological responses to exercise in the heat (Armstrong and Maresh, 1991) by 'priming' leading to more rapid acclimation (Pandolf et al., 1977; Garrett et al., 2011) trained individuals may have a lower adaptation response due to higher levels of background adaption secondary to the physical training (Convertino, 1991; Taylor, 2000; Garrett et al., 2011). In contrast whilst slower adaptation is seen in individuals with lower fitness levels the physiological manifestations are reportedly greater (Shvartz et al., 1977b; Garrett et al., 2011). Regardless the untrained, in the military context, appear to be more susceptible to heat illness (Stacey et al., 2016) but whether lower levels of physical fitness confer a risk of heat stroke, with fitter individuals being protected, remains challenging to study due to the numerous confounders.

Commonly an objective assessment of heat tolerance is used by assessing physiological responses to exercise in the heat (Bergeron et al., 2012). In athletes (Karlsen et al., 2015; Racinais et al., 2015) and military personnel (Taylor, 2014) this is commonly performed using a standardized heat tolerance test (HTT). The HTT was developed by the Israeli Defense Force (Epstein, 1990) as a means to occupationally manage their servicemen and women and is commonly used by militaries to differentiate between a temporary and permanent state of heat susceptibility (Moran et al., 2007). The HTT monitors heart rate and core temperature whilst walking for 120 min at 5 km/h at 2% elevation at 40°C and 40% relative humidity. Heat intolerance is confirmed with a core temperature $\geq 38.5^{\circ}$ C or a heart rate ≥ 145 for >3 min (Moran et al., 2007). Whilst recommended by the American College of Sports and Medicine (O'Connor et al., 2013) the HTT, for the military and a multitude of other occupational groups, is a practically and economically impossible way of assessing the presence of heat adaptation. Other studies have attempted to find surrogate markers including early reductions in heart rate and cortisol in the short term followed by diminished excitability by heart rate variability and nephrine measures with respect to LTHA (Stacey et al., 2018b). Elevated copeptin, a surrogate for arginine vasopressin secretion, measured before and after heat stress exposure in military subjects correlated with a core temperature rise greater than 38°C in comparison with subjects where the core temperature rise was less than 38°C (Stacey et al., 2018a). Whilst copeptin may be a surrogate for integrated physiological strain during work in a field environment it is unknown how this is influenced by heat adaptation. The modification of activity in the heat arguably could be better matched to physiological data particularly in the military where optimal performance is not only mission critical but conceivably could mean the difference between life and death. These potentially could include heat acclimatization status which could be combined with fitness, hydration status, core temperature, biomarkers, clothing and equipment and even potentially cumulative heat stress (Hosokawa et al., 2019). With wearable technologies, perhaps in combination with a heart rate target approach (Delves and Buller, 2017; Friedl, 2018), this could prove a safe, effected and targeted method to heat acclimatize military or humanitarian agencies in the future. As with the other occupations and sporting pursuits, a definitive marker of heat adaptation status is one of the Holy Grails of military acclimatization research. As individual responses to heat acclimation are variable (Racinais et al., 2012) reliable markers of adaptation could not only provide assurance but reduce heat illness and lead to more personalized approaches to adaptation (Bergeron et al., 2012; Racinais et al., 2015).

Several novel, often technological, solutions, largely through the reduction of exogenous or endogenous heat stress, have been developed for the purposes of preventing heat illness and potentially improving athletic performance (Walters et al., 2017). Such advances in cooling either improve on the heat adaptive state or bridge the gap prior to full heat acclimation. Skin cooling maintains orthostatic tolerance in heated subjects and reduces heat syncope (Wilson et al., 2002, 2011). As heat loss through sweat evaporation is the only way humans can dissipate heat from the skin these mechanisms commonly aim to enhance or bridge acclimative changes of increased sweat production and evaporation (Candas et al., 1979a,b). The main determinant of evaporation is the vapor pressure gradient between the saturated skin surface and the ambient air which is influenced by skin wettedness, air velocity, and body surface area (Cramer and Jay, 2017). Cooling mechanisms therefore largely exert effects by evaporative cooling, phase change materials, compressed air systems and/or thermoelectric systems (Jovanović et al., 2014). How these systems interact or attenuate a heat adaptive state is unknown. The role of novel cooling systems in protecting personnel from thermal stress would appear more prescient when a rapid robust response is required but there is minimal time to acclimatize, e.g., fighting wildfires or a CBRN scenario. Studies using varying methods often show a reduction in temperature (Cheuvront et al., 2008; Hadid et al., 2008), improved tolerance (Walters et al., 2017) and lower cardiovascular parameters (Muza et al., 1988; Chen et al., 1997). All studies are in small cohorts and none have shown a reduction in heat illness which, along with cost effective considerations, would be required for widespread use. Novel cooling solutions, such as carotid artery cooling (O'Hara et al., 2008), have been studied for the purposes of the acute management of heat stroke but have yet to be studied extensively as a preventative tool. Cooling may be best directed toward the face where studies which attempted to uncouple the psychological from physiological effects of heat acclimatization suggested that the reduction in perceived strain of exertion and thermal stress following acclimatization may be derived through greater reductions in facial temperature (Malgoyre et al., 2018). Whilst there has been significant research in this area, due to the obvious potential advantages, the efficacy of cooling devices, such as cooling vests, are reportedly, and somewhat disappointingly, only as effective as drinking ice cold water (Sawka et al., 1992;

O'Hara et al., 2008). In a meta-analysis (Daanen et al., 2018), adaptations in core temperature were more sustained when daily heat exposure duration was increased but heat exposure intensity was decreased. For improvements in sweat rate longer heat acclimation periods are correlated. In contrast core temperature reduction and attenuation appears to be related to higher heat exposure intensity. Importantly, heat re-acclimation appears to induce changes at a faster rate than initial heat acclimation (Daanen et al., 2018). Whether a state of heat acclimation can be maintained for prolonged periods despite repeated loss of heat exposure through rapid heat re-acclimation protocols requires further study in the military context. Potential novel methods include the use of hot baths or saunas (Stanley et al., 2015; Casadio et al., 2017; Mee et al., 2018).

CONCLUSION

Heat stress remains a persistent problem for militaries and is likely, with climate change, to represent a challenge in years to come. Militaries are drawn from the populations they serve. The diverse constituents of militaries, coupled with the individual responses to heat acclimation and the varied environments in which militaries operate make generalizations difficult. Thermal stress in modern military training and operational deployments must be reviewed in this context. Heat adaptation remains a mainstay of augmenting physical and mental performance in the military. The ultimate singular goal of a military is to succeed in mission objectives whether in training, contingency operations, or warfighting. The consequences of not understanding what attenuates heat adaptation can pose an existential threat to militaries and their personnel regardless of the threat of heat illness. Heat adaptation in the military should not be reviewed in isolation but in the context of warfighting including wounding, the wearing of personal protective equipment, dehydration and febrile illnesses. Further work should ascertain the mechanisms by which physical fitness and acclimatization may protect against heat illness, over and above the heat syncope mitigated by plasma volume expansion. In the military this is challenging due to the obvious confounder that fitter individuals are more likely to be part of DCCC units and at increased risk of heat illness. Methods of being able to rapidly and safely heat adapt large numbers of varied military personnel, easily measure the adaptive changes and maintain, even manipulate, this adaptation remains a topic of ongoing research. The military remains a special population for thermal research.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

IP and MS researched, drafted, and edited the manuscript. DW provided editing and overarching review of content.

REFERENCES

- Abriat, A., Brosset, C., Brégigeon, M., Sagui, E., Bregigeon, M., and Sagui, E. (2014). Report of 182 cases of exertional heatstroke in the French Armed Forces. *Mil. Med.* 179, 309–314. doi: 10.7205/MILMED-D-13-00315
- Antonio, J., Sanders, M., and Van Gammeren, D. (2001). The effects of bovine colostrum supplementation on body composition and exercise performance in active men and women. *Nutrition* 17, 243–247. doi: 10.1016/s0899-9007(00) 00552-9
- Aoyagi, Y., McLellan, T. M., and Shephard, R. J. (1995). Effects of 6 versus 12 days of heat acclimation on heat tolerance in lightly exercising men wearing protective clothing. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol. Occup. Physiol.* 71, 187–196. doi: 10.1007/bf00854978
- Armed Forces Health Surveillance Bureau, (2019). Update: heat illness, active component, U.S. Armed Forces, 2017. MSMR 26, 6–12.
- Armstrong, L., Casa, D., Millard-Stafford, M. L., Moran, D. S., Pyne, S. W., and Roberts, W. O. (2007). American College of Sports Medicine position stand. Exertional heat illness during training and competition. *Med. Sci. Sport Exerc. Med.* 39, 556–572. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e31802fa199
- Armstrong, L. E., Costill, D. L., and Fink, W. J. (1987). Changes in body water and electrolytes during heat acclimation: effects of dietary sodium. *Aviat. Space Environ. Med.* 58, 143–148.
- Armstrong, L. E., De Luca, J. P., and Hubbard, R. W. (1990). Time course of recovery and heat acclimation ability of prior exertional heatstroke patients. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 22, 36–48.
- Armstrong, L. E., Hubbard, R., DeLuca, J., and Christensen, E. (1986). Selfpaced heat acclimation procedures. U.S. Army Res. Inst. Environ. Med. 86, 1–28.
- Armstrong, L. E., Hubbard, R. W., Askew, E. W., De Luca, J. P., O'Brien, C., Pasqualicchio, A., et al. (1993). Responses to moderate and low sodium diets during exercise-heat acclimation. *Int. J. Sport Nutr.* 3, 207–221. doi: 10.1123/ ijsn.3.2.207
- Armstrong, L. E., Lee, E. C., and Armstrong, E. M. (2018). Interactions of Gut Microbiota, Endotoxemia, Immune Function, and Diet in Exertional Heatstroke. J. Sports Med. 2018:5724575. doi: 10.1155/2018/5724575
- Armstrong, L. E., and Maresh, C. M. (1991). The induction and decay of heat acclimatisation in trained athletes. Sport Med. 12, 302–312. doi: 10.2165/ 00007256-199112050-00003
- Bailey, M. S., Gurney, I., Lentaigne, J., Biswas, J. S., and Hill, N. E. (2019). Clinical activity at the UK military level 2 hospital in Bentiu, South Sudan during Op TRENTON from June to September 2017. J. R. Army Med. Corps. doi: 10.1136/jramc-2018-001154 [Epub ahead of print].
- Bain, A. R., Smith, K. J., Lewis, N. C., Foster, G. E., Wildfong, K. W., Willie, C. K., et al. (2013). Regional changes in brain blood flow during severe passive hyperthermia: effects of PaCO2 and extracranial blood flow. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 115, 653–659. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00394.2013
- Bannister, R. (1959). Acute Anhidrotic heat exhaustion. Lancet 2, 313–316. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(59)91357-1
- Bass, D. E., and Henschel, A. (1956). Responses of body fluid compartments to heat and cold. *Physiol. Rev.* 36, 128–144. doi: 10.1152/physrev.1956.36.1.128
- Bean, W., and Eichna, L. (1943). Performance in relation to environmental temperature. Reactions of normal young men to simulated desert environment. *Fed. Proc. Fed. Am. Soc. Exp. Biol.* 2, 144–158.
- Bedno, S. A., Urban, N., Boivin, M. R., and Cowan, D. N. (2014). Fitness, obesity and risk of heat illness among army trainees. *Occup. Med.* 64, 461–467. doi: 10.1093/occmed/kqu062
- Belmont, P. J., Schoenfeld, A. J., and Goodman, G. (2010). Epidemiology of combat wounds in Operation Iraqi Freedom and Operation Enduring Freedom: orthopaedic burden of disease. J. Surg. Orthop. Adv. 19, 2–7.
- Bergeron, M. F., Bahr, R., Bärtsch, P., Bourdon, L., Calbet, J. A. L., Carlsen, K., et al. (2012). International Olympic Committee consensus statement on thermoregulatory and altitude challenges for high-level athletes. *Br. J. Sports Med.* 46, 770–779. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2012-091296
- Bermon, S., Castell, L. M., Calder, P. C., Bishop, N. C., Blomstrand, E., Mooren, F. C., et al. (2017). Consensus statement immunonutrition and exercise. *Exerc. Immunol. Rev.* 23, 8–50.
- Bolton, J. P. G., Gilbert, P. H., and Tamayo, C. (2006). Heat illness on Operation Telic in summer 2003: the experience of the Heat Illness Treatment Unit in

northern Kuwait. J. R. Army Med. Corps 152, 148-155. doi: 10.1136/jramc-152-03-07

- Borden, D. L., Waddill, J. F., and Grier, G. S. III (1945). Statistical study of 265 cases of heat disease. *JAMA* 128, 1200–1205. doi: 10.1001/jama.1945. 02860340006002
- Borg, G. A. (1973). Perceived exertion: a note on "history" and methods. *Med. Sci.* Sports 5, 90–93.
- Bricknell, M. (2003). "Prevention of Heat Illness in Iraq," in Proceedings of the RTO Hum. Factors Med. Panel Spec. Meet. Boston, United States NATO HFM, Boston, MA.
- Bricknell, M. C. (1996). Heat illness in the army in Cyprus. Occup. Med. 46, 304–312. doi: 10.1093/occmed/46.4.304
- Budd, G. M. (2008). Wet-bulb globe temperature (WBGT)-its history and its limitations. J. Sci. Med. Sport 11, 20–32. doi: 10.1016/j.jsams.2007.07.003
- Buller, M. J., Welles, A. P., and Friedl, K. E. (2018). Wearable physiological monitoring for human thermal-work strain optimization. J. Appl. Physiol. 124, 432–441. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00353.2017
- Buskirk, E. R., Iampietro, P. F., and Bass, D. E. (2000). Work performance after dehydration: effects of physical conditioning and heat acclimatization. *Wilderness Environ. Med.* 11, 204–208. doi: 10.1580/1080-6032(2000)011% 5B0204:wpadeo%5D2.3.co;2
- Caldwell, J. N., Engelen, L., van der Henst, C., Patterson, M. J., Taylor, N. A. S., Henst, C., et al. (2011). The interaction of body armor, low-intensity exercise, and hot-humid conditions on physiological strain and cognitive function. *Mil. Med.* 176, 488–493. doi: 10.7205/milmed-d-10-00010
- Camilleri, M., Madsen, K., Spiller, R., van Meerveld, B., and Verne, G. (2012). Intestinal barrier function in health and gastrointestinal disease. *Neurogastroenterol. Motil.* 24, 503–512. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2982.2012.01921.x
- Candas, V., Libert, J. P., and Vogt, J. J. (1979a). Human skin wettedness and evaporative efficiency of sweating. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 46, 522–528. doi: 10.1152/ jappl.1979.46.3.522
- Candas, V., Libert, J. P., and Vogt, J. J. (1979b). Influence of air velocity and heat acclimation on human skin wettedness and sweating efficiency. J. Appl. Physiol. 47, 1194–1200. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1979.47.6.1194
- Carter, R. III, Cheuvront, S. N., Williams, J. O., Kolka, M. A., Stephenson, L. A., Sawka, M. N., et al. (2005). Epidemiology of hospitalizations and deaths from heat illness in soldiers. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 37, 1338–1344. doi: 10.1249/01. mss.0000174895.19639.ed
- Casadio, J. R., Kilding, A. E., Cotter, J. D., and Laursen, P. B. (2017). From lab to real world: heat acclimation considerations for elite athletes. *Sport Med.* 47, 1467–1476. doi: 10.1007/s40279-016-0668-9
- Chalmers, S., Esterman, A., Eston, R., Bowering, K. J., and Norton, K. (2014). Shortterm heat acclimation training improves physical performance: a systematic review, and exploration of physiological adaptations and application for team sports. *Sports Med.* 44, 971–988. doi: 10.1007/s40279-014-0178-6
- Charlot, K., Tardo-Dino, P.-E. E., Buchet, J.-F. F., Koulmann, N., Bourdon, S. S., Lepetit, B., et al. (2017). Short-term, low-volume training improves heat acclimatization in an operational context. *Front. Physiol.* 8:419. doi: 10.3389/ fphys.2017.00419
- Chen, Y. T., Constable, S. H., and Bomalaski, S. H. (1997). A lightweight ambient air-cooling unit for use in hazardous environments. Am. Ind. Hyg. Assoc. J. 58, 10–14. doi: 10.1080/15428119791013017
- Cheung, S. S., Lee, J. K. W., and Oksa, J. (2016). Thermal stress, human performance, and physical employment standards. *Appl. Physiol. Nutr. Metab.* 41, S148–S164. doi: 10.1139/apnm-2015-0518
- Cheuvront, S. N., Goodman, D. A., Kenefick, R. W., Montain, S. J., and Sawka, M. N. (2008). Impact of a protective vest and spacer garment on exercise-heat strain. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 102, 577–583. doi: 10.1007/s00421-007-0632-3
- Cheuvront, S. N., and Kenefick, R. W. (2014). Dehydration: physiology, assessment, and performance effects. *Compr. Physiol.* 4, 257–285. doi: 10.1002/cphy. c130017
- Chinevere, T. D., Cadarette, B. S., Goodman, D. A., Ely, B. R., Cheuvront, S. N., and Sawka, M. N. (2008). Efficacy of body ventilation system for reducing strain in warm and hot climates. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 103, 307–314. doi: 10.1007/s00421-008-0707-9
- Claydon, V. E., and Hainsworth, R. (2004). Salt supplementation improves orthostatic cerebral and peripheral vascular control in patients with syncope. *Hypertension* 43, 809–813. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.0000122269.05049.e7

- Clow, A., and Hucklebridge, F. (2001). The impact of psychological stress on immune function in the athletic population. *Exerc. Immunol. Rev.* 7, 5–17.
- Conn, J., and Johnston, M. (1944). Function of sweat glands in economy of NaCl under conditions of hard work in tropical climate. J. Clin. Invest. 23, 933.
- Conn, J. W. (1963). Aldosteronism in man. Some clinical and climatological aspects. I. JAMA 183, 775–781.
- Convertino, V. A. (1991). Blood volume: its adaptation to endurance training. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 23, 1338–1348.
- Cooper, V. L., and Hainsworth, R. (2002). Effects of dietary salt on orthostatic tolerance, blood pressure and baroreceptor sensitivity in patients with syncope. *Clin. Auton. Res.* 12, 236–241. doi: 10.1007/s10286-002-0018-x
- Costa, K., Soares, A., Wanner, S., Santos, R., Fernandes, S., Martins, F. S., et al. (2014). L-arginine supplementation prevents increases in intestinal permeability and bacterial translocation in male Swiss mice subjected to physical exercise under enviornmental heat stress. J. Nutr. 144, 218–223. doi: 10.3945/jn.113.183186
- Costa, R. J. S., Miall, A., Khoo, A., Rauch, C., Snipe, R., Camões-Costa, V., et al. (2017a). Gut-training: the impact of two weeks repetitive gut-challenge during exercise on gastrointestinal status, glucose availability, fuel kinetics, and running performance. *Appl. Physiol. Nutr. Metab.* 42, 547–557. doi: 10.1139/ apnm-2016-0453
- Costa, R. J. S., Snipe, R., Kitic, C., and Gibson, P. (2017b). Systematic review: exercise-induced gastrointestinal syndrome — implications for health and intestinal disease. *Aliment. Pharmacol. Ther.* 46, 246–265. doi: 10.1111/apt. 14157
- Cox, A. T., Lentaigne, J., White, S., Burns, D. S., Parsons, I., O'Shea, M., et al. (2016a). A 2-year review of the general internal medicine admissions to the British role 3 Hospital in Campbastion, Afghanistan. J. R. Army Med. Corps 162, 56–62. doi: 10.1136/jramc-2014-000385
- Cox, A. T., Linton, T. D., Bailey, K., Stacey, M., Sharma, S., Thomas, L., et al. (2016b). An evaluation of the burden placed on the general internal medicine team at the role 3 hospital in Camp Bastion by UK armed forces personnel presenting with symptoms resulting from previously identified disease. J. R. Army Med. Corps 162, 18–22. doi: 10.1136/jramc-2014-000336
- Cramer, M. N., and Jay, O. (2017). Biophysical aspects of human thermoregulation during heat stress. *Auton. Neurosci. Basic Clin.* 196, 3–13. doi: 10.1016/j.autneu. 2016.03.001
- Cramer, M. N., Moralez, G., Huang, M. U., and Crandall, C. G. (2019). No thermoregulatory impairment in skin graft donor sites during exerciseheat stress. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 51, 868–873. doi: 10.1249/MSS. 000000000001883
- Crandall, C. G., and Davis, S. L. (2010). Cutaneous vascular and sudomotor responses in human skin grafts. J. Appl. Physiol. 109, 1524–1530. doi: 10.1152/ japplphysiol.00466.2010
- Crandall, C. G., Gonzalez-Alonso, J., Crandell, C. G., Gonzalez-Alonso, J., Crandall, C. G., and Gonzalez-Alonso, J. (2010a). Cardiovascular function in the heat-stressed human. *Acta Physiol*. 199, 407–423. doi: 10.1111/j.1748-1716. 2010.02119.x
- Crandall, C. G., Shibasaki, M., and Wilson, T. E. (2010b). Insufficient cutaneous vasoconstriction leading up to and during syncopal symptoms in the heat stressed human. *Am. J. Physiol. Hear. Circ. Physiol.* 299, H1168–H1173. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00290.2010
- Crandall, C. G., Rickards, C. A., and Johnson, B. D. (2019). Impact of environmental stressors on tolerance to hemorrhage in humans. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 316, R88–R100. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00235.2018
- Crandall, C. G., and Wilson, T. E. (2015). Human cardiovascular responses to passive heat stress. *Compr. Physiol.* 5, 17–43. doi: 10.1002/cphy.c140015
- Crandall, C. G., Wilson, T. E., Marving, J., Bundgaard-Nielsen, M., Seifert, T., Klausen, T. L., et al. (2012). Colloid volume loading does not mitigate decreases in central blood volume during simulated haemorrhage while heat stressed. *J. Physiol.* 590, 1287–1297. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2011.223602
- Cui, J., Shibasaki, M., Low, D. A., Keller, D. M., Davis, S. L., and Crandall, C. G. (2010). Heat stress attenuates the increase in arterial blood pressure during the cold pressor test. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 109, 1354–1359. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol. 00292.2010
- Cui, J., Wilson, T. E., and Crandall, C. G. (2002). Baroreflex modulation of sympathetic nerve activity to muscle in heat-stressed humans. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 282, R252–R258. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00337.2001

- Cui, J., Wilson, T. E., and Crandall, C. G. (2004). Muscle sympathetic nerve activity during lower body negative pressure is accentuated in heat-stressed humans. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 96, 2103–2108. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00717.2003
- Daanen, H. A. M., Racinais, S., and Périard, J. D. (2018). Heat acclimation decay and re-induction: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Sport Med. 48, 409–430. doi: 10.1007/s40279-017-0808-x
- David, L., Maurice, C., Carmody, R., Gootenberg, D., Button, J., Wolfe, B., et al. (2014). Diet rapidly and reproducibly alters the human gut microbiome. *Nature* 505, 559–563. doi: 10.1038/nature12820
- Davison, G., Marchbank, T., March, D., Thatcher, R., and Playford, R. (2016). Zinc carnosine works with bovine colostrum in truncating heavy exerciseinduced increase in gut permeability in healthy volunteers. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 104, 526–536. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.116.134403
- Day, T. K., and Grimshaw, D. (2005). An observational study on the spectrum of heat-related illness, with a proposal on classification. J. R. Army Med. Corps 151, 11–18. doi: 10.1136/jramc-151-01-03
- Delves, S., and Buller, M. (2017). A novel individual heat acclimatisation dosimeter concept. J. Sci. Med. Sport 20, S93. doi: 10.1016/j.jsams.2017.09.443
- Dickson, S. J., Clay, K. A., Adam, M., Ardley, C., Bailey, M. S., Burns, D. S., et al. (2018). Enhanced case management can be delivered for patients with EVD in Africa: experience from a UK military Ebola treatment centre in Sierra Leone. *J. Infect.* 76, 383–392. doi: 10.1016/j.jinf.2017.12.006
- Eastridge, B. J., Mabry, R. L., Seguin, P., Cantrell, J., Tops, T., Uribe, P., et al. (2012). Death on the battlefield (2001-2011): implications for the future of combat casualty care. *J. Trauma Acute Care Surg.* 73, 431–437. doi: 10.1097/ TA.0b013e3182755dcc
- Edholm, O. (1969). The effect of heat on acclimatized and unacclimatized groups of very fit men the effect of heat on acclimatized and unacclimatized groups of very fit men. *Proc. R. Soc. Med.* 62, 1175–1179. doi: 10.1177/003591576906211p207
- Edinburgh, R. M., Hengist, A., Smith, H. A., Travers, R. L., Koumanov, F., Betts, J. A., et al. (2018). Preexercise breakfast ingestion versus extended overnight fasting increases postprandial glucose flux after exercise in healthy men. Am. J. Physiol. Metab. 315, E1062–E1074. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00163.2018
- El-Sayed, H., and Hainsworth, R. (1996). Salt supplement increases plasma volume and orthostatic tolerance in patients with unexplained syncope. *Heart* 75, 134–140. doi: 10.1136/hrt.75.2.134
- Epstein, Y. (1990). Heat intolerance: predisposing factor or residual injury? *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 22, 29–35.
- Epstein, Y., Moran, D. S., Yair, S., Ezra, S., and Shemer, J. (1999). Exertional heat stroke: a case series. *Med. Sci. Sport Exerc.* 31, 224–228. doi: 10.1097/00005768-199902000-00004
- Epstein, Y., and Yanovich, R. (2019). Heatstroke. N. Engl. J. Med. 380, 2449–2459. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra1810762
- Fortney, S. M., and Senay, L. C. J. (1979). Effect of training and heat acclimation on exercise responses of sedentary females. J. Appl. Physiol. 47, 978–984. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1979.47.5.978
- Friedl, K. E. (2018). Military applications of soldier physiological monitoring. J. Sci. Med. Sport 21, 1147–1153. doi: 10.1016/j.jsams.2018.06.004
- Ganio, M. S., Gagnon, D., Stapleton, J., Crandall, C. G., and Kenny, G. P. (2013). Effect of human skin grafts on whole-body heat loss during exercise heat stress: a case report. *J. Burn Care Res.* 34, e263–e270. doi: 10.1097/BCR. 0b013e31826c32c0
- Gardner, J. W., Kark, J. A., Karnei, K., Sanborn, J. S., Gastaldo, E., Burr, P., et al. (1996). Risk factors predicting exertional heat illness in male Marine Corps recruits. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 28, 939–944. doi: 10.1097/00005768-199608000-00001
- Garrett, A., Rehrer, N., and Patterson, M. (2011). Induction of heat acclimation in moderately and highly trained athletes. *Sport Med.* 41, 757–771. doi: 10.2165/ 11587320-00000000-00000
- Garrett, A. T., Creasy, R., Rehrer, N. J., Patterson, M. J., and Cotter, J. D. (2012). Effectiveness of short-term heat acclimation for highly trained athletes. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 112, 1827–1837. doi: 10.1007/s00421-011-2153-3
- Garrett, A. T., Goosens, N. G., Rehrer, N. G., Patterson, M. J., and Cotter, J. D. (2009). Induction and decay of short-term heat acclimation. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 107, 659–670. doi: 10.1007/s00421-009-1182-7
- Gentilcore, D., Nair, N. S., Vanis, L., Rayner, C. K., Meyer, J. H., Hausken, T., et al. (2009). Comparative effects of oral and intraduodenal glucose on blood pressure, heart rate, and splanchnic blood flow in healthy older subjects. *Am.*

J. Physiol. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 297, R716–R722. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00215. 2009

- Gibson, O. R., Mee, J. A., Tuttle, J. A., Taylor, L., Watt, P. W., and Maxwell, N. S. (2015). Isothermic and fixed intensity heat acclimation methods induce similar heat adaptation following short and long-term timescales. *J. Therm. Biol.* 49–50, 55–65. doi: 10.1016/j.jtherbio.2015.02.005
- Gill, S. K., Allerton, D. M., Ansley-Robson, P., Hemmings, K., Cox, M., and Costa, R. J. S. (2016). Does short-term high dose probiotic supplementation containing *Lactobacillus casei* Attenuate exertional-heat stress induced endotoxaemia and cytokinaemia? *Int. J. Sport Nutr. Exerc. Metab.* 26, 268–275. doi: 10.1123/ijsnem. 2015-0186
- Givoni, B., and Goldman, R. F. (1973). Predicting effects of heat acclimatization on heart rate and rectal temperature. J. Appl. Physiol. 35, 875–879. doi: 10.1152/ jappl.1973.35.6.875
- Grainge, C., and Heber, M. (2005). The role of the physician in modern military operations: 12 months experience in Southern Iraq. J. R. Army Med. Corps 151, 101–104. doi: 10.1136/jramc-151-02-08
- Greenleaf, J. E., and Bosco, J. S. (1969). Orthostatic intolerance after artificial heat acclimatization in physically fit subjects. *Nature* 222:891. doi: 10.1038/222891a0
- Greenleaf, J. E., Bosco, J. S., and Matter, M. (1974). Orthostatic tolerance in dehydrated heat-acclimated men following exercise in the heat. *Aerosp. Med.* 45, 491–497.
- Hadid, A., Yanovich, R., Erlich, T., Khomenok, G., and Moran, D. S. (2008). Effect of a personal ambient ventilation system on physiological strain during heat stress wearing a ballistic vest. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 104, 311–319. doi: 10.1007/ s00421-008-0716-8
- Hancock, P. A., Ross, J. M., and Szalma, J. L. (2007). A meta-analysis of performance response under thermal stressors. *Hum. Factors* 49, 851–877. doi: 10.1518/001872007X230226
- Harrison, M. H. (1985). Effects on thermal stress and exercise on blood volume in humans. *Physiol. Rev.* 65, 149–209. doi: 10.1152/physrev.1985.65. 1.149
- Hellon, R., Jones, R., MacPherson, R., and Weiner, J. (1956). Natural and artificial acclimatization to hot environments. J. Physiol. 132, 559–576. doi: 10.1113/ jphysiol.1956.sp005549
- Horvath, S., and Shelley, W. (1946). acclimatization to extreme heat and its effect on the ability to work in less severe environments. *Am. J. Physiol.* 146, 336–343. doi: 10.1152/ajplegacy.1946.146.3.336
- Hosokawa, Y., Casa, D. J., Trtanj, J. M., Belval, L. N., Deuster, P. A., Giltz, S. M., et al. (2019). Activity modification in heat: critical assessment of guidelines across athletic, occupational, and military settings in the USA. *Int. J. Biometeorol.* 63, 405–427. doi: 10.1007/s00484-019-01673-6
- Houmard, J. A., Costill, D. L., Davis, J. A., Mitchell, J. B., Pascoe, D. D., and Robergs, R. A. (1990). The influence of exercise intensity on heat acclimation in trained subjects. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 22, 615–620. doi: 10.1249/00005768-199010000-00012
- Howe, A. S., and Boden, B. P. (2007). Heat-related illness in athletes. Am. J. Sports Med. 35, 1384–1395. doi: 10.1177/0363546507305013
- Hunt, A. P., Billing, D. C., Patterson, M. J., and Caldwell, J. N. (2016). Heat strain during military training activities: the dilemma of balancing force protection and operational capability. *Temperature* 3, 307–317. doi: 10.1080/23328940. 2016.1156801
- Jovanović, D., Karkalić, R., Zeba, S. S., Pavlović, M., Radaković, S. S., Jovanovic, D., et al. (2014). Physiological tolerance to uncompensated heat stress in soldiers: effects of various types of body cooling systems. *Vojnosanit. Pregl.* 71, 259–264. doi: 10.2298/VSP120731045J
- Kark, J. A., Burr, P. Q., Wenger, C. B., Gastaldo, E., and Gardner, J. W. (1996). Exertional heat illness in Marine Corps recruit training. *Aviat. Space Environ. Med.* 67, 354–360.
- Karlsen, A., Nybo, L., Norgaard, S. J., Jensen, M. V., Bonne, T., and Racinais, S. (2015). Time course of natural heat acclimatization in well-trained cyclists during a 2-week training camp in the heat. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 25(Suppl. 1), 240–249. doi: 10.1111/sms.12449
- Kavouras, S. A. (2019). Hydration, dehydration, underhydration, optimal hydration: are we barking up the wrong tree? *Eur. J. Nutr.* 58, 471–473. doi: 10.1007/s00394-018-01889-z
- Kenefick, R. W., Maresh, C. M., Armstrong, L. E., Riebe, D., Echegaray, M. E., and Castellani, J. W. (2007). Rehydration with fluid of varying tonicities: effects on

fluid regulatory hormones and exercise performance in the heat. J. Appl. Physiol. 102, 1899–1905. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00920.2006

- Kim, M., and Kim, H. (2017). The roles of glutamine in the intestine and its implication in intestinal diseases. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 18:E1051. doi: 10.3390/ ijms18051051
- Kuennen, M., Gillum, T., Dokladny, K., Bedrick, E., Schneider, S., and Moseley, P. (2011). Thermotolerance and heat acclimation may share a common mechanism in humans. *Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol.* 301, R524–R533. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00039.2011
- Lambert, G. P. (2004). Role of gastrointestinal permeability in exertional heatstroke. *Exerc. Sport Sci. Rev.* 32, 185–190. doi: 10.1097/00003677-200410000-00011
- Leon, L. R., and Bouchama, A. (2015). Heat stroke. Compr. Physiol. 5, 611–647. doi: 10.1002/cphy.c140017
- Lim, C. L. (2018). Heat sepsis precedes heat toxicity in the pathophysiology of heat stroke- a new paradigm on an ancient disease. *Antioxidants* 149, 1–18. doi: 10.3390/antiox7110149
- Lim, C. L., and Mackinnon, L. T. (2006). The roles of exercise-induced immune system disturbances in the pathology of heat stroke: the dual pathway model of heat stroke. Sport Med. 36, 39–64. doi: 10.2165/00007256-200636010-00004
- Lind, A. R., Leithead, C. S., and McNicol, G. W. (1968). Cardiovascular changes during syncope induced by tilting men in the heat. J. Appl. Physiol. 25, 268–276. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1968.25.3.268
- Lind, J. (1771). An essay on diseases incidental to Europeans in hot climates.
- Lorenzo, S., Halliwill, J. R., Sawka, M. N., and Minson, C. T. (2010). Heat acclimation improves exercise performance. J. Appl. Physiol. 109, 1140–1147. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00495.2010
- Low, D. A., Keller, D. M., Wingo, J. E., Brothers, R. M., and Crandall, C. G. (2011). Sympathetic nerve activity and whole body heat stress in humans. J. Appl. Physiol. 111, 1329–1334. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00498.2011
- Lucas, R. A. I., Ganio, M. S., Pearson, J., and Crandall, C. G. (2013). Sweat loss during heat stress contributes to subsequent reductions in lower-body negative pressure tolerance. *Exp. Physiol.* 98, 473–480. doi: 10.1113/expphysiol.2012. 068171
- Mabry, R. L., Holcomb, J. B., Baker, A. M., Cloonan, C. C., Uhorchak, J. M., Perkins, D. E., et al. (1999). United States army rangers in somalia?: an analysis of combat casualties on an urban battlefield. *J. Trauma* 49, 515–529. doi: 10.1097/00005373-200009000-00021
- Majumdar, D., Srivastava, K. K., Purkayastha, S. S., Pichan, G., and Selvamurthy, W. (1997). Physiological effects of wearing heavy body armour on male soldiers. *Ind. Ergon.* 20, 155–161. doi: 10.1016/s0169-8141(96)00057-1
- Malamud, N., Haymaker, W., and Custer, R. (1946). Heat stroke; a clinicopathologic study of 125 fatal cases. *Mil. Surg.* 99, 397-449.
- Malgoyre, A., Tardo-Dino, P.-E., Koulmann, N., Lepetit, B., Jousseaume, L., and Charlot, K. (2018). Uncoupling psychological from physiological markers of heat acclimatization in a military context. J. Therm. Biol. 77, 145–156. doi: 10.1016/j.jtherbio.2018.08.017
- March, D., Jones, A., Thatcher, R., and Davison, G. (2019). The effect of bovine colostrum supplementation on intestinal injury and circulating intestinal bacterial DNA following exercise in the heat. *Eur. J. Nutr.* 58, 1441–1451. doi: 10.1007/s00394-018-1670-9

Masini, B. D., Waterman, S. M., Wenke, J. C., Owens, B. D., Hsu, J. R., and Ficke, J. R. (2009). resource utilization and disability outcome assessment of combat casualties from operation iraqi freedom and operation enduring freedom. J. Orthop. Trauma 23, 261–266. doi: 10.1097/BOT.0b013e31819dfa04

- Matsukura, T., and Tanaka, H. (2000). Applicability of zinc complex of L-carnosine for medical use. *Biochemistry* 65, 817–823.
- Maynard, S. L., Kao, R., and Craig, D. G. (2016). Impact of personal protective equipment on clinical output and perceived exertion. J. R. Army Med. Corps 162, 180–183. doi: 10.1136/jramc-2015-000541
- McCartney, D., Desbrow, B., and Irwin, C. (2018). Post-exercise ingestion of carbohydrate, protein and water: a systematic review and meta-analysis for effects on subsequent athletic performance. *Sport Med.* 48, 379–408. doi: 10. 1007/s40279-017-0800-5
- McKenna, Z., Berkemeier, Q., Naylor, A., Kleint, A., Gorini, F., Ng, J., et al. (2017). Bovine colostrum supplementation does not affect plasma I-FABP concentrations following exercise in a hot and humid environment. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 117, 2561–2567. doi: 10.1007/s00421-017-3743-5

- McLellan, T. M., and Frim, J. (1994). Heat strain in the canadian forces chemical defence clothing: problems and solutions. *Can. J. Appl. Physiol.* 19, 379–399. doi: 10.1139/h94-031
- Mee, J. A., Peters, S., Doust, J. H., and Maxwell, N. S. (2018). Sauna exposure immediately prior to short-term heat acclimation accelerates phenotypic adaptation in females. J. Sci. Med. Sport 21, 190–195. doi: 10.1016/j.jsams.2017. 06.024
- Ministry of Defence (2017). Heat Illness and Cold Injury: Prevention and Management Part 2: Guidance. Jt. Serv. Protoc. 539 V3.1. Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/prevention-of-climaticinjuries-in-the-armed-forces-medical-policy (accessed August 19, 2019).
- Ministry of Defence, (2018). Global Strategic Trends: The Future Starts Today, 6th ed. Ministry of Defence: London.
- Moncada-Jiménez, J., Plaisance, E., Mestek, M., Araya-Ramirez, F., Ratcliff, L., Taylor, J., et al. (2009). Initial metabolic state and exercise-induced endotoxaemia are unrelated to gastrointestinal symptoms during exercise. J. Sport Sci. Med. 8, 252–258.
- Montain, S. J., Sawka, M. N., Latzka, W. A., and Valeri, C. R. (1998). Thermal and cardiovascular strain from hypohydration: influence of exercise intensity. *Int. J. Sports Med.* 19, 87–91. doi: 10.1055/s-2007-971887
- Moore, A. C., Stacey, M. J., Bailey, K. G. H., Bunn, R. J., Woods, D. R., Haworth, K. J., et al. (2016). Risk factors for heat illness among British soldiers in the hot collective training environment. J. R. Army Med. Corps 162, 434–439. doi: 10.1136/jramc-2015-000427
- Moran, D. S., Erlich, T., and Epstein, Y. (2007). The heat tolerance test: an efficient screening tool for evaluating susceptibility to heat. *J. Sport Rehabil.* 16, 215–221. doi: 10.1123/jsr.16.3.215
- Morgan, R. M., Patterson, M. J., and Nimmo, M. A. (2004). Acute effects of dehydration on sweat composition in men during prolonged exercise in the heat. Acta Physiol. Scand. 182, 37–43. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-201X.2004.01305.x
- Morrison, S., Cheung, S., and Cotter, J. (2014). Bovine colostrum, training status, and gastrointestinal permeability during exercise in the heat: a placebocontrolled double-blind study. *Appl. Physiol. Nutr. Metab.* 39, 1070–1082. doi: 10.1139/apnm-2013-0583
- Moseley, P. L., and Gisolfi, C. V. (1993). New frontiers in thermoregulation and exercise. *Sport Med.* 16, 163–167. doi: 10.2165/00007256-199316030-00001
- Muza, S. R., Pimental, N. A., Cosimini, H. M., and Sawka, M. N. (1988). Portable, ambient air microclimate cooling in simulated desert and tropic conditions. *Aviat. Space Environ. Med.* 59, 553–558.
- Nadel, E., Pandolf, K., Roberts, M., and Stolwijk, J. (1974). Mechanisms of thermal acclimation to exercise and heat. J. Appl. Physiol. 37, 515–520. doi: 10.1152/ jappl.1974.37.4.515
- Naval Medical Command, (1988). Manual of Naval Preventive Medicine (Chapter 3- Ventilation and Thermal Stress Ashore and Afloat, Section III Physiological Principles, Article 3-9- Effects of Heat), United States Navy, Vol. 3. 3–9.
- Neal, R. A., Corbett, J., Massey, H. C., and Tipton, M. J. (2016). Effect of shortterm heat acclimation with permissive dehydration on thermoregulation and temperate exercise performance. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sport* 26, 875–884. doi: 10.1111/sms.12526
- Nelms, J. D., and Turk, J. (1972). A self-regulating method for rapid acclimatization to heat. *J. Physiol.* 221, 2–3.
- Nelson, D. A., Deuster, P. A., O'Connor, F. G., and Kurina, L. M. (2017). Sickle cell trait and heat injury among US army soldiers. *Am. J. Epidemiol.* 187, 523–528. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwx285
- Nelson, M. D., Altamirano-Diaz, L. A., Petersen, S. R., DeLorey, D. S., Stickland, M. K., Thompson, R. B., et al. (2011). Left ventricular systolic and diastolic function during tilt-table positioning and passive heat stress in humans. *Am. J. Physiol. Circ. Physiol.* 301, H599–H608. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00127.2011
- Nielsen, B. (1998). Heat acclimation-mechanisms of adaptation to exercise in the heat. Int. J. Sports Med. 19(Suppl. 2), S154–S156. doi: 10.1055/s-2007-971984
- Nielsen, B., Hales, J., Strange, S., Christensen, N. J., Warberg, J., and Saltin, B. (1993). Human circulatory and thermoregulatory adaptations with heat acclimation and exercise in a hot, dry environment. *J. Physiol.* 460, 467–485. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.1993.sp019482
- Nielsen, B., Strange, S., Christensen, N. J., Warberg, J., and Saltin, B. (1997). Acute and adaptive responses in humans to exercise in a warm, humid environment. *Pflugers Arch.* 434, 49–56. doi: 10.1007/s004240050361

- Niimi, Y., Matsukawa, T., Sugiyama, Y., Shamsuzzaman, A. S. M., Ito, H., Sobue, G., et al. (1997). Effect of heat stress on muscle sympathetic nerve activity in humans. J. Auton. Nerv. Syst. 63, 61–67. doi: 10.1016/s0165-1838(96)00134-8
- Nindl, B. C., Castellani, J. W., Warr, B. J., Sharp, M. A., Henning, P. C., Spiering, B. A., et al. (2013). Physiological employment standards III: physiological challenges and consequences encountered during international military deployments. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 113, 2655–2672. doi: 10.1007/ s00421-013-2591-1
- O'Connor, F. G., Kark, J., O'Brien, K., Sawka, M., Carter, R., Roberts, W. O., et al. (2013). American college of sports medicine roundtable on exertional heat stroke - return to duty/return to play. *Curr. Sports Med. Rep.* 9, 314–321. doi: 10.1249/jsr.0b013e3181f1d183
- O'Hara, R., Eveland, E., Fortuna, S., Reilly, P., and Pohlman, R. (2008). Current and future cooling technologies used in preventing heat illness and improving work capacity for battlefield soldiers: review of the literature. *Mil. Med.* 173, 653–657. doi: 10.7205/milmed.173.7.653
- Omassoli, J., Hill, N. E., Woods, D. R., Delves, S. K., Fallowfield, J. L., Brett, S. J., et al. (2019). Variation in renal responses to exercise in the heat with progressive acclimatisation. *J. Sci. Med. Sport* 22, 1004–1009. doi: 10.1016/j.jsams.2019.04. 010
- Pandolf, K., Burse, R., and Goldman, R. (1977). Role of physical fitness in heat acclimatisation, decay and reinduction. *Ergonomics* 20, 399–408. doi: 10.1080/ 00140137708931642
- Pandolf, K. B. (1998). Time course of heat acclimation and its decay. Int. J. Sports Med. 19, S157–S160. doi: 10.1055/s-2007-971985
- Pandolf, K. B., Stroschein, L. A., Drolet, L. L., Gonzalez, R. R., and Sawka, M. N. (1986). Predicition modeling of physiological responses and human performance in the heat. *Comput. Biol.* 16, 319–329. doi: 10.1016/0010-4825(86)90001-6
- Parsons, I. T., Cox, A. T., Mollan, I. A., and Boos, C. J. (2015). Managing the military patient with syncope. J. R. Army Med. Corps 161, 180–186. doi: 10. 1136/jramc-2015-000493
- Patterson, M. J., Stocks, J. M., and Taylor, N. A. S. (2004). Sustained and generalized extracellular fluid expansion following heat acclimation. *J. Physiol.* 559, 327– 334. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2004.063289
- Patton, J. F., Bidwell, T. E., Murphy, M. M., Mello, R. P., and Harp, M. E. (1995). Energy cost of wearing chemical protective clothing during progressive treadmill walking. *Aviat. Space Environ. Med.* 66, 238–242.
- Périard, J. D., Racinais, S., and Sawka, M. N. (2015). Adaptations and mechanisms of human heat acclimation: applications for competitive athletes and sports. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sport* 25, 20–38. doi: 10.1111/sms.12408
- Pires, W., Veneroso, C. E., Wanner, S. P., Pacheco, D. A. S., Vaz, G. C., Amorim, F. T., et al. (2017). Association between exercise-induced hyperthermia and intestinal permeability: a systematic review. *Sport Med.* 47, 1389–1403. doi: 10.1007/s40279-016-0654-2
- Pöchmüller, M., Schwingshackl, L., Colombani, P. C., and Hoffmann, G. (2016). A systematic review and meta-analysis of carbohydrate benefits associated with randomized controlled competition-based performance trials. J. Int. Soc. Sports Nutr. 13:27. doi: 10.1186/s12970-016-0139-6
- Pugh, J. N., Sage, S., Hutson, M., Doran, D. A., Fleming, S. C., Highton, J., et al. (2017). Glutamine supplementation reduces markers of intestinal permeability during running in the heat in a dose-dependent manner. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 117, 2569–2577. doi: 10.1007/s00421-017-3744-4
- Pugh, J. N., Sparks, A. S., Doran, D. A., Fleming, S. C., Langan-Evans, C., Kirk, B., et al. (2019). Four weeks of probiotic supplementation reduces GI symptoms during a marathon race. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 119, 1491–1501. doi: 10.1007/ s00421-019-04136-3
- Pyne, D. B., Guy, J. H., and Edwards, A. M. (2014). Managing heat and immune stress in athletes with evidence-based strategies. *Int. J. Sports Physiol. Perform.* 9, 744–750. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.2014-0232
- Racinais, S., Alonso, J. M., Coutts, A. J., Flouris, A. D., Girard, O., González-Alonso, J., et al. (2015). Consensus recommendations on training and competing in the heat. Br. J. Sports Med. 49, 1164–1173. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2015-094915
- Racinais, S., Mohr, M., Buchheit, M., Voss, S. C., Gaoua, N., Grantham, J., et al. (2012). Individual responses to short-term heat acclimatisation as predictors of football performance in a hot, dry environment. *Br. J. Sports Med.* 46, 810–815. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2012-091227

- Regan, J. M., Macfarlane, D. J., and Taylor, N. A. S. (1996). An evaluation of the role of skin temperature during heat adaptation. *Acta Physiol. Scand.* 158, 365–375. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-201X.1996.561311000.x
- Roberts, J., Suckling, C., Peedle, G., Murphy, J., Dawkins, T., and Roberts, M. (2016). An exploratory investigation of endotoxin levels in novice long distance triathletes, and the effects of a multi-strain probiotic/prebiotic, antioxidant intervention. *Nutrients* 8:E733.
- Rogers, R., and Cole, R. (2016). Hydration status in US military officer students. U.S. Army Med. Dep. J. 2016, 24–29.
- Sato, F., Owen, M., Matthes, R., Sato, K., and Gisolfi, C. V. (1990). Functional and morphological changes in the eccrine gland with heat acclimation. J. Appl. Physiol. 69, 232–236. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1990.69.1.232
- Sauaia, A., Moore, F. A., Moore, E. E., Moser, K. S., Brennan, R., Read, R. A., et al. (1995). Epidemiology of trauma deaths: a reassessment. J. Trauma Acute Care Surg. 38, 185–193. doi: 10.1097/00005373-199502000-00006
- Sawka, M. N., Young, A. J., Cadarette, B. S., Levine, L., and Pandolf, K. B. (1985). Influence of heat stress and acclimation on maximal aerobic power. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol. Occup. Physiol.* 53, 294–298. doi: 10.1007/BF00422841
- Sawka, M. N., Young, A. J., Latzka, W. A., Neufer, P. D., Quigley, M. D., and Pandolf, K. B. (1992). Human tolerance to heat strain during exercise: influence of hydration. J. Appl. Physiol. 73, 368–375. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1992.73.1.368
- Schickele, E. (1947). Environment and fatal heat stroke; an analysis of 157 cases occurring in the Army in the U.S. during World War II. *Mil. Surg.* 100, 235–256. doi: 10.1093/milmed/100.3.235
- Schlader, Z. J., and Crandall, C. G. (2014). Normothermic central hypovolaemia tolerance reflects hyperthermic tolerance. *Clin. Auton. Res.* 24, 119–126. doi: 10.1007/s10286-014-0237-y.Normothermic
- Schlader, Z. J., Wilson, T. E., and Crandall, C. G. (2016a). Basic and clinical mechanisms of orthostatic intolerance during heat stress. *Auton. Neurosci. Basic Clin.* 196, 37–46. doi: 10.1016/j.autneu.2015.12.005
- Schlader, Z. J., Wilson, T. T. E., Crandall, C. C. G., Shadler, Z., Wilson, T. T. E., and Crandall, C. C. G. (2016b). Mechanisms of orthostatic intolerance during heat stress. *Auton. Neurosci.* 196, 37–46. doi: 10.1097/CCM.0b013e31823da96d. Hydrogen
- Schleh, M. W., Ruby, B. C., and Dumke, C. L. (2018). Short term heat acclimation reduces heat stress, but is not augmented by dehydration. J. Therm. Biol. 78, 227–234. doi: 10.1016/j.jtherbio.2018.10.004
- Schwimmer, H., Eli-Berchoer, L., and Horowitz, M. (2006). Acclimatory-phase specificity of gene expression during the course of heat acclimation and superimposed hypohydration in the rat hypothalamus. J. Appl. Physiol. 100, 1992–2003. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00850.2005
- Sergent, T., Piront, N., Meurice, J., Toussaint, O., and Schneider, Y. (2010). Antiinflammatory effects of dietary phenolic compounds in an in vitro model of inflamed human intestinal epithelium. *Chem. Biol. Interact.* 188, 659–667. doi: 10.1016/j.cbi.2010.08.007
- Sessions, J., Bourbeau, K., Rosinski, M., Szczygiel, T., Nelson, R., Sharma, N., et al. (2016). Carbohydrate gel ingestion during running in the heat on markers of gastrointestinal distress. *Eur. J. Sport Sci.* 16, 1064–1072. doi: 10.1080/17461391. 2016.1140231
- Shapiro, Y., Hubbard, R. W., Kimbrough, C. M., and Pandolf, K. B. (1981). Physiological and hematologic responses to summer and winter dry-heat acclimation. J. Appl. Physiol. 50, 792–798. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1981.50.4.792
- Shapiro, Y., Moran, D., and Epstein, Y. (1998). Acclimatization strategies– preparing for exercise in the heat. *Int. J. Sports Med.* 19(Suppl. 2), S161–S163. doi: 10.1055/s-2007-971986
- Shibolet, S., Lancaster, M. C., and Danon, Y. (1976). Heat stroke: a review. Aviat. Space Environ. Med. 47, 280–301.
- Shing, C., Peake, J., Lim, C., Briskey, D., Walsh, N., Fortes, M., et al. (2014). Effects of probiotics supplementation on gastrointestinal permeability, inflammation and exercise performance in the heat. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 114, 93–103. doi: 10.1007/s00421-013-2748-y
- Shvartz, E., Convertino, V. A., Keil, L. C., and Haines, R. F. (1981). Orthostatic fluid-electrolyte and endocrine responses in fainters and nonfainters. J. Appl. Physiol. 51, 1404–1410. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1981.51.6.1404
- Shvartz, E., Meroz, A., Magazanik, A., Shoenfeld, Y., and Shapiro, Y. (1977a). Exercise and heat orthostatism and the effect of heat acclimation and physical fitness. *Aviat. Space Environ. Med.* 48, 836–842.

- Shvartz, E., Shapiro, Y., Magazanik, A., Meroz, A., Birnfeld, H., Mechtinger, A., et al. (1977b). Heat acclimation, physical fitness, and responses to exercise in temperate and hot environments. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 43, 678–683. doi: 10.1152/ jappl.1977.43.4.678
- Shvartz, E., and Meyerstein, N. (1970). Effect of heat and natural acclimatization to heat on tilt tolerance of men and women. J. Appl. Physiol. 28, 428–432. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1970.28.4.428
- Shvartz, E., Strydom, N. B., and Kotze, H. (1975). Orthostatism and heat acclimation. J. Appl. Physiol. 39, 590–595. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1975.39.4.590
- Singer, D. E., Byrne, C., Chen, L., Shao, S., Goldsmith, J., and Niebuhr, D. W. (2018). Risk of exertional heat illnesses associated with sickle cell trait in U.S. military. *Mil. Med.* 183, e310–e317. doi: 10.1093/milmed/usx085
- Smalley, B., Janke, R. M., and Cole, D. (2003). Exertional heat illness in air force basic military trainees. *Mil. Med.* 168, 298–303. doi: 10.1093/milmed/168.4.298
- Smolander, J., Louhevaara, V., Tuomi, T., Korhonen, O., and Jaakkola, J. (1984). Cardiorespiratory and thermal effects of wearing gas protective clothing. *Int. Arch. Occup. Environ. Health* 270, 261–270. doi: 10.1007/bf00379055
- Stacey, M. J., Brett, S., Woods, D., Jackson, S., and Ross, D. (2016). Case ascertainment of heat illness in the British Army: evidence of under-reporting from analysis of Medical and Command notifications, 2009-2013. J. R. Army Med. Corps 162, 428–433. doi: 10.1136/jramc-2014-000384
- Stacey, M. J., Parsons, I. T., Woods, D. R., Taylor, P. N., Ross, D., and Brett, J. S. (2015). Susceptibility to exertional heat illness and hospitalisation risk in UK military personnel. *BMJ Open Sport Exerc. Med.* 1:e000055. doi: 10.1136/ bmjsem-2015-000055
- Stacey, M. M. J., Delves, S. K., Britland, S. E., Allsopp, A. J., Brett, S. J., Fallowfield, J. L., et al. (2018a). Copeptin reflects physiological strain during thermal stress. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 118, 75–84. doi: 10.1007/s00421-017-3740-8
- Stacey, M. M. J., Delves, S. K., Woods, D. R., Britland, S. E., Macconnachie, L., Allsopp, A. J., et al. (2018b). Heart rate variability and plasma nephrines in the evaluation of heat acclimatisation status. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 118, 165–174. doi: 10.1007/s00421-017-3758-y
- Stanley, J., Halliday, A., D'Auria, S., Buchheit, M., and Leicht, A. S. (2015). Effect of sauna-based heat acclimation on plasma volume and heart rate variability. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 115, 785–794. doi: 10.1007/s00421-014-3060-1
- STO/NATO, (2013). Management of Heat and Cold Stress Guidance to NATO Medical Personnel. Findings of Task Group HFM-187. NATO: Brussels.
- Szymanski, M. C., Gillum, T. L., Gould, L. M., Morin, D. S., and Kuennen, M. R. (2018). Short-term dietary curcumin supplementation reduces gastrointestinal barrier damage and physiological strain responses during exertional heat stress. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 124, 330–340. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00515.2017
- Taylor, H. L., and Orlansky, J. (1993). The effects of wearing protective chemical warfare combat clothing on human performance. Aviat. Space Environ. Med. 64, A1–A41.
- Taylor, N. A. S. (2000). Principles and practices of heat adaptation. J. Hum. Environ. Syst. 4, 11–22. doi: 10.1618/jhes.4.11
- Taylor, N. A. S. (2014). Human heat adaptation. Compr. Physiol. 4, 325–365. doi: 10.1002/cphy.c130022
- Trommelen, J., Fuchs, C., Beelen, M., Lenaerts, K., Jeukendrup, A., Cermak, N., et al. (2017). Fructose and sucrose intake increase exogenous carbohydrate oxidation during exercise. *Nutrients* 9:E167. doi: 10.3390/nu9020167
- Tyler, C. J., Reeve, T., Hodges, G. J., and Cheung, S. S. (2016). The effects of heat adaptation on physiology, perception and exercise performance in the heat: a meta-analysis. Sport Med. 46, 1699–1724. doi: 10.1007/s40279-016-0538-5
- Van Wijck, K., Wijnands, K., Meesters, D., Boonen, B., van Loon, L., Buurman, W., et al. (2014). L-citrulline improves splanchnic perfusion and reduces gut injury during exercise. *Med. Sci. Sport Exerc.* 46, 2039–2046. doi: 10.1249/MSS. 000000000000332
- Wale, M. C. (1989). Influenza B, Q fever, and the consequences of febrile illness occurring during jungle warfare training: a clinical and serological study. J. R. Nav. Med. Serv. 75, 13–18.
- Wallace, R. F., Kriebel, D., Punnett, L., Wegman, D. H., Wenger, C. B., Gardner, J. W., et al. (2006). Risk factors for recruit exertional heat illness by gender and training period. *Aviat. Space Environ. Med.* 77, 415–421.
- Walters, P., Thom, N., Libby, K., Edgren, S., Azadian, A., Tannous, D., et al. (2017). The effect of intermittent head cooling on aerobic performance in the heat. *J. Sport Sci. Med.* 16, 77–83.

- Wells, J. M., Brummer, R. J., Derrien, M., Macdonald, T. T., Troost, F., Cani, P. D., et al. (2016). Homeostasis of the gut barrier and potential biomarkers. *Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol.* 312, G171–G193. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.00048. 2015
- Wilson, T. E., Brothers, R. M., Tollund, C., Dawson, E. A., Nissen, P., Yoshiga, C. C., et al. (2009). Effect of thermal stress on frank-starling relations in humans. J. Physiol. 587, 3383–3392. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2009.17 0381
- Wilson, T. E., Crandall, C. G., Crandell, C. G., and Crandall, C. G. (2011). Effect of thermal stress on cardiac function. *Exerc. Sport Sci. Rev.* 39, 12–17. doi: 10.1097/JES.0b013e318201eed6.Effect
- Wilson, T. E., Cui, J., Zhang, R., Witkowski, S., Crandall, C. G., Thad, E., et al. (2002). Skin cooling maintains cerebral blood flow velocity and orthostatic tolerance during tilting in heated humans. J. Appl. Physiol. 93, 85–91. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.01043.2001
- World, M. (2001). Preparation for deployment abroad. J. R. Army Med. Corps 147, 114–121. doi: 10.1136/jramc-147-02-02
- World, M. J., and Booth, T. C. (2008). Iraq: the environmental challenge to HM land forces. *Clin. Med.* 8, 399–403. doi: 10.7861/clinmedicine.8-4-399
- Yamazaki, F., and Hamasaki, K. (2003). Heat acclimation increases skin vasodilation and sweating but not cardiac barore?ex responses in heat-stressed human. J. Appl. Physiol. 95, 1567–1574. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00063. 2003

- Yeh, Y. J., Law, L. Y. L., and Lim, C. L. (2013). Gastrointestinal response and endotoxemia during intense exercise in hot and cool environments. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 113, 1575–1583. doi: 10.1007/s00421-013-2587-x
- Zuhl, M., Dokladny, K., Mermier, C., Schneider, S., Salgado, R., and Moseley, P. (2015). The effects of acute oral glutamine supplementation on exerciseinduced gastrointestinal permeability and heat shock protein expression in peripheral blood mononuclear cells. *Cell Stress Chaperones* 20, 85–93. doi: 10. 1007/s12192-014-0528-1
- Zuhl, M. N., Lanphere, K. R., Kravitz, L., Mermier, C. M., Schneider, S., Dokladny, K., et al. (2014). Effects of oral glutamine supplementation on exercise-induced gastrointestinal permeability and tight junction protein expression. J. Appl. Physiol. 116, 183–191. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00646.2013

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest. All authors are serving members of the British Army.

Copyright © 2019 Parsons, Stacey and Woods. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Could Heat Therapy Be an Effective Treatment for Alzheimer's and Parkinson's Diseases? A Narrative Review

Andrew P. Hunt^{1,2*}, Geoffrey M. Minett^{1,2}, Oliver R. Gibson^{3,4}, Graham K. Kerr^{1,2} and Ian B. Stewart^{1,2}

¹ School of Exercise and Nutrition Sciences, Faculty of Health, Queensland University of Technology, Brisbane, QLD, Australia, ² Institute of Health and Biomedical Innovation, Queensland University of Technology, Brisbane, QLD, Australia, ³ Centre for Human Performance, Exercise and Rehabilitation, College of Health and Life Sciences, Brunel University London, Uxbridge, United Kingdom, ⁴ Division of Sport, Health and Exercise Sciences, Department of Life Sciences, College of Health and Life Sciences, Brunel University London, Uxbridge, United Kingdom

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Julien Périard, University of Canberra, Australia

Reviewed by:

Vienna E. Brunt, University of Colorado Boulder, United States Mohammed Ihsan, Aspetar Hospital, Qatar Brett Romano Ely, Salem State University, United States

> *Correspondence: Andrew P. Hunt ap.hunt@qut.edu.au

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Integrative Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 09 August 2019 Accepted: 10 December 2019 Published: 10 January 2020

Citation:

Hunt AP, Minett GM, Gibson OR, Kerr GK and Stewart IB (2020) Could Heat Therapy Be an Effective Treatment for Alzheimer's and Parkinson's Diseases? A Narrative Review. Front. Physiol. 10:1556. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019.01556 Neurodegenerative diseases involve the progressive deterioration of structures within the central nervous system responsible for motor control, cognition, and autonomic function. Alzheimer's disease and Parkinson's disease are among the most common neurodegenerative disease and have an increasing prevalence over the age of 50. Central in the pathophysiology of these neurodegenerative diseases is the loss of protein homeostasis, resulting in misfolding and aggregation of damaged proteins. An element of the protein homeostasis network that prevents the dysregulation associated with neurodegeneration is the role of molecular chaperones. Heat shock proteins (HSPs) are chaperones that regulate the aggregation and disaggregation of proteins in intracellular and extracellular spaces, and evidence supports their protective effect against protein aggregation common to neurodegenerative diseases. Consequently, upregulation of HSPs, such as HSP70, may be a target for therapeutic intervention for protection against neurodegeneration. A novel therapeutic intervention to increase the expression of HSP may be found in heat therapy and/or heat acclimation. In healthy populations, these interventions have been shown to increase HSP expression. Elevated HSP may have central therapeutic effects, preventing or reducing the toxicity of protein aggregation, and/or peripherally by enhancing neuromuscular function. Broader physiological responses to heat therapy have also been identified and include improvements in muscle function, cerebral blood flow, and markers of metabolic health. These outcomes may also have a significant benefit for people with neurodegenerative disease. While there is limited research into body warming in patient populations, regular passive heating (sauna bathing) has been associated with a reduced risk of developing neurodegenerative disease. Therefore, the emerging evidence is compelling and warrants further investigation of the potential benefits of heat acclimation and passive heat therapy for sufferers of neurodegenerative diseases.

Keywords: neurodegenerative disease, heat shock protein, passive heating, thermal therapy, body warming, alpha-synuclein

INTRODUCTION

Humans are homeothermic and as such regulate their core body temperature within a narrow range. Perturbations to this homeostasis, induced by external environmental thermal stress or internally generated metabolic heat, produces both autonomic and behavioral responses designed to elicit a return of core body temperature toward thermal balance (Schlader and Vargas, 2019). While in an acute sense this stress response is a defense mechanism, regularly challenging the thermal equilibrium via active or passive thermal stress results in positive physiological and perceptual adaptations (Tyler et al., 2016). Recent research has shown positive therapeutic effects of passive heating for people with peripheral arterial disease (Neff et al., 2016; Akerman et al., 2019), chronic heart failure (Kihara et al., 2002; Ohori et al., 2012), diabetes (Hooper, 1999), and depression (Janssen et al., 2016). Passive heating also improves a range of health markers, including cardiovascular health indices, such as vascular function, blood pressure, and arterial stiffness (Brunt et al., 2016a,b), as well as metabolic health and glycemic control (Janssen et al., 2016; Kimball et al., 2018; Ely et al., 2019; Maley et al., 2019). Several mechanistic pathways may underpin these adaptations, including improved cellular respiration (Hafen et al., 2018), circulating factors (Brunt et al., 2019), and vascular shear stress (Tinken et al., 2009; Thomas et al., 2016). The upregulation of heat shock proteins (HSPs) as a result of acute and/or chronic (repeated) exposure to passive heating is also an adaptive outcome, which may provide a specific mechanistic pathway for improving health and function within the body (Faulkner et al., 2017; Brunt et al., 2018).

Recent reviews have identified the upregulation of HSPs as therapeutic targets for the treatment of neurodegenerative diseases including Parkinson's disease and Alzheimer's disease (Carman et al., 2013; Kalmar et al., 2014; Schapira et al., 2014; Ciechanover and Kwon, 2017; Webster et al., 2017; Klaips et al., 2018). Neurodegenerative diseases are characterized by the progressive deterioration of structures within the central nervous system responsible for motor control, cognition, and autonomic function. Alzheimer's and Parkinson's diseases are among the most common neurodegenerative diseases and have an increasing prevalence over the age of 50 (Pringsheim et al., 2014). Loss of protein homeostasis, due to protein mis-folding and aggregation of damaged proteins, is a hallmark of both Alzheimer's and Parkinson's diseases (Labbadia and Morimoto, 2015). HSPs function as chaperones to ensure appropriate cell function with distinct roles in the unfolded protein response, recognizing misfolded or mis-localized proteins that may be subsequently degraded by the proteasome, and are a key component of chaperone-mediated autophagy (Adachi et al., 2009; Stetler et al., 2010; Leak, 2014; Zarouchlioti et al., 2018). For their role in regulating protein homeostasis, HSP expression has been proposed as a therapeutic target for the treatment of these neurodegenerative diseases (Carman et al., 2013; Kalmar et al., 2014; Schapira et al., 2014; Ciechanover and Kwon, 2017; Webster et al., 2017; Klaips et al., 2018).

As physical and cognitive ability decline in Alzheimer's and Parkinson's diseases, passive heat therapy may yield an achievable alternative to the presently recommended exercise interventions in this population. Intriguingly, the incidence of Alzheimer's disease has recently been shown to be reduced in people who undertook moderate to frequent sauna bathing (Laukkanen et al., 2017). While the current evidence for heat therapy in neurodegenerative disease is associative and the mechanisms by which improved health outcomes are achieved have yet to be elucidated, the potential of passive heating in this population remains an alluring therapeutic option.

This review will examine pathophysiological determinants of common neurodegenerative disease, examine the evidence of an elevated HSP expression as a potential therapeutic intervention in common neurodegenerative diseases, and describe the role heat acclimation and passive heat therapy have in inducing HSP expression. In addition, central and peripheral adaptations to body warming in healthy adults, including improved muscular function, cerebral blood flow, and metabolic health, will be considered with their potential influence on neurodegenerative disease outcomes. Finally, considerations for undertaking heat acclimation and/or passive heating interventions in people with neurodegenerative diseases will be addressed.

NEURODEGENERATIVE DISEASES

Epidemiology and Pathophysiology

Central in the pathophysiology of neurodegenerative diseases is the loss of protein homeostasis and the progressive loss of selective neurons. Protein homeostasis involves a complex system of protein synthesis, folding, disaggregation, and degradation that ensures the correct function of the human body and particularly the central nervous system (Klaips et al., 2018). Loss of protein homeostasis, due to protein misfolding and aggregation of damaged proteins, is a hallmark of neurodegenerative diseases such as Alzheimer's and Parkinson's diseases (Labbadia and Morimoto, 2015). Alzheimer's and Parkinson's are the two most common degenerative neurological conditions and are more prevalent with advancing age. Both of these neurodegenerative diseases are progressive with pathological features demonstrating topographic distribution. The progressive loss of selective neurons includes amyloidosis, tauopathies, alpha-synucleinopathies, and proteinopathies, all of which have their own characteristic histopathological imaging features, as well as clinical symptomology. The diseases are incurable and result in long-term cognitive, psychological, motor, and non-motor impairments that have a profound impact on functional mobility, psychological well-being, independent living, and quality of life.

Alzheimer's Disease

Alzheimer's disease is the most prevalent neurodegenerative disease and is the most common form of dementia (Thies and Bleiler, 2012), which affects 40–50 million people worldwide (Prince et al., 2013; Nichols et al., 2019). Early stages of Alzheimer's presents with mild cognitive impairment involving memory loss and progresses with deficits in attention, language, and visuospatial abilities (Galton et al., 2000;

Wattmo et al., 2016). Social withdrawal accompanies disease progression, as symptoms include a reduced capacity to perform activates of daily living, impaired executive function and judgment, along with disorientation (Wattmo et al., 2016). These outcomes have a significant impact on independence, quality of life, and years of life with a disability (Martyr et al., 2019). Furthermore, the economic cost of dementia is \$968 billion globally (Xu et al., 2017). These costs are born by individuals and their caregivers, social health services, as well as public and private health care providers (Castro et al., 2010). Due to the aging population, the prevalence and impact of Alzheimer's disease are anticipated to increase in the future (Prince et al., 2013; Nichols et al., 2019).

Neurodegenerative diseases such as Alzheimer's are marked by a loss of cellular protein homeostasis (Ciechanover and Kwon, 2017; Klaips et al., 2018). The pathophysiology of Alzheimer's is evidenced by intracellular and extracellular amyloid-ß plaques as well as neurofibrillary tangles of hyperphosphorylated tau (Montine et al., 2012; Ciechanover and Kwon, 2017). Neurodegeneration occurs as a result of the accumulation of tau proteins and atrophy of cerebral cortices. Amyloid deposits occur in the neocortex and hippocampus (Phases 1 and 2), the striatum (Phase 3), the brainstem (Phase 4), and the cerebellum (Phase 5) (Montine et al., 2012). In concert with abnormal protein accumulation, the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease may also involve vascular impairments leading to chronic cerebral hypoperfusion (de la Torre, 2004; Akinyemi et al., 2013; Sweeney et al., 2018). To combat these pathophysiological progressions, therapeutic interventions to improve protein quality control and regulation or improve vascular health and function have been recommended (Akinyemi et al., 2013; Ciechanover and Kwon, 2017).

Parkinson's Disease

Parkinson's disease is the second most common disease, neurodegenerative after Alzheimer's disease. For Parkinson's disease, the progressive degeneration of dopaminergic neurons in the substantia nigra pars compacta results in severe motor (e.g., tremor, rigidity, bradykinesia, postural instability) and non-motor symptoms (e.g., sleep disturbances, apathy, cognitive dysfunction, anxiety, depression) (Politis et al., 2010; Asahina et al., 2013). Both motor and non-motor impairments contribute to reduced physical activity and consequently decreased fitness in people with Parkinson's disease (Speelman et al., 2011). This decreased fitness exacerbates both pre-existing and disease-specific conditions including cardiovascular disease, muscle weakness, postural instability, osteoporosis, sleep disruption, impaired cognitive function, depression and constipation (Speelman et al., 2011). Estimates suggest that Parkinson's disease affects between 5 and 7 million people worldwide (Dorsey et al., 2018). The annual economic cost of Parkinson's disease is estimated to be £3.3 billion in the United Kingdom (Findley, 2007), \$23 billion in the United States (Findley, 2007), \$6.3 billion in Australia (Access Economics (Firm) and Parkinson's Australia, 2007).

The degradation in neural function in Parkinson's disease is evidenced by degeneration of substantia nigral neurons, accumulation of alpha-synuclein and Lewy bodies, cortical atrophy and alteration in neural oscillatory activity between basal ganglia, thalamus, cortex, and brainstem areas. It has been proposed by Braak et al. (2003) that in Parkinson's disease, the topographic progress of neurodegeneration, follows patterns of alpha-synuclein aggregation expressed in Lewy neurites and Lewy bodies. This occurs first in the medulla and olfactory bulb, then progressively dorsally through the brainstem, mediobasal forebrain, limbic structures, higher-order sensory association and prefrontal areas, and finally to primary sensory and motor areas (Braak et al., 2003). A central tenet of this proposal is that the initial disease onset is a result of inflammatory processes in the enteric system that result in progression to the central nervous system via the vagal nerve (Breen et al., 2019). Additionally, deterioration in the vasculature of the brain resulting in abnormal cerebral perfusion patterns has been identified in people with Parkinson's disease, suggesting a role of cerebral blood flow in the pathophysiology of the disease (Melzer et al., 2011; Syrimi et al., 2017; Sweeney et al., 2018).

Heat Shock Proteins as a Therapeutic Target

Recent reviews have clearly identified the upregulation of HSPs as thermally activated therapeutic targets for the treatment of neurodegenerative diseases including Parkinson's and Alzheimer's (Carman et al., 2013; Kalmar et al., 2014; Schapira et al., 2014; Ciechanover and Kwon, 2017; Webster et al., 2017; Klaips et al., 2018). HSPs are a collective family of proteins, suffixed by their molecular weight (in kilodaltons; kDa), which are present in both constitutively expressed, and inducible isoforms across several intracellular tissue sites and in extracellular fluid following stress (Kampinga et al., 2009). Relative to increased intracellular HSP content (a necessary component for protective cellular adaptation), the presence of extracellular changes in HSP concentration reflects a less pertinent (in the context of adaptation) transient stress response which acts as an acute signaling response. The 70 kDa (HSPA) and 90 kDa (HSPC) family of HSPs, hereafter referred to as HSP70 and HSP90, are generally the most widely studied responders to thermal stressors and are likely of most relevance within the field of heat therapy and heat adaptation for neurodegenerative disease (Luo et al., 2010; Fontaine et al., 2016; Lackie et al., 2017). HSP70 and HSP90 function as chaperones to ensure appropriate cell function and have distinct roles in the unfolded protein response, e.g., recognizing misfolded or mis-localized proteins that may be subsequently degraded by the proteasome, and are a key component of chaperone-mediated autophagy (Adachi et al., 2009; Stetler et al., 2010; Leak, 2014; Kampinga and Bergink, 2016; Zarouchlioti et al., 2018). It is outside of the focus of this review to describe each of these roles, with the reader directed elsewhere to contextualize these actions (Adachi et al., 2009; Stetler et al., 2010; Leak, 2014; Kampinga and Bergink, 2016; Zarouchlioti et al., 2018).

As therapeutic targets, HSP70 and HSP90 may be considered to have a direct and indirect role in neurodegenerative diseases. Direct roles for HSPs on the nervous system arise from the aforementioned notion that aggregation of misfolded proteins is characteristic of neurodegenerative diseases, including Parkinson's, Alzheimer's, and Huntington's (Stetler et al., 2010). In Parkinson's, HSP70 is reported as being of decreased gene expression (Mandel et al., 2005), while during proteomic profiling, reduced phosphorylation of HSP90 is also reported (Kulathingal et al., 2009). Pharmacological and animal models utilizing HSP expression (elevated HSP70 and reduced HSP90) have reduced the aggregation and toxicity of alpha-synuclein in Parkinson's disease (Auluck et al., 2002; Klucken et al., 2004; Danzer et al., 2011; Gao et al., 2015). In Alzheimer's, HSP70 may suppress the proteolysis of amyloid precursor protein (Hoshino et al., 2007) and in addition to HSP70, HSP90, and small HSPs reduce the formation of A-beta fibrils (Kudva et al., 1997; Lee et al., 2005; Wilhelmus et al., 2006a) and A-beta toxicity (Wilhelmus et al., 2006b) which subsequently form amyloid plaques. Tauopathy occurrence in Alzheimer's may also be positively impacted by HSP changes with HSP70 (Jinwal et al., 2009) and HSP90 (Evans et al., 2006; Luo et al., 2007). Further, HSPs have been found to regulate huntingtin via reduced cell aggregation in Huntington's disease (Muchowski et al., 2000; Sittler et al., 2001), and slows the muscle denervation of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (Motor Neuron Disease) (Kieran et al., 2004; Kalmar et al., 2008, 2012).

Much of the literature describing these responses involve complex and isolated tissue/cell models to understand how HSP manipulation impacts upon neurodegenerative disease factors, thus direct application for humans remains unknown. However, with mechanistic support for the role of HSP augmentation to improve disease states, the application of heat therapy and/or heat adaptation in this context warrants further investigation.

RESPONSES TO ACTIVE (EXERCISE HEAT ACCLIMATION) AND PASSIVE HEAT THERAPY IN HEALTHY ADULTS

Physical activity and exercise have long been identified as mechanisms of inducing physiological stressors and subsequent positive adaptations in healthy (Tyler et al., 2016) and chronic disease (Hoffmann et al., 2016) populations. Unfortunately, those with increasing disease severity or diseases that challenge their motor control capabilities may be physically incapable of performing such beneficial exercise. Heat therapy has recently been targeted as a potential vehicle to evoke these positive thermal-induced adaptations in those precluded from undertaking exercise. Experimental investigations, large cohort surveys and reviews have expressed the potential for passive heating to improve physical and mental health in patients with cardiovascular disease (Brunt et al., 2016a,b; Maeda et al., 2018), diabetes (Kimball et al., 2018; Maley et al., 2019), peripheral arterial disease (Akerman et al., 2019), and depression (Janssen et al., 2016).

While there is a myriad of beneficial physiological and molecular effects of active and passive heating, this review will primarily focus specifically on the outcome of HSP expression, for its potential to influence proteostasis in neurodegenerative disease. For active and passive heating to be effective in increasing HSP expression, the minimum exposure requirements to elicit a desirable response in HSPs, from both acute and chronic (repeated) exposure, needs to be identified.

Acute Effects of Body Warming on Heat Shock Proteins

Transcription of HSP mRNA, an essential step before protein translation, is primarily regulated by Heat shock factor protein 1 (HSF-1) as part of the Heat Shock Response (Kregel, 2002). HSF-1 activation involves a complex series of regulatory events, including nuclear localization, oligomerization and acquisition of HSE–DNA binding, ultimately resulting in the transcription of HSP mRNA (Sarge et al., 1993) in response to the thermal and physiological challenge (McClung et al., 2008; Maloyan et al., 2011). Sufficient mRNA transcription then leads to increased protein within the stressed cell.

Precise parameters for intracellular increases, and thus cellular adaptation, have been less clearly defined. For example, mean core body temperature may not be the sole marker of an increase, rather the rate of change in core body temperature may be of greater importance to signal HSF-1 to HSP70 pathways. In the more common exercise-heat stress model, a recent analysis concluded that when transcription of the related HSP70 and HSP90a mRNA is important, protocols should rapidly induce large, prolonged changes in core body temperature (Gibson et al., 2016). This notion was supported by evidence that, when analyzed collectively, significant predictors of the postexercise change in HSP70 and HSP90α mRNA were the change in mean and peak core body temperature, and the duration core body temperature was ≥38.5°C (Gibson et al., 2016). It should be acknowledged that these data describe responses to exercise-heat stress, an intervention that is likely to be challenging to implement in clinical populations. Accordingly, passive heating via body warming may prove to be a more efficacious intervention.

The HSP response to localized or whole body warming has also been investigated. In passive heating models, increases in HSP70 and HSP90 mRNA have been evidenced as peaking 30 min following 90 min of local heating to either the thigh or the whole leg of healthy human volunteers (Kuhlenhoelter et al., 2016). Regrettably, no intramuscular temperature data is available from this experiment to assist with identifying minimum exposure requirement. This increase following resting, local heat stress which does not alter core body temperature offers mechanistic insight as elevations in blood flow and shear stress provide a non-core body temperature dependent HSP response that parallels transcription of angiogenic markers (Kuhlenhoelter et al., 2016). Not all experimental work has observed changes in HSP following passive heating. Leg immersion in hot water at 45°C for 60 min, eliciting an increased intramuscular temperature of >39°C, did not affect muscle HSPs (HSP70, HSC70, HSP60, HSP27, alphaB-crystallin) in healthy young humans (Morton et al., 2007). It should be noted that this null-observation came 48 h following, rather than immediately after heating, which may provide a rationale for the response. These data share commonality with responses observed elsewhere in relation to HSP70 and HSP27 stasis 24 h following ~80 min of heating at ~49°C (Vardiman et al., 2013) to increase intramuscular temperature also to >39°C, suggesting that the dose of heat therapy may be an important driver of HSP response or that the inconsistent timing of differential tissue sampling are experimental artifacts impacting current understanding.

Examination of extracellular changes in HSP70 during acute exercise-heat stress in humans has identified that the endogenous requirement for extracellular HSP70 release (at the cessation of exercise) may be a core body temperature mean of $>38.5^{\circ}$ C (peak of 39.2°C) for 56 min, alongside moderate exercising intensities (Gibson et al., 2014). Although changes may occur more rapidly (within 27 min) if exercise intensities are higher (Périard et al., 2012). Both the change in and final core body temperature attained are relevant to extracellular HSP70 release (Périard et al., 2012) and indicate achieving substantial elevations in thermal parameters is important when administering exercise-heat exposures to increase thermotolerance in whole-body models.

Chronic Effects of Body Warming on Heat Shock Proteins

The HSP responses to exercise-heat acclimation have been reviewed previously, with an acknowledgment that the intervention is an effective means to augment cellular thermotolerance, which may subsequently protect vital organs from deleterious effects of heat stress in humans (Amorim et al., 2015). An internal temperature threshold for intracellular HSP70 induction may exist, though it is also possible that this response occurs once a certain variation of internal, wholebody temperature is reached alongside additional stressors (Magalhães et al., 2010). For example, during a 10-day heat acclimation period, Magalhães et al. (2010) demonstrated the largest changes in post-exercise intracellular HSP70 when a core body temperature $>39.0^{\circ}$ C was achieved. In contrast, Yamada et al. (2007) and Hom et al. (2012) reported no change in HSP70 in response to a lower core body temperature (mean maximum of ~38.5°C) following 10 days of heat acclimation. HSP70 and HSP90 mRNA transcription occur at a series of core body temperature thresholds during 90 min of exercise-heat stress (mean 37.6-38.2°C; peak 38.1-39.1°C) (Gibson et al., 2015a,b) therefore the dose of heat stress to elicit translation may be greater than that required to elicit transcription.

In human whole-body passive heating models, such as hot water immersion of >60 min whereby core body temperature is increased, higher extracellular HSP70 concentration (Faulkner et al., 2017), and intracellular HSP70 changes (Oehler et al., 2001), have been reported. The beneficial response once again is not unanimous, with others reporting chronic change (following 2 weeks of repeated therapy) in intracellular HSP70 after 45–60 min of passive heat therapy (Hoekstra et al., 2018). In a similar manner to that described for local heating, the dose of stress may be important given the lack of change in studies using 60 min

heating (Hoekstra et al., 2018), in comparison to those who do report an acute increase in intracellular HSP70 following 120 min heating in 39°C water (Oehler et al., 2001).

Intracellular HSP70 and HSP90 levels in peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) are increased after 6-10 days of long term exercise-heat acclimation (Yamada et al., 2007; McClung et al., 2008). The two larger HSPs appear to be related with regards to exercise-heat stress changes, as an HSP70 increase of ~21% was correlated with HSP90 increases of ~18% (McClung et al., 2008). In vitro analysis of PBMC obtained from 10-day exercise-heat acclimated individuals exhibit greater blunting of the HSP response to heat shock of 43°C for 60 min (compared to unacclimated). This blunted pre-post response is indicative of increased thermotolerance and/or cellular protection from stress, likely due to increased basal intracellular HSP content and appears directly related to the degree of physiological heat acclimation (lower core temperature), thus the adapted individual/cell experiences lesser relative stress at the same absolute temperature (McClung et al., 2008).

The notion of individual differences in the responses to local heat therapy has been highlighted in a study observing that 24 h following 40 min of heat treatment (diathermy followed by heat packs), female subjects significantly increased HSP70 (+58%) and phosphorylation of HSP27 (+100%) content compared to the untreated leg (Touchberry et al., 2007). In comparison, male subjects had non-significant increases in HSP70 (+35%) and HSP27 phosphorylation (+32%) within skeletal muscle (Touchberry et al., 2007). These sex-specific responses are intriguing and warrant future investigation given no differences in Hsp70 mRNA have been reported during isothermic heat acclimation (Mee et al., 2016) and were not reported in the mixedsex cohort undertaking passive heating described above (Kuhlenhoelter et al., 2016).

Central and Peripheral Effects of Body Warming

The administration of heat therapy and heat acclimation may provide additional benefits in the context of neurodegenerative diseases in relation to skeletal muscle function, cerebral blood flow, and metabolic health. Adverse reductions in strength and lean body mass are symptoms of neurodegenerative diseases, including Alzheimer's disease (Burns et al., 2010; Buchman and Bennett, 2011), Parkinson's disease (Berardelli et al., 2001; Petroni et al., 2003; Cano-de-la-Cuerda et al., 2010) and Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis (Gubbay et al., 1985; Munsat et al., 1988; Kiernan et al., 2011). While various mechanisms are at play, muscle atrophy and decreased strength likely owe to symptominfluenced reductions in physical activity, along with central and peripheral nervous system changes that limit muscle activation (Hass et al., 2007). Furthermore, reduced cerebral blood flow and poor metabolic health profiles may also be related to disease progression (de la Torre, 2004; Akinyemi et al., 2013; Bharadwaj et al., 2017; Sweeney et al., 2018). As there is a potential benefit to be gained, the below reviews the current developing understanding of the acute and chronic effects of elevated temperature on skeletal muscle function, cerebral blood flow, and markers of metabolic health.

Skeletal Muscle Function

Increases in skeletal muscle temperature have long been accepted to improve acute muscle force, power and contractility (Bergh and Ekblom, 1979; Davies and Young, 1983; Bennett, 1984). Contrastingly, the inverse relationship between high core body temperature and muscle torque, muscle recruitment patterns, and voluntary activation is also documented (Morrison et al., 2004; Todd et al., 2005; Thomas et al., 2006). Importantly, however, these outcomes are most often viewed with a shortterm lens, with limited understanding of the effects of time or repeated heat exposures on skeletal muscle in humans (Brazaitis and Skurvydas, 2010; Goto et al., 2011; Racinais et al., 2017).

Passive heating has been reported in experimental designs examining effects on exercise-induced muscle damage (Nosaka et al., 2007; Touchberry et al., 2012), recovery from muscle injury (Kojima et al., 2007; Oishi et al., 2009; Takeuchi et al., 2014) and immobilization (Selsby and Dodd, 2005; Senf et al., 2008; Dodd et al., 2009), and muscle hypertrophy (Uehara et al., 2004; Ohno et al., 2010) in animal models. The rationale for passive heat application relates to the altered cascade of inflammation and HSP expression that interact with mitochondrial biogenesis and muscle growth (Yoshihara et al., 2013; McGorm et al., 2018). Increases in wet muscle mass and protein content in rat soleus muscle have been described 7 days after a 60 min exposure to a 41-42°C heat chamber (Uehara et al., 2004; Ohno et al., 2010). Further, Kodesh and Horowitz (2010) observed higher muscle mass/body weight ratios in rats following 30 days of acclimation to 34°C environmental heat compared to a 24°C control. Similarly, in healthy men, Goto et al. (2011) saw an increased cross-sectional area of fibers in the vastus lateralis (8.3%) using a steam-generating sheet applied to the quadriceps muscle for 8 $h \cdot day^{-1}$ and 4 days week⁻¹ across a 10-week intervention. Collectively, it might be concluded that passive heating could support cell proliferation and facilitate muscle hypertrophy (Naito et al., 2000; Goto et al., 2004; Uehara et al., 2004). Such outcomes would be particularly beneficial to those experiencing neurodegenerative disease, particularly as passive heating appears also to attenuate human skeletal muscle atrophy (Hafen et al., 2019).

Most pertinent from a translational perspective, improved strength has been demonstrated to couple the increased skeletal muscle growth after passive heating (Goto et al., 2011; Racinais et al., 2017). Higher isometric knee extensor torque (5.8%) was achieved after 10 weeks of heat stress, which the authors explained as potentially relating to the increase of myonuclear number (Goto et al., 2011). Goto et al. (2011) also found a 4% increase in knee extensor strength in the non-heated leg. While the contralateral effects of unilateral resistance training are acknowledged (Lee and Carroll, 2007; Frazer et al., 2018), this phenomenon may imply that there are central nervous system effects of chronic passive heating. A potential role of circulating factors has also been proposed (Hendy and Lamon, 2017). The site(s) of possible neural adaptation explaining cross-education remain unclear. However, it is conceivable that adaptations could occur at the spinal and/or cortical level considering the noted decline in descending motor drive during acute episodes of hyperthermia (Todd et al., 2005; Périard et al., 2012; Ross et al., 2012). It seems that higher body temperature acutely impairs somatosensory processing (Nakata et al., 2015), though how adaptation to passive heating might affect neural activity in healthy or diseased states in thermoneutral conditions remains to be elucidated. Regardless, adaptation to passive heat therapy is promising, particularly in a rehabilitation setting and for those with neurodegenerative diseases, as acute stress may increase motor cortex excitability and augment motor skill acquisition (Littmann and Shields, 2016).

Cerebral Blood Flow

Another avenue by which passive heating may have a therapeutic effect is through improved cerebral blood flow. Reduced cerebral blood flow and dysfunction in the blood-brain barrier have been identified in neurodegenerative diseases, including Alzheimer's and Parkinson's (de la Torre, 2004; Akinyemi et al., 2013; Sweeney et al., 2018). Both motor and cognitive impairments have been associated with poor perfusion in several brain regions in Parkinson's disease (Melzer et al., 2011). Similarly, overall and regional cerebral blood flow reductions have been associated with cognitive decline in mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease (Leeuwis et al., 2017). For these reasons, the vasculature supplying blood to and across the brain are also relevant targets to examine the beneficial adaptations of passive heat therapy for neurodegenerative diseases.

Several vascular adaptations attributable to heat therapy have been reported. These have included improved flow-mediated dilation (Brunt et al., 2016a), increased pulse wave velocity (an index of arterial stiffness) (Brunt et al., 2016a), reduced carotid intima thickness (Brunt et al., 2016a) improved capillarization (Hesketh et al., 2019) and subsequently enhanced systemic blood pressure profiles (Brunt et al., 2016a; Akerman et al., 2019). Mechanistically, HSP27 has been shown to reduce intimal hyperplasia (Connolly et al., 2003), with greater carotid intima thickness associated with reduced cerebral blood flow (Sojkova et al., 2010). Undesirable vascular hypertrophy can also be mitigated against via HSP70 associated inhibition of Angiotension II (Zheng et al., 2006), with HSP90 conferring a more general adaptation aligned to the stabilization of the vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) upstream target hypoxia-inducible factor-1 (HIF-1a) (Maloyan et al., 2005), and elevated endothelial nitric oxide production and improved the stabilization and bioavailability of endothelial nitric oxide synthase (Averna et al., 2008). Collectively these vascular adaptations observed in passive heating interventions have the potential to maintain cerebral blood flow and blood-brain barrier function, outcomes which may have beneficial effects for cognitive function in Alzheimer's and Parkinson's diseases.

Metabolic Health

Markers of metabolic health may also play a role in the pathogenesis of neurodegeneration in Alzheimer's disease. The neurodegeneration seen in Alzheimer's disease has been linked



with impaired cerebral insulin signaling and glucose metabolism (Bharadwaj et al., 2017). The loss of protein homeostasis (Aβ accumulation and tau hyperphosphorylation), synaptic degeneration, and neural dysfunction have been associated with these impairments to normal metabolic processes (Bharadwaj et al., 2017). Recent research has therefore proposed therapeutic interventions to improve insulin signaling and reduce insulin resistance. Interestingly, heat therapy has been proposed for people with type II diabetes, and early studies have highlighted a reduction in fasting plasma glucose following repeated hot water bath immersions over 3 weeks (Hooper, 1999). Furthermore, chronic heat therapy interventions have improved glucose tolerance and insulin sensitivity in women with polycystic ovary syndrome who experience obesity and metabolic dysfunction (Ely et al., 2019). Therefore, the effects of heat therapy on metabolic health are another potential avenue of therapeutic benefit for people with neurodegenerative disease.

Summary

For individuals who do not experience these important physiological stressors through habitual activity and exercise, heat therapy may provide a vehicle to achieve a range of health and physiological benefits (**Figure 1**). Much remains to be understood with regards to the mechanisms and stimuli required to elicit the desired increases in relevant HSPs following heat therapy, in addition to further quantifying the magnitude of importance of these responses. Additionally, the potential to improve muscular function, cerebral blood flow, and markers of metabolic health offer significant benefit for people with a neurodegenerative disease by improving their quality of life and reducing disease severity. Part of the present ambiguity results from the utilization of different methods, e.g., heating technique, heating duration and magnitude, tissue sample site and time points, across experimental studies. Despite the need for further clarity regarding the mechanistic underpinnings and best practice implementation, the opportunities to investigate a tolerable heat therapy model in a relevant target population exists and should be encouraged.

BODY WARMING IN PEOPLE WITH NEURODEGENERATIVE DISEASES

Evidence for a Potential Benefit

At present, the authors are not aware of any studies that have directly assessed the effects of active or passive body warming on HSP release, and disease severity or progression, in people with neurodegenerative diseases. Therefore, this review will draw on findings from epidemiological studies, and indirect studies of other interventions such as exercise, that have shown benefits among people with neurodegenerative diseases.

Habitual body warming, through sauna bathing or exercise, has been shown to reduce the risk of developing neurodegenerative diseases. Regular passive heating has been associated with a reduced risk of developing neurodegenerative diseases, including Alzheimer's (Heinonen and Laukkanen, 2018). Men participating in sauna bathing 2-3 or 4-7 times per week had a 0.80 and 0.35 hazard ratio for developing Alzheimer's disease compared to men who sauna once per week or less (Laukkanen et al., 2017). Regular exercise also has a protective effect on the risk of developing Alzheimer's and Parkinson's diseases (Paillard et al., 2015). Consistent and frequent participation in moderate to vigorous physical activity was found to reduce the risk of Parkinson's disease by up to 40% (Xu et al., 2010). Similarly, exercising three or more times per week is associated with a lower incidence rate of dementia and Alzheimer's (Larson et al., 2006). While these studies do not elucidate the potential mechanisms by which a protective effect is elicited, it does lend anecdotal evidence toward the expression of HSP through regular body warming as a distinct possibility.

Further to a preventative effect, exercise has been described as having a restorative effect on the neurodegeneration observed in Alzheimer's and Parkinson's diseases (Loprinzi et al., 2013; Paillard et al., 2015). Clinical and epidemiological studies have provided evidence supporting the conclusion that exercise has therapeutic value by reducing the symptoms and slowing disease progression (Ransmayr, 2011; Hou et al., 2017; Liu et al., 2019). Moderate to high-intensity aerobic exercises, such as treadmill walking or assisted cycling, are recommended for improved motor and cognitive function in Parkinson's disease (Ahlskog, 2011; Salgado et al., 2013; Evens and Clark, 2017). High-intensity treadmill exercise of 30 min at a target heart rate prevented Parkinson's disease progression, compared to moderate intensity and control (Schenkman et al., 2018). Furthermore, interval exercises (alternating periods of low and high intensity assisted cycling) have shown positive improvements in functional ability in Parkinson's patients (Uygur et al., 2015, 2017). Immersion in warm water (33°C) for 50 min while performing dualtask exercises (combining physical movements with cognitive tasks) was found to improve functional mobility (timed up and go, and five-time sit-to-stand) among people with Parkinson's disease following 3 months of twice-weekly exposures (Silva and Israel, 2019).

Exercise interventions have also had significant effects on slowing the progression of Alzheimer's disease. Over 1 year, people with Alzheimer's disease who participated in twiceweekly 1-h exercise sessions showed reduced rates of decline in measures of functional independence and physical performance, compared to control participants (Pitkala et al., 2013). In a similar intervention, the ability to perform activities of daily living declined significantly slower in people with Alzheimer's disease performing twice-weekly exercise programs (Rolland et al., 2007). A 6-month walking program has also shown people with Alzheimer's disease to be able to maintain cognitive function on the Mini Mental State Exam (MMSE), compared to significant declines in those not exercising (Venturelli et al., 2011). Overall, there is compelling evidence that exercise improves motor and cognitive function in neurodegenerative disease and it is therefore recommended by clinicians (Ransmayr, 2011; Hou et al., 2017; Liu et al., 2019). However, exercise and body warming interventions should consider the difficulties in performing such activities for these populations (section "Considerations for Heat Therapy for People With Neurodegenerative Disease").

The studies of moderate to high-intensity exercise among neurodegenerative disease populations provide circumstantial evidence that the assumed body warming experienced may be contributing to the beneficial effects observed. While there may be many avenues by which exercise and body warming promote improved health and function, the role of body temperature elevation, thermoregulatory responses, and HSP expression have been overlooked in these experiments. Given the growing body of evidence that supports the expression of HSPs as therapeutic targets for Alzheimer's and Parkinson's diseases (section "Heat Shock Proteins As a Therapeutic Target"), there is a clear need for future investigations of passive heating to monitor thermoregulation and HSP responses in people with these neurodegenerative diseases.

Considerations for Heat Therapy for People With Neurodegenerative Disease

An important consideration in conducting heat acclimation and heat therapy for older adults and clinical populations will be how their impairments or any co-morbidities may affect their ability to perform and tolerate these interventions. Firstly, their disease severity may impair their physical ability to perform movements effectively and safely (Kerr et al., 2010; Buchman and Bennett, 2011). Secondly, neurodegeneration may cause deficits in thermoregulatory processes. In Parkinson's disease, neural degeneration in higher-order brain centers including the hypothalamus is associated with impaired sudomotor function which in turn may influence their tolerance to body warming (LeDoux, 2013).

Neurodegenerative diseases such as Parkinson's and Motor Neuron Disease primarily affect motor control. As the diseases progress, motor function deteriorates resulting in impaired gait and balance and an increased risk of falls (Pickering et al., 2007). While Alzheimer's is usually associated with cognitive impairments, significant motor impairments are also associated with this disease (Buchman and Bennett, 2011). Therefore, exercise and heat acclimation interventions should consider the level of impairment of their target population and how the risk of falls and injury may be managed. As such, in these populations where movement is limited, passive heat therapy may be an achievable alternative to exercise interventions.

The autonomic nervous system, responsible for thermoregulation, can exhibit deficits in neurodegenerative diseases, specifically in the thermoeffector responses of sweating and skin blood flow. Abnormalities in the sweating response, hyperhidrosis and/or hypohidrosis, are commonly reported in Parkinson's disease (De Marinis et al., 1991; Swinn et al., 2003; Schestatsky et al., 2006) and may be more prominent with increasing age and disease severity of patients (Saito and Kogure, 1989). Hypohidrosis, an absence of the sweating or reduced sweat output, may reduce effective body cooling during exercise and body warming. However, the sweating response is highly individualized, and compromised sweating in one body region may be compensated by increased sweating in other body regions (Schestatsky et al., 2006). Careful attention should, therefore, be given to the rate of body warming people with Parkinson's disease may experience, and ensuring appropriate cooling strategies are available.

Cardiovascular regulation of blood pressure is also influenced by neurodegenerative disease. The expected elevation in heart rate and blood pressure may be blunted in people with Parkinson's disease, and they may also experience post-exercise hypotension (Asahina et al., 2013). Orthostatic intolerance is also reported in 10-60% of people with Parkinson's disease (Senard et al., 1997; Wüllner et al., 2007). These cardiovascular impairments may influence their ability to tolerate exercise and body warming and should be considered in determining individual suitability for heat therapy and heat acclimation. The modality of passive heating may therefore also be an important factor in determining appropriate therapeutic techniques. Infrared sauna bathing has been reported to promote lower cardiovascular strain than traditional sauna techniques (Mero et al., 2015) and may be one avenue that could be investigated for suitability in these at-risk populations.

FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Overall, there are three key points from the scientific literature that support a proposal for a therapeutic effect of heat therapy or heat acclimation to promote HSP expression in people with neurodegenerative disease. These include, (1) Exercise, sufficient to raise core body temperature, is currently recommended for people with neurodegenerative disease (e.g., Parkinson's and Alzheimer's diseases) as it has been shown to improve their symptoms; (2) Elevated HSP levels have been identified as a therapeutic target to reduce protein aggregation and toxicity; and (3) Exercise and body warming have been shown to elevate HSP expression in healthy adults. Furthermore, heat therapy may have additional benefits for muscle function, vasculature health and cerebral blood flow, and indicators of metabolic health, which have also been implicated in the pathophysiological presentation of neurodegenerative diseases. These findings from the current scientific literature support the proposal for further investigation into the potentially beneficial adaptations for people with neurodegenerative diseases to heat therapy and heat acclimation.

Initial research is required to establish the acute effects of heat therapy and/or heat acclimation in people with neurodegenerative diseases. As these diseases may involve impairment of autonomic pathways involved in thermoregulation, research is required to elucidate the thermoeffector responses, sweating and skin blood flow, to acute heat stress and how these may affect tolerance to body warming. Alongside these outcomes HSP expression, muscular adaptations, and vasculature function responses to body warming should be measured in neurodegenerative disease populations, to determine the presence of a similar response to body warming as seen in healthy adults, and the magnitude of the response in relation to the tolerable limits of body warming. Consequent to acute observations that tolerable heat exposures promote the desirable HSP response and vascular adaptations, further investigation should then pursue the effects of chronic or repeated heat therapy and/or heat acclimation on these responses and indicators of disease severity and progression. Finally, an understanding of the dose-response relationship between frequency and intensity of body warming and improved symptomology should be determined. In concert with these research efforts, investigations of the underlying mechanisms by which HSP expression and body warming may improve neuromuscular function are warranted.

CONCLUSION

While the current evidence for heat therapy in neurodegenerative disease is associative and the mechanisms of improved

REFERENCES

- Access Economics (Firm), and Parkinson's Australia, (2007). *Living with Parkinson's Disease : Challenges and Positive Steps for the Future.* Scullin: Access Economics.
- Adachi, H., Katsuno, M., Waza, M., Minamiyama, M., Tanaka, F., and Sobue, G. (2009). Heat shock proteins in neurodegenerative diseases: pathogenic roles and therapeutic implications. *Int. J. Hyperthermia* 25, 647–654. doi: 10.3109/ 02656730903315823
- Ahlskog, J. E. (2011). Does vigorous exercise have a neuroprotective effect in Parkinson disease? *Neurology* 77, 288–294. doi: 10.1212/WNL. 0b013e318225ab66
- Akerman, A. P., Thomas, K. N., van Rij, A. M., Body, E. D., Alfadhel, M., and Cotter, J. D. (2019). Heat therapy vs. supervised exercise therapy for peripheral arterial disease: a 12-week randomized, controlled trial. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* 316, H1495–H1506.
- Akinyemi, R. O., Mukaetova-Ladinska, E. B., Attems, J., Ihara, M., and Kalaria, R. N. (2013). Vascular risk factors and neurodegeneration in ageing related

health outcomes have yet to be elucidated, the potential of passive heating in this population remains an alluring therapeutic option. Heat acclimation and heat therapy have been shown to improve HSP responses in healthy adults, as well as induce additional benefits for skeletal muscle function and cerebral blood flow. Furthermore, HSPs have been identified as therapeutic targets to restore protein homeostasis and reduce protein toxicity in several neurodegenerative diseases. While circumstantial evidence exists that body warming may promote improved health and function in neurodegenerative disease, through exercise or sauna bathing, there is yet to be any direct studies of body warming, thermal tolerance, and HSP responses in these populations. For individuals who do not experience these important physiological stressors through habitual activity and exercise, heat therapy may provide a vehicle to achieve improved health and slowed disease progression in people with neurodegenerative disease, and, therefore, warrants further investigation.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors contributed to the planning and writing of the manuscript. Specifically, AH contributed to the design, writing, and review of the manuscript and was the primary contributor to section "Body Warming in People With Neurodegenerative Diseases." GM contributed to the design, writing, and review of the manuscript and was the primary contributor to section "Central and Peripheral Effects of Body Warming." OG contributed to the writing and review of the manuscript and primarily contributed to sections "Heat Shock Proteins As a Therapeutic Target," "Acute Effects of Body Warming on Heat Shock Proteins," and "Chronic Effects of Body Warming on Heat Shock Proteins." GK contributed to writing section "Epidemiology and Pathophysiology." IS contributed to the overall plan and design of the manuscript and writing sections "Introduction" and "Future Directions."

dementias: Alzheimer's disease and vascular dementia. *Curr. Alzheimer Res.* 10, 642–653.

- Amorim, F. T., Fonseca, I. T., Machado-Moreira, C. A., and Magalhães, F. D. C. (2015). Insights into the role of heat shock proteins 72 to whole-body heat acclimation in humans. *Temperature* 2, 499–505. doi: 10.1080/23328940.2015. 1110655
- Asahina, M., Vichayanrat, E., Low, D. A., Iodice, V., and Mathias, C. J. (2013). Autonomic dysfunction in parkinsonian disorders: assessment and pathophysiology. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatr. 84:674.
- Auluck, P. K., Chan, H. Y. E., Trojanowski, J. Q., Lee, V. M. Y., and Bonini, N. M. (2002). Chaperone suppression of alpha-synuclein toxicity in a Drosophila model for Parkinson's disease. *Science* 295, 865–868.
- Averna, M., Stifanese, R., De Tullio, R., Passalacqua, M., Salamino, F., Pontremoli, S., et al. (2008). Functional role of HSP90 complexes with endothelial nitricoxide synthase (eNOS) and calpain on nitric oxide generation in endothelial cells. J. Biol. Chem. 283, 29069–29076. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M803638200
- Bennett, A. F. (1984). Thermal dependence of muscle function. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 247, R217–R229.
- Berardelli, A., Rothwell, J. C., Thompson, P. D., and Hallett, M. (2001). Pathophysiology of bradykinesia in Parkinson's disease. *Brain* 124, 2131–2146.
- Bergh, U., and Ekblom, B. (1979). Influence of muscle temperature on maximal muscle strength and power output in human skeletal muscles. Acta Physiol. Scand. 107, 33–37.
- Bharadwaj, P., Wijesekara, N., Liyanapathirana, M., Newsholme, P., Ittner, L., Fraser, P., et al. (2017). The link between type 2 diabetes and neurodegeneration: roles for Amyloid-beta, Amylin, and Tau proteins. *J. Alzheimer Dis.* 59, 421– 432. doi: 10.3233/JAD-161192
- Braak, H., Del Tredici, K., Rub, U., de Vos, R. A., Jansen Steur, E. N., and Braak, E. (2003). Staging of brain pathology related to sporadic Parkinson's disease. *Neurobiol. Aging* 24, 197–211.
- Brazaitis, M., and Skurvydas, A. (2010). Heat acclimation does not reduce the impact of hyperthermia on central fatigue. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 109, 771–778. doi: 10.1007/s00421-010-1429-3
- Breen, D. P., Halliday, G. M., and Lang, A. E. (2019). Gut-brain axis and the spread of alpha-synuclein pathology: vagal highway or dead end? *Mov. Disord.* 34, 307–316. doi: 10.1002/mds.27556
- Brunt, V. E., Eymann, T. M., Francisco, M. A., Howard, M. J., and Minson, C. T. (2016a). Passive heat therapy improves cutaneous microvascular function in sedentary humans via improved nitric oxide-dependent dilation. J. Appl. Physiol. 121, 716–723. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00424.2016
- Brunt, V. E., Howard, M. J., Francisco, M. A., Ely, B. R., and Minson, C. T. (2016b). Passive heat therapy improves endothelial function, arterial stiffness and blood pressure in sedentary humans. *J. Physiol.* 594, 5329–5342. doi: 10. 1113/JP272453
- Brunt, V. E., Weidenfeld-Needham, K. M., Comrada, L. N., Francisco, M. A., Eymann, T. M., and Minson, C. T. (2019). Serum from young, sedentary adults who underwent passive heat therapy improves endothelial cell angiogenesis via improved nitric oxide bioavailability. *Temperature* 6, 169–178. doi: 10.1080/ 23328940.2019.1614851
- Brunt, V. E., Wiedenfeld-Needham, K., Comrada, L. N., and Minson, C. T. (2018). Passive heat therapy protects against endothelial cell hypoxia-reoxygenation via effects of elevations in temperature and circulating factors. *J. Physiol.* 596, 4831–4845. doi: 10.1113/JP276559
- Buchman, A. S., and Bennett, D. A. (2011). Loss of motor function in preclinical Alzheimer's disease. *Expert Rev. Neurother*. 11, 665–676. doi: 10.1586/ern.11.57
- Burns, J. M., Johnson, D. K., Watts, A., Swerdlow, R. H., and Brooks, W. M. (2010). Reduced lean mass in early Alzheimer disease and its association with brain atrophy. *Arch. Neurol.* 67, 428–433. doi: 10.1001/archneurol.2010.38
- Cano-de-la-Cuerda, R., Perez-de-Heredia, M., Miangolarra-Page, J. C., Munoz-Hellin, E., and Fernandez-de-Las-Penas, C. (2010). Is there muscular weakness in Parkinson's disease? *Am. J. Phys. Med. Rehabil.* 89, 70–76. doi: 10.1097/PHM. 0b013e3181a9ed9b
- Carman, A., Kishinevsky, S., Koren, J. III, Lou, W., and Chiosis, G. (2013). Chaperone-dependent Neurodegeneration: a molecular perspective on therapeutic intervention. J. Alzheimer Dis. Parkinsonism 2013(Suppl. 10):007.
- Castro, D. M., Dillon, C., Machnicki, G., and Allegri, R. F. (2010). The economic cost of Alzheimer's disease: family or public health burden? *Dement. Neuropsychol.* 4, 262–267. doi: 10.1590/S1980-57642010DN40400003
- Ciechanover, A., and Kwon, Y. T. (2017). Protein quality control by molecular chaperones in Neurodegeneration. *Front. Neurosci.* 11:185. doi: 10.3389/fnins. 2017.00185
- Connolly, E. M., Kelly, C. J., Chen, G., O'Grady, T., Kay, E., Leahy, A., et al. (2003). Pharmacological induction of HSP27 attenuates intimal hyperplasia in vivo. *Eur. J. Vasc. Endovasc. Surg.* 25, 40–47.
- Danzer, K. M., Ruf, W. P., Putcha, P., Joyner, D., Hashimoto, T., Glabe, C., et al. (2011). Heat-shock protein 70 modulates toxic extracellular alpha-synuclein oligomers and rescues trans-synaptic toxicity. *FASEB J.* 25, 326–336. doi: 10. 1096/fj.10-164624
- Davies, C. T., and Young, K. (1983). Effect of temperature on the contractile properties and muscle power of triceps surae in humans. J. Appl. Physiol. 55, 191–195.
- de la Torre, J. C. (2004). Is Alzheimer's disease a neurodegenerative or a vascular disorder? Data, dogma, and dialectics. *Lancet Neurol.* 3, 184–190.
- De Marinis, M., Stocchi, F., Testa, S. R., De Pandis, F., and Agnoli, A. (1991). Alterations of thermoregulation in Parkinson's disease. *Funct. Neurol.* 6, 279–283.

- Dodd, S. L., Hain, B., Senf, S. M., and Judge, A. R. (2009). Hsp27 inhibits IKKbeta-induced NF-kappaB activity and skeletal muscle atrophy. *FASEB J.* 23, 3415–3423. doi: 10.1096/fj.08-124602
- Dorsey, E. R., Elbaz, A., Nichols, E., Abd-Allah, F., Abdelalim, A., Adsuar, J. C., et al. (2018). Global, regional, and national burden of Parkinson's disease, 1990-2016: a systematic analysis for the global burden of disease study 2016. *Lancet Neurol.* 17, 939–953.
- Ely, B. R., Clayton, Z. S., McCurdy, C. E., Pfeiffer, J., Needham, K. W., Comrada, L. N., et al. (2019). Heat therapy improves glucose tolerance and adipose tissue insulin signaling in polycystic ovary syndrome. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 317, E172–E182. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00549.2018
- Evans, C. G., Wisen, S., and Gestwicki, J. E. (2006). Heat shock proteins 70 and 90 inhibit early stages of amyloid beta-(1-42) aggregation in vitro. *J. Biol. Chem.* 281, 33182–33191.
- Evens, A., and Clark, C. (2017). Does assisted cycling improve function in those with Parkinson's disease? *Phys. Ther. Rev.* 22, 243–253.
- Faulkner, S. H., Jackson, S., Fatania, G., and Leicht, C. A. (2017). The effect of passive heating on heat shock protein 70 and interleukin-6: a possible treatment tool for metabolic diseases? *Temperature* 4, 292–304. doi: 10.1080/23328940. 2017.1288688
- Findley, L. J. (2007). The economic impact of Parkinson's disease. *Parkinsonism Relat. Disord.* 13, S8–S12.
- Fontaine, S. N., Martin, M. D., and Dickey, C. A. (2016). Neurodegeneration and the heat shock protein 70 machinery: implications for therapeutic development. *Curr. Top. Med. Chem.* 16, 2741–2752.
- Frazer, A. K., Pearce, A. J., Howatson, G., Thomas, K., Goodall, S., and Kidgell, D. J. (2018). Determining the potential sites of neural adaptation to cross-education: implications for the cross-education of muscle strength. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 118, 1751–1772. doi: 10.1007/s00421-018-3937-5
- Galton, C. J., Patterson, K., Xuereb, J. H., and Hodges, J. R. (2000). Atypical and typical presentations of Alzheimer's disease: a clinical, neuropsychological, neuroimaging and pathological study of 13 cases. *Brain* 123, 484–498.
- Gao, X., Carroni, M., Nussbaum-Krammer, C., Mogk, A., Nillegoda, N. B., Szlachcic, A., et al. (2015). Human Hsp70 disaggregase reverses parkinson'slinked alpha-synuclein Amyloid fibrils. *Mol. Cell* 59, 781–793. doi: 10.1016/j. molcel.2015.07.012
- Gibson, O. R., Dennis, A., Parfitt, T., Taylor, L., Watt, P. W., and Maxwell, N. S. (2014). Extracellular Hsp72 concentration relates to a minimum endogenous criteria during acute exercise-heat exposure. *Cell Stress Chaperones* 19, 389–400. doi: 10.1007/s12192-013-0468-1
- Gibson, O. R., Mee, J. A., Taylor, L., Tuttle, J. A., Watt, P. W., Maxwell, N. S., et al. (2015a). Isothermic and fixed-intensity heat acclimation methods elicit equal increases in Hsp72 mRNA. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 25, 259–268. doi: 10.1111/sms.12430
- Gibson, O. R., Turner, G., Tuttle, J. A., Taylor, L., Watt, P. W., and Maxwell, N. S. (2015b). Heat acclimation attenuates physiological strain and the HSP72, but not HSP90α, mRNA response to acute normobaric hypoxia. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 119, 889–899. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00332.2015
- Gibson, O. R., Tuttle, J. A., Watt, P. W., Maxwell, N. S., and Taylor, L. (2016). Hsp72 and Hsp90 α mRNA transcription is characterised by large, sustained changes in core temperature during heat acclimation. *Cell Stress Chaperones* 21, 1021–1035.
- Goto, K., Honda, M., Kobayashi, T., Uehara, K., Kojima, A., Akema, T., et al. (2004). Heat stress facilitates the recovery of atrophied soleus muscle in rat. JPN J. Physiol. 54, 285–293.
- Goto, K., Oda, H., Kondo, H., Igaki, M., Suzuki, A., Tsuchiya, S., et al. (2011). Responses of muscle mass, strength and gene transcripts to long-term heat stress in healthy human subjects. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 111, 17–27. doi: 10.1007/ s00421-010-1617-1
- Gubbay, S. S., Kahana, E., Zilber, N., Cooper, G., Pintov, S., and Leibowitz, Y. (1985). Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. A study of its presentation and prognosis. *J. Neurol.* 232, 295–300.
- Hafen, P. S., Abbott, K., Bowden, J., Lopiano, R., Hancock, C. R., and Hyldahl, R. D. (2019). Daily heat treatment maintains mitochondrial function and attenuates atrophy in human skeletal muscle subjected to immobilization. J. Appl. Physiol. 127, 47–57. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.01098.2018
- Hafen, P. S., Preece, C. N., Sorensen, J. R., Hancock, C. R., and Hyldahl, R. D. (2018). Repeated exposure to heat stress induces mitochondrial adaptation

in human skeletal muscle. J. Appl. Physiol. 125, 1447-1455. doi: 10.1152/ japplphysiol.00383.2018

- Hass, C. J., Collins, M. A., and Juncos, J. L. (2007). Resistance training with creatine monohydrate improves upper-body strength in patients with Parkinson disease: a randomized trial. *Neurorehabil. Neural Repair.* 21, 107–115.
- Heinonen, I., and Laukkanen, J. A. (2018). Effects of heat and cold on health, with special reference to Finnish sauna bathing. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 314, R629–R638. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00115.2017
- Hendy, A. M., and Lamon, S. (2017). The cross-education phenomenon: brain and beyond. Front. Physiol. 8:297. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2017.00297
- Hesketh, K., Shepherd, S. O., Strauss, J. A., Low, D. A., Cooper, R. G., Wagenmakers, A. J. M., et al. (2019). Passive heat therapy in sedentary humans increases skeletal muscle Capillarisation and eNOS content but not mitochondrial density or GLUT4 content. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 317, H114–H123.
- Hoekstra, S. P., Bishop, N. C., Faulkner, S. H., Bailey, S. J., and Leicht, C. A. (2018). The acute and chronic effects of hot water immersion on inflammation and metabolism in sedentary, overweight adults. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 125, 2008–2018. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00407.2018
- Hoffmann, T. C., Maher, C. G., Briffa, T., Sherrington, C., Bennell, K., Alison, J., et al. (2016). Prescribing exercise interventions for patients with chronic conditions. *CMAJ* 188, 510–518.
- Hom, L. L., Lee, E. C.-H., Apicella, J. M., Wallace, S. D., Emmanuel, H., Klau, J. F., et al. (2012). Eleven days of moderate exercise and heat exposure induces acclimation without significant HSP70 and apoptosis responses of lymphocytes in college-aged males. *Cell Stress Chaperones* 17, 29–39. doi: 10.1007/s12192-011-0283-5
- Hooper, P. L. (1999). Hot-tub therapy for type 2 diabetes mellitus. *New Engl. J. Med.* 341, 924–925.
- Hoshino, T., Nakaya, T., Araki, W., Suzuki, K., Suzuki, T., and Mizushima, T. (2007). Endoplasmic reticulum chaperones inhibit the production of amyloid-β peptides. *Biochem. J.* 402, 581–589.
- Hou, L., Chen, W., Liu, X., Qiao, D., and Zhou, F. M. (2017). Exercise-induced neuroprotection of the nigrostriatal dopamine system in Parkinson's disease. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 9:358. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2017.00358
- Janssen, C. W., Lowry, C. A., Mehl, M. R., Allen, J. J., Kelly, K. L., Gartner, D. E., et al. (2016). Whole-body hyperthermia for the treatment of major depressive disorder: a randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Psychiat.* 73, 789–795. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2016.1031
- Jinwal, U. K., Miyata, Y., Koren, J., Jones, J. R., Trotter, J. H., Chang, L., et al. (2009). Chemical manipulation of Hsp70 ATPase activity regulates Tau stability. *J. Neurosci.* 29, 12079–12088. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3345-09.2009
- Kalmar, B., Edet-Amana, E., and Greensmith, L. (2012). Treatment with a coinducer of the heat shock response delays muscle denervation in the SOD1-G93A mouse model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Amyotroph. Lateral Scler.* 13, 378–392. doi: 10.3109/17482968.2012.660953
- Kalmar, B., Lu, C. H., and Greensmith, L. (2014). The role of heat shock proteins in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: the therapeutic potential of Arimoclomol. *Pharmacol. Ther.* 141, 40–54. doi: 10.1016/j.pharmthera.2013.08.003
- Kalmar, B., Novoselov, S., Gray, A., Cheetham, M. E., Margulis, B., and Greensmith, L. (2008). Late stage treatment with arimoclomol delays disease progression and prevents protein aggregation in the SOD1G93A mouse model of ALS. *J. Neurochem.* 107, 339–350.
- Kampinga, H. H., and Bergink, S. (2016). Heat shock proteins as potential targets for protective strategies in neurodegeneration. *Lancet Neurol.* 15, 748–759. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(16)00099-5
- Kampinga, H. H., Hageman, J., Vos, M. J., Kubota, H., Tanguay, R. M., Bruford, E. A., et al. (2009). Guidelines for the nomenclature of the human heat shock proteins. *Cell Stress Chaperones* 14, 105–111. doi: 10.1007/s12192-008-0068-7
- Kerr, G. K., Worringham, C. J., Cole, M. H., Lacherez, P. F., Wood, J. M., and Silburn, P. A. (2010). Predictors of future falls in Parkinson disease. *Neurology* 75, 116–124. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e3181e7b688
- Kieran, D., Kalmar, B., Dick, J. R., Riddoch-Contreras, J., Burnstock, G., and Greensmith, L. (2004). Treatment with arimoclomol, a coinducer of heat shock proteins, delays disease progression in ALS mice. *Nat. Med.* 10, 402–405.
- Kiernan, M. C., Vucic, S., Cheah, B. C., Turner, M. R., Eisen, A., Hardiman, O., et al. (2011). Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Lancet* 377, 942–955. doi: 10.1016/ S0140-6736(10)61156-7

- Kihara, T., Biro, S., Imamura, M., Yoshifuku, S., Takasaki, K., Ikeda, Y., et al. (2002). Repeated sauna treatment improves vascular endothelial and cardiac function in patients with chronic heart failure. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 39, 754–759.
- Kimball, A. L., McCue, P. M., Petrie, M. A., and Shields, R. K. (2018). Whole body heat exposure modulates acute glucose metabolism. *Int. J. Hyperther.* 35, 644–651. doi: 10.1080/02656736.2018.1516303
- Klaips, C. L., Jayaraj, G. G., and Hartl, F. U. (2018). Pathways of cellular proteostasis in aging and disease. J. Cell Biol. 217, 51–63.
- Klucken, J., Shin, Y., Masliah, E., Hyman, B. T., and McLean, P. J. (2004). Hsp70 reduces alpha-synuclein aggregation and toxicity. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 25497–25502.
- Kodesh, E., and Horowitz, M. (2010). Soleus adaptation to combined exercise and heat acclimation: physiogenomic aspects. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 42, 943–952. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e3181c3ac3f
- Kojima, A., Goto, K., Morioka, S., Naito, T., Akema, T., Fujiya, H., et al. (2007). Heat stress facilitates the regeneration of injured skeletal muscle in rats. J. Orthop. Sci. 12, 74–82.
- Kregel, K. C. (2002). Heat shock proteins: modifying factors in physiological stress responses and acquired thermotolerance. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 92, 2177–2186.
- Kudva, Y. C., Hiddinga, H. J., Butler, P. C., Mueske, C. S., and Eberhardt, N. L. (1997). Small heat shock proteins inhibit in vitro A beta(1-42) amyloidogenesis. *FEBS Lett.* 416, 117–121.
- Kuhlenhoelter, A. M., Kim, K., Neff, D., Nie, Y., Blaize, A. N., Wong, B. J., et al. (2016). Heat therapy promotes the expression of angiogenic regulators in human skeletal muscle. *Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol.* 311, R377–R391. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00134.2016
- Kulathingal, J., Ko, L.-W., Cusack, B., and Yen, S.-H. (2009). Proteomic profiling of phosphoproteins and glycoproteins responsive to wild-type alpha-synuclein accumulation and aggregation. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta Prot. Proteom.* 1794, 211–224. doi: 10.1016/j.bbapap.2008.09.025
- Labbadia, J., and Morimoto, R. I. (2015). The biology of proteostasis in aging and disease. Ann. Rev. Biochem. 84, 435–464. doi: 10.1146/annurev-biochem-060614-033955
- Lackie, R. E., Maciejewski, A., Ostapchenko, V. G., Marques-Lopes, J., Choy, W.-Y., Duennwald, M. L., et al. (2017). The Hsp70/Hsp90 chaperone machinery in neurodegenerative diseases. *Front. Neurosci.* 11:254. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2017. 00254
- Larson, E. B., Wang, L., Bowen, J. D., McCormick, W. C., Teri, L., Crane, P., et al. (2006). Exercise is associated with reduced risk for incident dementia among persons 65 years of age and older. *Ann. Int. Med.* 144, 73–81.
- Laukkanen, T., Kunutsor, S., Kauhanen, J., and Laukkanen, J. A. (2017). Sauna bathing is inversely associated with dementia and Alzheimer's disease in middle-aged Finnish men. Age Ageing 46, 245–249. doi: 10.1093/ageing/afw212
- Leak, R. K. (2014). Heat shock proteins in neurodegenerative disorders and aging. *J. Cell Commun. Signal.* 8, 293–310.
- LeDoux, M. S. (2013). Thermoregulatory dysfunction in Parkinson's Disease. Curr. Clin. Neurol. 24, 213–227.
- Lee, M., and Carroll, T. J. (2007). Cross education: possible mechanisms for the contralateral effects of unilateral resistance training. *Sports Med.* 37, 1–14.
- Lee, S., Carson, K., Rice-Ficht, A., and Good, T. (2005). Hsp20, a novel -crystallin, prevents A fibril formation and toxicity. *Protein Sci.* 14, 593–601.
- Leeuwis, A. E., Benedictus, M. R., Kuijer, J. P. A., Binnewijzend, M. A. A., Hooghiemstra, A. M., Verfaillie, S. C. J., et al. (2017). Lower cerebral blood flow is associated with impairment in multiple cognitive domains in Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimer Dement.* 13, 531–540. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2016.08.013
- Littmann, A. E., and Shields, R. K. (2016). Whole body heat stress increases motor cortical excitability and skill acquisition in humans. *Clin. Neurophysiol.* 127, 1521–1529. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2015.11.001
- Liu, Y., Yan, T., Chu, J. M.-T., Chen, Y., Dunnett, S., Ho, Y.-S., et al. (2019). The beneficial effects of physical exercise in the brain and related pathophysiological mechanisms in neurodegenerative diseases. *Lab. Invest.* 99, 943–957. doi: 10. 1038/s41374-019-0232-y
- Loprinzi, P. D., Herod, S. M., Cardinal, B. J., and Noakes, T. D. (2013). Physical activity and the brain: a review of this dynamic, bi-directional relationship. *Brain Res.* 1539, 95–104. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2013.10.004
- Luo, W., Dou, F., Rodina, A., Chip, S., Kim, J., Zhao, Q., et al. (2007). Roles of heat-shock protein 90 in maintaining and facilitating the neurodegenerative phenotype in tauopathies. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 104, 9511–9516.

- Luo, W., Sun, W., Taldone, T., Rodina, A., and Chiosis, G. (2010). Heat shock protein 90 in neurodegenerative diseases. *Mol. Neurodegen.* 5:24. doi: 10.1186/ 1750-1326-5-24
- Maeda, T., Mimori, K., Suzuki, S., Horiuchi, T., and Makino, N. (2018). Preventive and promotive effects of habitual hot spa-bathing on the elderly in Japan. *Sci. Rep.* 8:133. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-18488-3
- Magalhåes, F. D. C., Amorim, F. T., Passos, R. L. F., Fonseca, M. A., Oliveira, K. P. M., Lima, M. R. M., et al. (2010). Heat and exercise acclimation increases intracellular levels of Hsp72 and inhibits exercise-induced increase in intracellular and plasma Hsp72 in humans. *Cell Stress Chaperones* 15, 885–895. doi: 10.1007/s12192-010-0197-7
- Maley, M. J., Hunt, A. P., Stewart, I. B., Faulkner, S. H., and Minett, G. M. (2019). Passive heating and glycaemic control in non-diabetic and diabetic individuals: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS One* 14:e0214223. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0214223
- Maloyan, A., Eli-berchoer, L., Semenza, G. L., Gerstenblith, G., Stern, M. D., Horowitz, M., et al. (2005). HIF-1alpha-targeted pathways are activated by heat acclimation and contribute to acclimation-ischemic cross-tolerance in the heart. *Physiol. Genom.* 23, 79–88.
- Maloyan, A., Palmon, A., Horowitz, M., Tetievsky, A., Cohen, O., Eli-berchoer, L., et al. (2011). Heat acclimation increases the basal HSP72 level and alters its production dynamics during heat stress memory. *Am. J. Physiol.* 276, R1506–R1515.
- Mandel, S., Grunblatt, E., Riederer, P., Amariglio, N., Jacob-Hirsch, J., Rechavi, G., et al. (2005). Gene expression profiling of sporadic Parkinson's Disease substantia nigra pars compacta reveals impairment of ubiquitin-proteasome subunits, skp1a, aldehyde dehydrogenase, and chaperone HSC-70. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1053, 356–375.
- Martyr, A., Nelis, S. M., Quinn, C., Rusted, J. M., Morris, R. G., and Clare, L. (2019). The relationship between perceived functional difficulties and the ability to live well with mild-to-moderate dementia: Findings from the IDEAL programme. *Int. J. Geriatr. Psychiatr.* 34, 1251–1261. doi: 10.1002/gps.5128
- McClung, J. P., Hasday, J. D., He, J.-R. R., Montain, S. J., Cheuvront, S. N., Sawka, M. N., et al. (2008). Exercise-heat acclimation in humans alters baseline levels and ex vivo heat inducibility of HSP72 and HSP90 in peripheral blood mononuclear cells. Am. J. Physiol. 294, R185–R191.
- McGorm, H., Roberts, L. A., Coombes, J. S., and Peake, J. M. (2018). Turning up the heat: an evaluation of the evidence for heating to promote exercise recovery, muscle rehabilitation and adaptation. *Sports Med.* 48, 1311–1328. doi: 10.1007/s40279-018-0876-6
- Mee, J. A., Gibson, O. R., Tuttle, J. A., Taylor, L., Watt, P. W., Doust, J., et al. (2016). Leukocyte Hsp72 mRNA transcription does not differ between males and females during heat acclimation. *Temperature* 3, 549–556. doi: 10.1080/ 23328940.2016.1214336
- Melzer, T. R., Watts, R., MacAskill, M. R., Pearson, J. F., Rueger, S., Pitcher, T. L., et al. (2011). Arterial spin labelling reveals an abnormal cerebral perfusion pattern in Parkinson's disease. *Brain* 134, 845–855. doi: 10.1093/brain/awq377
- Mero, A., Tornberg, J., Mantykoski, M., and Puurtinen, R. (2015). Effects of farinfrared sauna bathing on recovery from strength and endurance training sessions in men. Springerplus 4:321. doi: 10.1186/s40064-015-1093-5
- Montine, T. J., Phelps, C. H., Beach, T. G., Bigio, E. H., Cairns, N. J., Dickson, D. W., et al. (2012). National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's association guidelines for the neuropathologic assessment of Alzheimer's disease: a practical approach. *Acta Neuropathol.* 123, 1–11. doi: 10.1007/s00401-011-0910-3
- Morrison, S., Sleivert, G. G., and Cheung, S. S. (2004). Passive hyperthermia reduces voluntary activation and isometric force production. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 91, 729–736.
- Morton, J. P., Maclaren, D. P. M., Cable, N. T., Campbell, I. T., Evans, L., Bongers, T., et al. (2007). Elevated core and muscle temperature to levels comparable to exercise do not increase heat shock protein content of skeletal muscle of physically active men. *Acta Physiol*. 190, 319–327.
- Muchowski, P. J., Schaffar, G., Sittler, A., Wanker, E. E., Hayer-Hartl, M. K., and Hartl, F. U. (2000). Hsp70 and hsp40 chaperones can inhibit self-assembly of polyglutamine proteins into amyloid-like fibrils. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 97, 7841–7846.
- Munsat, T. L., Andres, P. L., Finison, L., Conlon, T., and Thibodeau, L. (1988). The natural history of motoneuron loss in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Neurology* 38:409.

- Naito, H., Powers, S. K., Demirel, H. A., Sugiura, T., Dodd, S. L., and Aoki, J. (2000). Heat stress attenuates skeletal muscle atrophy in hindlimb-unweighted rats. J. Appl. Physiol. 88, 359–363.
- Nakata, H., Oshiro, M., Namba, M., and Shibasaki, M. (2015). Effects of passive heat stress on human somatosensory processing. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 309, R1387–R1396. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00280. 2015
- Neff, D., Kuhlenhoelter, A. M., Lin, C., Wong, B. J., Motaganahalli, R. L., and Roseguini, B. T. (2016). Thermotherapy reduces blood pressure and circulating endothelin-1 concentration and enhances leg blood flow in patients with symptomatic peripheral artery disease. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 311, R392–R400. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00147.2016
- Nichols, E., Szoeke, C. E. I., Vollset, S. E., Abbasi, N., Abd-Allah, F., Abdela, J., et al. (2019). Global, regional, and national burden of Alzheimer's disease and other dementias, 1990-2016: a systematic analysis for the global burden of disease study 2016. *Lancet Neurol.* 18, 88–106.
- Nosaka, K., Muthalib, M., Lavender, A., and Laursen, P. B. (2007). Attenuation of muscle damage by preconditioning with muscle hyperthermia 1-day prior to eccentric exercise. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 99, 183–192.
- Oehler, R., Pusch, E., Zellner, M., Dungel, P., Hergovics, N., Homoncik, M., et al. (2001). Cell type-specific variations in the induction of hsp70 in human leukocytes by feverlike whole body hyperthermia. *Cell Stress Chaperones* 6, 306–315.
- Ohno, Y., Yamada, S., Sugiura, T., Ohira, Y., Yoshioka, T., and Goto, K. (2010). A possible role of NF-kappaB and HSP72 in skeletal muscle hypertrophy induced by heat stress in rats. *Gen. Physiol. Biophys.* 29, 234–242.
- Ohori, T., Nozawa, T., Ihori, H., Shida, T., Sobajima, M., Matsuki, A., et al. (2012). Effect of repeated sauna treatment on exercise tolerance and endothelial function in patients with chronic heart failure. *Am. J. Cardiol.* 109, 100–104. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2011.08.014
- Oishi, Y., Hayashida, M., Tsukiashi, S., Taniguchi, K., Kami, K., Roy, R. R., et al. (2009). Heat stress increases myonuclear number and fiber size via satellite cell activation in rat regenerating soleus fibers. J. Appl. 107, 1612–1621. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.91651.2008
- Paillard, T., Rolland, Y., and de Souto Barreto, P. (2015). Protective effects of physical exercise in Alzheimer's disease and Parkinson's Disease: a narrative review. J. Clin. Neurol. 11, 212–219. doi: 10.3988/jcn.2015.11.3.212
- Périard, J. D., Ruell, P., Caillaud, C., and Thompson, M. W. (2012). Plasma Hsp72 (HSPA1A) and Hsp27 (HSPB1) expression under heat stress: influence of exercise intensity. *Cell Stress Chaperones* 17, 375–383. doi: 10.1007/s12192-011-0313-3
- Petroni, M. L., Albani, G., Bicchiega, V., Baudo, S., Vinci, C., Montesano, A., et al. (2003). Body composition in advanced-stageParkinson's disease. *Acta Diabetol.* 40, S187–S190.
- Pickering, R. M., Grimbergen, Y. A., Rigney, U., Ashburn, A., Mazibrada, G., Wood, B., et al. (2007). A meta-analysis of six prospective studies of falling in Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 22, 1892–1900.
- Pitkala, K. H., Poysti, M. M., Laakkonen, M. L., Tilvis, R. S., Savikko, N., Kautiainen, H., et al. (2013). Effects of the finnish Alzheimer disease exercise trial (FINALEX): a randomized controlled trial. *JAMA Int. Med.* 173, 894–901.
- Politis, M., Wu, K., Molloy, S. G., Bain, P., Chaudhuri, K. R., and Piccini, P. (2010). Parkinson's disease symptoms: the patient's perspective. *Mov. Disord.* 25, 1646–1651. doi: 10.1002/mds.23135
- Prince, M., Bryce, R., Albanese, E., Wimo, A., Ribeiro, W., and Ferri, C. P. (2013). The global prevalence of dementia: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Alzheimer Dement.* 9, 63–75.
- Pringsheim, T., Jette, N., Frolkis, A., and Steeves, T. D. L. (2014). The prevalence of Parkinson's disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Mov. Disord.* 29, 1583–1590.
- Racinais, S., Wilson, M. G., and Periard, J. D. (2017). Passive heat acclimation improves skeletal muscle contractility in humans. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 312:R101. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00431.2016
- Ransmayr, G. (2011). Physical, occupational, speech and swallowing therapies and physical exercise in Parkinson's disease. J. Neural Trans. 118, 773–781. doi: 10.1007/s00702-011-0622-9
- Rolland, Y., Pillard, F., Klapouszczak, A., Reynish, E., Thomas, D., Andrieu, S., et al. (2007). Exercise program for nursing home residents with Alzheimer's disease: a 1-year randomized, controlled trial. *J. Am. Geriatr. Soc.* 55, 158–165.

- Ross, E. Z., Cotter, J. D., Wilson, L., Fan, J. L., Lucas, S. J., and Ainslie, P. N. (2012). Cerebrovascular and corticomotor function during progressive passive hyperthermia in humans. J. Appl. Physiol. 112, 748–758. doi: 10.1152/ japplphysiol.00988.2011
- Saito, H., and Kogure, K. (1989). Thermal sudomotor deficits in Parkinson's disease. Clin. Neurol. 29, 734–740.
- Salgado, S., Williams, N., Kotian, R., and Salgado, M. (2013). An evidence-based exercise regimen for patients with mild to moderate Parkinson's disease. *Brain Sci.* 3, 87–100. doi: 10.3390/brainsci3010087
- Sarge, K. D., Murphy, S. P., and Morimoto, R. I. (1993). Activation of heat shock gene transcription by heat shock factor 1 involves oligomerization, acquisition of DNA-binding activity, and nuclear localization and can occur in the absence of stress. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 13, 1392–1407.
- Schapira, A. H. V., Olanow, C. W., Greenamyre, J. T., and Bezard, E. (2014). Slowing of neurodegeneration in Parkinson's disease and Huntington's disease: future therapeutic perspectives. *Lancet* 384, 545–555. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(14)61010-2
- Schenkman, M., Moore, C. G., Kohrt, W. M., Hall, D. A., Delitto, A., Comella, C. L., et al. (2018). Effect of high-intensity treadmill exercise on motor symptoms in patients with de novo parkinson disease: a phase 2 randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Neurol*. 75, 219–226. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2017.3517
- Schestatsky, P., Valls-Sole, J., Ehlers, J. A., Rieder, C. R., and Gomes, I. (2006). Hyperhidrosis in Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 21, 1744–1748.
- Schlader, Z. J., and Vargas, N. T. (2019). Regulation of body temperature by autonomic and behavioral thermoeffectors. *Exerc. Sport Sci. Rev.* 47, 116–126. doi: 10.1249/JES.00000000000180
- Selsby, J. T., and Dodd, S. L. (2005). Heat treatment reduces oxidative stress and protects muscle mass during immobilization. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 289, R134–R139.
- Senard, J. M., Raï, S., Lapeyre-Mestre, M., Brefel, C., Rascol, O., Rascol, A., et al. (1997). Prevalence of orthostatic hypotension in Parkinson's disease. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiat. 63, 584–589.
- Senf, S. M., Dodd, S. L., McClung, J. M., and Judge, A. R. (2008). Hsp70 overexpression inhibits NF-kappaB and Foxo3a transcriptional activities and prevents skeletal muscle atrophy. *FASEB J.* 22, 3836–3845. doi: 10.1096/fj.08-110163
- Silva, A. Z. D., and Israel, V. L. (2019). Effects of dual-task aquatic exercises on functional mobility, balance and gait of individuals with Parkinson's disease: a randomized clinical trial with a 3-month follow-up. *Complement. Ther. Med.* 42, 119–124. doi: 10.1016/j.ctim.2018.10.023
- Sittler, A., Lurz, R., Lueder, G., Priller, J., Lehrach, H., Hayer-Hartl, M. K., et al. (2001). Geldanamycin activates a heat shock response and inhibits huntingtin aggregation in a cell culture model of Huntington's disease. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 10, 1307–1315.
- Sojkova, J., Najjar, S. S., Beason-Held, L. L., Metter, E. J., Davatzikos, C., Kraut, M. A., et al. (2010). Intima-media thickness and regional cerebral blood flow in older adults. *Stroke* 41, 273–279. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.109.566810
- Speelman, A. D., van de Warrenburg, B. P., van Nimwegen, M., Petzinger, G. M., Munneke, M., and Bloem, B. R. (2011). How might physical activity benefit patients with Parkinson disease? *Nat. Rev. Neurol.* 7, 528–534. doi: 10.1038/ nrneurol.2011.107
- Stetler, R. A., Gan, Y., Zhang, W., Liou, A. K., Gao, Y., Cao, G., et al. (2010). Heat shock proteins: cellular and molecular mechanisms in the central nervous system. *Prog. Neurobiol.* 92, 184–211. doi: 10.1016/j.pneurobio.2010.05.002
- Sweeney, M. D., Kisler, K., Montagne, A., Toga, A. W., and Zlokovic, B. V. (2018). The role of brain vasculature in neurodegenerative disorders. *Nat. Neurosci.* 21, 1318–1331. doi: 10.1038/s41593-018-0234-x
- Swinn, L., Schrag, A., Viswanathan, R., Bloem, B. R., Lees, A., and Quinn, N. (2003). Sweating dysfunction in Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 18, 1459–1463.
- Syrimi, Z. J., Vojtisek, L., Eliasova, I., Viskova, J., Svatkova, A., Vanicek, J., et al. (2017). Arterial spin labelling detects posterior cortical hypoperfusion in nondemented patients with Parkinson's disease. J. Neural Trans. 124, 551–557. doi: 10.1007/s00702-017-1703-1
- Takeuchi, K., Hatade, T., Wakamiya, S., Fujita, N., Arakawa, T., and Miki, A. (2014). Heat stress promotes skeletal muscle regeneration after crush injury in rats. *Acta Histochem*. 116, 327–334. doi: 10.1016/j.acthis.2013.08.010
- Thies, W., and Bleiler, L. (2012). Alzheimer's disease facts and figures. *Alzheimer Dement.* 2012, 131–168.

- Thomas, K. N., van Rij, A. M., Lucas, S. J., Gray, A. R., and Cotter, J. D. (2016). Substantive hemodynamic and thermal strain upon completing lower-limb hot-water immersion; comparisons with treadmill running. *Temperature* 3, 286–297.
- Thomas, M. M., Cheung, S. S., Elder, G. C., and Sleivert, G. G. (2006). Voluntary muscle activation is impaired by core temperature rather than local muscle temperature. J. Appl. Physiol. 100, 1361–1369.
- Tinken, T. M., Thijssen, D. H., Hopkins, N., Black, M. A., Dawson, E. A., Minson, C. T., et al. (2009). Impact of shear rate modulation on vascular function in humans. *Hypertension* 54, 278–285. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.109. 134361
- Todd, G., Butler, J. E., Taylor, J. L., and Gandevia, S. C. (2005). Hyperthermia: a failure of the motor cortex and the muscle. *J. Physiol.* 563, 621–631.
- Touchberry, C., Le, T., Richmond, S., Prewitt, M., Beck, D., Carr, D., et al. (2007). Diathermy treatment increases heat shock protein expression in female, but not male skeletal muscle. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 102, 319–323.
- Touchberry, C. D., Gupte, A. A., Bomhoff, G. L., Graham, Z. A., Geiger, P. C., and Gallagher, P. M. (2012). Acute heat stress prior to downhill running may enhance skeletal muscle remodeling. *Cell Stress Chaperones* 17, 693–705. doi: 10.1007/s12192-012-0343-5
- Tyler, C. J., Reeve, T., Hodges, G. J., and Cheung, S. S. (2016). The effects of heat adaptation on physiology, perception and exercise performance in the heat: a meta-analysis. *Sports Med.* 46, 1699–1724.
- Uehara, K., Goto, K., Kobayashi, T., Kojima, A., Akema, T., Sugiura, T., et al. (2004). Heat-stress enhances proliferative potential in rat soleus muscle. JPN J. Physiol. 54, 263–271.
- Uygur, M., Bellumori, M., and Knight, C. A. (2017). Effects of a low-resistance, interval bicycling intervention in Parkinson's Disease. *Physiother. Theory Pract.* 33, 897–904.
- Uygur, M., Bellumori, M., LeNoir, K., Poole, K., Pretzer-Aboff, I., and Knight, C. A. (2015). Immediate effects of high-speed cycling intervals on bradykinesia in Parkinson's disease. *Physiother. Theor. Pract.* 31, 77–82. doi: 10.3109/09593985. 2014.972530
- Vardiman, J. P., Jefferies, L., Touchberry, C., and Gallagher, P. (2013). Intramuscular heating through Fluidotherapy and heat shock protein response. *J. Athlet. Train.* 48, 353–361. doi: 10.4085/1062-6050-48.2.22
- Venturelli, M., Scarsini, R., and Schena, F. (2011). Six-month walking program changes cognitive and ADL performance in patients with Alzheimer. *Am. J. Alzheimer Dis. Dement.* 26, 381–388. doi: 10.1177/153331751141 8956
- Wattmo, C., Minthon, L., and Wallin, ÅK. (2016). Mild versus moderate stages of Alzheimer's disease: three-year outcomes in a routine clinical setting of cholinesterase inhibitor therapy. *Alzheimer Res. Ther.* 8:7. doi: 10.1186/s13195-016-0174-1
- Webster, C. P., Smith, E. F., Shaw, P. J., and De Vos, K. J. (2017). Protein homeostasis in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: therapeutic opportunities? *Front. Mol. Neurosci.* 10:123. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2017.00123
- Wilhelmus, M. M. M., Boelens, W. C., Otte-Höller, I., Kamps, B., de Waal, R. M. W., and Verbeek, M. M. (2006a). Small heat shock proteins inhibit amyloid-β protein aggregation and cerebrovascular amyloid-β protein toxicity. *Brain Res.* 1089, 67–78.
- Wilhelmus, M. M. M., Otte-Holler, I., Wesseling, P., de Waal, R. M. W., Boelens, W. C., and Verbeek, M. M. (2006b). Specific association of small heat shock proteins with the pathological hallmarks of Alzheimer's disease brains. *Neuropathol. Appl. Neurobiol.* 32, 119–130.
- Wüllner, U., Schmitz-Hübsch, T., Antony, G., Fimmers, R., Spottke, A., Oertel, W. H., et al. (2007). Autonomic dysfunction in 3414 Parkinson's disease patients enrolled in the German network on Parkinson's disease (KNP e.V.): the effect of ageing. *Eur. J. Neurol.* 14, 1405–1408.
- Xu, J., Zhang, Y., Qiu, C., and Cheng, F. (2017). Global and regional economic costs of dementia: a systematic review. *Lancet* 390:S47.
- Xu, Q., Park, Y., Huang, X., Hollenbeck, A., Blair, A., Schatzkin, A., et al. (2010). Physical activities and future risk of Parkinson disease. *Neurology* 75, 341–348. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e3181ea1597
- Yamada, P. M., Amorim, F. T., Moseley, P., Robergs, R., and Schneider, S. M. (2007). Effect of heat acclimation on heat shock protein 72 and interleukin-10 in humans. J. Appl. Physiol. 103, 1196–1204.

- Yoshihara, T., Naito, H., Kakigi, R., Ichinoseki-Sekine, N., Ogura, Y., Sugiura, T., et al. (2013). Heat stress activates the Akt/mTOR signalling pathway in rat skeletal muscle. *Acta Physiol.* 207, 416–426. doi: 10.1111/apha.12040
- Zarouchlioti, C., Parfitt, D. A., Li, W., Gittings, L. M., and Cheetham, M. E. (2018). DNAJ Proteins in neurodegeneration: essential and protective factors. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* 373:20160534. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2016. 0534
- Zheng, Y., Im, C.-N., and Seo, J.-S. (2006). Inhibitory effect of Hsp70 on angiotensin II-induced vascular smooth muscle cell hypertrophy. *Exp. Mol. Med.* 38, 509–518.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Hunt, Minett, Gibson, Kerr and Stewart. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Risks of Heat Illness in Athletes With Spinal Cord Injury: Current Evidence and Needs

Yang Zhang^{1*} and Phillip A. Bishop^{2†}

¹ Independent Researcher, Jiaxing, China, ² Department of Kinesiology, The University of Alabama, Tuscaloosa, AL, United States

Keywords: paralympic, paraplegia, tetraplegia, thermoregulation, hyperthermia

It has been well-documented that spinal cord injury (SCI), especially with resultant tetraplegia or high level paraplegia (T6 and above) (Price and Campbell, 2003), leads to disrupted somatic, sensory, and autonomic functions below the level of lesion (Cruz and Blauwet, 2018; Walter and Krassioukov, 2018), thereby compromising the heat dissipation mechanisms (Price and Trbovich, 2018). The current consensus when it comes to exercise and sports in the heat is that athletes with SCI, multiple sclerosis, or cerebral palsy (another neuromuscular disorder affecting thermoregulation) are more susceptible to hyperthermia than able-bodied athletes (Lepretre et al., 2016). The purpose of this review was to examine the published evidence to assess the risk of heat injury during competition and training in SCI athletes and use this information to provide a basis for improved protection for these sports.

Empirical evidence to date, however, is notably limited regarding the assumed risks of heat injury among this cohort (Price, 2016), which could be due to a very small incidence count, lack of resources, or failures to collect data (Trbovich et al., 2019). Grobler et al. (2019), for the first time, reported accurate medical records (level III evidence) during the 2015 IPC Athletics World Championships held in the heat (venue wet-bulb globe temperature 24.6–36.0°C). According to their field data, not only was the incidence rate of all illnesses (37.6 per 1,000 para athletes) low in comparison to that from outdoor IAAF World Championships between 2009 and 2017 (50.2 per 1,000 able-bodied athletes) (Edouard et al., 2019), but it was also explicitly low in heat illness (seven recorded cases of heat illness, of which there was only one case of athlete with SCI).

The discrepancy between hypothesis and observation is that the cause of the elevated body temperature (which ultimately leads to heat illness) during the time course of exercise and sports is not solely attributed to the body's heat dissipation mechanisms. Rather, the absolute heat production rates and the capacity of the body to transport heat and the environment to absorb the heat generated by the body are the real issues among this cohort. This is akin to what economists call an "identification problem." For instance, Olympic-caliber marathoners reached a VO_{2max} of 79.6 ml·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹, and they ran at an average of 89.7% VO_{2max} (resultant oxygen consumption ~71 ml·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹) during a 10-km time trial (Billat et al., 2001). In contrast, Paralympic-caliber wheelchair racers with SCI showed considerably lower VO_{2max}, 46.4 ml·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹ as well as a substantially lower percentage of VO_{2max}, 73.7% (resultant oxygen consumption ~34 ml·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹) during a 25-km time trial (Edwards et al., 2018). Furthermore, due to the difference in race velocity, the duration of endurance sports is typically longer among able-bodied events; for example, the average time of Rio 2016 Olympics and Paralympics marathon finishers

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Caroline Sunderland, Nottingham Trent University, United Kingdom

Reviewed by: Mike James Price, Coventry University, United Kingdom

> ***Correspondence:** Yang Zhang dr.zhang.yang@qq.com

> > [†]Retired

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Exercise Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Sports and Active Living

> Received: 21 June 2019 Accepted: 10 December 2019 Published: 10 January 2020

Citation:

Zhang Y and Bishop PA (2020) Risks of Heat Illness in Athletes With Spinal Cord Injury: Current Evidence and Needs. Front. Sports Act. Living 1:68. doi: 10.3389/fspor.2019.00068 was Men, 02:22:22 vs. T54 Men, 01:32:14 and Women, 02:43:34 vs. T54 Women, 01:42:04¹. Therefore, given the same body mass, the metabolic energy expenditure, which is a proximate cause of heat illness, and thereby the cumulative heat production is relatively lower among para athletes.

In terms of competition environments, many para sports, such as wheelchair basketball, are held at indoor stadiums where the venue temperature is typically controlled at 19-21°C. Such temperate environments could partially offset the deleterious effects of the autonomic nervous system related dysfunction in thermoregulation. Certain para athletes participating in outdoor endurance events (e.g., T54 wheelchair athletes competing in 5,000 m, 10,000 m, marathon, and H1-5 para cyclists) could be subject to the negative influence of heat on performance and health when competitions are held in hot and humid environments. However, the nature of these sports allows para athletes to get some thermoregulatory relief in the form of enhanced convection and evaporation from air movement. While Olympic-caliber marathoners ran at a 18.8 km·h⁻¹ pace (Billat et al., 2001), Paralympic-caliber wheelchair racers with SCI showed an average race speed of $30.7 \,\mathrm{km}\cdot\mathrm{h}^{-1}$ (Edwards et al., 2018), which resulted in significantly faster air motion from the wheelchair movement relative to the environment.

In the able-bodied population, manipulating air velocities of $10-33.5 \,\mathrm{km}\cdot\mathrm{h}^{-1}$ during 2-h submaximal exercise in the heat (33°C ambient temperature, 59% relative humidity) reduced heat storage by 47-60% compared with a no-wind condition (Saunders et al., 2005). Similarly, combining an air velocity of 9.2 km·h⁻¹ and rehydrating 100% of sweat losses during 1-h submaximal exercise in the heat (36°C ambient temperature, 29% relative humidity) reduced heat storage by 41% whilst also maintaining cardiac output compared with control conditions in a group of heat-acclimated healthy males (Mora-Rodriguez et al., 2007). Although these findings from able-bodied persons cannot be directly extrapolated to SCI athletes who show compromised sweating responses (Price and Trbovich, 2018), in particular among athletes with tetraplegia (e.g., >50% reduction in estimated whole body sweat rate for tetraplegia vs. paraplegia) (Price and Campbell, 2003), SCI athletes competing in the outdoor wheelchair 10,000 m, marathon, and paratriathlon could still get thermoregulatory relief from greater air flow, which results in better evaporation. This has been demonstrated in a field study showing that wheelchair athletes (comprised mostly of SCI athletes) displayed significantly a smaller increase in core temperature compared with athletes with a visual impairment (i.e., +0.26°C vs. +1.03°C) during the running segment of a paratriathlon (Stephenson et al., 2019). Therefore, despite the compromised heat dissipation mechanisms, SCI athletes generally carry less than expected accumulated thermal burden as a result of both a relatively lower heat production rate and higher evaporative heat transfer to the environment.

It is worth noting that the ability to maintain core body temperature within normothermia while exercising in the heat would be affected by the varying degrees of sympathetic integrity in this cohort. There is consistent reporting of continual increases in core body temperature during rest (Griggs et al., 2019a) and exercise (Price and Trbovich, 2018) among persons with tetraplegia. For example, competitive wheelchair rugby match play (4 \times 8-min quarter; ambient temperature, 18.4–20.9°C; relative humidity, 31.1-45.1%) resulted in 39.3°C core body temperature in elite players with a cervical SCI (C5/6-C7) (Griggs et al., 2017). A popular perception is therefore that athletes with tetraplegia, who exhibit greater disruption of evaporation (sweating) and convection (cutaneous vasodilation), should be prepared with appropriate cooling strategies during exercise in the heat provided they demonstrate heightened thermal strain (Griggs et al., 2019b; Trbovich et al., 2019). While this increase in core body temperature, especially if $>39.0^{\circ}$ C, could be materially alarming, trained tetraplegic athletes who participate in indoor events (e.g., wheelchair basketball, rugby, and fencing) or outdoor sports (e.g., H1 para-cycling), exhibit no expected higher incidence rate of heat injury. True exertional heat injury is primarily triggered by a pathological elevation of the core body temperature, usually >40.5°C (Casa et al., 2015). Additionally, severe heat injury, including exertional heat stroke, could have resulted from excessive endogenous thermogenesis, leading to widespread muscle necrosis and even organ failure (Rae et al., 2008). To date, none of these unfortunate medical comorbidities have been documented in this cohort. Furthermore, another important catalyst for exertional heat injury is prolonged duration of continuous exercise. Athletes with tetraplegia usually compete in much shorter durations compared with able-bodied endurance events, such as marathons and triathlons, that incur more frequent cases of heat injury. Therefore, despite severe interruption of effector sympathetic pathways in athletes with tetraplegia, the hypothesized higher risks of heat injury (Price, 2016) is not supported by the available epidemiological data.

However, the low incidence rate of illness, including heatrelated illness, among para athletes (Grobler et al., 2019) should not be celebrated. No one is immune to heat illness, and para athletes are no exception. Preventive measures and post-incident medical strategies are still needed to ensure overall health, especially if events are held in hot and humid environments. Thermoregulatory data recorded at a paratriathlon (time to completion 54.6-103.9 min) in the heat (33°C ambient temperature, 35–41% relative humidity, 25–27°C water temperature) have revealed that 78.6% of studied para athletes displaying a core body temperature >39.5°C, including 28.6% of para athletes showing a core body temperature $>40.0^{\circ}$ C (Stephenson et al., 2019). This exertional hyperthermia was further tied to 57% of studied para athletes experiencing selfreported symptoms of heat illness (Stephenson et al., 2019). The field study by Stephenson et al. (2019) also indicated that, although the incidence rate of heat illness may not be officially documented, para athletes participating in endurance

¹Results retrieved from Rio 2016 Summer Olympics Men's and Women's Marathon and Rio 2016 Paralympic Games Men's and Women's Marathon—T54. Available online at: https://www.olympic.org/rio-2016/athletics/marathon-men, https://www.olympic.org/rio-2016/athletics/marathon-women, https://www.paralympic.org/rio-2016/schedule-results/info-live-results/rio-2016/eng/at/engat_athletics-results-men-s-marathon-t54-1-01.htm, https://www.paralympic.org/rio-2016/schedule-results/info-live-results/rio-2016/eng/at/engat_athletics-results-men-s-marathon-t54-1-01.htm (accessed October 9, 2019).

sports may very well be experiencing much greater deep body temperatures, and suspected symptoms of heat illness and their consequences may therefore be overlooked by these athletes. Proper education of athletes, coaches, and event organizers about heat injury is thus warranted. Without a well-prepared framework for early recognition, diagnosis, and treatment of heat illness, persistent exertional hyperthermia could lead to thermoregulatory collapse, resulting in heat injury in any type of athlete.

Across a variety of organized sports that SCI athletes are eligible to compete in, wheelchair marathons, triathlons, and tennis usually last over 60 min, making these SCI athletes vulnerable to heat illness in warm/hot weather. Despite this potential health risk, policies regarding safe competition under heat exposure for SCI athletes have only been implemented by the International Tennis Federation (Regulations for Wheelchair Tennis 2019, September 2019)², which still lacks specific guidelines for the risk management of heat illness. In comparison, governing bodies of able-bodied sports, such as National Collegiate Athletic Association³ and Australian Open⁴, have established specific heat policies to maximize the safety for sport competition in the heat.

Moreover, it is crucial to understand that SCI athletes display unique patterns of thermoregulatory responses as a consequence of their underlying physiology. Cutaneous temperature sensation has been studied extensively, including in persons with SCI (Price and Trbovich, 2018). In response to the stimulus, nerve impulses regarding the thermal state of the body and the environment are sent to the spinal cord, the major bidirectional connection between the body and the brain, where neural signals are transmitted upwards until they are blocked at the level of the lesion. Reduced afferent input from the insensate portion of the body, especially at those regions (i.e., chest, forearm, hand, finger, and thigh) rich in warm thermoreceptors

REFERENCES

- Arens, E. A., and Zhang, H. (2006). "The skin's role in human thermoregulation and comfort," in *Thermal and Moisture Transport in Fibrous Materials*, ed. N. Pan and P. Gibson (Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press), 569. doi: 10.1201/9781439824351.ch16
- Belval, L. N., Casa, D. J., Adams, W. M., Chiampas, G. T., Holschen, J. C., Hosokawa, Y., et al. (2018). Consensus statement- prehospital care of exertional heat stroke. *Prehosp. Emerg. Care* 22, 392–397. doi: 10.1080/10903127.2017.1392666
- Billat, V. L., Demarle, A., Slawinski, J., Paiva, M., and Koralsztein, J. P. (2001). Physical and training characteristics of top-class marathon runners. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 33, 2089–2097. doi: 10.1097/00005768-200112000-00018

(Arens and Zhang, 2006), results in altered thermal sensation. Griggs et al. (2019a) presented data showing that active persons with SCI undergoing passive heat exposure (37°C ambient temperature; initially 20% relative humidity, with an increase by 5% every 7 min thereafter), despite displaying warmer mean skin temperature, were not able to perceive the magnitude of thermal strain as measured using thermal sensation. Should athletes present higher levels (tetraplegia vs. paraplegia) of SCI, or completeness (vs. incompleteness) of SCI, the resultant thermal sensation in the heat is expected to be further disrupted.

In summary, abnormal somatic, sensory, and autonomic functions after SCI present significant challenges for these individuals participating in competitive sports. Despite the fact that thermal dysfunction exists, the circumstances of SCI sports competition may largely mitigate any compromise of heat dissipation in these athletes, leading to the low incidence rate of heat illness. For marathon, tennis, and paratriathlon, the nature and distinct risks of heat illness of any para athlete competing in warm to hot environments underline the need for specific guidelines aimed at improving knowledge and medical support for athletes with SCI in particular. Continued research to evaluate heat tolerance among all athletes in all sports is vital to safe sports competition. For the upcoming Tokyo 2020 Paralympics, the environmental conditions are expected to pose a challenge to para athletes' performance and health (Kakamu et al., 2017). Accordingly, a systematic heat policy addressing appropriate preventive measures (Griggs et al., 2015, 2019b), early recognition and correct diagnosis (Epstein and Yanovich, 2019), and effective treatment strategies (Belval et al., 2018) of heat illness would be essential to uphold safe and successful sports participation for this special population.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

YZ and PB drafted the manuscript and read and approved the submitted version.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We appreciate the two reviewers for critically reading and providing constructive comments on an earlier draft of the manuscript.

- Casa, D. J., DeMartini, J. K., Bergeron, M. F., Csillan, D., Eichner, E. R., Lopez, R. M., et al. (2015). National athletic trainers' association position statement: exertional heat illnesses. J. Athl. Train. 50, 986–1000. doi: 10.4085/1062-6050-50.9.07
- Cruz, S., and Blauwet, C. A. (2018). Implications of altered autonomic control on sports performance in athletes with spinal cord injury. *Auton. Neurosci.* 209, 100–104. doi: 10.1016/j.autneu.2017.03.006
- Edouard, P., Junge, A., Sorg, M., Timpka, T., and Branco, P. (2019). Illnesses during 11 international athletics championships between 2009 and 2017: incidence, characteristics and sex-specific and discipline-specific differences. *Br. J. Sports Med.* 53, 1174–1182. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2018-100131
- Edwards, T., Barfield, J. P., Niemiro, G. M., Beals, J. W., Broad, E. M., Motl, R. W., et al. (2018). Physiological responses during a 25-km time

²Regulations for Wheelchair Tennis 2019 (2019). Available online at: https://www. itftennis.com/media/309868/309868.pdf (accessed September 26, 2019).

³Hydration breaks approved in men's and women's soccer (2019). Available online at: http://www.ncaa.org/about/resources/media-center/news/hydrationbreaks-approved-men-s-and-women-s-soccer (accessed October 15, 2019). ⁴Extreme Heat Policy (2019). Available online at: https://ausopen.com/articles/

news/ao-heat-stress-scale-grand-slam-first (accessed October 15, 2019).

trial in elite wheelchair racing athletes. Spinal Cord Ser. Cases 4:77. doi: 10.1038/s41394-018-0114-3

- Epstein, Y., and Yanovich, R. (2019). Heatstroke. N. Engl. J. Med. 380, 2449–2459. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra1810762
- Griggs, K. E., Havenith, G., Price, M. J., and Goosey-Tolfrey, V. L. (2019a). Evaporative heat loss insufficient to attain heat balance at rest in individuals with a spinal cord injury at high ambient temperature. J. Appl. Physiol. 127, 995–1004. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00893.2018
- Griggs, K. E., Havenith, G., Price, M. J., Mason, B. S., and Goosey-Tolfrey, V. L. (2017). Thermoregulatory responses during competitive wheelchair rugby match play. *Int. J. Sports Med.* 38, 177–183. doi: 10.1055/s-0042-121263
- Griggs, K. E., Price, M. J., and Goosey-Tolfrey, V. L. (2015). Cooling athletes with a spinal cord injury. *Sports Med.* 45, 9–21. doi: 10.1007/s40279-014-0241-3
- Griggs, K. E., Stephenson, B. T., Price, M. J., and Goosey-Tolfrey, V. L. (2019b). Heat-related issues and practical applications for Paralympic athletes at Tokyo 2020. *Temperature*. doi: 10.1080/23328940.2019.1617030. [Epub ahead of print].
- Grobler, L., Derman, W., Racinais, S., Ngai, A. S. H., and van de Vliet, P. (2019). Illness at a para athletics track and field world championships under hot and humid ambient conditions. *PM R.* 11, 919–925. doi: 10.1002/pmrj.12086
- Kakamu, T., Wada, K., Smith, D. R., Endo, S., and Fukushima, T. (2017). Preventing heat illness in the anticipated hot climate of the Tokyo 2020 Summer Olympic Games. *Environ. Health Prev. Med.* 22:68. doi: 10.1186/s12199-017-0675-y
- Lepretre, P. M., Goosey-Tolfrey, V. L., Janssen, T. W., and Perret, C. (2016). Editorial: Rio, Tokyo paralympic games and beyond: how to prepare athletes with motor disabilities for peaking. *Front. Physiol.* 7:497. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2016.00497
- Mora-Rodriguez, R., Del Coso, J., Aguado-Jimenez, R., and Estevez, E. (2007). Separate and combined effects of airflow and rehydration during exercise in the heat. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 39, 1720–1726. doi: 10.1249/mss.0b013e3180de4dad
- Price, M. J. (2016). Preparation of paralympic athletes; environmental concerns and heat acclimation. *Front. Physiol.* 6:415. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2015. 00415

- Price, M. J., and Campbell, I. G. (2003). Effects of spinal cord lesion level upon thermoregulation during exercise in the heat. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 35, 1100–1107. doi: 10.1249/01.MSS.0000074655.76321.D7
- Price, M. J., and Trbovich, M. (2018). Thermoregulation following spinal cord injury. *Handb. Clin. Neurol.* 157, 799–820. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-444-64074-1.00050-1
- Rae, D. E., Knobel, G. J., Mann, T., Swart, J., Tucker, R., and Noakes, T. D. (2008). Heatstroke during endurance exercise: is there evidence for excessive endothermy? *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 40, 1193–1204. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e31816a7155
- Saunders, A. G., Dugas, J. P., Tucker, R., Lambert, M. I., and Noakes, T. D. (2005). The effects of different air velocities on heat storage and body temperature in humans cycling in a hot, humid environment. *Acta Physiol. Scand.* 183, 241–255. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-201X.2004.01400.x
- Stephenson, B. T., Hoekstra, S. P., Tolfrey, K., and Goosey-Tolfrey, V. L. (2019). High thermoregulatory strain during competitive paratriathlon racing in the heat. *Int. J. Sports Physiol. Perform.* doi: 10.1123/ijspp.2019-0116. [Epub ahead of print].
- Trbovich, M. B., Handrakis, J. P., Kumar, N. S., and Price, M. J. (2019). Impact of passive heat stress on persons with spinal cord injury: implications for Olympic spectators. *Temperature*. doi: 10.1080/23328940.2019. 1631730. [Epub ahead of print].
- Walter, M., and Krassioukov, A. V. (2018). Autonomic nervous system in paralympic athletes with spinal cord injury. *Phys. Med. Rehabil. Clin. N. Am.* 29, 245–266. doi: 10.1016/j.pmr.2018.01.001

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Zhang and Bishop. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Long Term Adaptation to Heat Stress: Shifts in the Minimum Mortality Temperature in the Netherlands

Mireille A. Folkerts¹, Peter Bröde², W. J. Wouter Botzen³, Mike L. Martinius³, Nicola Gerrett¹, Carel N. Harmsen⁴ and Hein A. M. Daanen^{1*}

¹ Department of Human Movement Sciences, Faculty of Behavioural and Movement Sciences, Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam, Amsterdam Movement Sciences, Amsterdam, Netherlands, ² Leibniz Research Centre for Working Environment and Human Factors (IfADo), Dortmund, Germany, ³ Institute for Environmental Studies (IVM), Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam, Amsterdam, Netherlands, ⁴ Statistics Netherlands, Voorburg, Netherlands

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Martin Burtscher, University of Innsbruck, Austria

Reviewed by:

Tiago Peçanha, University of São Paulo, Brazil Hannes Gatterer, Eurac Research, Italy

> *Correspondence: Hein A. M. Daanen h.a.m.daanen@vu.nl

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Environmental, Aviation and Space Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

> Received: 30 August 2019 Accepted: 27 February 2020 Published: 18 March 2020

Citation:

Folkerts MA, Bröde P, Botzen WJW, Martinius ML, Gerrett N, Harmsen CN and Daanen HAM (2020) Long Term Adaptation to Heat Stress: Shifts in the Minimum Mortality Temperature in the Netherlands. Front. Physiol. 11:225. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2020.00225 It is essentially unknown how humans adapt or will adapt to heat stress caused by climate change over a long-term interval. A possible indicator of adaptation may be the minimum mortality temperature (MMT), which is defined as the mean daily temperature at which the lowest mortality occurs. Another possible indicator may be the heat sensitivity, i.e., the percentage change in mortality per 1°C above the MMT threshold, or heat attributable fraction (AF), i.e., the percentage relative excess mortality above MMT. We estimated MMT and heat sensitivity/AF over a period of 23 years for older adults (>65 years) in the Netherlands using three commonly used methods. These methods are segmented Poisson regression (SEG), constrained segmented distributed lag models (CSDL), and distributed lag non-linear models (DLNM). The mean ambient temperature increased by 0.03°C/year over the 23 year period. The calculated mean MMT over the 23-year period differed considerably between methods [16.4 \pm 1.2°C (SE) (SEG), 18.9 \pm 0.5°C (CSDL), and 15.3 \pm 0.4°C DLNM]. MMT increased during the observed period according to CSDL (0.11 \pm 0.05°C/year) and DLNM (0.15 \pm 0.02°C/year), but not with SEG. The heat sensitivity, however, decreased for the latter method (0.06%/°C/year) and did not change for CSDL. Heat AF was calculated for the DLNM method and decreased with 0.07%/year. Based on these results we conclude that the susceptibility of humans to heat decreases over time, regardless which method was used, because human adaptation is shown by either an increase in MMT (CSDL and DLNM) or a decrease in heat sensitivity for unchanged MMT (SEG). Future studies should focus on what factors (e.g., physiological, behavioral, technological, or infrastructural adaptations) influence human adaptation the most, so it can be promoted through adaptation policies. Furthermore, future studies should keep in mind that the employed method influences the calculated MMT, which hampers comparability between studies.

Keywords: mortality, temperature, climate change, human adaptation, older adults, minimum mortality temperature

INTRODUCTION

Humans possess a great capacity to acclimatize to heat (Periard et al., 2016). Over a period of approximately 10 days, cardiovascular, thermoregulatory and fluid control mechanisms are optimized so that heat strain has a reduced effect on human well-being and performance. These acute adaptations are well documented (Périard et al., 2015; Periard et al., 2016), but adaptations to long term exposure (i.e., several years) are essentially unknown. This is problematic for accurate estimations of future morbidity and mortality in the face of climate change, with numerous scientific papers making a disclaimer for the unknown effects of the "human adaptation" (Sanderson et al., 2017). When adaptation to heat is assumed, it has a considerable impact on predicted mortality and associated societal costs (Díaz et al., 2019).

Heat related excess mortality is mainly observed in elderly subjects (Baccini et al., 2008). Older adults (>65 years) are most at risk for temperature related mortality due to intrinsic changes in the thermoregulatory system, like a reduced sweat response and thirst sensation (Foster et al., 1976; Kenney and Chiu, 2001). In addition, older adults are often less physically fit and have more illnesses and disabilities what makes them also more susceptible to heat-related morbidity and mortality (Koppe et al., 2004). However, older adults are able to acclimatize to the heat (Inoue et al., 1999; Best et al., 2014) when a sufficient number of days for adaptation is allowed (Daanen and Herweijer, 2015). Furthermore, they may be more resilient to heat in hot cities than in colder cities (Worfolk, 2000). This increased resilience may be due to better housing, behavioral adaptations, increased use of air conditioners (JRAIA, 2018), improved awareness of heat impact due to public campaigns, but also due physiological adaptations of the human body to the heat.

Mortality data, especially in the older population, often exhibit a U- or V-shaped relationship with temperature (Kunst et al., 1993), with the number of deaths increasing for temperatures below or above the so-called minimum mortality temperature (MMT). MMT is the mean daily temperature at which the lowest mortality occurs and quantifies the threshold between the cold and heat mortality slope. The term MMT was first used to illustrate the considerable differences in the temperaturemortality relationship in the United States (Curriero et al., 2002): MMT for Boston was 21°C and 27°C for Miami. Cities show higher MMT values when located closer to the equator (Hajat and Kosatky, 2010). This is observed for European cities (Baccini et al., 2008), but also within countries. Tobias et al. (2017), for instance, showed that hotter cities have a higher MMT in Spain.

Recent studies have proposed the use of the MMT as a potential indicator of human long-term adaptation to heat in case the MMT shifts to a higher temperature (Barrett, 2015; Todd and Valleron, 2015; Åström et al., 2016). If humans become less susceptible to heat, an increase in MMT can be expected over time, similar to higher MMT values in warmer cities due to geographic differences. Todd and Valleron (2015) found an increase in MMT from 17.5°C in 1968–1981 to 17.8°C in 1982–1995 and 18.2°C in 1996–2009 in France. An increase in ambient temperature of 1.6°C over these years was accompanied by

an increase in MMT of 0.8° C. For comparison: a temperature difference of 1.6° C between geographical areas was accompanied by a 1.1° C increase in MMT.

There are several approaches to calculate MMT from temperature-mortality time-series data and different methods have been used in the studies mentioned above. One simple statistical model predicting the logarithm of the death counts by actual temperature is the segmented Poisson regression model (SEG) providing estimates of the breakpoint (MMT) as well as of the negative temperature slope in the cold and positive slope in the heat, while accounting for covariates, e.g., day of week (Muggeo, 2003, 2008a, 2017). Only focusing on the temperature influence on the same day, SEG neglects the time series structure, and especially does not consider lagged effects of temperature on mortality. However, it is easily applicable to separate one-year periods allowing for assessing the development of MMT over the whole observation period, as well as of heat and cold sensitivity from the respective slopes. The constrained-segmented distributed lag model (CSDL) also includes MMT as estimated parameter, but extends the simple V-shape model by considering non-linear lagged effects as well as long-term and seasonal trends in the time series (Muggeo, 2008b, 2010). By additionally relaxing the linear V-shape assumption, so-called distributed lag nonlinear models (DLNM) allow to fit more flexible temperaturemortality relationships to such time series data (Gasparrini, 2011; Gasparrini et al., 2017). DLNM requires an extra step applying a search algorithm for finding the MMT (Tobias et al., 2017). Both the CSDL and DLNM models usually rely on longer observation periods covering at least 10 - 20 years. Thus, in order to assess the development of MMT over time, recent studies fitted the data to the observations from non-overlapping (Carson et al., 2006; Petkova et al., 2014; Todd and Valleron, 2015) or partly overlapping (Åström et al., 2016; Chung et al., 2017) sub-periods.

It is unknown if the variation in MMT is due to human adaptation or due to the methods used to calculate MMT as outlined above. Therefore, the aim of the current study was twofold: we investigated changes in MMT in the Netherlands over a period of 23 years, from 1995 to 2017, for older adults (\geq 65 years), whilst comparing the three previously mentioned models (SEG, CSDL, and DLNM).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Database

The daily number of deaths and population size in the Netherlands, obtained from Statistics the Netherlands (CBS), and temperature data, obtained from the Royal the Netherlands Meteorological Institute (KNMI) from January 01, 1995 to December 31, 2017 were used for the calculations in this study. Only mortality in the age group of 65 years and older was processed, because this group is reportedly the most vulnerable to extreme ambient temperatures (Koppe et al., 2004).

Hourly ambient temperature was obtained from five weather stations representative for the Netherlands: Station De Bilt (in the center of the Netherlands), Station Eelde (rural area, farmland, northern part of the Netherlands), Maastricht (average sized city, southern part of the Netherlands), Rotterdam (large city near the coast, western part of the Netherlands), and Schiphol airport (industrial area, amid densely populated areas, western part of the Netherlands). Daily temperature used in this study was obtained by averaging the hourly values over the five weather stations and time.

Model Calculations

Calculations were performed using R version 3.6.1 (R Core Team, 2019). For the entire time series, a segmented Poisson regression model (SEG) allowing for over dispersion (Wood, 2006) was fitted to daily mortality with daily mean temperature as predictor and day-of-week as only covariate using the R package *segmented* (Muggeo, 2003, 2008a, 2017). Estimates and SE were provided for MMT and for the cold and heat slope parameters. Relative risks (RR) with mortality at MMT as reference were calculated by exponentiation of the slope parameters multiplied with the difference of MMT to temperature. Sensitivities to cold and heat calculated by exponentiation of the slope estimates were expressed as percentage change per degree decrease or increase in temperature from MMT, respectively.

Similarly, we also obtained MMT and sensitivities to heat and cold by fitting constrained segmented distributed lag (CSDL) models using the package *modTempEff* (Muggeo, 2008b, 2010) controlling for the day-of-week, while considering lag temperature effects and adjusting for annual and seasonal trends with spline functions as suggested by the software manual (Muggeo, 2010).

Distributed lag non-linear models (DLNM) were fitted using the *dlnm* package (Gasparrini, 2011), also including day-of-week covariate while considering lag temperature effects up to 25 days and adjusting for long-term and seasonal trends with spline functions using eight degrees-of-freedom per year. MMT with SE was estimated by a search algorithm over the fitted response function (Tobias et al., 2017). The sensitivities to heat and cold were calculated using the attributable fraction (AF), expressed as percentage relative excess mortality integrated over the lag periods and temperatures above and below MMT, respectively (Gasparrini and Leone, 2014).

Shift in MMT and Sensitivity to Heat and Cold

The shift in MMT over time in the SEG method was calculated by fitting the SEG model for every year separately. For CSDL and DLNM, the models were repeatedly fitted to reduced series from a sliding 15-year window, which was shifted by 1-year increments throughout the entire observation period.

A shift of MMT and heat and cold sensitivities (AF for DLNM) was assessed by performing linear regression analyses for changes in the parameters weighted by their inversed SE over time, while statistical significance was assumed for *p*-values < 0.05.

RESULTS

The average number of deaths in the Netherlands over the investigated 23-year time span was 382 ± 40 (SE) individuals



FIGURE 1 | Temperature related to the relative risk (RR) for mortality of older adults (≥65 years) for three different methods: Segmented Poisson regression (SEG), constrained segmented distributed lag models (CSDL) and distributed lag non-linear models (DLNM), during the 23-year period from January 01, 1995 to December 31, 2017 in the Netherlands. The minimum mortality temperature (MMT) estimated by the three different methods is shown with the vertical lines. The slopes of the lines represent the cold/heat sensitivity of the SEG and CSDL method, whereas the cold/heat attributable fraction (AF) of the DLNM method is determined as relative excess mortality integrated over the temperatures above and below MMT, respectively.

per day. The mean daily temperature in the Netherlands was $10.5 \pm 6.3^{\circ}$ C. The mean temperature increase over the observed period was 0.03° C/year. The number of people over 65 years increased from 2.0 million to 3.2 million between 1995 and 2017, but their mean age was stable at 74.5 ± 0.1 years over the investigated period (CBS, 2019a).

Figure 1 shows the relative risk (RR) of mortality at different daily mean temperatures over the entire 23-year period according to the three different methods. The SEG and CSDL methods assume a linear relation and, therefore, have a V-shaped estimation of the temperature-mortality curve. The DLNM method assumes a non-linear relation and, therefore, has a more U-shaped curve. The mean calculated MMT, and cold and heat sensitivity/AF are shown in Table 1. Large differences are shown for the calculated MMT between methods with values between $15.3 \pm 0.4^{\circ}$ C for the DLNM method and $18.9 \pm 0.5^{\circ}$ C for the CSDL method. Cold sensitivity was similar with 1.3 \pm 0.2% and $1.3 \pm 0.3\%$ for, respectively, the CSDL and SEG methods, but a large difference was found for the heat sensitivity with $5.6 \pm 0.6\%$ for the CSDL method and 1.5 \pm 0.8% for the SEG method. The AF to the cold calculated with the DLNM method was higher than the AF to the heat, with, respectively, $5.0 \pm 0.3\%$ and $1.1 \pm 0.2\%$.

Figure 2 shows the calculated MMT per year for the SEG method and with a sliding 15-year window for the CSDL and DLNM methods. Cold and heat sensitivity are reported for the SEG and CSDL methods and cold and heat AF for the DLNM method. A significant increase in MMT of $0.11 \pm 0.05^{\circ}$ C and $0.15 \pm 0.02^{\circ}$ C per year was observed for the CSDL (p < 0.001) and DLNM (p < 0.05) methods, respectively. However, no significant increase in MMT was found with the SEG method

TABLE 1 The minimum mortality temperature (MMT) (Mean ± SD), cold and heat sensitivity (SEG and CSDL models) and attributable fraction (AF) (DLNM model) (%)
calculated for the 23-year period from January 01, 1995 to December 31, 2017 in the Netherlands with the three different methods: Segmented Poisson regression
(SEG), constrained segmented distributed lag (CSDL) model, and distributed lag non-linear models (DLNM).

Method	MMT (°C)	Cold sensitivity (%/°C)/AF (%)	Heat sensitivity (%/°C)/AF (%)
SEG	16.4 ± 1.2	1.3 ± 0.3 ^a	1.5 ± 0.8^{a}
CSDL	18.9 ± 0.5	1.3 ± 0.2^{a}	5.6 ± 0.6^{a}
DLNM	15.3 ± 0.4	$5.0\pm0.3^{\mathrm{b}}$	1.1 ± 0.2^{b}

^aSensitivity. ^bAF.



FIGURE 2 | Changes in minimum mortality temperature (MMT) (A–C), cold sensitivity/attributable fraction (AF) (D–F), and heat sensitivity/AF (G–I) with standard errors and gray shaded 95% confidence bands estimated by three different methods: Segmented Poisson regression (SEG) (left panel), constrained segmented distributed lag model (CSDL) (middle panel), and distributed lag non-linear models (DLNM) (right panel) of daily death counts for older adults (≥65 years) related to daily mean temperature for the 23-year period from January 01, 1995 to December 31, 2017 in the Netherlands.

(p = 0.96). Cold sensitivity did not change over time in both the CSDL (p = 0.57) and the SEG methods (p = 0.69). Heat sensitivity did not change significantly in the CSDL method (p = 0.12), but did decrease significantly with the SEG method (p = 0.01) with 0.06%/°C/year. No significant difference in cold AF is shown (p = 0.511), however, there was a significant decrease of 0.07%/year in heat AF (p < 0.001).

DISCUSSION

The aim of the current study was to investigate the change in MMT, and cold and heat sensitivity/AF over a 23-year period for

older adults (\geq 65 years) in the Netherlands using three different methods (SEG, CSDL, and DLNM). Furthermore, the differences between the three methods were also analyzed to investigate the influence of the employed method on the results.

The calculated mean MMT and heat sensitivity over the 23year period differed considerably between methods. The CSDL method resulted in the highest MMT ($18.9 \pm 0.45^{\circ}$ C) and heat sensitivity ($5.6 \pm 0.6\%$). The high heat sensitivity is a result of the higher MMT, as only days with a higher temperature than the MMT are included in the calculation of the heat sensitivity. In other words, the data is refined to the steepest part of the mortality curve (**Figure 1**) resulting in a high heat sensitivity. The SEG method has a lower MMT ($16.4 \pm 1.2^{\circ}$ C) and thus mortality data is included of more moderate temperatures above this low MMT threshold. The MMT calculated with the DLNM method was the lowest of all three methods with $15.3 \pm 0.4^{\circ}$ C. The cold AF is higher than the heat AF with 5.0 \pm 0.3% and $1.1 \pm 0.2\%$, respectively, which can be explained with the fact that the average daily temperature in the Netherlands $(10.5 \pm 6.3^{\circ}C)$ is below MMT and thus cold days are more prominent in the Netherlands. The differences in calculated MMT between methods are most likely due to the way the MMT is calculated in the models. Both the CSDL and DLNM method control for the day-of-week, annual and seasonal trends and consider lag temperature, while this is not the case in the SEG method. In addition, the DLNM method uses a non-linear approach, while both the SEG and CSDL method are linear. These results show that the used method has a large effect on the calculated MMT and the accompanying cold and heat sensitivity/AF. Comparability between studies employing different methods is therefore hampered.

The results of all three methods indicate that the susceptibility to heat in the Netherlands is declining over time. Two of the three methods (DLNM and CSDL) show an increase in MMT for adults of 65 years and older over the 23-year period (see Figures 2A-C). The SEG method does not show an increase in MMT, but does show a decrease in heat sensitivity over time from about 2% to 1% per degree Celsius. This indicates that less people die at similar heat exposure suggesting a gradual adaptation to heat. The CSDL method shows a slight increase in heat sensitivity, although not significant. This has to be considered in relation with the increasing MMT as the dataset for heat sensitivity will contain less moderate temperature days and increasingly more hot days. Therefore, it does not mean people are getting more susceptible to the heat based on the CSDL method. The same explanation accounts for the decrease in heat AF calculated with the DLNM method. As the MMT increases over time there are less days with a mean ambient temperature higher than the MMT and therefore less deaths are attributed to the heat. Cold sensitivity and AF does not change over the years for stable MMT (SEG) or for increasing MMT (CSDL and DLNM).

The observed increase of the MMT from 0.11 to 0.15°C/year, accompanied with mean daily temperature increases of about 0.03°C/year, is in line with previous studies (Todd and Valleron, 2015; Åström et al., 2016; Chung et al., 2018). In France the observed shift in MMT was lower than in the current study with 0.025°C/year for adults over 65 years old and an increase in summer temperature of 0.057°C/year (Todd and Valleron, 2015). In Sweden and Japan the shift in MMT was more comparable with the current study with, respectively, 0.08°C/year and about 0.12°C/year for the whole population (Åström et al., 2016; Chung et al., 2018). In Sweden the mean ambient temperature increased with 0.018°C/year over the observed period and in the study of Chung et al. (2018) the increase in mean ambient temperature was not reported. In the study of Todd and Valleron (2015) Generalized Additive Models were used and in the studies of Åström et al. (2016) and Chung et al. (2018) the DLNM method was used similar to our study. The difference in applied methods may explain the smaller observed shift in MMT reported for France. However, all studies, including the current study for the Netherlands, suggest human adaptation to climate change.

These human adaptations to the increasing ambient temperatures can be attributed to multiple factors, such as physiological, behavioral, technological adaptations or changes in infrastructure (Hondula et al., 2015). Repeated heat exposures lead to physiological adaptations in heart rate, body core temperature and sweat rate that slowly decay (Daanen et al., 2018), and thus may lead to a more or less permanent state of heat acclimation (Casadio et al., 2016). In line with this, it has been shown that mortality is considerably higher in the heat waves early in summer when compared to successive heat waves, probably partly due to heat acclimation in the subjects that survived the initial heat waves (Kysely and Kriz, 2008). Further, people born and raised in warm areas show reduced excess mortality in the heat when moved to relatively cold areas (Vigotti et al., 2006). Behavioral changes may occur because people become more aware of the impact of high ambient temperatures and raised awareness from the government. For example, since 2007 in the Netherlands, a heat health warning systems (HHWS) is activated if there is a high chance of five consecutive days with an ambient temperature exceeding 27°C (Lowe et al., 2011). The aim of the HHWS is to warn people when extremely high temperatures are expected and to give behavioral recommendations (e.g., drink more, reduce physical activity) during these days. Technological and infrastructural changes over the years include improved building insulation that reduces heat loss in the cold and prevents heating of the house in hot periods. Air conditioning is an effective way of reducing heat strain. In the Netherlands the air conditioner demand already increased with about 24% between 2012 and 2017 according to the Japan Refrigeration and Air Conditioning Industry Association (JRAIA, 2018), probably contributing to the observed reduction in heat susceptibility over the years. A long term adaptation to climate change observed in endotherms is an increase in the body surface to mass ratio to enhance heat loss (Gardner et al., 2011). In humans the body surface to mass ratio is higher in tropical than in cold areas (Katzmarzyk and Leonard, 1998). However, the body surface to mass ratio of the Dutch population shows a consistent linear decline over the investigated period (CBS, 2019b), so no signs of climate change related morphological changes are observed.

It has to be noted that the decreased susceptibility to heat over time may not only be related to climate change as suggested by Todd and Valleron (2015). Arbuthnott et al. (2016) showed that decreased heat susceptibility is a process that is not only visible in the last decades, but already started a century ago, when climate change was still negligible. Ten out of eleven included papers in their study found some evidence of decreasing susceptibility for heat over time. Cold susceptibility changes were negligible. It was argued that both planned adaptive measures, such as HHWS and improved buildings as well as adaptive behavior, improved health and treatment of heat casualties could explain the changes. Still, climate change may accelerate the adaptations as Todd and Valleron (2015) indicated.

Kinney (2018) argued that human adaptation should be better quantified and included in methods used for predicting

the effects of climate change on human survival. With ongoing climate change and associated adaptive processes, the temperature-mortality relationships on both sides of MMT may change, with the magnitude and direction of the change being uncertain. Future studies should focus on what particular factors, like the physiological, behavioral, technological or infrastructural changes mentioned before, are influencing the reduced susceptibility to the heat the most. Once the most effective factors are identified adaptation policies may be proposed accordingly.

In this study for the CSDL and DLNM method a 15-year sliding window was chosen, which covers quite an extensive part of the in total 23 years. Using sliding windows with fewer years resulted in larger volatility accompanied with a greater standard error, indicating a less precise MMT. However, previous studies like Åström et al. (2016) used a large sliding window as well of 30 years, although we are aware that they used a much larger total time period covering more than 100 years. Furthermore, data from the KNMI shows that an increase in ambient temperature is mostly present in the previous three decades, making it less relevant to use a dataset containing a longer time period than used in the current study (KNMI, 2018).

CONCLUSION

The susceptibility of humans to the heat decreases over time in the Netherlands, regardless which method was used, as human adaptation was shown by either an increase in MMT (CSDL and DLNM) or a decrease in heat sensitivity for unchanged MMT (SEG). Underlying factors for the reduced heat susceptibility

REFERENCES

- Arbuthnott, K., Hajat, S., Heaviside, C., and Vardoulakis, S. (2016). Changes in population susceptibility to heat and cold over time: assessing adaptation to climate change. *Environ. Health* 15(Suppl. 1):33. doi: 10.1186/s12940-016-0102-7
- Åström, D. O., Tornevi, A., Ebi, K. L., Rocklöv, J., and Forsberg, B. (2016). Evolution of minimum mortality temperature in stockholm, sweden, 1901-2013. *Environ. Health Perspect.* 124, 740–744. doi: 10.1289/ ehp.1509692
- Baccini, M., Biggeri, A., Accetta, G., Kosatsky, T., Katsouyanni, K., Analitis, A., et al. (2008). Heat effects on mortality in 15 European cities. *Epidemiology* 19, 711–719. doi: 10.1097/EDE.0b013e318176bfcd
- Barrett, J. R. (2015). Increased minimum mortality temperature in France: data suggest humans are adapting to climate change. *Environ. Health Perspect.* 123:A184.
- Best, S., Thompson, M., Caillaud, C., Holvik, L., Fatseas, G., and Tammam, A. (2014). Exercise-heat acclimation in young and older trained cyclists. J. Sci. Med. Sport 17, 677–682. doi: 10.1016/j.jsams.2013.10.243
- Carson, C., Hajat, S., Armstrong, B., and Wilkinson, P. (2006). Declining vulnerability to temperature-related mortality in London over the 20th century. *Am. J. Epidemiol.* 164, 77–84. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwj147
- Casadio, J. R., Kilding, A. E., Siegel, R., Cotter, J. D., and Laursen, P. B. (2016). Periodizing heat acclimation in elite Laser sailors preparing for a world championship event in hot conditions. *Temperature* 3, 437–443. doi: 10.1080/ 23328940.2016.1184367
- CBS (2019a). Open data Bevolking; geslacht, leeftijd en burgerlijke staat, 1 januari. Available online at: https://opendata.cbs.nl/statline/#/CBS/nl/dataset/7461bev/ table?dl=1C14C (accessed June 1, 2019).

may be due to physiological, behavioral, technological or infrastructural adaptations. Future studies should focus on what factor influences the human adaptation the most, so it can be promoted through adaptation policies. Further, future studies should keep into mind that the employed method influences the calculated MMT and, therefore, reduces comparability between studies using different methods.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets generated for this study are available on request to the corresponding author.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

HD, MF, WB, and MM devised the study. HD, MF, and PB designed and conceived the analyses. CH, MF, and MM collected and organized the data. MF and PB performed the statistical analysis. MF and HD wrote the first draft. All authors interpreted the data, and, after critically reviewing and providing significant editing of its content, approved the final manuscript.

FUNDING

The authors acknowledge the funding from the Amsterdam Sustainability Institute and the ClimApp project. Project ClimApp is part of ERA4CS, an ERA-NET initiated by JPI Climate, and funded by FORMAS (SE), IFD (DK), NWO (NL) with co-funding by the European Union (Grant 690462).

- CBS (2019b). Open data Lengte en Gewicht van Personen, Ondergewicht en Overgewicht; Vanaf 1981. Available online at: https://opendata.cbs.nl/statline/ #/CBS/nl/dataset/81565NED/table?dl=8566 (accessed June 1, 2019).
- Chung, Y., Noh, H., Honda, Y., Hashizume, M., Bell, M. L., Guo, Y.-L. L., et al. (2017). Temporal changes in mortality related to extreme temperatures for 15 cities in northeast asia: adaptation to heat and maladaptation to cold. Am. J. Epidemiol. 185, 907–913. doi: 10.1093/aje/kww199
- Chung, Y., Yang, D., Gasparrini, A., Vicedo-Cabrera, A. M., Ng, C. F. S., Kim, Y., et al. (2018). Changing susceptibility to non-optimum temperatures in Japan, 1972-2012: the role of climate, demographic, and socioeconomic factors. *Environ. Health Perspect.* 126:057002. doi: 10.1289/EHP2546
- Curriero, F. C., Heiner, K. S., Samet, J. M., Zeger, S. L., Strug, L., and Patz, J. A. (2002). Temperature and mortality in 11 cities of the eastern United States. *Am. J. Epidemiol.* 155, 80–87. doi: 10.1093/aje/155.1.80
- Daanen, H. A. M., and Herweijer, J. A. (2015). Effectiveness of an indoor preparation program to increase thermal resilience in elderly for heat waves. *Build. Environ.* 83, 115–119. doi: 10.1016/j.buildenv.2014.04.010
- Daanen, H. A. M., Racinais, S., and Périard, J. D. (2018). Heat acclimation decay and re-induction: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sports Med.* 48, 409–430. doi: 10.1007/s40279-017-0808-x
- Díaz, J., Sáez, M., Carmona, R., Mirón, I. J., Barceló, M. A., Luna, M. Y., et al. (2019). Mortality attributable to high temperatures over the 2021–2050 and 2051–2100 time horizons in Spain: adaptation and economic estimate. *Environ. Res* 172, 475–485. doi: 10.1016/j.envres.2019.02.041
- Foster, K., Ellis, F., Dore, C., Exton-Smtth, A., and Weiner, J. (1976). Sweat responses in the aged. Age Age.5, 91–101. doi: 10.1093/ageing/5.2.91
- Gardner, J. L., Peters, A., Kearney, M. R., Joseph, L., and Heinsohn, R. (2011). Declining body size: a third universal response to warming? *Trends Ecol. Evol.* 26, 285–291. doi: 10.1016/j.tree.2011.03.005

Gasparrini, A. (2011). Distributed lag linear and non-linear models in R: the package dlnm. *J. Stat. Software* 43, 1–20.

- Gasparrini, A., and Leone, M. (2014). Attributable risk from distributed lag models. BMC Med. Res. Methodol. 14:55. doi: 10.1186/1471-2288-14-55
- Gasparrini, A., Scheipl, F., Armstrong, B., and Kenward, M. G. (2017). A penalized framework for distributed lag non-linear models. *Biometrics* 73, 938–948. doi: 10.1111/biom.12645
- Hajat, S., and Kosatky, T. (2010). Heat-related mortality: a review and exploration of heterogeneity. J. Epidemiol. Community Health 64, 753–760. doi: 10.1136/ jech.2009.087999
- Hondula, D. M., Balling, R. C. Jr., Vanos, J. K., and Georgescu, M. (2015). rising temperatures, human health, and the role of adaptation. *Cur. Clim. Change Rep*, 1, 144–154. doi: 10.1007/s40641-015-0016-4
- Inoue, Y., Havenith, G., Kenney, W. L., Loomis, J. L., and Buskirk, E. R. (1999). Exercise- and methylcholine-induced sweating responses in older and younger men: effect of heat acclimation and aerobic fitness. *Int. J. Biometeorol.* 42, 210–216. doi: 10.1007/s004840050107
- JRAIA (2018). The Japan Refrigeration and Air Conditioning Industry Association -World Air Conditioner Demand by Region. Available at: https://www.jraia.or.jp/ english/World_AC_Demand.pdf (accessed 1 June, 2019).
- Katzmarzyk, P. T., and Leonard, W. R. (1998). Climatic influences on human body size and proportions: Ecological adaptations and secular trends. Am. J. Phys. Anthropol. 106, 483–503. doi: 10.1002/(sici)1096-8644(199808)106:4<483::aidajpa4>3.0.co;2-k
- Kenney, W. L., and Chiu, P. (2001). Influence of age on thirst and fluid intake. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 33, 1524–1532. doi: 10.1097/00005768-200109000-00016
- Kinney, P. (2018). Temporal trends in heat-related mortality: implications for future projections. *Atmosphere* 9:409. doi: 10.3390/atmos9100409
- KNMI (2018). Temperatuur in Nederland en mondiaal, 1906 2017. Available online at: https://www.clo.nl/indicatoren/nl0226-temperatuur-mondiaal-enin-nederland (accessed June 1, 2019).
- Koppe, C., Sari Kovats, R., Menne, B., Jendritzky, G., Wetterdienst, D., and Organization, W. H. (2004). "*Heat-waves: risks and responses*". Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe.
- Kunst, A. E., Looman, C. W. N., and Mackenbach, J. P. (1993). Outdoor air temperature and mortality in the Netherlands: a time-series analysis. Am. J. Epidemiol. 137, 331–341. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a116680
- Kysely, J., and Kriz, B. (2008). Decreased impacts of the 2003 heat waves on mortality in the Czech Republic: an improved response? *Int. J. Biometeorol.* 52, 733–745. doi: 10.1007/s00484-008-0166-3
- Lowe, D., Ebi, K. L., and Forsberg, B. (2011). Heatwave early warning systems and adaptation advice to reduce human health consequences of heatwaves. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 8, 4623–4648. doi: 10.3390/ ijerph8124623
- Muggeo, V. M. (2010). Analyzing temperature effects on mortality within the R environment: the constrained segmented distributed lag parameterization. *J. Stat. Software* 32, 1–17.
- Muggeo, V. M. R. (2003). Estimating regression models with unknown breakpoints. Stati. Medi. 22, 3055–3071. doi: 10.1002/sim.1545

- Muggeo, V. M. R. (2008a). Modeling temperature effects on mortality: multiple segmented relationships with common break points. *Biostatistics* 9, 613–620. doi: 10.1093/biostatistics/kxm057
- Muggeo, V. M. (2008b). Segmented: an R package to fit regression models with broken-line relationships. *R News* 8, 20–25.
- Muggeo, V. M. R. (2017). Interval estimation for the breakpoint in segmented regression: a smoothed score-based approach. Aust. N. Z. J. Stat. 59, 311–322. doi: 10.1111/anzs.12200
- Périard, J., Racinais, S., and Sawka, M. N. (2015). Adaptations and mechanisms of human heat acclimation: applications for competitive athletes and sports. *Scand. J. Med. Scie. Sports* 25, 20–38. doi: 10.1111/sms.12408
- Periard, J. D., Travers, G. J. S., Racinais, S., and Sawka, M. N. (2016). Cardiovascular adaptations supporting human exercise-heat acclimation. *Auton. Neurosci.* 196, 52–62. doi: 10.1016/j.autneu.2016.02.002
- Petkova, E. P., Gasparrini, A., and Kinney, P. L. (2014). Heat and mortality in New York city since the beginning of the 20th century. *Epidemiology* 25, 554–560. doi: 10.1097/EDE.00000000000123
- R Core Team (2019). R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. Vienna: R Foundation for Statistical Computing.
- Sanderson, M., Arbuthnott, K., Kovats, S., Hajat, S., and Falloon, P. (2017). The use of climate information to estimate future mortality from high ambient temperature: a systematic literature review. *PLoS One* 12:e0180369. doi: 10. 1371/journal.pone.0180369
- Tobias, A., Armstrong, B., and Gasparrini, A. (2017). Brief report: investigating uncertainty in the minimum mortality temperature: methods and application to 52 spanish cities. *Epidemiology* 28, 72–76. doi: 10.1097/ede.00000000000 0567
- Todd, N., and Valleron, A. J. (2015). Space-time covariation of mortality with temperature: a systematic study of deaths in France, 1968-2009. *Environ. Health Perspect.* 123, 659–664. doi: 10.1289/ehp.1307771
- Vigotti, M. A., Muggeo, V. M., and Cusimano, R. (2006). The effect of birthplace on heat tolerance and mortality in Milan, Italy, 1980-1989. *Int. J. Biometeorol.* 50, 335–341. doi: 10.1007/s00484-006-0035-x
- Wood, S. N. (2006). *General Additive Models: an Introduction*. Boca Raton, FL: Chapman & Hall.
- Worfolk, J. B. (2000). Heat waves: their impact on the health of elders. *Geriatr.* Nurs. 21, 70–77. doi: 10.1067/mgn.2000.107131

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Folkerts, Bröde, Botzen, Martinius, Gerrett, Harmsen and Daanen. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

